
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra Ghaidheal agus Bhoid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD

20 August 2015

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held in 
COMMITTEE ROOM 1, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on THURSDAY, 27 AUGUST 2015 at 
10:00 AM, which you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director – Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. MINUTES 
Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee 28 May 2015. (Pages 1 - 6)

4. POLICE SCOTLAND ANNUAL POLICING PLAN 2015/16 
Report by Police Scotland. (Pages 7 - 48)

5. SCRUTINY OF POLICE SCOTLAND - QUARTERLY REPORT 
Report by Divisional Commander for Argyll and West Dunbartonshire division. 
(Pages 49 - 62)

6. POLICE SCOTLAND STOP AND SEARCH IMPROVEMENT DELIVERY PLAN 
2015 - 16 
Report by Police Scotland. (Pages 63 - 108)

7. SCOTTISH POLICE AUTHORITY  - ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICING 2014 - 15 
Report by Scottish Police Authority. (Pages 109 - 166)

8. SCRUTINY OF SCOTTISH FIRE AND RESCUE 
Report by Local Senior Officer, Scottish Fire and Rescue. (Pages 167 - 184)



9. TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT 30 JUNE 2015 
Report by Interim Head Strategic Finance. (Pages 185 - 198)

10. PERFORMANCE REPORT FQ1 2015 - 16 
Report by Chief Executive. (Pages 199 - 218)

11. BENCHMARKING UPDATE 
Report by Executive Director – Customer Services. (Pages 219 - 228)

12. CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROGRESS 
Report by Executive Director – Customer Services. (Pages 229 - 236)

13. MAXIMISING ATTENDANCE: COUNCIL PERFORMANCE APRIL - JUNE 2015 
Report by Head of Improvement and HR. (Pages 237 - 246)

14. ARGYLL AND BUTE ALCOHOL AND DRUG PARTNERSHIP PROGRESS 
REPORT 
Report by Chief Officer, Argyll and Bute Health and Social Care Partnership and 
Argyll and Bute ADP Chair, and Executive Director – Community Services. (Pages 
247 - 276)

15. INTEGRATION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
Report by Chief Officer, Health and Social Care. (Pages 277 - 284)

16. STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
Report by Executive Director – Customer Services. (Pages 285 - 294)

17. CASTLE TOWARD 
Report by Chair of the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee (to follow) 

18. PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORKPLAN 
Performance Review and Scrutiny Workplan 2015 – 16. (Pages 295 - 298)

PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Ian M M Ross (Chair) Councillor Gordon Blair
Councillor Maurice Corry Councillor Anne Horn
Councillor Iain MacDonald Councillor John McAlpine
Councillor Sandy Taylor Douglas Cowan
Christina West Councillor Donald MacMillan
James Hymas

Contact: Shona Marshall  Tel: 01546 604407



MINUTES of MEETING of PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in the 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD 

on THURSDAY, 28 MAY 2015 

Present: Ian M M Ross (Chair)

Councillor Gordon Blair
Councillor Maurice Corry
Councillor Anne Horn
Councillor Iain Angus MacDonald

Councillor John McAlpine
Councillor Sandy Taylor
Douglas Cowan

Attending: Douglas Hendry, Executive Director – Customer Services
Charles Reppke, Head of Governance and Law
Cleland Sneddon, Executive Director – Community Services
Angus Gilmour, Head of Planning and Regulatory Services
Fergus Murray, Head of Economic Development & Strategic Transport
Jim Smith, Head of Roads and Amenity Services
Jane Fowler, Head of Improvement and HR
Peter Cupples, Finance Manager
Superintendent Gail McClymont, Police Scotland
Chief Inspector Marlene Baillie, Police Scotland
Graham Houston, Scottish Police Authority
John Beresford, Scottish Police Authority
David Clements, Programme Manager
Seona Laird, Customer Services
Shona Barton, Area Committee Manager
Helen MacLeod, Community Services

The Chair welcomed Superintendent Gail McClymont, Police Scotland and Graham 
Houston, Scottish Police Authority to the meeting.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Jim Hymas, Scottish Fire and 
Rescue.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no Declarations of Interest.

3. MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting of the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee 
held on 26 February 2015 were approved as a correct record.

4. SCRUTINY OF POLICE SCOTLAND

Superintendent Gail McClymont updated the Committee on the changes to 
personnel within the local division.  Chief Superintendent Grant Manders would 
replace Chief Superintendent Helen Swann as Local Police Commander after her 
retirement, and Chief Inspector Paul Robertson replaced Chief Inspector Gary Stitt 
as a local Area Commander. 



Consultations on a potential merger of K and L Divisions were ongoing and any 
comments or feedback on this was welcomed.  It was confirmed that Dumbarton 
Police station would remain as the operational police hub for the time being, but that 
other Police Scotland properties were subject to an on-going review.  Members 
concern at any potential closure of Dumbarton Police station was noted.

An Advisory Group had been established to draw up a code of practice and identify 
legal requirements in relation to “Stop and Search”. This was no longer a Key 
Performance Indicator, although the development of a new database would enable 
figures to be included in future scrutiny reports.

The report detailed statistics on;

 Road Safety & Road Crime
 Violence, Disorder & Antisocial Behaviour
 Public Protection
 Major Crime and Counter Terrorism; and
 Acquisitive Crime

It was noted that;

 drink/drive offences had reduced nationally following the new limit introduced in 
December 2014, and agreed that a breakdown of local figures relating to 
offences would be included in future reports to the Committee;

 under Anti-Social Legislation Housing Associations could only request 
background information on specific tenants once they were in the property.  The 
Police Community Safety Lead Officers Group was to look at improving the 
processes relating to anti-social behaviour of tenants with the involvement of the 
local authority and ACHA;

 long term operations were in place to identify and disrupt the source of drug 
supply in the area;

 there was no reduction in the number of officers in Argyll and Bute, and that 
additional officers had been seconded for the summer months for busy tourist 
areas;

 the number of special constables recruited locally in Argyll and Bute would be 
included in future reports to the Committee;

 an annual update would be provided to the Committee on the national 
performance of Argyll and Bute.

Discussion then took place on the amount of saving that Police Scotland had to 
make in the coming years and that it was the only force in the UK which paid VAT.

Decision

The Committee noted the contents of the report.



(Reference:  Report by Local Police Commander dated 21 April 2015, submitted)

Councillor Maurice Corry entered the meeting at 10.10 a.m.

5. SCRUTINY OF SCOTTISH FIRE AND RESCUE

The Committee considered a report submitted by James Hymas, Local Senior 
Officer, Scottish Fire and Rescue, which provided an update to the Committee on 
the performance of the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service in the Argyll and Bute area 
from April 2014 – March 2015 inclusively.

Decision

The Committee noted the contents of the report.

(Reference: Report by Local Senior Officer, Scottish Fire and Rescue Service dated 
May 2015, submitted)

6. ANNUAL TREASURY REPORT 2014 - 15

A report setting out the Council’s Treasury Management Position for 2014 – 15 was 
considered.

It was noted that the report would be submitted to the Council on 25 June 2015 and 
that there may be some minor changes to the final report to reflect any matters 
arising in completing the Councils unaudited accounts.

Decision

The Committee noted the contents of the report.

(Reference:  Report by Interim Head of Strategic Finance dated 13 May 2015, 
submitted)

7. PERFORMANCE REPORT FQ4 2014 - 15

The Committee considered the Council and Departmental performance reports with 
associated scorecards for performance in FQ4 2014 – 15 (January – March 2015).

Members noted the position of each scorecard and that the new Local Development 
Plan had been formally adopted by Council on 26 March 2015.  It was considered 
that local communities were being affected by the lack of housebuilding on land held 
by developers and that this should begin to be addressed and alternative land for 
development identified in advance of the next Local Development Plan.

Decision

The Committee reviewed the reports and scorecards as presented, and noted the 
contents thereof.

(Reference:  Report by the Chief Executive dated 28 May 2015, submitted)



8. LOCAL GOVERNMENT BENCHMARKING FRAMEWORK (LGBF)

As part of the agreement by the Committee to review the Local Government 
Benchmarking Framework in four sections over a year, the Committee considered 
the fourth section giving consideration to trends over the first four years of the 
LGBF, including an overview of our Family Group ranking. 

Decision

The Committee noted the contents of the report and encouraged the officers to 
maintain their efforts to ensure the measurement criteria applied in the process was 
relevant to Argyll and Bute.

(Reference:  Report by Executive Director – Customer Services dated 28 May 2015, 
submitted)

9. CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROGRESS

The Committee considered a report which provided an update on the progress of 
the Corporate Improvement Programme.

Decision

The Committee noted the progress made in delivering the Corporate Improvement 
Programme.

(Reference:  Report by Executive Director – Customer Services dated 28 May 2015)

10. MAXIMISING ATTENDANCE: COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 2014 - 2015

The Council considered a report which provided an update on the Council’s 
performance on Maximising Attendance during the period April 2014 – March 2015.

Decision

The Committee noted;

(i) the contents of the report; and

(ii) the ongoing actions being taken to tackle and reduce absence.

Councillor Michael Breslin asked the Chair if he could have the opportunity to ask 
questions on this item.  The Chair ruled that he would not be allowed to speak.

(Reference: Report by Executive Director – Customer Services dated 28 May 2015, 
submitted)

11. CASTLE TOWARD - SCRUTINY REPORT

The Committee considered a report which had been agreed at the Performance 
Review and Scrutiny Committee (PRS) held on 26 February 2015 to be brought 
forward to support the Committee in ensuring effective oversight and scrutiny of the 
Council decision making process in relation to the sale of Castle Toward.



The report outlined the background in relation to the sale of Castle Toward and the 
process that had been adopted by the Council progressing decisions in this regard.

The PRS Committee had delegated powers in terms of the Scheme of 
Administration, and its terms of reference included responsibility for scrutiny in 
relation to commenting on decisions and policies agreed by the Council and other 
committees and the impact they had on Argyll and Bute as an area. In this regard 
the Chair advised that he had written to Members of the Committee asking for their 
input on key areas for scrutiny and as a consequence 6 areas had been identified 
for discussion as set out in the report.

The Chair outlined that there was a need for the Committee to consider the integrity 
and the interpretation of the information of the various decisions relating to Castle 
Toward, and detailed discussion on each element then took place.

As the consideration of the Committee concluded the Chair invited the local member 
Councillor Michael Breslin to contribute to the discussion on this item.

Councillor Breslin thanked the Chair for the opportunity to speak, although not a 
member of the Committee.  Councillor Breslin indicated that he was satisfied that 
the issue had been properly interrogated and supported the requested involvement 
of internal audit in assessing the protocols for capital planning.

Decision

The Committee;

(i) noted the chronology in respect of decisions relating to Castle Toward;

(ii) noted the reasons for oscillation between the Policy and Resources 
Committee and Council in respect of decision making; and

(iii) agreed that in light of the discussions held at the meeting, that the Chair 
prepare a report on the issues discussed .  This report would be submitted to 
the next meeting of the PRS Committee for consideration and determination.

(Reference: Report by Executive Director – Customer Services dated 18 May 2015, 
submitted)

Councillor Maurice Corry left the meeting at this point.

12. PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORKPLAN

The Committee considered the outline work plan to facilitate forward planning of 
reports to the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee.

The Committee was informed that a specific training session for Members on 
scrutiny and run by an exemplary external organisation was being arranged to take 
place after the summer recess.  This would assist the ongoing development and 
training of the PRS Committee.



Decision

The Committee noted the Workplan and that an Item on Castle Toward be added to 
the agenda of the next PRS Committee being held on Thursday 27 August 2015. 

(Reference:  Report by Executive Director – Customer Services dated 28 May 2015, 
submitted)

The Chair reminded Members that he had indicated when he took on the role that 
he had advised that if he ever received information that he thought the Committee 
should know about he would advise them.

He informed the meeting that Councillor Michael Breslin had written to him, as Chair 
of the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee, the Chair of the Audit 
Committee and Internal Audit querying the Constitutional process for the 
appointment of Members to the Service Choices Project Board as agreed at a 
Special Meeting of the Policy and Resources Committee held on 2 April 2015.  He 
would be responding indicating that he saw no issue with the arrangements that had 
been put in place.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 1

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

Annual Police Plan 2015/16

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 3

Purpose, Focus and Values 

Our Purpose
To improve the safety and wellbeing of people, places 
and communities in Scotland

Our Focus
Keeping People Safe

Our Values
Integrity, Fairness and Respect



4



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 5

Contents 5

Foreword – Chief Constable 6

Scottish Police Authority (SPA) Chair’s Commentary 7

Identifying Priorities 8

Local Policing 12

Working Together to Keep People Safe 20

Priority – Violence, Disorder and Antisocial Behaviour 24

Priority – Road Safety and Road Crime 26

Priority – Protecting People at Risk of Harm 28

Priority – Serious Organised Crime 32

Priority – Counter Terrorism 34

Major Events and Resilience 36

Building a Police Service for the Future 38

Publication 42

Contents



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED6

As Police Scotland enters its third year, I am 
pleased to present the 2015/16 Annual Police 
Plan.  Following on from what has been a 
unique year in Scotland’s history, I believe that 
our continuing focus on Keeping People Safe 
has contributed to the successes shared across 
Scotland and observed across the world.

This plan outlines the policing priorities that 
will be delivered across all communities in 
Scotland and is set against a backdrop of 
recorded crime in Scotland reaching a 40 year 
low, pressure on public finances remaining 
high, and through a period of unprecedented 
transition for policing in Scotland.  

Our activity remains focused on preventing 
crime through the service we provide to our 
communities across the country.  Participation 
in our most recent public consultation survey 
increased by more than 39% from the previous 
year and we are committed to continually 
improving on this.  This feedback, together 
with direct feedback to officers from local 
communities, the priorities set by the Scottish 
Police Authority’s Strategic Police Plan, the 
Scottish Government’s National Outcomes 
and extensive intelligence and analysis have 
resulted in the following identified national 
priorities:

•	 Violence,	Disorder	and	Antisocial		 	
 Behaviour;
•	 Road	Safety	and	Road	Crime;
•	 Protecting	People	at	Risk	of	Harm;
•	 Serious	Organised	Crime;	and	
•	 Counter	Terrorism	

These national priorities continue to be 
aligned with our Local Policing Plans, which 
identify the priorities at local level, delivered by 
working with our partners and communities, to 
ensure local solutions are developed for local 
problems.  This flexible approach remains at 
the heart of how we shape and deliver policing 
across Scotland.  

Although recorded crime across the country 
continues to decline, I believe more can 
be done to prevent crime by listening to 
our communities, building upon previous 

successes, and by forging stronger links with 
our partners to reduce crime and lessen the 
impact of crime on victims and their families.  
We will use all the tools and information at 
our disposal to effectively prevent crime and, 
where crime is committed, detect offenders.

With our focus on prevention, we will continue 
to tackle Violent Crime, Domestic Abuse and 
all forms of Sexual Crime, including Child 
Abuse and Child Sexual Exploitation.  By 
identifying offenders and working with our 
partners we will ensure victims get the right 
support and will target offenders to prevent 
further crime and protect those at risk of harm. 

We will also tackle Serious Organised Crime 
and work with partners and our communities 
to manage the threat from Terrorism.  We 
will continue to target those who commit 
Acquisitive Crime, Antisocial Behaviour and 
Drug related crimes.  By targeting offenders 
and working with our criminal justice partners 
we will ensure that tackling the trend for 
the development of ‘New Psychoactive 
Substances’, also referred to or known as ‘legal 
highs’, remains a priority.  

Road Safety and Road Crime remains a priority 
and is consistently raised as a concern by 
local communities across the country.  We 
continue to work together with partners and 
agencies and are making good progress to 
meet the Scottish Government’s 2020 targets 
for reducing casualties, however we must do 
more.

Police Scotland’s values are integrity, fairness 
and respect, which underpin all our actions 
and activities in Keeping People Safe. I believe 
the successes realised during our first two 
years are due to the commitment of our 
officers and staff, supported by our work with 
partners and most crucially, the unwavering 
support from the communities we serve.

Foreword 
Chief Constable

Sir Stephen House QPM
Chief Constable



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 7

Scottish Police Authority 
Chair’s Commentary 

The development of this third Police Scotland 
Annual Police Plan offers an opportunity to set 
out clearly the nature of the immediate threats 
and risks that Scotland faces, and how these 
have informed priorities for police activity for 
the coming year.

It is an opportunity to set out the improved 
outcomes and objectives that policing in 
Scotland will set out to achieve over the 
next 12 months, and how progress towards 
achievement of those objectives will be 
measured and evidenced.

It also provides an opportunity to demonstrate 
how Police Scotland has taken consideration 
of the public’s views on what their local 
priorities for policing are, and how policing 
intends to work in an engaged and accessible 
way with partners and communities to plan 
and deliver local outcomes this coming year.

From a governance perspective, through 
our approach to performance reporting and 
analysis, the SPA will ensure that there is clear 
and regularly tested evidence of progress 
towards the achievement of the strategic 
priorities for policing and the benefits of police 
reform. 

Policing in Scotland operates in a fast-moving 
and ever changing world. We rely on the 
thousands of committed and professional 
people within it to anticipate and respond 
to threats and issues that to some of us may 
seem to emerge overnight. However, this is 
not at all a reactive annual plan.

SPA welcomes the stronger emphasis on 
prevention and early intervention which 
runs through the plan this year, on tackling 
inequality of experience, and the focus on 
developing more effective collaboration across 
‘blue light’ services as a means of improving 
services and reducing costs.

We welcome the development of the tripartite 
collaboration between SPA Forensic Services, 
for which SPA has a statutory responsibility, 
with Police Scotland and the Crown Office and 
Procurator Fiscal Service (COPFS) to improve 
outcomes for criminal justice in Scotland.

The Plan sets out ‘what’ activities Police 
Scotland will prioritise in the coming year 
to keep people safe. Rightly there will also 
be a focus on ‘how’ Police Scotland carries 
out that work, with a particular focus on 
developing and maturing the way policing 
informs, communicates, and engages with its 
partners and communities. We all recognise 
how important it is to get that right and to fulfil 
the strong and constructive commitments 
both Police Scotland and the SPA have made 
around engagement.

The SPA and Police Scotland are on a journey 
of longer-term reform and transformation 
of policing. There remains more of that road 
ahead of us than behind us. That is why, in 
parallel with the delivery of this 12-month 
plan, Police Scotland and SPA are also now 
beginning the work to consider what the 
future shape of policing should be so that 
we are ready to anticipate the threats and 
opportunities for the decade ahead.

Vic Emery OBE
Chair, Scottish Police Authority



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED8

The Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 
2012 (the Act) sets out the framework within 
which Police Scotland, the Scottish Police 
Authority (SPA), the Police Investigation Review 
Commissioner, and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate 
of Constabulary for Scotland will operate to 
provide policing for the people of Scotland.

The purpose of Police Scotland is derived from 
the principles within the Act as;

•	 to	improve	the	safety	and	wellbeing		
 of persons, localities and communities in  
 Scotland, and
•	 working	in	collaboration	with	others		
 where appropriate, seek to achieve   
 that  main purpose by policing in a way  
 which, is accessible to, and engaged with,  
 local communities and, promotes measures
 to prevent crime, harm and disorder.

The overarching role of the SPA is to maintain, 
promote and keep under review the policing 
of Scotland and the safety and wellbeing of 
individuals, localities and communities across 
Scotland.  The vision and long-term ambition 
is: To provide the people of Scotland with the 
very best police service possible and to strive 
for excellence in everything that we do.

The Strategic Police Plan1  developed in 
partnership with the SPA, outlines the strategic 
police priorities and objectives we must work 
towards together to fulfil our purpose.

Community Planning Partnerships (CPP) 
agree on local authority area priorities and 
help public agencies work together with 
communities to plan and deliver better public 
services with a focus on prevention, making a 
real difference to people’s lives. 

Police Scotland is a core partner within 
Community Planning and is committed to 
Keeping People Safe through providing a 
range of policing services which responds to 
community concerns, reassures the public and 
increases confidence in our service. 

Public Confidence in policing in Scotland is 
high and the support and co-operation from 
our communities across the country plays 
a vital role in our shared success in Keeping 
People Safe.

We recognise that effective, fair and local 
policing is about reflecting the needs 
and expectations of individuals and local 
communities. Scotland’s communities have 
differing expectations of the service provided 
by the police.  Our aim is to ensure that our 
service is fair and consistent to all, keeping 
those who are most vulnerable safe and 
enhancing their quality of life.

Local Community Policing Plans (previously 
known as Multi Member Ward Plans, see page 
38) are produced by Local Policing Inspectors 
to address community concerns specific 
to local areas.  These are compiled from 
feedback from the community and statistical 
data.  These plans are truly local and are 
unique for each community policing area.

These plans, along with the 32 Police Scotland 
Local Policing Plans for each of Scotland’s 
local authority areas, ensure local policing 
remains at the heart of what we do.  These are 
three year plans which are reviewed annually.

The views and concerns of communities 
across Scotland are at the heart of our local 
operational policing priorities. Through our day 
to day engagement and more formal public 
feedback, we ensure the service we provide 
meets the needs of communities and by 
working together, we can find local solutions 
that meet local needs.

As highlighted, public views inform our 
Local Community Policing Plans and we 
are committed to continually increasing the 
number of participants who provide feedback. 

Identifying Priorities 

1 http://www.spa.police.uk/assets/128635/
strategic-police-plan-web

http://www.spa.police.uk/assets/128635/strategic-police-plan-web
http://www.spa.police.uk/assets/128635/strategic-police-plan-web


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 9

In 2014 our Public Consultation Survey 
attracted 43,119 responses (an increase 
of 39.1% on the previous year).  Across 
Scotland, the public identified Violent 
Crime, Drugs and Speeding Motorists as 
their top priorities.  However, in some of our 
communities, Antisocial Behaviour and Theft 
by Housebreaking were also ranked in the top 
three.

PUBLIC CONSULTATION  PRIORITIES %

Violent Crime 45.2

Drug dealing / drug misuse 36.7

Speeding motorists 29.2

Youths causing annoyance 28.2

Homes being broken into 25.4

Rowdy drunken behaviour in public 
places

23.2

Dangerous and/or antisocial driving 18.2

Vandalism/graffiti 18.2

Theft of personal property e.g. 
bicycles, tools etc

16.0

Littering/fly tipping 14.8

Bogus workers/callers 13.2

Cars being stolen or broken into 11.4

Wildlife crime 3.6

Other – based on free text option 4.5

Each Local Community Policing Plan and the 
32 Local Policing Plans contain the priorities 
unique to that area.  For example, plans in 
some rural areas in the north of Scotland do 
not have violent crime as a priority as this 
is not a concern locally, however in the city 
areas this is the number one concern for our 
communities.

As we enter our third year as Police Scotland, 
we are reviewing our Local Policing Plans to 
ensure they continue to meet the needs of the 
communities we serve. 

These needs are identified through local 
strategic assessments which provide an 
overview of crime and disorder issues and 
identify the threat, risk and harm to our 
communities, taking account of public views. 
Issues identified locally or through public 
consultation may not always become national 
priorities, but can be tackled at a local level 
through the 32 Local Policing Plans and/or the 
Local Community Policing Plans.

The local strategic assessments underpin the 
national Strategic Assessment which is a key 
document in the continuous improvement 
process of meeting future challenges and 
threats.   This national Strategic Assessment 
takes into account all of our Local Policing 
Plans, Public Consultation and environmental 
scanning to identify the greatest areas of risk 
across Scotland.  It also takes into account 
the Scottish Government’s Priorities, National 
Outcomes and the SPA Strategic Police Plan. 
Through this national assessment of threat, risk 
and harm, the priorities for the service for the 
year ahead are identified.

The Scottish Government’s Justice Strategy 
sets out the vision and outcomes for justice in 
Scotland and outlines a distinctive, outcome 
focused and evidence-based approach.  Police 
Scotland is one of the key organisations whose 
role is to work with partners in delivering this 
Strategy.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED10

In 2007, the Scottish Government moved to an 
outcomes-focused approach to performance to 
achieve real and meaningful improvements in 
public services and quality of life for the people 
of Scotland.

This approach, focused on the key long 
term challenges for Scotland, enables and 
encourages effective partnership working 
across the public sector and with other 
stakeholders.  

The Scottish Government’s Purpose is to focus 
government and public services on creating a 
more successful country, with opportunities for 
all of Scotland to flourish, through increasing 
sustainable economic growth.  This is supported 
by their five Strategic Objectives for Scotland 
to be, Wealthier and Fairer, Smarter, Healthier, 
Safer and Stronger, and Greener2.

This is underpinned by 16 National Outcomes, 
some of which are specifically relevant to Police 
Scotland and delivered locally through our 
contribution to Single Outcome Agreements 
(SOA).

SOAs, developed by Community Planning 
Partnerships (CPP), are uniquely shaped 
to reflect the local needs of the areas they 
cover. They are designed to be accessible to 
communities and to ensure our communities 
know exactly what their CPP is committed to 
provide on their behalf.

In June 2014, the Scottish Government 
introduced the Community Empowerment 
(Scotland) Bill which includes proposals for 
establishing in legislation, a set of national 
outcomes for Scotland, providing greater rights 
for communities to participate in planning and 
managing public services.  It also placed CPPs 
on a statutory basis, conferring a legal duty on a 
range of public sector bodies to work together 
in partnership to plan to improve outcomes for 
their communities. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 11

SPA Strategic
Police Plan Scottish 

Government 
Strategic
Objectives &
National
Outcomes

Police 
Scotland
Corporate
Strategy

Strategic
Assessment

Public
Consultation
Survey

Local
Policing
Plans

Local
Community
Policing
Plans

Single
Outcome
Agreements

POLICING 
PRIORITIES
2015/16

Violence, Disorder and  
Antisocial Behaviour

Road Safety and Road  
Crime

Protecting People at Risk  
of Harm

Serious Organised Crime

Counter Terrorism 

POLICING 
PRIORITIES
2015/16

The following chart helps to illustrate how the Public Consultation Survey, Local Community 
Policing Plans, Local Policing Plans, Strategic Assessment, Police Scotland Corporate Strategy3, SPA 
Strategic Police Plan, Single Outcome Agreements and Scottish Government Strategic Objectives 
and National Outcomes inform and assist in identifying our priorities. 

2 http://www.gov.scot/
Publications/2007/11/13092240/2
3 http://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/
police-scotland/strategic-planning/

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2007/11/13092240/2
http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2007/11/13092240/2
http://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/police-scotland/strategic-planning/
http://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/police-scotland/strategic-planning/


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED12

Local Policing  

We know that our communities have their own 
local issues and the views and concerns of 
communities across Scotland are at the heart 
of Local Policing.

Every hour of every day our officers spend 
time within communities, patrolling, preventing 
and recording crime, attending homes, 
schools, hospitals and businesses, providing 
advice and assistance whenever and wherever 
people require it. Whether responding to 
emergencies, facilitating events or providing 
support to people in need, our role has always 
been to listen to what the people of Scotland 
tell us they need and provide the right service 
in the right place at the right time.

This knowledge and experience provides 
our officers with a unique insight into the 
communities they serve. 

Our Local Community Policing Plans and 
Local Policing Plans, ensure we can find local 
solutions that meet local needs, whereby the 
results feed into the national policing priorities, 
outlined within this Plan. This contributes 
towards our approach for preventing crime 
and improving wellbeing tailored to local 
needs, recognising different and often 
individual community safety challenges that 
exist across Scotland.  Local police officers 
based in these communities are best placed 
and skilled to both understand and respond to 
the challenges of their areas through effective 
engagement with residents, businesses and 
partners. 

This Local Policing approach allows us 
to consult, listen and respond effectively 
to address the individual needs of each 
community in the best and most effective way, 
directing our resources to focus on local issues 
that matter to them.

We are then able to provide a visible, high 
quality service to the wider community and 
increased support to the most vulnerable. 
This ensures that issues of specific local 
concern are addressed. These include issues 
such as Wildlife Crime and Acquisitive Crime 
which are of real concern in some of our 
communities. 

Officers get to know their communities and 
are empowered to work with local residents, 
elected members, schools, faith and voluntary 
groups, partners and businesses to encourage 
contributions to enhance the quality of 
life for everyone. 

There are 17,234 Officers4 within Police 
Scotland, with 75% attached to Local Policing. 
Seventeen per cent are Specialist Regional 
Officers based in the North, East and West and 
with the remaining eight per cent attached to 
National Units, all of whom work to support 
Local Policing by providing specialist support 
wherever and whenever it is needed.

Regional O�cers 17%

Lo
cal Policing 75%

Keeping
People
Safe

National O�cers 8%

4 This is the minimum number of officers set by 
SG. At 31/12/2014 the actual number of officers 
was 17253 http://www.scotland.police.uk/
about-us/police-scotland/212598

http://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/police-scotland/212598
http://www.scotland.police.uk/about-us/police-scotland/212598


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 13



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED14

Our Regional and National Resources   

By its very nature, some local policing support 
is not always visible and occurs ‘behind the 
scenes’, but there are instances every day 
where resources are combined to address 
urgent and serious enquiries within local 
communities.

Specialist Crime Division (SCD) is a national 
division providing highly trained and effective 
specialist resources in support of local policing 
delivery.  This allows equal access to resources 
enabling an equality of service and improved 
efficiency. Within SCD there are six business 
areas:  Major Crime, Public Protection, 
Forensic Services, Intelligence Support, Safer 
Communities and Organised Crime and 
Counter Terrorism.

Operational Support Division is designed 
to support local policing and SCD through 
the provision of specialist trained officers, 
equipment and advice, as required. This 
includes various business units such as: 
Emergency, Event and Resilience Planning, 
Armed Policing, Specialist Operations, Dog 
Unit, Mounted Unit, Mountain Rescue, Air 
Support, Dive and Marine Unit and Road 
Policing. 

Custody Division provides custody centres 
across the country, managing the welfare 
of people in custody, taking all decisions 
regarding a detained person’s status, informed 
by the Lord Advocate’s guidelines. 

Contact, Command and Control Division is 
designed to provide frontline advice, support 
and assistance to the public and police. Split 
into two distinct work areas - Service Centres 
and Control Rooms, handling around 3.8 
million emergency and non emergency calls 
per year. Their staff provide 24/7 support to 
resolve enquiries, prioritise and task incidents 
and supply front line officers with operationally 
critical information.

Criminal Justice Division manages our part 
of the criminal justice process which begins 
at the initial crime, offence or information 
recording process stage through to the 
disposal of reports and cases. 

Licensing and Violence Reduction Division 
brings together experienced staff with 
knowledge of reducing violence, disorder and 
antisocial behaviour using tools and tactics 
that are effective at targeting criminals and 
reducing crime. The enforcement of licensing 
legislation, to positively impact on the abuse 
and misuse of alcohol where it is the causal 
factor of violence and disorder, is crucial in 
Keeping People Safe. 

Supporting our officers are our Police Staff 
who fulfil hundreds of vital roles in the Service, 
from solicitors or custody officers to licensing 
assistants, analyst programmers or human 
resources support. 

We have 1,098 Special Constables who 
undertake operational duties as an integral 
and valued part of Local Policing.  Our Special 
Constables are citizens who volunteer to 
undergo police training and have the same 
legal powers as their regular counterparts.  
They are an important element of day to day 
policing, carrying out thousands of hours of 
patrol each year and provide an additional link 
to the communities we serve.

The Police Scotland Youth Volunteers 
Programme is part of our National Partnership 
Unit which also involves Young Scot and 
Youthlink. It was established to strengthen 
engagement between Police Scotland and 
young people aged 13-18 from a range of 
backgrounds, giving them the opportunity to 
gain confidence and develop leadership skills 
by working with the Police and volunteering 
in their local community. The young people 
involved in this programme will have the 
opportunity to continue with further education 
and gain vocational awards. 

In addition, critical support to operational 
policing is provided under the four enabling 
plans within our Corporate Strategy.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 15

Our People 
People and Development ensures Police 
Scotland get the best from our employees, 
whilst supporting managers to ensure people 
are treated in a fair, consistent and legally 
compliant way. They work closely with all 
divisions and departments to understand their 
business priorities, and add value by supporting 
and enabling key strategic objectives through 
building organisational capability.

Our Technology
The ICT Team supports Police Scotland by 
maintaining our technological framework 
throughout Scotland.  The team also work on 
building for the future by developing the ICT 
footprint, introducing newer technologies to 
ensure that our people have flexible access to 
the secure, resilient and reliable technology 
and information required to fulfil their duties 
efficiently and effectively.

Our Organisational Support 
Corporate Services Division supports delivery 
of Local Policing and National and Regional 
Resources, through various departments 
including Analysis and Performance, 
Corporate Communications, Corporate 
Governance, Organisational Development 
and Physical Resources,  (i.e. Estates, Fleet and 
Procurement).

Our Finances
Financial Services is responsible for preparing, 
monitoring and controlling Police Scotland’s 
annual budget as well as managing all aspects 
of financial governance.  It also provides and 
runs a range of financial management systems.

Structuring the organisation in this way 
ensures there is a core complement of police 
officers dedicated to local policing who are 
then able to draw on specialist expertise, 
resources and equipment from the regional 
and national teams wherever and whenever 
they are required.

The following case studies, which occurred 
in the last year, illustrate how the strong 
connections between local, regional and 
national resources contribute to Keeping 
People Safe.

During an intelligence led operation in the 
East of Scotland involving a person accessing 
Indecent Images of Children, where it was 
suspected that the individual was temporarily 
residing elsewhere. The National Child Abuse 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED16

Officers across the country have attended 
thousands of incidents over the past year. 
The following examples show how the 
strong connections between local, regional 
and national resources contribute to 
Keeping People Safe. 

Two mounted officers were deployed to patrol 
an area that had seen an increase in robberies.  
During the course of that patrol, both mounted 
officers also attended routine calls and 
incidents, carrying out proactive work which 
resulted in the apprehension of three men, one 
for the possession of controlled substances, 
another who was wanted in connection with 
a local robbery and a further male arrested in 
connection with the possession of an imitation 
firearm. 

During an investigation into the accessing 
of indecent images of children online, local 
officers contacted the National Child Abuse 
Investigation Unit for assistance, as enquiries 
had revealed that the suspect was living at 
an unknown location in Scotland. As a result 
of the support provided, the individual was 
traced the same day staying in temporary 
accommodation in the north east of Scotland, 
where computer equipment was also found 
and seized for further examination. 

A middle aged man was reported missing and 
due to the difficult terrain of the rural locations 
around his home address, local officers gained 
assistance from Mountain Rescue resources 
within Operational Support Division, a Police 
Search Advisor (POLSA) and the Missing 
Person Search Advisor from both the West 
and East regions of Police Scotland.  By 
working together the search of the identified 
areas was completed quickly.

After a car was stolen following a theft by 
housebreaking, Divisional Road Policing 
Officers were approached by a member of the 
public who advised them of two suspicious 
men apparently hiding in woods nearby.  The 
officers carried out a search of the area and 
discovered the still hot remains of the burnt 
out car.  A dog handler attended and a police 
dog was deployed and tracked the men for 
over half a mile. They were later traced hiding 
high up on an embankment and subsequently 
charged with a number of crimes. 

Supporting Local Policing

After being advised that an elderly man was 
missing from his home, a police dog and his 
handler were tasked to search an open area 
adjacent to a quarry to the south of his home 
address.  The track through the quarry was 
uneven and waterlogged and after following 
the track, the police dog indicated at a pool 
of water.  The man was only just visible above 
the water level.  He was pulled to safety and 
although conscious, was cold and suffering 
from hypothermia so was wrapped in foil 
blankets until an ambulance arrived.  

Officers on patrol were approached by a local 
resident who advised them he believed a car 
had been stolen.  The resident was unable 
to provide exact details but did provide a 
description of the car and its occupants.  The 
local officers, having established no report 
of a theft of a vehicle had been received, 
passed the information to the Divisional Road 
Policing Unit and the Trunk Road Policing 
Group.  Several hours later the Road Policing 
Officers traced and stopped the car.  The 
occupants were charged with theft of the car 
and with various other thefts committed that 
day.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 17

Unfortunately officers often have to deal 
with tragic circumstances. We regularly call 
on the expertise of other organisations to 
assist such as when a fatal fire extensively 
damaged a building, making it unsafe to enter. 
However, it was crucial for the family and for 
the investigation that the body was recovered 
safely and with dignity. Our enquiry involved 
the use of specialist police units, including a 
POLSA led search team, scene examination 
officers, family liaison officers and a range 
of crime management officers. Alongside 
these regional and national police resources 
we worked in partnership with the local 
authority, Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal 
Service, SFRS, external contractors, insurance 
industry representatives and utility companies. 
This resulted in a safe and extensive search, 
investigation and ultimately the deceased 
being returned to the family.  

When a middle aged woman threatened 
to harm herself with a knife, licensed force 
negotiators from Operational Support 
Division attended and successfully engaged 
with her, gaining her trust and preventing 
any serious injury.  She was taken to hospital 
for assessment and support. This is a recent 
example of support provided regularly to 
local officers on almost a weekly basis, which 
assists with protecting people at risk of harm.

Over the year, a number of multi-agency 
Choices for Life events were held to educate 
young people throughout Scotland.  Topics 
such as the dangers of new psychoactive 
substances, festival safety, domestic abuse 
and alcohol misuse were delivered through 
various means including interactive activities, 
mini-dramas and workshops.  This partnership 
initiative is delivered by staff from Safer 
Communities who form part of Specialist 
Crime Division and helps Police Scotland 
engage with young people. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED18

Delivering on Our Priorities – Local 
and National Accountability

At the beginning of each year a set of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPI’s) are identified 
to assist us to evaluate our progress towards 
delivering the priorities identified through our 
consultation and strategic assessment. They 
are an indicator over the course of the year 
as to whether we are on track to deliver the 
activities we outline in our Annual Police Plan. 

To ensure delivery of our local and national 
priorities, a number of key tasking and 
performance meetings are held. The Daily 
Management Meeting is a local meeting 
chaired by the Divisional Commander to 
review all crimes and incidents of note in the 
previous 24 hours. This allows emerging trends 
to be identified and addressed quickly, e.g. 
deployment of additional resources to patrol a 
specific area.

In some divisions this meeting feeds into 
the Community Safety Hub Meeting 
which involves a range of multi-agency 
representatives from various Local Authority 
departments and the Scottish Fire and Rescue 
Service. These representatives discuss how to 
tackle local problems together.

All Divisions hold a Divisional Tasking and 
Performance Meeting. Again this is chaired by 
the Divisional Commander and is attended by 
the Senior Management Team of the Division 
along with Local Area Commanders (at Chief 
Inspector level) and other key individuals. 
A review of performance is carried out and 
trends across the Division identified.

Emerging risks are identified through these 
processes and if necessary can be added 
to the Local Community Policing Plans as 
priorities.

The Local Policing Assistant Chief Constables, 
North, East and West, hold a monthly 
Divisional Commanders Meeting. They 
examine delivery of our priorities across their 
geographical areas.

The Force Tasking and Performance Board 
is held monthly and chaired by the Deputy 
Chief Constable (Local Policing). These are 
attended by all national and local Divisional 
Commanders as well as the Assistant 
Chief Constables. The previous month’s 
performance across the country is examined 
as well as performance for the year to date in 
tackling force and local priorities. 

Managing performance informs our policing 
tactics and helps us to place our officers and 
resources in the right place at the right time, to 
tackle local issues.

We also share best practice and expertise to 
ensure we deliver the best possible service to 
all communities across Scotland, by providing 
specialist support to local policing.

The Chief Constable also holds Senior 
Management Team meetings twice a week 
where operational service delivery is discussed 
and monitored.

Policing in Scotland is now subject to a greater 
level of Scrutiny and Accountability than ever 
before.

The Chief Constable is responsible for policing 
throughout the country and is held to account 
by the Scottish Police Authority for delivery of 
the objectives set out within this Annual Police 
Plan. 

A timetable for delivering the commitments 
contained within this Plan is being produced 
and will form part of our reporting regime to 
the SPA. 

Performance updates are provided to the 
SPA and discussed at the full public board 
meetings as part of the process of governance 
and accountability for enhancing the safety 
and wellbeing of communities across 
Scotland. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 19

At a local level, all local Divisional 
Commanders report regularly through the 
local scrutiny arrangements of Scotland’s 32 
local authorities and work closely with local 
Community Planning Partnerships and other 
local partners. These include, Community 
Councils, local Licensing Boards, and multi-
cultural and faith groups.

This local scrutiny is the formal route for 
elected members to influence local police 
services and retain and develop the successful 
partnership work between councils and Police. 
This scrutiny work is mostly undertaken 
through Council Committees, with some areas 
having joint and others separate arrangements 
for police and fire services. 

The Chief Constable also provides evidence 
to the Scottish Parliament which has a duty 
to keep the Police and Fire Reform Act 2012 
under review. This duty is undertaken through 
the Justice Sub Committee on Policing.

Crime and performance statistics are published 
by the SPA and the Scottish Government. 

SPA Public Board Meetings http://www.spa.
police.uk/meetings-events/ 

Scottish Government Crime and Justice 
Statistics http://www.scotland.gov.uk
/Topics/Statistics/Browse/Crime-Justice

http://www.spa.police.uk/meetings-events/ 
http://www.spa.police.uk/meetings-events/ 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk /Topics/Statistics/Browse/Crime-Justice
http://www.scotland.gov.uk /Topics/Statistics/Browse/Crime-Justice


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED20

Working Together to Keep People Safe  

Community Planning is the process which 
helps public agencies work together with 
communities to plan and deliver better 
public services which make a real difference 
to people’s lives.  Police Scotland is a core 
partner within Community Planning and our 
Crime Prevention Strategy is a mechanism 
which plays a key role in delivering the aims 
and principals of Community Planning, whilst 
contributing to delivery of the partnership 
developed and locally focused Single Outcome 
Agreements.

Our Crime Prevention Strategy incorporates 
both intelligence driven and problem solving 
policing responses, aimed at providing 
sustainable solutions to reduce the need for 
police to continually revisit crime problems. 

Partnerships with a range of stakeholders 
are central to effective crime prevention and 
our Safer Communities teams, locally and 
nationally, seek to proactively partner with 
other agencies to identify, plan and respond to 
current or emerging crime issues and to review 
the outcomes of those responses.  Through 
the tasking and coordination structure we 
identify priorities for crime prevention and 
engage with stakeholders to identify suitable, 
innovative responses.

Police Scotland is committed to improving 
the safety and wellbeing of people, places 
and communities in Scotland in an open 
and transparent manner.  Our focus during 
2015/16 remains on delivering the highest 
possible service to the communities of 
Scotland.  Across the range of our activities, 
we will continue to develop our approach 
to engagement with communities and 
partners, consistent with the principles set 
out in our overarching Communications and 
Engagement Strategy.

We are also developing a Community 
Engagement Framework that builds upon 
examples of good practice identified throughout 
Scotland. These will support effective 
community engagement and provide a structure 
to inform policing and partnership priorities.  

The Scottish Government’s Building Safer 
Communities Programme seeks a ‘flourishing, 
optimistic Scotland in which resilient 
individuals, families and communities live 
safe from crime, disorder and harm’.  Working 
together with communities, and national and 
local partners, the programme aims to reduce 
the number of victims of crime by 250,000 by 
2017-18; and to reduce the number of victims 
of unintentional harm by a significant amount 
over the same period.  We fully support this 
ambition and will play our part in helping to 
achieve it.

Working with partner agencies, we will 
continue to support the Equally Safe Strategy5 
produced by Scottish Government and COSLA. 
Equally Safe sets out Scotland’s strategy to 
take action on all forms of violence against 
women and girls. The Strategy aims to prevent 
and eradicate violence, creating a strong and 
flourishing Scotland, where all individuals are 
equally safe and respected and where women 
and girls live free from such abuse, and the 
attitudes that help perpetuate it. Our response 
to such violence and abuse will be robust, 
swift, consistent and coordinated.

The following are further examples of locally 
and nationally developed policies and initiatives 
which will contribute to both local and national 
priorities within communities during 2015/16.

Keeping People Safe can only be achieved by 
working together with our partners and with 
the communities we serve. We recognise the 
need to actively engage with the diverse range 
of communities through the delivery of our 
Equality and Diversity Outcomes, ensuring 
a consistent approach and a high quality of 
service.  This is delivered in conjunction with 
our partners, where appropriate, is responsive 
to local needs and demonstrates our core 
values of integrity, fairness and respect.

5 http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/06/7483/
downloads

http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/06/7483/downloads
http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2014/06/7483/downloads


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 21

Our Youth Engagement Strategy is currently 
being developed in consultation with the 
Police Scotland Youth Advisory Panel and our 
Children and Young People Reference Group. 
The Panel is made up of children and young 
people aged between 12 and 25 years from 
various backgrounds and areas throughout 
Scotland. The Reference Group comprises 
senior representatives from agencies and 
voluntary organisations which work with 
young people. The Strategy will cover the 
broad spectrum of police interaction with 
children and young people and includes 
children as witnesses and victims, child safety 
and protection, offending, crime prevention 
and engagement. 

This will include our on-going work with 
partners, both nationally and locally, to 
consider the forthcoming duties under the 
Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 
2014.  This will include the provisions in 
respect of Wellbeing, Named Person, the 
Child’s Plan, and Corporate Parenting in line 
with Getting it Right for Every Child (GIRFEC).

Community Lay Advisors are recruited to deal 
with a variety of diversity issues.  To support 
this process and allow for scrutiny and counsel 
to be provided at a strategic level, a National 
Independent Strategic Advisory Group 
(NISAG) has been developed.  The group 
members are formed from a range of bodies 
that represent the interests of people from a 
range of different protected characteristics6.  
It offers both Police Scotland and the SPA 
a forum in which to engage and provides 
a wide range of perceptions which help to 
guard against disadvantaging any section of 
our community and indeed any section of the 
workforce, through lack of understanding, 
ignorance or mistaken belief. 

A national approach to Hate Crime has been 
developed and we will be rolling out training in 
2015 to ensure officers and staff are equipped 
with the knowledge and confidence 
to continue to deliver a consistent and 
professional level of service to victims of hate 
crime across Scotland. 

Doorstep Crime affects some of the most 
vulnerable within our communities, where 
victims are targeted due to their perceived 
vulnerability. In partnership with other 
agencies, Police Scotland has developed and 
delivered prevention, intelligence, engagement 
and enforcement activity under the nationally 
recognised ‘Operation Monarda’. 

A key part of the strategy is prevention tools 
such as Nominated Neighbour schemes, No 
Cold Calling Zones and our ‘Beat Doorstep 
Crime’ marketing material aimed at protecting 
vulnerable homeowners and residents from 
Doorstep Crime.

Choices for Life is an innovative diversionary 
and educational initiative which aims to 
provide accurate, consistent and measured 
prevention advice to young people aged 
between 11 and 18 about the risks and harms 
associated with tobacco, alcohol and drug 
use, promoting positive life choices.  Police 
Scotland will be working closely with key 
partners to deliver a mix of local events, online 
broadcasts, website material and national 
campaigns including New Psychoactive 
Substances and Festival Safety.  

Our Student Safety campaigns are geared 
particularly towards new students during the 
freshers period. They include key preventative 
safety and security messages set out in 
an e-booklet and disseminated with the 
assistance of colleges and universities.

As online safety lead, Safer Communities has 
established the multi-disciplinary Safer Virtual 
Communities Delivery Group to deliver the 
recommendations of a recent cybercrime 
capability and capacity review.  The Safer 
Virtual Communities initiatives include the 
implementation of a Cybercrime Strategy 
and associated operational practice.  Online 
personal safety advice and practical crime 
prevention measures can be found on the 
Police Scotland “Keep Safe” section of our 
website7.

6 as defined by the Equality Act 2010
7 http://www.scotland.police.uk/keep-safe/ 

http://www.scotland.police.uk/keep-safe/ 


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED22

Planning is underway with the Scottish 
Prison Service Young Offenders Institute 
Polmont, for a police officer to work within 
the Community Safety Unit.  This new and 
innovative partnership aims to engage with 
young people within the prison estate to 
change offending behaviour and develop 
sustainable approaches to break the cyclical 
nature of offending, improve outcomes for 
young people who offend and ultimately 
protect our communities.

A senior Mental Health lead has been 
identified in each of our Local Policing 
Divisions.  A working group, attended by Local 
Policing and Custody Division representatives, 
has been created to identify good practice 
from across the country and to ensure clear 
and consistent practices are employed to build 
prevention methodology into care of those 
with mental health issues as well as meeting 
the needs of individuals in all communities.  

The Mental Health Community Triage Pilot 
with Local Policing and Greater Glasgow 
and Clyde Health board was approved and 
implemented in January 2015. The new 
approach provides officers with direct access 
to mental health professionals who help 
support decision making to improve services 
to vulnerable members of our communities.  
A similar pilot will run in Edinburgh City in 
conjunction with Lothian Health Board. 

Furthermore there has been wide consultation 
with partner organisations at local and national 
levels including the Scottish Association for 
Mental Health, NHS Health Scotland’s Suicide 
Prevention Programme and the Mental Welfare 
Commission for Scotland, to develop Standard 
Operating Procedures (SOP). The SOP 
introduces consistent practice throughout 
Scotland and advocates ‘the minimum 
interference in people’s liberty and the 
maximum involvement of service users in any 
treatment while taking into account the safety 
of others’.  New training packages have been 
developed to embed these new procedures 
and training for police officers and police staff 
is ongoing. 

A Mental Health Micro Site on the Police 
Scotland intranet is now live, providing our 
staff with useful guidance and information 
on services available at both national and 
divisional levels.

The Victims and Witnesses (Scotland) Act 
2014 aims to improve the experience of victims 
and witnesses throughout their involvement 
with the criminal justice system, setting out 
new ways in which the police and our partners 
can deliver enhanced levels of support. It 
improves and increases rights and support 
for victims and witnesses and establishes a 
National Confidential Forum.

Since August 2014, several sections directly 
impacting on policing practice have been 
implemented,  namely, sections 1, 2, 3, 6 and 
8 of the Act.  Along with instituting the general 
principles of the Act, these sections establish 
reportable standards of service for victims and 
witnesses. It allows victims and witnesses to 
formally request certain information from us 
and entitles victims of certain crimes to specify 
the gender of their interviewing officer.  

A review of all relevant Police Scotland 
procedures and associated toolkits has been 
undertaken and advice and guidance has 
been provided to officers and staff; this will 
continue as the remaining sections of the Act 
are implemented.  We have also developed 
new recording and reporting procedures to 
ensure compliance with the required standards 
of service.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 23



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED24

Priority – Violence, Disorder and 
Antisocial Behaviour

We will:

•	 Protect	our	communities	by	increasing		
 detection of violent crime, domestic  
 abuse and hate crime offenders

•	 Prevent	incidents	of	antisocial		 	
 behaviour and disorder

•	 Prevent	violent	crime,	including	
 alcohol-related violence and disorder

•	 Continue	to	work	with	partner	agencies		
 to support victims of domestic abuse

Violent crime reduced by almost 10% between 
2012/13 and 2013/14, whilst overall detection 
rates continued to increase. Police Scotland 
remains committed to continuing this trend 
by maintaining our prevention, partnership 
and intelligence led investigative approach 
to Keep People Safe. Our recent survey 
shows Scotland’s communities expect us to 
prioritise reducing violent crime and antisocial 
behaviour, making a positive contribution to 
their wellbeing and safety. To achieve this we 
will protect our communities by increasing 
detection of violent crime and disorder, 
domestic abuse and hate crime offenders.

When serious crime occurs we provide 
dedicated specialist support to communities 
by deploying resources from our Major 
Investigation Teams, ensuring equity and 
quality of service nationally. These teams 
also provide specialist investigative capability 
in support of local investigators, ensuring 
continuity of regular service which supports 
our commitment to providing a nationally co-
ordinated approach to tackling violence.

Having seen further reductions in reports 
of disorder (16.3%) and antisocial behaviour 
(13.8%) during 2013/14, we are rolling out 
nationally a series of business intelligence 
tools which will improve our local policing 
operations, ensuring we are better equipped 
with the best analytical evidence to 
understand where and when our officers 
should be deployed. This will allow us to better 
identify offending patterns and hotspots which 
are shared with local partners ensuring we 
collectively prevent incidents of antisocial 
behaviour and disorder.

Using these tools, we will continue to support 
our national Campaign Against Violence, 
which puts over 1000 experienced officers, 
normally performing essential support roles, 
into our communities every month at peak 
times, supporting local officers to prevent 
crime and provide public reassurance. 

The service has established a National Stop 
and Search Unit to provide scrutiny and 
governance around the use of this policing 
tactic. Further, the learning gained from the 
stop and search pilot in Fife Division and 
engagement with partner agencies will assist 
in the provision of best practice and guidance 
for the year ahead. A national violence and 
disorder prevention strategy will be developed 
to ensure a consistent approach to tackling 
those issues causing the greatest threat, risk 
and harm to our local communities.

Recognising the link between alcohol, disorder 
and violent crime, our Licensing Policy Unit 
will continue to support local policing to 
prevent violent crime, including alcohol-
related violence and disorder by working 
closely with partners to apply greater scrutiny 
to licensed premises issues. We will also 
inform personal licence holder and Security 
Industry Authority training.  We will engage 
with event and festival organisers to agree 
alcohol management plans that will set out 
how alcohol sale, supply and risk are to be 
controlled.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 25

Domestic abuse impacts significantly upon 
victims and families and we will continue 
to work with partner agencies to support 
victims of domestic abuse. Together with 
Advocacy Support Safety Information Services 
Together (commonly known as ASSIST) and 
Scottish Women’s Aid, amongst others, we 
will continue to refine and deliver inputs 
on the law in relation to domestic abuse to 
Independent Domestic Abuse Advocates 
from across Scotland, improving the support 
available to victims. We will continue to be 
active in advising future domestic abuse 
legislation, taking advantage of our unique 
perspective. 

A pilot for the Disclosure Scheme for Domestic 
Abuse Scotland (known in England and Wales 
as ‘Clare’s Law’), in Ayrshire and Aberdeen City 
is underway and if successful, consideration 
will be given to its roll out across Scotland.  
This gives people at risk of domestic abuse 
the right to ask about their partner’s abusive 
past and gives them the information to assist 
in making an informed decision on whether to 
continue in the relationship. 

Reported domestic abuse incidents dropped 
over 2013/14 however, Police Scotland 
continues to actively target perpetrators while 
working to keep victims and their families safe. 
Our divisional Domestic Abuse Investigation 
Units will continue to support local officers 
in communities, with our National Domestic 
Abuse Task Force targeting perpetrators 
who pose the greatest risk of harm. We will 
continue to work proactively with a range of 
partners via regular Multi-Agency Tasking and 
Co-ordinating meetings ensuring we work 
effectively together to protect victims and 
prevent further abuse. 

We will continue our efforts to eradicate 
the blight of hate crime from Scotland. 
Recognising victims may be extremely 
reluctant to report hate crimes, it is important 
to establish the most appropriate mechanism 
for victims to contact the police and help 
overcome existing barriers.

We have developed several reporting methods 
for victims of hate crime designed to provide a 
means of contacting the police. This includes 
online reporting or via third party reporting 
centres in addition to traditional methods.8

Through engagement with a wide range of 
organisations across the country, we have 
developed strong partnerships within the 
equality and diversity and hate crime arenas. 
They offer valuable support and advice on how 
to best communicate and work with minority 
communities. This ensures that offenders are 
brought to justice, whilst reducing potential 
negative impact on victims or witnesses.

In 2015, we will be launching a national media 
campaign to raise awareness of hate crime 
and continue to engage at grass roots level 
to ensure the most vulnerable members of 
our communities are protected. This work will 
focus on increased reporting, reducing levels 
of hate crime and ensuring those responsible 
are brought swiftly to justice.  

8 http://www.scotland.police.uk/contact-us/
hate-crime-third-party-reporting/

http://www.scotland.police.uk/contact-us/hate-crime-third-party-reporting/
http://www.scotland.police.uk/contact-us/hate-crime-third-party-reporting/


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED26

Priority – Road Safety and Road 
Crime

We will:

•	 Prevent	road	casualties

•	 Prevent	road	crime	and	positively		 	
 impact on the use of roads by criminals

The impact of death and injury on our roads 
is significant, not only from the impact on 
victims and their families but to communities 
and the wider economy. It consistently 
features as a priority for many communities 
across Scotland and so the creation of Police 
Scotland has allowed us to ensure that Road 
Policing is a priority for every officer. Scotland’s 
roads network is diverse and provides lifeline 
links to our rural communities. It is estimated 
that road users travelled more than 40,000 
million kilometres on the roads network in 
2013, either in built up estates, on national 
motorways or rural roads for work or leisure.

In 2013 there were 172 fatalities and 1,672 
serious injuries9 on Scotland’s roads, 
representing a 41% and 36% reduction 
respectively against 2004/08 baseline average. 
We have made good progress but there is 
still much to be done to achieve our aim of 
preventing road casualties and meeting 
the Scottish Government’s 2020 casualty 
reduction targets.   

Our Divisional Road Policing Units are 
fully embedded across our local policing 
divisions, with local officers supporting local 
communities. The Trunk Road Patrol Group 
is responsible for policing the trunk roads 
network. Specialist motorcycle capability and 
other support functions are also available 
nationally to support local priorities.  We have 
also set up a Police Scotland Road Safety 
Governance Board to ensure a focus and 
strategic direction which matches our resource 
to when and where it’s needed and which 
retains the flexibility to allow local policing 
teams to work with partners to find local 
solutions for local priorities.

Evidence shows10 that by highlighting the 
consequences of enforcement, we can have 
a positive impact on driver behaviour and 
proactively prevent more people dying on 
Scotland’s roads.

To achieve our goals during 2015/16, our 
methods will continue to be informed by 
academic research, forming part of an 
evidence-based partnership approach. 
As articulated in the Scottish Road Safety 
Framework11, our primary role is to enforce 
road traffic law and this will continue to be our 
focus. 

Effective partnership working is at the heart of 
what we do. At the strategic level we will be 
represented at the Scottish Government’s Road 
Safety Strategic Partnership Board and lead the 
Tactical Options Working Group. Operationally, 
we will continue our close liaison with agencies 
such as Transport Scotland, Driver and Vehicle 
Standards Agency, the Driver and Vehicle 
Licensing Agency, HMRC and the Traffic 
Commissioner.

We will work with our partners to enforce 
specialist legislation and will endeavour to clear 
incidents quickly to keep the network moving. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 27

We will work in partnership to improve 
road user behaviour through enforcement, 
education and engineering solutions. This 
will inform our actions, using intelligence 
and analysis to identify priority routes and 
road users who may be vulnerable. Evidence 
has shown that a highly visible presence on 
Scotland’s roads has a significant impact on 
driver behaviour.  We will ensure our officers 
are in the ‘right place at the right time’ to 
employ both prevention and enforcement 
tactics.  We will continue working with partners 
to consider the development of appropriate 
schemes for diversion from prosecution and 
will support Local Authorities, Community and 
Road Safety Partnerships in delivering road 
safety activities.

Preventing road crime and positively 
impacting on the use of road by criminals 
is a key commitment for Police Scotland. We 
will continue using Automatic Number Plate 
Recognition technology, working with partner 
agencies, to assist us to detect criminals on our 
roads, arresting offenders and seizing vehicles 
where appropriate. Furthermore, with targeted 
patrolling and vehicle stops we will detect 
and seize contraband under the Proceeds of 
Crime Act and the Misuse of Drugs Act.  We 
will continue to target and deter offenders and 
detect all types of criminality on our roads. 
We will consult on engineering solutions (such 
as traffic calming), maintain and enhance the 
capability of the Safety Camera Programme 
and effectively coordinate and deploy the use 
of these assets. 

These commitments will be reflected in 
our three year Road Safety and Road Crime 
Strategy, due to be published in 2015, which 
will further strengthen our commitment to 
influence road user behaviour and make 
Scotland’s roads safer. 

9 http://www.transportscotland.gov.uk/statistics/
j340611-00.htm
10 http://www.road-safety.org.uk/downloads
/1380113107-RITS%202013%20April%20web.pdf
11 http://www.gov.scot/Resource/
Doc/274552/0082161.pdf

http://www.transportscotland.gov.uk/statistics/j340611-00.htm
http://www.transportscotland.gov.uk/statistics/j340611-00.htm
http://www.road-safety.org.uk/downloads /1380113107-RITS%202013%20April%20web.pdf
http://www.road-safety.org.uk/downloads /1380113107-RITS%202013%20April%20web.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/274552/0082161.pdf
http://www.gov.scot/Resource/Doc/274552/0082161.pdf


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED28

We will:

•	 Implement	a	prevention	strategy	in		
 respect of abuse of children and adults  
 at risk of harm

•	 Protect	children	by	developing	a	robust	
 review regime of child abuse   
 investigations

•	 Protect	children	by	expanding	our
 national rape investigation database to
 include child sexual abuse
 investigations where there are multiple
 victims and/or perpetrators, abuse  
 within institutional settings and those
 involving people of public prominence

•	 Work	in	partnership	to	utilise	new	 	
 technology and techniques to improve
 investigation of cyber based child
 abuse

•	 Reinforce	the	prevention	strategy	to		
 tackle rape and serious sexual crime  
 whilst maintaining a victim focus

•	 Protect	victims	by	implementing	a
 national victim strategy

•	 Prevent,	deter	and	detect	those
 involved in human trafficking

•	 Prevent	harm	by	establishing	a	national
 strategy in respect of prostitution

•	 Implement	a	national	inspection	model	
 for sex offender management
 procedures within local divisions
 and establish a national strategy for
 the management of certain serious and
 violent offenders

•	 	Work	with	the	Scottish	Government	
to consult on a draft partnership 
missing person strategy and 
supporting action plan

Priority - Protecting People at Risk of 
Harm

Tackling sexual crime and the sexual abuse 
and exploitation of children and people at risk 
of harm remains a priority for Police Scotland.  
Significant media attention has recently 
centred on prominent individuals, non-recent 
abuse in institutional settings and Child 
Sexual Exploitation (CSE). These events have 
galvanised public concerns and placed the 
protection of those at risk of sexual harm in the 
spotlight both locally and nationally.

Police Scotland will continue to work with key 
partners both locally and nationally to break 
down any barriers to the reporting of abuse. 
Victims have more courage to come forward 
and report crimes due to increased trust and 
confidence in the police. This is reflected in the 
crime figures that show recorded sexual crimes 
have increased by 12%, from 7,693 in 2012-13 
to 8,604 in 2013-14. 76% of these crimes were 
detected, an increase of 8%. 

In order to continue tackling this priority, Police 
Scotland will implement a prevention strategy 
in respect of the abuse of children and 
adults at risk of harm. We will prevent, deter 
and detect those who pose the greatest risk, 
maximising use of legislative powers and 
effectively working with partners, whether 
statutory agencies or support organisations 
and our communities to share information and 
develop action plans with clearly identified 
ownership and accountability. 

We will engage with multi-agency working 
groups and committees, nationally and at local 
authority level, as well as coordinated local and 
national media campaigns, to raise awareness 
of emerging forms of abuse and implement 
prevention strategies to influence social 
attitudes and reduce vulnerability. 

We will develop a comprehensive suite of 
guidance documents to ensure all staff are 
confident and competent at identifying and 
responding appropriately, whatever their role 
and whenever abuse is reported.  We will 
review the national adult and child protection 
training to ensure it provides frontline and 
specialist staff with the skills they need.  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 29

Of all the people at risk of harm, children are 
particularly vulnerable. Our communities 
demand that all partner agencies work 
strenuously to protect children from harm. 
While joint inspections take place at local 
authority level for services that have a 
responsibility to protect children, Police 
Scotland will augment this by developing 
a robust review regime of child abuse 
investigations through the evolution 
of the National Child Abuse Investigation 
Unit. This unit will support local policing Public 
Protection Units by providing a dedicated, 
specialist investigative resource during complex 
child abuse and neglect investigations. 

We will protect children by expanding our 
national rape investigation database to 
include child sexual abuse investigations 
where there are multiple victims and/or 
perpetrators, abuse within institutional 
settings and those involving people of public 
prominence. This will provide operational 
coordination ensuring more effective support 
to local policing investigations across Scotland 
and the overall assessment of child abuse, 
including non-recent abuse. We will consider 
best practice and use specialist skills to ensure 
we respond consistently and robustly when 
such crimes are reported. 

Further, we will work in partnership with 
national and international partners, including 
cybercrime experts, other law enforcement 
agencies, UK and Scottish Governments and 
the justice and voluntary sector, to utilise 
technology, techniques and methods of 
identifying and investigating those who 
exploit computer networks to sexually abuse 
children.

As the statistics above highlight, recorded 
sexual crime has risen. Although we believe 
this is as a direct result of improved confidence 
in our ability to respond, clearly this is an 
area we must continue to tackle and prevent. 
Therefore, by working with our communities 
and partners, we will reinforce the prevention 
strategy to tackle rape and serious sexual 
crime to enhance our approach to victims and 
share information in order to identify those at 
risk and those who pose a risk. 

We will protect victims by implementing 
a national Victim Strategy to improve our 
response to rape and the ongoing safety of 
victims, assessing victims’ vulnerability and 
developing care and safety plans. We will 
develop strategies to assess reoffending risks 
and conduct research to understand how best 
to support victims and keep them engaged 
throughout the Criminal Justice process.

Working locally with partners and 
communities, we will continue to raise 
awareness of the law on rape and sexual 
assault to influence behaviour and cultural 
change. 

Our rape prevention campaign, ‘We Can Stop 
It’, aims to increase understanding, improve 
levels of reporting and target perpetrators 
through use of peer role models.  The 
campaign encourages victims to report rape, 
emphasising that Police Scotland takes the 
crime of rape very seriously and will investigate 
thoroughly.

Official statistics12 confirm that human 
trafficking is present and growing in Scotland. 
As we continue to understand the complexities 
of this emerging issue, we will prevent, 
deter and detect those involved in human 
trafficking. This will be done by developing 
an investigative strategy focused on early 
victim identification and effective use of 
intelligence, working with our partners in local 
authorities and community based support 
services to ensure victims’ needs are met 
and investigations are of a consistently high 
standard. We will maximise existing crime 
strategies and share information between 
partners to prevent and target those involved 
in human trafficking.

12 http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/
publications/502-national-referral-mechanism-
statistics-end-of-year-summary-2014/file 
 

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/502-national-referral-mechanism-statistics-end-of-year-summary-2014/file 
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/502-national-referral-mechanism-statistics-end-of-year-summary-2014/file 
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/502-national-referral-mechanism-statistics-end-of-year-summary-2014/file 


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED30

There is an identified link between human 
trafficking and prostitution, therefore in 
conjunction with our strategy on trafficking; 
we will prevent harm by establishing a 
national strategy in respect of prostitution. 
Working with local partners including criminal 
justice, health and local authorities, we will 
implement effective harm reduction plans. We 
will also implement a robust communication 
strategy to deliver key messages to build the 
trust of sex industry workers to engage with 
police, ensuring the focus of enforcement 
activities remains on those who are involved in 
commercial sexual exploitation.

Managing offenders is a key component of 
our strategy to keep people safe. Through 
the National Offender Management Unit we 
will implement a national inspection model 
for sex offender management procedures 
within local divisions, in line with Multi Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements, to examine 
processes, procedures and recording practices. 
This will ensure consistent intrusive reviews 
provide the necessary level of governance and 
assurance and focus on quality and decision-
making.

Our National Offender Management Unit will 
also work with partners to implement new 
legislation to protect communities and prevent 
further crimes of violence by establishing 
a national strategy for the management of 
certain serious and violent offenders. This will 
be delivered by local officers working closely 
with local authority and health colleagues.

Whilst Police Scotland is is the lead agency in 
missing person investigations, we acknowledge 
that we are only one of a wide range of 
organisations who have a part to play in 
protecting vulnerable missing people. That is 
why our Missing Person Unit will work with 
the Scottish Government to consult on a 
draft partnership missing person strategy and 
supporting action plan by the summer of 2015. 
This strategy will bring greater consistency 
to how agencies respond to missing person 
incidents. The vision will be to create a Scotland 
in which we collectively take a preventative 
approach and as a consequence reduce the 
number of people who go missing and reduce 
negative outcomes.  

The partnership national missing person 
strategy will have four themes for all agencies 
involved including; take preventative steps to 
reduce the number of missing persons, respond 
consistently and appropriately, support both 
missing people and their families and protect 
vulnerable missing people and reduce the risks 
of harm coming to them. The strategy will also 
see three national partnership agreements 
specifically designed to support vulnerable 
groups including looked after children, adults 
with dementia / mental health and NHS patients 
from hospital environments. This ambitious 
work programme will make real improvements 
to the way we work together to protect 
vulnerable missing people in Scotland. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 31



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED32

Priority – Serious Organised Crime

We will:

•	 	Continue	to	build	a	true	picture	of	
Serious Organised Crime Groups, 
members and activities and use 
operational activity to reduce their 
capability and capacity to cause harm

•	 Prevent	harm	by	disrupting	Serious	
 Organised Crime Groups through the
 use of Proceeds of Crime Act and other
 effective legislation

•	 Prevent	harm	by	increasing	our
 targeting of the illegal use of legitimate
 business sectors

•	 Prevent	harm	by	disrupting	the	supply
 of drugs and new psychoactive
 substances

Serious Organised Crime Groups have a 
disruptive impact upon Scottish communities 
at a significant cost to Scottish Society. It is 
estimated that these groups cost the Scottish 
Economy billions annually.13 Reducing the 
threat posed to our communities by Serious 
Organised Crime Groups is a priority for Police 
Scotland.

The Scottish Multi-Agency Strategic Threat 
Assessment pulls together all intelligence from 
partner agencies to provide a comprehensive 
picture of the overall threat, risk and harm 
that Serious Organised Crime Groups pose to 
Scotland’s communities. 

Building on success in this area with such 
initiatives as the Scottish Anti-Illicit Trade Group, 
a multi-agency group who work together to 
reduce the scale, impact and cost of illicit trade, 
we will continue to build a true picture of 
Serious Organised Crime Groups, members 
and activities and use operational activity to 
reduce their capability to cause harm. 

We will ensure our approach to serious organised 
crime is reflective of changing trends such as the 
increase in Cybercrime through initiatives like the 
implementation of the Safer Virtual Communities 
Delivery Group, an online community dedicated 
to enhancing preventative advice to members 
of the public and Scottish businesses as well as 
improving Police Scotland’s investigative strategy 
and techniques.

However, we recognise that the emerging trend 
of cyber criminality cuts across all aspects of 
criminality and as such we have expanded our 
strategic focus; and will continue to do so in 
line with emerging threats, to ensure that our 
communities are informed and empowered 
to utilise online technology safely and deprive 
those wishing to exploit technological 
vulnerabilities of the ability to do so across both 
public and business sectors.

We will also build on campaigns to educate 
communities on the harm serious organised 
crime can cause and how seemingly victimless 
crimes (such as counterfeiting) can lead to the 
exploitation of vulnerable people.  

As a service we accept that to truly impact 
on serious organised crime we cannot 
work in isolation. This approach led to the 
establishment of the Scottish Crime Campus, 
bringing together partners from the Crown 
Office and Procurator Fiscal Service, the 
National Crime Agency, HMRC and Home 
Office Immigration Enforcement. The Crime 
Campus provides enhanced opportunities 
to conduct joint operations against Serious 
Organised Crime Groups.  Along with our 
partners we will prevent harm by disrupting 
Serious Organised Crime Groups through 
the use of Proceeds of Crime Act and other 
effective legislation and deprive them of 
access to legitimate enterprises. We will 
maximise sharing of intelligence and improve 
interoperability through the use of the Strategic 
Multi-Agency Response Team ethos to tackle 
serious organised crime. This will generate 
a focused and cohesive disruption strategy 
targeting all aspects of serious organised crime. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 33

We have financial investigators embedded 
throughout Police Scotland and strategic 
partners and we will continue to develop our 
use of the Proceeds of Crime Act legislation 
to maximise the seizure of criminals’ cash and 
assets. 

We will continue to play a key role on the 
Serious Organised Crime Taskforce, which 
involves a range of strategic partners.

We will prevent harm by increasing our 
targeting of the illegal use of legitimate 
business sectors by Serious Organised Crime 
Groups, such as the security industry and taxis. 
Criminals use businesses to ‘mask’ their illegal 
activities and to launder money. This leads to 
the distortion of markets and deprives lawful 
companies of business. We further commit to 
actively targeting and disrupting those groups 
and individuals that exploit Scotland’s business 
community for criminal profit. 

A large percentage of Serious Organised 
Crime Groups operating in Scotland are 
involved in the supply of controlled drugs. 
Communities in Scotland have indicated this 
is a concern; more than 36% of the people we 
asked cited this as one of their top priorities 
and subsequently we will prevent harm by 
disrupting the supply of drugs and new 
psychoactive substances by utilising all of 
our intelligence and investigative products to 
assist in proactively targeting those involved.

We will ensure that the operational learning 
identified in mitigating new emerging 
threats, such as the use of the ’dark web’ is 
incorporated into all other aspects of our 
preventative and investigative structures in 
order to keep our communities safe from the 
threat from all aspects of serious organised 
crime.

New Psychoactive Substances (commonly 
known as legal highs) are becoming more 
popular and the potential exists for Serious 
Organised Crime Groups to exploit the 
potentially lethal misconception that they 
are safe. The National Drugs Profiling Group 
will bring together experts from the fields 

of Policing, Community Safety, Medicine, 
Science and Government Policy to develop a 
comprehensive understanding of the harm that 
drugs, including new psychoactive substances, 
can have on Scotland’s communities. 

We will work with these partners to increase 
legislative clarity to target new substances and 
also the emergence of underground internet 
sales in all forms of illegal commodities on so 
called ‘dark web’ sites not able to be accessed 
through normal internet search activity. 

By working together with other law 
enforcement, criminal justice, health partners 
and with local authorities Police Scotland 
will continue to generate a comprehensive 
approach to the disruption of Serious 
Organised Crime Groups and the activities of 
their members. 

13 http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Justice/policies/
reducing-crime/organised-crime 

http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Justice/policies/reducing-crime/organised-crime 
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Justice/policies/reducing-crime/organised-crime 


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED34

Priority – Counter Terrorism 

We will:

•	 Protect	communities	by	reducing	and		
 mitigating the risk of terrorism to   
 Scotland

•	 Protect	communities	by	ensuring	that		
 Police Scotland is prepared to respond  
 to any terrorist attack

•	 Protect	communities	by	expanding		
 the use of the Counter Terrorism  
 Organisational Learning and
 Development model

Terrorism, like all other aspects of criminality 
seeks to exploit vulnerabilities and has the 
potential to significantly impact upon the safety 
and security of communities and businesses 
within Scotland. The threat level to the UK 
from international terrorism has been raised to 
SEVERE at the time of publication (meaning an 
attack is highly likely). We will work relentlessly 
with our partner agencies, including Scottish 
Government, to ensure that the people of 
Scotland can live their lives, freely and with 
confidence. 

Current conflicts across the globe, such as 
those in Syria, Iraq and the surrounding region, 
will have long term implications for Counter 
Terrorism both in Scotland and the rest of 
the UK. Effective intelligence collection and 
assessment, combined with pro-active early 
intervention and preventative engagement 
will remain our most valuable tool to protect 
communities by reducing and mitigating 
the risk of terrorism to Scotland. Staying 
ahead of the continually evolving threat 
will remain challenging, however through 
continued engagement with local, national 
and international partners we will continue to 
proactively mitigate the threats posed.
 
Our objectives support the four key elements 
of the UK’s counter terrorism strategy 
(CONTEST): 14

PURSUE: to pursue terrorists and those who 
sponsor them, through the focussed use of 
intelligence analysis, flexible use of investigative 
resources, that evolve to mitigate the threat 
posed and the use of technological assets, 
such as (Automated Number Plate Recognition 
technology), in order to detect and deter 
terrorist activity and create an environment 
within which it is difficult for terrorists to work.

PREVENT: to stop people becoming terrorists 
or supporting terrorism through ongoing 
commitment to the Scottish Preventing 
Violent Extremism Unit, community and youth 
engagement, and new measures such as 
the roll out of a Multi-Agency Collaborative 
Outcome Learning tool to assist partners in 
identifying vulnerabilities.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 35

PROTECT: to protect the UK by strengthening 
our defences against terrorism through 
the continued work of the Border Policing 
Command in partnership with UK Border 
Force, Home Office Immigration Enforcement, 
HMRC and the Maritime and Coastguard 
Agency as well as focused tasking of our 
Counter Terrorism Security Advisors.

PREPARE: to mitigate or lessen the impact 
of a terrorist attack, most often through 
regular training of key responding assets, 
such as Uniformed Patrol, Firearms and 
Chemical, Biological, Radiological and 
Nuclear trained officers, in partnership with 
other emergency services, local partners 
and government departments. Our ability to 
effectively prepare and respond to terrorist 
threats is enhanced through the embedding 
of partner agency staff, including Scottish Fire 
and Rescue, Ministry of Defence Police and 
Civil Nuclear Constabulary within the Scottish 
Crime Campus. Planning is also underway to 
enhance the embedded cadre by including 
representation from the Scottish Ambulance 
Service.

We will review the impact of the new UK 
Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015 on 
operational strategy to further mitigate the 
risk of terrorism to Scotland’s communities 
and ensure our policing response remains 
effective, efficient and proportionate. 

Governance of all activity to mitigate the threat 
posed by terrorism is undertaken through a 
series of Multi Agency Co-ordination Boards, 
which are designed to ensure that Counter 
Terrorism is embedded at the highest levels 
amongst strategic partners and assists in 
providing pro-active management and 
governance of both enablers and inhibitors 
that impact upon the effective delivery of 
CONTEST.

Police Scotland successfully and safely 
delivered the safety and security of a number 
of high profile major events last year, including 
the Commonwealth Games and Ryder Cup, 
which drew worldwide audiences. As part of 
this process, we undertook a number of live 
exercises to test Counter Terrorism response 
plans, identifying enduring lessons to take 
forward into future event planning. We will 
continue to protect communities by ensuring 
that Police Scotland is prepared to respond to 
any terrorist attack by taking an active role in 
local, regional and national exercises, working 
with multiple partner agencies to ensure robust 
and well tested procedures and practices are 
embedded into daily business processes.

We will continue to work with resilience 
partners, businesses and government to 
protect communities by expanding the use 
of the Counter Terrorism Organisational 
Learning and Development model and 
strengthen our response across all strands of 
the CONTEST Strategy. 

Our national Organised Crime and Counter 
Terrorism Unit significantly enhances 
operational effectiveness and service delivery 
within local communities. It also delivers 
enhanced connectivity with partner agencies 
through which we will continue to develop our 
capability and capacity to respond to emerging 
terrorist threats.

Police Scotland will remain vigilant in the 
fight against terrorism, maintaining effective 
capabilities designed to keep Scotland’s 
communities safe from those that would wish 
to do us harm.    

14 https://www.gov.uk/government/
collections/contest

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/contest
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/contest


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED36

Major Events and Resilience 

We will:

•	 Work	with	partners,	including	other	key
 responders, to effectively plan and
 deliver major events and to respond to
 national, critical incidents

•	 Ensure	a	high	state	preparedness	to
 respond to unforeseen and planned
 major events

Reflecting on recent major events in 
Scotland, the last 12 months have been 
unprecedented. From new challenges, such 
as the Commonwealth Games and Ryder 
Cup, to annual events including T in the Park, 
Wickerman Festival, the Edinburgh Hogmanay 
celebrations and many more.  

Each event brought unique challenges 
however the many months, and in some cases 
years of extensive planning, along with our 
significant experience of dealing with events 
and emergencies, ensured Police Scotland 
fulfilled our commitment to deliver effective 
policing leading to safe, secure and peaceful 
events. 

Starting in June 2014, for 40 days leading up 
to the 2014 Commonwealth Games, Police 
Scotland played a critical role protecting the 
Queen’s Baton Relay and baton bearers during 
their journey across all 32 Local Authority 
areas.

July saw the T in the Park festival staged at 
Balado for the final time before moving to 
a new home this year at Strathallan Castle, 
Perthshire.  The daily crowds of 85,000, with 
up to 70,000 staying at the campsite, make 
this the largest music festival in Scotland. A key 
element of continuing success is the excellent 
relationships our officers maintain and build 
with the organisers, other services that 
support the event as well as those who attend, 
ensuring a safe and enjoyable experience for 
all.

Also in July, VIP’s, visitors, spectators and 
athletes from around the world were treated to 
the ‘best ever’ Commonwealth Games. Over 
5,000 athletes from 71 nations and territories 
arrived in Scotland to participate in the 12 day 
event. Police officers and staff from across 
the country, from local policing and every 
specialist division, supported the policing 
operation to deliver a safe, secure and peaceful 
event, watched by a worldwide television 
audience of around 1.5 billion. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 37

The Scottish Referendum on Independence 
took place in September, with Police Scotland 
playing a key role to ensure proceedings were 
conducted in a fair and inclusive manner and 
in accordance with the law.  We produced 
detailed policing plans for the Referendum, 
which enabled every polling place in 
Scotland to benefit from a permanent police 
presence, or regular visits from officers on 
patrol, to provide support to polling staff and 
the general public. Later the same month 
the Ryder Cup landed on Scottish soil at 
Gleneagles for the third largest televised 
sporting event in the world, and all eyes were 
once again on Scotland.   Our policing of the 
tournament received widespread recognition 
from both sides of the Atlantic, reinforcing 
Police Scotland’s global reputation for 
professionalism and effectiveness.

At the same time as these and many more 
significant events took place, officers and staff 
continued to provide effective local policing 
services to communities across Scotland.

The safe and secure delivery of these events 
enhanced our reputation locally, nationally 
and internationally. The learning gained 
internally and in partnership with the range 
of key stakeholders, in areas such as, national 
resource deployments, transport and logistics, 
traffic management, counter terrorism and 
communications will be used to further 
enhance our work with partners, including 
other key responders, to effectively plan and 
deliver major events and respond to national, 
critical incidents.

In terms of major incident preparedness, our 
response to those incidents demonstrates our 
capacity to keep our communities safe. Further 
work to develop cadres of trained personnel 
in key roles will provide greater resilience and 
expertise.

In the year ahead, Police Scotland will ensure 
a high state of preparedness to respond 
to unforeseen and planned major events, 
responding alongside partners when these 
incidents occur to keep people safe.

Opportunities will be identified and exploited 
to collaborate and work in an ever more 
co-ordinated manner with fellow ‘blue light’ 
agencies to further improve joint working 
during such emergencies.  This in turn will be 
supported by the work of the Scottish Multi 
Agency Resilience Training and Exercising Unit 
whose role will continue to mature.

Along with national training for event 
commanders, our ongoing work within 
Regional Resilience Partnerships will improve 
the corporacy and consistency of emergency 
response plans, making it ever easier for 
national resources to support local delivery.   

Business continuity arrangements around 
our preparedness for a range of challenges 
are firmly in place, with opportunities for 
collaboration with key partners for cross border 
issues being taken forward in 2015. 

Police Scotland will continue to support 
organisers in delivering the many pre-planned 
events taking place across the country, such as 
football matches and festivals, consolidating 
arrangements around cost recovery and 
ensuring that a consistent and proportionate 
approach is taken, balanced with local needs. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED38

Building a Police Service 
for the Future

Our journey in bringing together eight police 
forces has been fast-paced and challenging.  
Despite this our service to communities 
continues to be strong and public satisfaction 
remains high.  This transition has already 
delivered extensive benefits, however an 
important transformational journey remains 
ahead as we continue to realise the benefits 
of reform and shape our organisation for the 
future to ensure it continues to meet the needs 
of our communities.

In planning for the future, we will shape 
and equip the organisation to continue 
Keeping People Safe and to meet the needs 
of communities in the years ahead.  We will 
identify our future demands and challenges 
and find opportunities to improve our service 
and deliver efficiencies.

Local Community Policing Plans
A review of our Multi-Member Ward Plans has 
recently begun. When introduced these plans 
were aligned to the existing local political 
boundaries and were a positive and appropriate 
response to local needs, supported by local 
consultation. We are now reviewing those 
arrangements in consultation with local 
authorities to ensure they continue to meet the 
needs of the communities we serve. It is 
already clear that in some local communities 
area plans will be more appropriate in future 
to meet the needs of local communities and 
in recognition of this new flexibility, our most 
local level of plans will now be known as Local 
Community Policing Plans.

To enhance this approach, pilot work is taking 
place in which Local Community Policing Plans 
are linked to Community Planning Partnerships 
or Local Authority area forums to enable more 
collaborative working to meet the needs of 
communities. Further consultation on this 
proposal will take place with local authorities 
and COSLA in the coming months before any 
changes are implemented more widely.

Futures Strategy
We will continue working with the SPA and our 
partners to establish our strategy for the future 
of policing in Scotland.  This will involve five 
key areas:

•	 Making	best	use	of	our	people;
•	 Reducing	inefficiency	in	our	processes;	
•	 Innovative	use	of	technology;
•	 Modernising	our	physical	assets;
•	 Increased	partnership	and	collaborative		
 working (identifying smarter ways to deliver
 public services).

We will develop ways to better share good 
practice across the organisation in order to 
learn from local experiences and commit to 
continuous improvement.

Collaboration and Co-location 
As we continue to strengthen our relationships 
with partners, we will expand opportunities to 
share information and develop collaborative 
strategies. We will also, where appropriate, 
build upon the successful sharing of resources 
and co-location of services such as the 
Scottish Crime Campus and those in Fort 
William, Tomintoul and future co-location with 
the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service at North 
Berwick.

With the theme of improvement firmly 
embedded in our continued transformation, 
we will continue our hard work to ensure that 
Police Scotland is a modern, forward-looking 
organisation that uses resources efficiently, 
particularly in line with the challenging 
financial environment within which we exist. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 39

Continuous Improvement
We are launching a programme as part of 
our aim to continually improve our service 
to the public.  Reforming our service means 
a significant amount of restructuring and we 
will further examine our processes to establish 
value and identify any wasteful or inefficient 
practices. Considerable opportunities still 
exist for us to make delivery of our services 
more efficient by reducing demand through 
the review of our processes.  The continuous 
improvement programme will include:

•	 Accredited	training	in	order	to	provide
 the tools and techniques to deliver effective
 new processes to reduce waste and
 improve efficiency.

•	 A	rolling	programme	of	workshops
 designed to assist all parts of the
 organisation to identify priorities for their
 Service Improvement Plans.

•	 Providing	training	in	a	range	of	tools	and
 techniques that will support business areas
 to identify and deliver improvements.

•	 During	2015	a	further	layer	of	our
 Continuous Improvement Programme
 will be rolled out to ensure that all officers
 and staff are able to identify potential
 improvements to processes and practices
 and implement these quickly and
 effectively.

Our Corporate Strategy
Police Scotland’s Corporate Strategy sets 
out our strategic direction and how we will 
develop the functions that support operational 
policing. The current three year Corporate 
Strategy is building strong foundations 
enabling us to be prepared for the longer-
term future. We will continue to monitor our 
progress towards achieving the commitments 
for Our People, Our Technology, Our 
Organisational Support and Our Finance. The 
associated projects and activities will continue 
to develop Police Scotland. 

Our People
Through our focus on opening up pathways to 
policing, investing in training and development 
and identifying the widest cross section of 
talented individuals, we will continue to build 
a workforce that provides the highest quality 
policing service for the people of Scotland. 
A revitalised Diploma in Police Service 
Leadership and Management, together with 
the development of a new talent management 
programme, will ensure our people are 
equipped to meet the challenges faced by 
Police Scotland and our communities now and 
in the future.

Innovative Projects
As we continue on the journey to build a 
service for the future, there are several key 
innovative projects that will be progressed 
during the lifetime of this Plan:

The i6 Programme
Police Scotland is working with Accenture 
to develop a national IT solution. This will 
introduce new common processes supported 
by a flexible ICT solution that will deliver key 
benefits including:

•	 Being	adaptive	to	procedural	and	legislative
 changes;
•	 Providing	access	to	information	without	
 boundaries; 
•	 Optimising	the	quality	of	and	access	to
 information assisting staff with preventative
 measures, investigations, decision making
 and threat assessments;  
•	 Enabling	efficient	and	effective	tasking	and
 deployment of resources, providing real-
 time, reliable intelligence.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED40

National Intelligence System
Police Scotland will review existing intelligence 
management arrangements and scope the 
value of a new National Intelligence System to 
enhance intelligence sharing. The opportunity 
exists to deliver significant efficiency 
improvements and enable more officer-time, 
currently spent in support roles, to be utilised 
for front line duties. The new intelligence 
system would be developed in harmony with 
the i6 programme. 

Contact, Command & Control 
Police Scotland will continue to rationalise 
our contact, command and control structure 
in order to improve our response to 999 
and 101 calls, introducing systems to better 
assess vulnerability at first contact and fully 
integrate the command and control of officers 
nationally. The changes will ensure that the 
nearest, most suitable resources respond to 
incidents and will increase our capability to 
meet the demands of responding to critical 
and major incidents, irrespective of their 
location.

Criminal Justice
We will continue to work with our Justice 
Board partners to deliver a redesigned Criminal 
Justice System, making it more efficient whilst 
protecting the principal of ‘fairness’. Our work 
with Forensic Services and the Crown Office 
and Procurator Fiscal Service will continue to 
develop and implement improvements in the 
delivery of forensic science from crime scenes 
to court.

Custody
We are reviewing when and where we bring 
people in to custody in order to better 
understand the demands on our facilities. We 
will modernise our custody provision and 
ensure that accessibility and capacity is in the 
right locations in line with demand. We will 
also develop a staffing model that provides the 
most flexible approach, ensuring we have staff 
in the right place at the right time to support 
local policing. 

Further opportunities to deliver best value 
and efficiency will be identified by reviewing 
procurement contracts for custody related 
services and identifying opportunities to work 
in partnership to deliver quality care.

Estates
We are in the process of developing an Estates 
Strategy, based upon the development of an 
estate which matches community needs and 
organisational demands. In early 2015 our 
new building in Dalmarnock opened with 
the capacity to accommodate around 1000 
officers and staff, the majority of whom were 
previously based in Pitt Street, Glasgow. The 
closure of Pitt Street will save the organisation 
in excess of £1 million per year in maintenance 
costs. Our Dalmarnock facility represents 
a significant partnership achievement and 
illustrates how our estates planning can, and 
will, deliver modern and efficient facilities for 
the service whilst bringing increased economic 
benefits to the local communities.

The Scottish Crime Campus has now 
been occupied for one year and this has 
demonstrated more effective partnership 
working with the Crown Office and Procurator 
Fiscal Service, the National Crime Agency, HM 
Revenue and Customs and Forensic Services, 
as well as joint ventures throughout the whole 
of Specialist Crime Division. Partnership 
working and collaboration is at the heart 
of the Scottish Crime Campus Mission and 
Vision statement and was the ethos behind 
the building, which to date has delivered upon 
expectations. Partnership funding has been 
secured for four strategic research projects 
which will deliver evidence of the extent of 
collaboration.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 41

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 41

DRAFT



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED42

Publication

Police Scotland is committed to continuous 
improvement in all that we do. If you have 
something to tell us about this Plan or our 
Service, please do not hesitate to get in touch 
using any of the lines of communication below:

Contact Details:
Police Scotland Headquarters
PO Box 21184
Alloa
FK10 9DE

Telephone: 101
Web: www.scotland.police.uk/contact-us

Minicom Service
This service is for the deaf, deafened, hard of 
hearing or speech impaired callers who can 
call us on 1 800 1101.

Equality Impact Assessment
Police Scotland regularly undertakes Equality 
Impact Assessments to ensure our objectives 
contribute positively to a more equal society, 
with equality and good relations at the 
forefront of the service we provide.

We are committed to the advancement of 
equality in our internal and external functions 
by ensuring that our core values of Integrity, 
Fairness and Respect are integrated into all 
aspects of our business and inform all of our 
policies. 

Potential impacts resulting from proposed 
strategies outlined in this Plan, or other issues 
for different protected communities will 
be identified during development and review 
of the relevant operating procedures/guidance, 
leading to appropriate mitigating actions where 
required. Differences in divisional geography, 
demographics, and known issues will be key 
considerations for Divisional Commanders 
during  localised delivery of our priorities 
and may require further assessment to identify 
any impact specific to their areas.

Environmental Assessment (Scotland) Act 
2005.
Police Scotland has determined that there are 
no significant environmental effects which 
arise as a result of carrying out any of the 
activities mentioned in this Plan.   

Other languages: 
If you would like to receive a copy of this 
document in another language, please also 
contact us through one of the stated channels.

Braille, large print, sign-language, audio or 
CD copies can be requested by contacting us 
at the above address.

Consultation
This plan was developed in consultation with 
our communities and a wide range of partners.  
We are grateful to the following organisations 
for their responses:

•	 Scottish	Police	Authority
•	 HM	Inspectorate	of	Constabulary	in		 	
 Scotland
•	 Convention	of	Local	Authorities	Scotland
•	 Society	of	Local	Authority	Chief	Executives
•	 National	Health	Service
•	 Crown	Office	and	Procurator	Fiscal	Service	
•	 Scottish	Fire	and	Rescue	Service
•	 Equality	and	Human	Rights	Commission
•	 National	Independent	Strategic	Advisory		
 Group 
•	 Scottish	Police	Federation

This Annual Police Plan 2015/16 was laid 
before the Scottish Parliament on 30th March 
2015 by Police Scotland, in pursuance of 
Section 35(4)b of the Police and Fire Reform 
Scotland Act 2012. PSOS/2015/01.

Find your Local Policing Plans and Local 
Community Policing Plans here (http://www.
scotland.police.uk/your-community/)

In an emergency, always call 999 and to 
report a crime call 101.

www.scotland.police.uk/contact-us
http://www.scotland.police.uk/your-community/
http://www.scotland.police.uk/your-community/


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED43

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

https://twitter.com/policescotland
https://www.facebook.com/PoliceScotland
http://www.scotland.police.uk


NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

1
Local Police Commander, Chief Quarterly Report  /  Q1 – 2015/16



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

2

Local Police Commander, Chief Superintendent Grant Manders

As Divisional Commander for Argyll and West Dunbartonshire division I am pleased 
to present the first quarterly report for Argyll and Bute for 2015/16 performance year. 
This report details crime issues identified over the previous 3 months and sets out 
our priorities for the forthcoming period.      

As outlined in the Local Policing Plan for Argyll and Bute our focus - Keeping People 
Safe – and the policing principals which it encapsulates continue to be at the centre 
of all police activity carried out across Argyll and Bute.  Public consultation, 
partnership working and our own detailed crime analysis has determined that the 
priorities for local police during 2015 will be as follows:-

 Road Safety & Road Crime

 Violence, Disorder & Antisocial Behaviour

 Public Protection

 Major Crime and Counter Terrorism

 Acquisitive Crime

These priorities are aligned to Argyll & Bute’s Single Outcome Agreement 2014 – 
2017.  National performance frameworks have been developed in order to measure 
progress, monitor activity, identify key areas where resources need to be focused 
and demonstrate how successful we are in meeting our key priorities and 
objectives.  Policing plans that were put in place for each of the Multi Member Wards 
within the Argyll & Bute boundary are in the process of being reviewed to ensure new 
and emerging issues within local towns and communities within Argyll & Bute 
continue to be addressed.
 
Integrity, Fairness and Respect are our policing values and the touchstones for all 
our interactions, forming the basis of everything we do and every decision we reach. 
By applying our values, we continue to receive public consent through improved 
relevancy, trust and support. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

3

Introduction

Throughout the current performance year (1st April 2015 – 30th June 2015) Argyll and 
Bute has experienced an overall decrease in crimes and is considerably lower than 
the five year average.  The reduction in crime levels is primarily due to noticeable 
reductions in antisocial behaviour and acquisitive crime.  

Local Area Commanders Chief Inspector Marlene Baillie and Chief Inspector Paul 
Robertson have responsibility for addressing these crime issues and concerns as 
they arise on a day to day basis.   Chief Inspector Baillie has the responsibility for 
Oban and Lorn and Mid Argyll, Kintyre and the islands supported by Inspector Julie 
McLeish (Campbeltown & Lochgilphead) and Inspector Mark Stephen (Oban).  Chief 
Inspector Robertson is currently supported by Inspector Ewan Wilson (Dunoon & 
Rothesay) and Inspector Coleen Wylie (Helensburgh).  These dedicated Area 
Inspectors lead the local Community Policing Teams to ensure our efforts and 
attention remain focused on the needs and expectations of the local community.  

In addition to day to day policing carried out by Community Investigation Units and 
Response Policing, local officers within Argyll and Bute Command Area continue to 
respond to developing events and seasonal demands that require additional attention 
and policing.  Over this period additional officers have been deployed to address 
increased demand in relation to events such as the Big Blockade at HMNB Clyde 
and the Mull Music Festival where there is potential for increased levels of antisocial 
and violent behaviour.   



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

4

Road Safety & Road Crime 

Road Safety and Road Crime remain a top priority for the communities across 
Argyll and Bute.  In this respect L Division Road Policing Unit, supported by the 
Force Motorcycle Unit and Trunk Road Policing Unit, continues to prioritise known 
crash locations and areas where speeding, and instances of dangerous and careless 
driving are most likely to occur.  Enforcement work is carried out by means of marked 
and unmarked patrols and static road checks.

In terms of prevention, Police Scotland continues to work with our partners who own 
and operate the roads to ensure dangerous road defects are reported and acted 
upon timeously, while collaborating on effective engineering solutions to prevent and 
deter driving activities that are potentially dangerous.

Since the lowering of the drink drive limit across Scotland to 22 microgrammes of 
alcohol per 100 millilitres of breath there have been numerous additional detections 
for persons driving whilst intoxicated.  This is helping to put across the message that 
there is no safe alcohol limit for drivers.  During this quarter within Argyll and Bute 
there were 34 persons arrested for drink driving, of which six were found to be above 
the new but below the old drink drive limit.
 
Those who profit from illegal activities such as driving without correct legal 
documentation or failing to adhere to drivers’ hours legislation are also targeted to 
make the roads network of Argyll and Bute a safer place.
 
Finally, criminals who use the road network as a means to travel to commit crimes or 
transport the produce of crime, are targeted through a series of road checks 
designed to detect travelling criminals and send out a clear message that criminals 
will be caught and dealt with accordingly.

Figures for the end of the current performance year indicate significant reductions in 
the number of road casualties year on year:-

 Road Traffic Casualty Statistics
Apr 

2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % Change 

People Killed 1 3 2 fewer -66.7%

People Seriously injured 8 14 6 fewer -42.9%

People Slightly Injured 36 54 18 fewer -33.3%

Children (aged<16) Killed 0 0 None -

Children (aged<16) Seriously Injured 0 1 1 fewer -100%

 Road Safety & Road Crime
Apr 

2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % Change 

Dangerous driving 28 15  86.7%



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

5

Speeding  552 542  1.8%

Disqualified driving 0 1  -100%

 Road Safety & Road Crime
Apr 

2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % Change 

Driving Licence 16 20  -20%

Insurance 32 37  -13.5%

Seat Belts 37 92  -59.8%

Mobile Phone 33 69  -52.2%

Priorities determined by the Local Policing Plan 2014 – 2017 continue to be at the 
forefront of operational activity:- 

 To work with partners to develop a strategy to reduce the numbers of 
those killed and seriously injured on the Argyll and Bute road network. 

 To increase enforcement activity to improve driver behaviour. 

 To improve road safety through enhanced partnership working and 
preventative initiatives within the community. 

Focused Police Activity

Operation Zenith
Operation Zenith is a national operation which is taking place between April and 
September 2015. It is aimed at motor cycle safety and reducing the number of 
motorcyclists killed and seriously injured on Scotland’s roads.  

The geography of Argyll and Bute, with fast sweeping rural roads, has long been a 
favourite with motorcyclists who use these roads either as solo riders or in groups, 
often at weekends or early evening when the weather is dry.  The Divisional Road 
Policing Unit (DPRU) is fully committed to Operation Zenith and it currently forms part 
of our action planning every week, particularly the areas of A82, A83 and A85.  

Prominent Crash Locations
Regular road checks continue to be carried out by DRPU crews as part of daily 
operational policing.  These checks focus on vehicle road worthiness, speed, 
documentation, drivers and vehicle occupants involved in criminality.  Speed checks 
are centred at prominent crash locations or areas that have been identified as 
potential risks through excessive speed.  These areas can be identified through 
complaints, traffic management surveys and pro-active patrolling.

Operation Horizon & Operation Quarterlight
Road checks have also been carried out within Argyll in partnership with local officers 
under the banner of both Operation Horizon and Operation Quarterlight, aimed at the 
prevention and detection of travelling criminals and theft of and from vehicles 
respectively.  Operation Quarterlight has also seen seminars in relation to theft of 
plant and vehicles within the rural farming communities of Cowal.  Similar multi 
agency Quarterlight events are planned for the farming community in June in the 
Kilmartin area of Mid Argyll.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

6

Violence, Disorder and Antisocial Behaviour

Police Scotland continues to work towards achieving the objectives set out in the 
Argyll and Bute Local Policing Plan to reduce violence, disorder and antisocial 
behaviour :-

 To reduce the number of victims of violent crime. 

 To reduce the number of reported incidents of antisocial behaviour. 

 To impact on alcohol related violence, antisocial behaviour and disorder 
with particular emphasis in and around licensed premises. 

 To increase the number of people detected for violent and domestic 
crime. 

As shown below there has been an increase in the levels of violence across Argyll 
and Bute when compared to the same period last year, however there has been a 
reduction in complaints of antisocial behaviour.  The increase in Group 1 crimes is 
largely due to an increase in offences relating to serious assault, attempted murder 
and assault with intent to rob which account for 18 crimes within the current three 
month period.  The overall detection rate for Group 1 crimes is strong at 83.3%.

The table below shows crime figures 2015/16 compared to 2014/15:-

 Violence, Disorder & Antisocial Behaviour
Apr 

2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % 
Change 

Total No Group1: Crimes of Violence 30 10 20 more 200%

Murder 0 1 1 fewer -100%

Attempted Murder 4 0 4 more -

Culpable Homicide (common law) 0 0 None -

Culpable Homicide (other) 0 0 None -

Serious Assault detection rate 85.7% 100%  -14.3%

Serious Assault 14 5 9 more 180.0%

Robbery detection rate 50.0% -  -

Robbery 4 0 4 more -

Common assault 153 174 21 fewer -12.1%

Common assault detection rate 84.3% 81.0%  3.3%

Number of complaints regarding disorder 630 882 252 
fewer -28.6%

Crimes involving low level disorder and ASB however have significantly decreased.  
There has been a reduction in the number of Common Assault crimes reported which 
has experienced a decrease of 12.1% when compared to the same period last year.  
The detection rate has increased in this reporting period and remains high at 84.3%.  
The number of complaints of disorder has also significantly decreased by 28.6%.  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

7

ASB incidents reported by members of the public have reduced by 32.6% when 
compared to the same period last year.

In line with the geographical profile of Argyll and Bute, analysis shows crimes and 
incidents are concentrated within the town centre areas. Helensburgh, Dunoon and 
Rothesay continue to experience a higher volume of crimes and incidents than other 
areas.  

Effective use of the Divisional Violence Prevention Strategy and Directed Policing 
Plans, which are informed by analytical products produced at a local level, ensures 
local officers continue to manage the threat and risk posed by specific individuals and 
at identified problematic locations.   

There are 27 Special Constables based in Argyll and Bute.  Within this quarter 
Special Constables have been deployed for a total of 1041 hours and 45 minutes, of 
which 890 hours and 15 minutes was deployed in Argyll and Bute.

Focused Police Activity

One Punch Initiative
One Punch is an initiative aimed at MDP and Royal Navy personnel to highlight the 
consequences of being involved in violence.  Two events were held on 20th and 21st 
May 2015 incorporating a joint agency approach with Police Scotland, Ministry of 
Defence Police, The Royal Navy and Babcock International all participating.

The two day event involved inputs to service men, women and apprentices regarding 
the dangers of ‘One Punch’ incidents and advisory information regarding sexual 
offences.  The message placed heavy emphasis on the onus of responsibility for the 
actions of the individual concerned, with an equally strong message about the 
prevention of such incidents by the intervention of bystanders.  All inputs took place 
on site at HMNB Clyde.

‘A Day in Your Shoes’ Initiative
Inputs by prevention and intervention staff and local CPT officers at Campbeltown 
Grammar school acting out  'a day in your shoes' - officers become school pupils for 
the day and school pupils act out the role of police officers covering issues of 
violence, ASB, stop/search, Facebook bullying and unwanted mobile phone 
recording. Positive feedback has been received from pupils with supportive 
communication from education in Argyll and Bute recommending the initiative and 
asking for it to be rolled out to other schools in the area.

‘Shop a Dealer’ Initiative
Leaflets distributed throughout local Communities in Oban, Campbeltown and 
Lochgilphead with free post return slips which can be sent back to the local police 
office to report intelligence/information on drug dealing/activity anonymously.  
Leaflets were funded by ADP money and funding from local housing associations. 
Positive feedback has been received from Communities via the local 
media/community councils etc that they were much more confident that they were 
able to report such crimes locally.  A number of good drugs detections for possession 
and supply have been reported back to the Community demonstrating tangible 
results on the back of Community confidence and cooperation.

Alcohol Related Violence and ASB



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

8

A recent increase in serious violence and anti social behaviour in Dunoon resulted in 
the deployment of Divisional Alcohol and Violence Reduction Unit (DAVRU) officers 
on proactive prevention patrols in and around town centre licensed premises.  
Alongside the DAVRU deployment, officers from the Divisional Licensing Department 
delivered a series of violence reduction training inputs to Designated Premises 
Managers to reinforce the need for early intervention measures and raise awareness 
of basic crime scene management should a police related incident occur within their 
premises.

Skerryvore Music Festival
Recognising the potential for alcohol related violence at the Skerryvore music festival 
in Oban, an enhanced policing plan was developed that incorporated Divisional 
Alcohol and Violence Reduction Unit Officers.  The plan formed part of a multi-
agency approach that ensured that a safe and trouble free event was enjoyed by all 
in attendance. 

Protecting Vulnerable People

Across Argyll and Bute, the total number of Group 2 Crimes of Indecency has 
increased considerably however it is notable that over 60% of Group 2 crimes 
reported in this period are historical.  This has impacted on the detection rate which 
has decreased to 34.4%.

 
Apr 

2015 – 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % 
Change 

Number of Group 2 – Crimes of Indecency 35 16 19 
more 118.8%

Group 2 crimes detection rate 34.3% 43.8%  -9.5%

Rape detection rate 43.8% 40.0%  3.8%

Crimes involving Rape have also increased within this reporting period, of which a 
significant proportion of these crimes have been historical.  The detection rate for 
Rape has increased by 3.8% to 43.8% when compared with the same period last 
year.

Focused Police Activity
 
Risk & Concern Hub
A local Missing Person Co ordinator has been appointed within the Risk and Concern 
Hub based at Dumbarton Police Office. This Officer has quickly established links with 
all the local Residential Childrens Homes and has visited each Home to liaise with 
both staff and residents.  The aim is to reduce the number of vulnerable young 
persons leaving the Home and being at risk as a missing person.  The early 
identification of Child Sexual Exploitation is also being targeted, again with the aim to 
protect vulnerable children.

Offender Management Unit
The national Offender Management Unit has just completed a comprehensive review 
of L Division’s Offender Management Unit.  A number of recommendations were 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

9

highlighted including the introduction of additional computer equipment to tackle the 
increase in online offending.  All recommendations have been accepted by the 
Division and are being implemented.

Domestic Abuse
The threat/risk posed by those involved in crimes relating to Domestic Abuse remains 
a very high priority.  The Early Effective Intervention / Domestic Abuse Strategy 
Group Action Plan has now been completed and is in draft form at present.  The 
introduction of MARAC ( Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference)  in Argyll and 
Bute is still being progressed at present.

As set out in the Local Policing Plan 2014 – 2017, our priorities for the forthcoming 
period remain unchanged:-

 To work with our partners to identify those children, young people and 
vulnerable adults who are most at risk and through joint action reduce 
that risk. 

 To continue to develop proactive strategies to deal with managed 
offenders, particularly those that present the greatest threat, risk and 
harm. 

 To increase the number of persons detected for sexual crimes. 

 Together with partner agencies, strive to provide a better quality of 
service to the victims of sexual crime. 

Major Crime and Counter Terrorism
Keeping people safe by reducing the threat posed from organised crime groups and 
terrorism across Argyll and Bute remains a high priority for all local police officers.  In 
respect of terrorism, events in other countries over recent months highlight the 
necessity for vigilance at all times, and the division continues to be involved in the 
implementation of the CONTEST strategy with local and national partners.  Police 
Scotland continues to target and disrupt the activities of those involved in organised 
crime at a local level through focused and robust interventions based on the 
objectives set out in the local policing plan:- 

 To disrupt organised crime groups by targeting individuals, the 
businesses they operate and their access to public contracts.

 To target those individuals who are intent on supplying drugs. 

 Through education and partnership, reduce the impact that serious and 
organised crime and terrorism has on our communities.

 Through the Multi-Agency Serious and Organised Crime and Contest 
Groups, raise awareness and improve information sharing between
agencies.

The end of year Serious and Organised Crime (SOC) intelligence assessment 
indicates that the threat / risk posed to the communities within Argyll and Bute 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

10

remains unchanged.  There continues to be 2 identified SOC Groups in operation 
within the area. Intelligence development work continues to establish the nature and 
full extent of these groups’ criminality within the area and identify new groups.  The 
groups continue to be closely monitored through a robust internal governance group 
which manages and directs activity in relation to any actionable intelligence, to 
ensure police activity is focused on those individuals that pose the greatest threat, 
risk and harm.   

The primary function of these groups continues to be assessed as drug supply and 
distribution within the local area.  Tackling those involved in this form of criminality 
continues to be prioritised.  

Serious & Organised Crime
Apr 

2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

% 
Change

Number of detections for drugs supply, drugs 
productions, drugs cultivation 15 6

 
150.0%

Focused Police Activity

There are ongoing activities around each of the 5 mapped L Division Serious 
Organised Crime Groups  (3 in West Dunbartonshire and 2 in Argyll and Bute) 
designed to cause maximum disruption to the individuals involved.  This includes 
liaison with Brewery Companies, Trading Standards, SEPA, Marine Scotland and 
local council departments. 

Disruption activity continues to focus around arrest of significant nominals associated 
with the core groups; however has also included the following:

 Arrangements around formal disclosures, in an attempt to have licences revoked 
in relation to a public house associated to a crime group.  

 Liaison with US Embassy in London provided opportunities to disrupt travel 
arrangements in relation to significant SOCG nominals and overt action was 
instigated to identify if a local private hire taxi company was committing offences 
by sub-leasing vehicles. 

 Liaison with National Crime Agency to disrupt application for United Kingdom 
citizenship by an SOCG nominal.

 Designated Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) investigations continue to focus on 
activities around the 5 main SOCG's.

 Expedited Referral's are currently being explored in relation to subjects who do 
not fit the criteria for POCA seizures.

 Liaison with Scottish Crime Division (SCD) to maximise disruption and 
intervention opportunities.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

11

Divisional Intelligence packages continue to be executed to disrupt criminal activities 
at a local level. 

HMNB Clyde – Faslane
Operation Arapya relating to the big blockade organised by the Scrap Trident 
Collation for Monday 13th April went ahead as planned.  Approximately 250 
protestors attended at the North Gate, South Gate and Oil Fuel Depot Gate at 
0700hrs.

A sit down protest with lock-ons immediately occurred blockading all gates. 
Protestors targeted the South Access Road including some doused in paint.  A total 
of 38 arrests were made and HMNB Clyde operations were unaffected by the protest.  
The South Gate was fully operational at 1300hrs

Faslane Peace Camp 33rd Anniversary Events – Friday 12th – Monday 15th June 
2015
The events took place without incident.

VIP Visit – Islay - 26th June 2015
HRH The Duke of Rothesay visited a number of locations on Islay.  The policing 
operation was complicated by a strike by RMT union which affected Caledonian 
MacBrayne Ferry services.

Rural Watch
Two further Rural Watch schemes have been set up in East Helensburgh and the 
Isle of Bute.

Acquisitive Crime

Police Scotland remains committed to achieving the objectives set out in the Local 
Policing Plan in relation to acquisitive crime.  These are as follows:

 To reduce the number of housebreakings and improve detection rates.

 To target individuals involved in doorstep crime and support the victims 
through partnership working.



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

12

The table below shows our performance in 2015/16 compared to 2014/15:-

 

Apr 
2015 - 
Jun 
2015

Apr 
2014 - 
Jun 
2014

Victims % 
Change 

Theft by housebreaking (including attempts) 
detection rate 47.1% 52.2%  -5.1%

Theft by housebreaking (including attempts) 51 46 5 more 10.9%

Doorstep / Bogus Crimes 2 1 1 More -

The year to date figure indicates that the levels of acquisitive crime have remained 
consistent with two fewer crimes compared with the same period last year.  There 
has been a slight increase in housebreaking crime however vehicle crime has 
significantly reduced.  The table shows the total number of housebreakings (including 
attempts) has increased by five crimes in this reporting period.  The detection rate for 
theft by housebreaking (including attempts) has decreased slightly and is currently at 
47.1%

The number of Bogus or Doorstep crimes being reported across Argyll and Bute 
remains particularly low with two crimes occurring in this reporting period.  Both of 
these crimes occurred within Mid Argyll Multi Member Ward.  

Focused Police Activity

Operation Quarterlight
The national operation, Quarterlight, aimed at tackling vehicle theft across the 
country currently has particular focus in 6 divisions around Scotland – C (Forth 
Valley), E (Edinburgh), L (Argyll & West Dunbartonshire), G (Greater Glasgow), N 
(Highlands & Islands) and U (Ayrshire). The operation has taken a two-pronged 
approach – detection and prevention. 

Positive progress has been made across the first quarter of the 2015/16 performance 
year in the Argyll and Bute area with a reduction of 12 crimes against the same 
period last year with a detection rate of 53%.

Doorstep/Bogus Crimes
Officers continue to proactively target those involved in this form of criminality 
working alongside Roads Policing officers and through Crimebreaker and Horizon 
operations aimed at the prevention and detection of travelling criminals. Social media 
continues to be utilised in order to reinforce preventative measures.
 
Operation Westwood
A renewed focus on Housebreaking across the Division is now being driven through 
Operation Westwood.  Alongside a refresh of the investigatory toolkit accessible to all 
enquiry officers, a richer picture of those involved in housebreaking crimes is being 
delivered through enhanced intelligence gathering and tasking procedures.

The operation is in the early stages in the Argyll and Bute area and disappointingly, 
the number of crimes has risen by 5 across the first quarter of the 2015/16 
performance year.  Similarly the detection rate for housebreaking has fallen by 5% to 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED

NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED
Produced by Police Scotland Analysis & Performance Unit on 23/07/2015. 
All statistics are provisional and should be treated as management information. All data are 
sourced from Police Scotland internal systems and are correct as at 2nd July 2015.

13

47% however it is envisaged that the approach taken through the operation will 
deliver improvements in the next quarter.

Conclusion

As Local Police Commander, I am delighted to present this update on our Local 
Policing Plan for Argyll and Bute 2014-17.  We are continuing to meet the challenges 
we face and while our policing performance continues to be strong we will always 
strive to improve across all areas.

I am happy with our achievements so far and thank our partners from across Argyll 
and Bute for their support and contribution.  

Keeping People Safe is and will remain what we are all about as we continue to 
deliver the highest possible level of service to the communities of Argyll and Bute.

Grant Manders
Chief Superintendent

Local Police Commander





NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stop and Search  

Improvement Plan 2015/16 
 
 
 
 
Version 1.1 – June 2015 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 2

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
  

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
For further information please email 
StopSearchPolicyUnit@scotland.pnn.police.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version History of Amendments Date 
1.00 Initial Approved Version  29/05/2015 
2.00 Amend as Required DD/MM/YY 
3.00 Amend as Required DD/MM/YY 
   

Owning Department 
National Stop and Search 
Improvement Delivery Team  
 

Version Number 1.1 

Date Published 29/5/15 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 3

Foreword 
The main 
purpose of 
policing is to 
improve the 
safety and well-
being of 

persons, 
localities and 

communities 
across Scotland. Stop and Search 
is a valuable policing tactic which 
contributes to this purpose and 
helps to both detect and prevent 
crime and to improve community 
well-being.  
This improvement plan will be 
delivered by working in 
collaboration with others where 
appropriate, ensuring that our 
improvements are focused on 
prevention and are accessible to 
and engaged with local 
communities.   
The use of the tactic has been the 
subject of much scrutiny since the 
inception of Police Scotland, 
particularly in relation to the use of 
consensual stop and search. We 
recognise that stop and search 
must be undertaken within a public 
consensus, in a manner which 
reflects the force values of fairness, 
integrity and respect.  
Following an extensive review by 
the Service itself and independent 
reviews by Her Majesty's 
Inspectorate of Constabulary in 
Scotland (HMICS), Scottish Police 
Authority (SPA) and the Scottish 
Institute for Policing Research 

(SIPR), some areas for 
improvement have been identified. 
To address these areas, this 
improvement plan sets out the 
activities we will be undertaking 
between now and early 2016 which 
will recognise and address each of 
our own recommendations 
including, the HMICS, SPA and the 
SIPR recommendations following 
their respective reviews.  
To deliver the activities associated 
with each of the key priority themes 
in the plan, I have established a 
Police Scotland National Stop and 
Search Improvement Delivery 
Team (NSSIDT). The activities 
outlined in the improvement plan 
are grouped under key priority 
themes and include further work 
around research and evaluation, 
engagement with children and 
young people, the organisational 
change we need to make, the 
accountability and public 
information we need to provide and 
our work to deliver an enhanced 
database with supporting 
technologies to inform our 
intelligence led approaches to stop 
and search.  
While the issues concerning the 
future of consensual stop and 
search and a code of practice are 
still under consideration, these 
improvements will provide the 
foundations on which to build any 
future changes.  
 
 

 
  
 
 

Assistant Chief Constable 
Local Policing West 

Wayne Mawson 

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 4

Contents 
 
Foreword........................................................................................................................3 
Vision..............................................................................................................................5 
Aim .................................................................................................................................5 
Background ....................................................................................................................6 
Introduction ...................................................................................................................7 
Change Methodology.....................................................................................................8 
Improvement Plan Governance.....................................................................................9 
Communication of Improvement Plan ........................................................................10 
Stop and Search Definitions.........................................................................................10 
National Stop and Search Database ............................................................................11 
National Stop & Search Improvement Delivery Team (NSSIDT)..................................12 
National Stop and Search Unit (NSSU).........................................................................12 
Fife Pilot .......................................................................................................................13 
Children & Young Persons Working Group..................................................................14 
Stop & Search Reference Group (SSRG) ......................................................................14 
Independent Advisory Group on Stop & Search (IAG) ................................................14 
Scottish Government ...................................................................................................15 
Scottish Police Authority..............................................................................................15 
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary in Scotland (HMICS) ..............................15 
Scottish Institute for Policing Research (SIPR).............................................................16 
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA)................................................................................16 
Priority Themes............................................................................................................17 
Theme 1 ‐ Research & Evaluation................................................................................18 
Theme 2 ‐ Consensual Searching .................................................................................20 
Theme 3 ‐ Engagement with Children & Young People...............................................22 
Theme 4 – Organisational Change...............................................................................23 
Theme 5 – Accountability and Public Information ......................................................25 
Theme 6 ‐ Database and Supporting Technologies .....................................................26 
Appendices...................................................................................................................27 
Appendix 1 National Stop and Search Improvement Plan Diagram........................27 
Appendix 2 National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team Structure ......28 
Appendix 3 Implementation Plan – Governance Meeting Structure ......................29 
Appendix 4 ‐ Improving Stop and Search Practice...................................................30 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 5

Vision  
 
To ensure that stop and search in 
Scotland is used in a proportionate 
and accountable way to prevent 

and detect crime and to keep 
people safe.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Aim  
 
Through the delivery of this 
improvement plan we aim to 
achieve greater transparency and 
community involvement in the use 
of stop and search powers and to 
support a more intelligence led 

approach, leading to improved 
outcomes proportionate to the 
threat, risk or harm from crime and 
disorder including community well-
being.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 6

Background 
 
Stop and search has historically 
been used as a police tactic across 
Scotland, to address public space 
violence and disorder, providing 
opportunities to intervene and 
prevent individuals from coming to 
harm from criminality, disorder and 
other threats to their safety.  
 
Since October 2013 the use of stop 
and search powers in Scotland has 
been subject to significant public 
debate. This led to the Scottish 
Police Authority (SPA) undertaking 
a review of stop and search leading 
to ten recommendations for Police 
Scotland designed to address 
issues and concerns raised around 
the use and recording of stop and 
search(http://www.spa.police.uk/as
sets/126884/230479/scrutinytaskgr
oupreport). 
 
Police Scotland created the 
National Stop Search Unit (NSSU) 
in May 2014 and began a Stop 
Search Pilot in Fife Division which 
ran from July 2014 to January 
2015. This Pilot was independently 
evaluated by SIPR, with their report 
to be published in May 2015.  
In advance of the publication of the 
evaluation, the NSSU considered 
early lessons learned and  along 
with further lessons learned 
through the internal audit and 
review of stop and search, 
produced an improvement plan in 
February 2015, including a number 
of recommendations to deliver 
positive change to the way stop 
and search is governed and 
recorded.   
On Tuesday 31 March 2015, 
HMICS published an audit and 
review of stop and search entitled; 
Audit & Assurance Review of Stop 
and Search: Phase 1 

(http://www.hmics.org/publications/
hmics-audit-and-assurance-review-
stop-and-search-phase-1) to 
assess the state, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the processes for 
recording stop and search activity 
within Police Scotland and the 
associated procedures for 
supervision, audit and governance. 
This review documented suggested 
improvements through 23 
recommendations, intended to 
provide communities across 
Scotland with more confidence in 
the use of the stop and search and 
allow a more informed view on the 
future need for consensual stop 
and search. 
 
On Tuesday 31 March 2015, Police 
Scotland provided an update report 
to the Cabinet Secretary for Justice 
on Stop and Search following its 
review of the use of consensual 
stop and search.  This report 
contained 18 recommendations, 
with options offered on the future 
use of consensual stop and search 
(http://www.gov.scot/topics/Justice/
policies/police-fire-rescue/police-
scotland/stopandsearchupdaterepo
rt). Having considered the content 
of this report, the Scottish 
Government has established an 
independent Advisory Group on 
Stop and Search to advise on long 
term policy for stop and search and 
in particular to consider issues 
relating to consensual stop and 
search to develop a draft Code of 
Practice.   The advisory group remit 
recognises that data quality, 
training, ICT, performance 
management and audit are matters 
for Police Scotland to take forward.  
As a consequence of the 
aforementioned developments, 
Police Scotland has produced this 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 7

updated improvement plan which 
ensures all recommendations from 
the SPA review, the HMICS review, 
the Chief Constable’s update report 
to the Cabinet Secretary for Justice 
along with recommendations 

emanating from the SIPR 
evaluation of the Fife stop and 
search pilot, are taken forward and 
that relevant good practice is 
disseminated across Scotland to 
promote continuous improvement.

 

Introduction 
 
The Police Scotland Stop and 
Search Improvement Plan is our 
roadmap for improvement and 
provides a formal plan detailing the 
improvements we have and are 
making over the period 2015/16. 
The plan is not protectively marked 
and is intended to inform our own 
staff, partners, stakeholders and 
any interested parties of the 
journey we are taking around stop 
and search. The plan outlines our 
journey of improvement over the 
next year which sets out activities 
designed to bring about gradual, 
but continual improvement through 
constant consultation and review. It 
will allow us to receive feedback to 
understand and adapt to the 
unfolding stop and search 
environment to set future priorities 
and direction. We will also develop 
how we deliver the tactic to 
improve understanding and 

satisfaction and it will allow us to 
lead an outcome focused approach 
that engages our people and 
communities.  
 
Police Scotland must earn the trust 
and confidence of the communities 
we serve with every encounter we 
have with the public, both in terms 
of what we do, as well as how we 
do it.  
 
As shown below in Figure 1; 
integrity, fairness and respect, 
underpinned by a commitment to 
upholding human rights, have been 
developed as our organisational 
values.  
 
It is important that our values 
resonate with our people and are 
embodied by the organisation. 
 

  
Figure 1 – Our Organisational Values 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 8

The Improvement Plan is designed 
to respond to the 
recommendations, comments, 
findings and observations 
contained within the four stop 
search reviews already mentioned 
in the foreword and background 
sections. The recommendations 
are colour coded throughout the 
plan as per Figure 2.  It should be 
noted that recommendation 10 
from HMICS and 12 from SIPR, 
have been referred to other 
business areas within Police 
Scotland. It has developed the 
recommendations into 6 high level 
priority themes which have then 
been broken down into a number of 
actions.  

The plan will work to achieve all of 
these actions for our staff, partners, 
local people and communities. The 
plan has been developed following 
consultation with SPA, HMICS, the 
Scottish Government and SIPR 
including many other interested 
stakeholders, however ownership 
around delivering the plan rests 
with Police Scotland. It has been 
progressed through the Police 
Scotland Improvement Plan 
Tactical and Strategy Groups and 
the Stop and Search Reference 
Group. The plan is dynamic in 
nature and progress will continue to 
be shared with others during the 
lifetime of the plan. 

 
 
Figure 2 – Recommendation number references  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Change Methodology 
 
Stop and search improvement 
requires a methodology applied 
that can deal with complex change 
involving organisation-wide 
change.  The SSIDT have used 
Organisational Development 
intervention strategy to focus on 
the whole culture of the 
organisation to deliver the six 
themes of the improvement plan - 
see Figure 3.  This strategy allows 

the team to improve its existing 
capacity to adapt more readily to 
external environmental changes 
around the future policy and 
practice of stop and search. The 
Fife pilot saw many tests of change 
and during the 3 month testing 
phase these changes will be 
considered for further testing  
across Scotland. 

 
 
 
 

Recommendation number references 
Organisations Colour reference 
SPA dhgffdzxh 
HMICS  
Police Scotland  
SIPR  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 9

Figure 3 - Police Scotland Stop and Search Organisational Development Change Process 
 

Diagnose present 
position of Stop and 

Search

Where are we now

2) Assess inner / outer 
contexts

3) Gather data

4) Gain involvement / 
consensus for 

Improvement Plan

Manage the change 
transition

5) Set High level 
change actions

6) Test change 
actions

7) Testing phase –
evaluate and spread 

changes

Improved Stop and 
Search

Where we want to be?

1) Agree vision / aim

 
 
 
In relation to the enhanced 
database being launched during 
the testing phase, separate 
Software Development processes 
have involved a number of stages, 
the first of which was the 
identification of business 
requirements.  A requirements 
specification document is produced 
and sent to the relevant business 
stakeholders for sign-off. Software 
is developed in line with the agreed 
requirements specification. The 
Software undergoes a thorough 
testing and quality assurance 

process including code review, 
developer testing, system testing 
and user acceptance testing. In 
addition, performance testing is 
also considered and conducted 
where it is deemed appropriate to 
do so. The database has also been 
presented to members of the 
meetings contained in appendix 3. 
A Manual of Guidance is also being 
developed to ensure that the 
database has appropriate audit, 
accountability and governance 
processes. 

 

Improvement Plan Governance  
 
Governance of the Police Scotland 
Stop and Search Improvement 
Plan will be provided at an 
operational level by the National 
Stop and Search Improvement 
Delivery Team (NSSIDT) led by a 
Superintendent supported by the 
National Stop and Search Unit 
(NSSU) (see appendix 2). The 

actions contained within this 
document have a corresponding 
operational action plan which will 
be used on a daily basis by the 
staff dedicated to delivering the 
plan at both daily and weekly 
meetings. Their progress will be 
overseen by the Stop & Search 
Implementation Plan Tactical 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 10

Group chaired by a Chief 
Superintendent. The progress of 
this group will thereafter be 
overseen by the Implementation 
Plan Strategy Group chaired by an 
Assistant Chief Constable. This 
group will also communicate 
progress to the Stop and Search 
Reference Group chaired by the 
Deputy Chief Constable, which will 
also provide advice and support to 
unfolding work being developed by 
the independent Advisory Group on 
Stop and Search. (See appendix 
3). The improvement plan will be 

presented to the SPA Audit & Risk 
Committee in May 2015 and will be 
monitored through SPA 
governance channels. The SPA will 
provide scrutiny over Police 
Scotland during the delivery of the 
improvement plan, to ensure the 
recommendations contained within 
are delivered. In addition the plan 
progress will also be 
communicated at regular intervals 
to the Scottish Government, 
HMICS, stakeholders and other 
interested parties. 

 

Communication of Improvement Plan 
 
Effective communication and 
engagement will be needed to 
ensure all police officers and 
appropriate members of staff are 
informed about the improvements 
being made and what is expected 
of them.  A communication plan 
has been developed and will be 
used to drive activity over the 
coming months, starting with 
briefings for all police officers to 
make them aware about the new 
stop and search database and to 
clarify best practice.  Externally, 
communication and engagement 

will continue with a range of partner 
agencies and the media.  
Information about stop and search 
will also be made available to the 
public through community 
meetings, social media and the 
Police Scotland website.  An 
organisational change sub-group 
will monitor the progress of internal 
and external communication and 
engagement activity and the 
results, updating the 
communication plan and driving 
further activity where appropriate.

 

Stop and Search Definitions 
 
As an interim measure until further 
work is carried out around the 
future of consensual stop and 
search and the consideration of 
any code of practice Police 
Scotland has developed the 
following definitions. These 
definitions will be continually 
reviewed following wider 
consultation over the coming 
months and may be subject to 
some change. 

A statutory search is one 
conducted by a Police Officer in the 
course of their duties where the 
individual is searched using a 
specific statutory provision.   
 
A consensual search is one 
conducted by a Police Officer in the 
course of their duties with the 
consent of the individual being 
searched. 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 11

A recordable stop and search is 
defined as any unplanned stop and 
search where the officer has in the 
course of their duties used 
statutory powers or gained the 
consent of the individual being 
searched, excluding any search:  
 

• As part of an event where 
searches are conducted as 
security measures or conditions 
of entry.  

• When undertaking a search 
under powers conferred by a 
warrant. 

• Where items have been 
recovered prior to any search by 
a Police Officer (i.e. Shoplifter). 

• Part of an officer safety search 
whether within a custody setting 
or elsewhere. 

• Where a vehicle is searched but 
does not involve the search of an 
individual. 

A positive stop and search is 
when an item is recovered where 

possession of same implies 
criminality on the part of the 
individual being searched or any 
other; or potentially compromises 
the safety of that individual or any 
other. 
 
A refusal is when an individual 
does not provide their consent to 
be searched by an officer. This 
only relates to a consensual stop 
and search. 
 
A seizure occurs when items are 
surrendered, or are removed from 
an individual by a Police Officer, 
for the purpose of safeguarding 
the health and well being of that 
individual or any other, in 
circumstances where the stop and 
search tactic has NOT been 
utilised and no physical search of 
an individual has taken place. 

 

National Stop and Search Database  
 
The current database which is 
being utilised to capture all Stop 
and Search data required 
additional enhancement with new 
validation processes. The first of 
the major enhancements which 
was introduced to the database 
was the ability to separately record; 
• Stop & Search,  
• Intervention / Seizure   
• Refusal to consensual stop & 

search  
Enhancement to the statutory 
reasons for a Stop and Search 
included the removal of alcohol as 
a reason and the inclusion of all 
available statutes that give the 
ability to stop & search with the 
inputting officer having to select the 
specific statute which an individual 

is searched under. Validations of 
an individual’s date of birth and age 
along with additional messages 
and warnings have been included 
to ensure the quality of all 
information recorded.  
 
A method of capturing an officer’s 
grounds for suspicion was also 
introduced by means of a free text 
box which is titled 'Grounds for 
Search' during a statutory Stop and 
Search and 'Circumstances’ during 
a Consensual Search or 
Intervention / Seizure and prior to 
the disposal of this record a 
criminal justice outcome or no 
further action must be added thus 
providing an end to end record. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

12

National Stop & Search Improvement 
Delivery Team (NSSIDT)  
 
 
The National Stop and Search 
Improvement Delivery Team has 
been created to support the 
delivery of the improvement plan 
and deliver current actions through 
continued engagement with internal 
and external partners.  The 
National Stop and Search 
Improvement Delivery Team will be 
responsible in the short to mid term 
for the development and delivery of 
this improvement plan, whilst 

delivering any future 
recommendations arising from the 
work of the Stop and Search 
Advisory Group. This will ensure 
that Police Scotland makes the 
appropriate changes around the 
use of stop and search which 
address the issues identified 
through SPA, HMICS, SIPR and 
internal reviews whilst building 
confidence across the community 
through improved transparency. 

 
 
 

National Stop and Search Unit (NSSU)
 
 
The NSSU was created in June 
2014 to monitor the use of stop and 
search and develop new 
governance and scrutiny processes 
that would ensure ongoing 
improvements to data quality.  
 
With the creation of the NSSIDT 
and the production of a Stop 
Search Improvement Plan the role 
of the NSSU will be to work with 
the NSSIDT ensuring that all the 
changes to the National Stop 
Search Database and the 

recommendations contained within 
the Improvement Plan are reflected 
in a new manual of guidance which 
will set out Police Scotland’s 
processes for the future audit and 
governance of stop and search. 
The NSSU will continue to carry out 
weekly scrutiny checks of stop 
searches involving children less 
than 12 years of age. A further 
review of the staffing for this unit 
will be carried out prior to the 
NSSIDT concluding its activities.

 
 
 
 

 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 13

Fife Pilot 
 
Police Scotland recognises stop 
and search as one of several 
tactics used to deliver an effective 
police service across Scotland. The 
aim of the Fife Division pilot was to; 
ensure the use of stop and search 
is transparent, inform our approach 
towards consensual search, meets 
the expectations of the public when 
subject to scrutiny, capture best 
practice and inform policy and 
practice and crucially to ensure that 
its use is lawful, ethical, 
proportionate and effective in 
keeping people safe. 
 
The pilot was developed on three 
founding themes, namely: 
• Improving Data Set  
• Improving Accountability  
• Improving Confidence  

All of which were designed to lead 
to improved outcomes.  
 
Pilot Theme - Improving Data Set 
This focused on the provision of a 
valuable information and 
intelligence product, which was 
predictive and forward looking to 
ensure Police Officers target the 
right people at the right time in the 
right place. This ensures that the 
capture of data is appropriate and 
meets the needs of the 
organisation, and informs and is 
supported by improved business 
intelligence products. 
 
Pilot Theme - Improving 
Accountability 
This focused on the proportionate 
and ethical use of stop and search, 
evaluation of the interaction with 
members of the public being 
searched and scrutiny of the 
recording of searches. This 
provides confidence that searches  
 

 
 
 
 

carried out are justifiable and 
appropriate and meet the high 
expectations of the Service, 
stakeholders and members of the 
public. 
 
Pilot Theme - Improving 
Confidence 
The pilot built upon well established 
existing local partnerships with 
stakeholders, whilst developing 
new relationships through proactive 
engagement to inform communities 
and sought input to enhance 
strategy, policy and training and 
practical application of stop and 
search within communities. This 
enabled Police Scotland to 
understand current perceptions 
associated with the deployment 
and use of stop and search within 
the Fife area, whilst extending a 
collaborative and transparent 
approach to national stakeholders. 
 
The pilot has now concluded and 
the outcomes have been evaluated 
by the Scottish Institute of Policing 
Research. Police Scotland are 
currently looking at the 
recommendations from this 
evaluation and will consider any 
good practice that is appropriate for 
further cascade across Scotland.  
 
This will have to be scaleable 
across the service with a local 
delivery team put in place to 
educate the workforce and drive 
this improvement forward.  This will 
be driven by identified divisional 
SPOCS for all local policing 
divisions, as well as assistance 
from key internal and external 
stakeholders. 
 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

14

Children & Young Persons Working 
Group 
 
Effectively gauging the impact of 
Stop and Search on young people 
and mitigating any identified issues 
wherever possible are recognised 
as key strands of the 
implementation plan. Liaison with 
the Service’s Children & Young 
Persons Reference Group will be 
maintained in order that Police 
Scotland draws upon the best 
possible advice and guidance in 
this critical area of business.  This 

external group, Chaired by a 
Superintendent, Safer 
Communities, will facilitate 
engagement with recognised, and 
independent, academic, third 
sector and statutory partners in 
addition to the Young Persons 
Advisory Panel (YAP). This affords 
advice from sector professionals 
and from Young People, from a 
broad spectrum of social 
experience. 

 

Stop & Search Reference Group (SSRG) 
 
This group recently changed its 
name from the existing Stop and 
Search Short Life Working Group 
which was initially established to 
consider the current use by Police 
Scotland of ‘stop and search’ as an 
operational policing tactic; 
particularly to consider the current 
law and guidance on its use. To 
make recommendations as to the 
future use of that tactic and – as 
appropriate – any changes to the 
law and / or guidance. The group 

has now changed its name to the 
Stop and Search Reference Group 
and its members will provide advice 
and informed comment on the 
developing improvement plan and 
support the work of the 
independent Advisory Group with 
the aim of developing Police 
Scotland’s strategic policies and 
processes as they relate to the 
operational tactic of stop and 
search.

 

Independent Advisory Group (IAG) 
 
The Scottish Government has 
established an independent 
Advisory Group on Stop & Search, 
chaired by John Scott QC. This 
Group will consider the longer term 
policy that should be in place for 
stop and search in particular to 
consider and report to Scottish 
Ministers on whether a 
presumption against consensual 
stop and search goes far enough or 
alternatively, if there should be an 

absolute cessation of the practice. 
Furthermore the Group have 
undertaken to develop a draft Code 
of Practice that will underpin the 
use of stop and search in Scotland 
and any future legislative 
requirements. The outcome of this 
group will inform Police Scotland’s 
future approach to stop and search 
and this plan will remain flexible 
enough to accommodate any such 
developments. 

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

15

Scottish Government  
 
Scottish Government will continue 
to engage with Police Scotland to 
support the delivery of the 
improvement plan.  The Scottish 
Government’s overall role is to 

support the development of 
national policy, to represent the 
interests of the Scottish Ministers 
and to take forward any necessary 
legislative changes. 

 

Scottish Police Authority  
 
The Scottish Police Authority will 
support the delivery of the 
improvement plan and associated 
actions through ongoing 
engagement via membership and 
attendance at Stop & Search 
Tactical Group and the Stop & 
Search Reference Group. The 
implementation of the improvement 

plan will be formally overseen 
through an SPA Audit and Risk 
Committee held on 30th June. An 
SPA Board Member will also be a 
member of the Stop and Search 
Advisory Group and staff will also 
provide continued liaison between 
SPA and Police Scotland as work 
progresses. 

 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary in Scotland (HMICS) 
 
Through their statutory role, HMICS 
have requested that an 
improvement plan, to address the 
recommendations from their Audit 
and Assurance Review of Stop and 
Search Phase 1, is submitted to 
HMICS within three months of the 
publication of the HMICS report. 
HMICS expects to engage with 
Police Scotland during this period 
to support the development of the 
improvement plan in order to 
ensure that the recommendations 
are fully addressed. HMICS will 
also continue to engage and 
monitor progress on agreed actions 
with a view to their formal 
discharge and will independently 

assess progress through their 
established parliamentary and 
public performance reporting 
processes. HMICS are aware that 
Police Scotland will report 
responses to the report, through 
the SPA Audit and Risk Committee. 
They will also provide membership 
to the Stop and Search Advisory 
Group as an observer and the 
independent Advisory Group on 
Stop and Search as an active 
member and will be available for 
on-going liaison as work 
progresses. 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

16

Scottish Institute for Policing Research 
(SIPR) 
 
SIPR draws together a range of 
research expertise to focus on 
developing evidence-based 
approaches to policing and 
supporting innovation by providing 
robust, independent evaluation of 
new initiatives. 
 
SIPR is therefore keen to use its 
research capacity and capability to 
support Police Scotland’s Stop and 
Search Improvement Plan by 
helping develop the evidence base 
around the use of Stop and Search 
and evaluate the impacts of new 
practices. 
 
SIPR is already helping coordinate 
a Workshop run by the SPA which 
will consider recent and ongoing 

research on Stop and Search in 
Scotland and identify evidence 
gaps. 
 
With Police Scotland and SPA, 
SIPR is designing a set of 
questions on public perceptions of 
Stop and Search which will be 
included in the 2015 Scottish Social 
Attitudes Survey.  The findings 
from the survey will be available in 
the autumn of 2015. 
 
SIPR will also use its Knowledge 
Exchange capacity and its UK and 
International Network to help 
identify and support the 
dissemination of good practice in 
relation to Stop and Search.

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
Police Scotland recognises that all 
tactics including Stop and Search 
must treat everyone fairly, with 
respect and not discriminate 
against any protected characteristic 
group or infringe on Human Rights. 
By conducting a thorough Equality 
Impact Assessment (EIA) on Stop 
and Search as a whole and not 
merely the paper guidance, it is 
envisaged that we will be able to 
embrace and provide assurance 
that all actions are ethical, fair, and 
legal. Every aspect of the Stop and 
Search tactic will be governed by 
this robust EIA and will require 

extensive research and 
consultation.  
 
Police Scotland will be conducting 
a wide and comprehensive 
consultation process during the 
improvement process. Feedback 
will be used to inform the decision 
making process and future training. 
In addition to the EIA, a Privacy 
Impact Assessment will be 
conducted that will cover the 
security, access, retention and 
weeding policy for the information 
held on Stop and Search.

 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

17

Priority Themes  
 
In order to provide a means of 
tasking and coordinating the 
delivery of the improvement plan 
the National Stop & Search 
Improvement Delivery Team 
examined all recommendations 
emanating from the four reviews 
already mentioned within the 

background section of this report. 
The recommendations were 
thereafter grouped into six priority 
themes and are as follows. These 
themes will be used by the team to 
manage progress against the 
stated timescales to achieve the 
stated improvement outcomes. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Theme 1 – Research & Evaluation 

Theme 2 – Consensual Searching 

Theme 3 – Engagement with Children & Young People  

Theme 4 – Organisational Change  

Theme 5 – Accountability & Public Information  

Theme 6 – Database & Supporting Technologies 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

18 

Theme 1 ‐ Research & Evaluation 
We are working with partners to develop an evidence base that supports and further informs the delivery of our improvement plan. 
We are establishing a Research & Evaluation sub-group to bring together the various strands of work being developed by 
ourselves, the Scottish Police Authority, the Scottish Government and the Scottish Institute for Policing Research including other 
interested research partners.   
 
Action Taken   Target 

Date 
Recommendation 
Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND 
SIPR 

 
We held a National Stop & Search Event involving internal and external stakeholders in Glenrothes, Fife. 
 
We have carried out an internal audit of stop and search recording, which is helping develop good practice.  
 
We have concluded an audit and assurance review to assess the state, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
processes for recording stop and search activity, including supervision, audit and governance and submitted a 
report for the Cabinet Secretary for Justice.  
 
We have concluded the Fife Stop & Search Pilot which ran between July 2014 and January 2015 and has been 
academically evaluated by SIPR 
 

 
Nov 2014 
 
Dec 2014 
 
March 2015 
 
 
 
April 2015 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Actions 

 
1) To consider the recommendations from the SIPR evaluation of the stop and search Fife Pilot in consultation 

with SPA to identify any good practice and promulgate same across Scotland.  
 
2) To develop an Equality Impact Assessment on the Stop and Search tactic based on robust consultation, 

encompassing Guidance, Policy changes and Training. 

 
 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 

 
 
5, 12, 12 
 
 
Police Scotland  
 

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 19 

 
3) To review best practice around stop and search strategy from across the UK and beyond and provide a report 

on what practice may be transferable for consideration in Scotland.  
 
4) In consultation with SPA identify and assess links between stop and search and positive outcomes and report 

to HMIC, SPA and Scottish Government and the Stop and Search Reference Group.  
 
5) Following consultation with partners develop a wider Violence & Disorder Prevention Strategy which 

incorporates stop and search in the context of violence and disorder prevention activity.  
 
6) To support SPA and partners to develop research into the impact of stop and search on different communities 

and groups and to develop measurements of public confidence aligned to local priorities to inform future policy 
and practice.  

 
7) To support the Scottish Government in consultation with the SPA to engage with key stakeholders to expand 

the evidence base of stop and search.   
 
8) Coordinate research between SIPR and other academic(s) to develop the academic knowledge base around 

stop and search including its impact on young people.  
 
9) To support the development of a draft Code of Practice for stop and search by the independent Advisory 

Group on Stop & Search. 

 
August 2015 
 
 
December 
2015 
 
December 
2015 
 
TBC 
 
 
 
TBC 
 
 
TBC 
 
 
TBC 

 
Police Scotland  
 
 
8, 11, 1, 2 
 
 
16 
 
 
11, 21, 10, 13, 14 
 
 
 
9 
 
 
11, 1, 2 
 
 
19 

Outcomes     

The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions to ensure best practice and use of the stop and search 
tactic in the prevention and detection of crime and to improve community well-being across Scotland.  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

20 

Theme 2 ‐ Consensual Searching  
 

We will continue to monitor and report on compliance to the policy that consensual searches are no longer to be employed on 
children.  As new changes are delivered, we will enhance our training to include best practice on consensual searches, reinforcing 
our policy and expectations. We will work with partners to develop options on the future of consensual searches and investigate 
enhancements in legislation to support the work of the independent Advisory Group on Stop & Search. We are also moving to a 
position of presumption of statutory searching over consensual and will monitor the impact of this.  
 
 
Action Taken  Target Date  Recommendation 

Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND 

       SIPR 
 
We have already introduced a policy and issued guidance to officers that consensual searching is no longer to 
be employed in respect of those aged 11 years and under. 
 
We have introduced a policy and guidance to officers that there is a presumption towards the use of statutory 
powers, and only reverting to consensual searching where no statutory power exists. This will be reinforced 
during planned training activity (see theme 4, action 1). 
 

 
April 2015 
 
 
May 2015 
 
 
 

 
6 ( also see theme 3 / 
action 1) 
 
15 

Actions 
 
1) To provide training to officers across Scotland surrounding the use of consensual searching via briefing, e-

learning and aide memoir. 
 
2) To further develop our policy around the use of both statutory and consensual searches and cascade to 

front line officers. 
 
3) In consultation with SPA provide guidance to the general public and to individuals at point of consensual / 

statutory search around the use of the tactic and their rights. 

 
June 2015 
 
 
June 2015 
 
 
August 2015 

 
7 
 
 
15 
 
 
1, 19 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 21 

 
4) To monitor the impact of a presumption of statutory searches in preference to consensual searches and 

report back to interested stakeholders. 
 
5) In partnership with the independent Advisory Group on Stop & Search and the Stop & Search Reference 

Group support the development of proposals to consider further statutory legislation for alcohol. Also see 
Theme 4 / Action 1.  

 
 

 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 

 
3, 9  
 
 
16 

Outcomes     
 
The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions to ensure a consistent approach towards the 
presumption of statutory powers, only reverting to consensual searching where no statutory power exists. We will also establish a future position on the use of 
consensual searching.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

22 

Theme 3 ‐ Engagement with Children & Young People  
Throughout the improvement process, we will work with children and young people groups to consult on current practice and 
proposed improvements including any potential impact on age discrimination. We will review all feedback taking into account 
opinions and recommendations from children, young people and their representatives.  

 Action Taken  Target Date  Recommendation 
Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND   
SIPR 

During the Fife Pilot officers engaged with all secondary schools, colleges and universities and encouraged 
feedback on stop and search. 
 
We have already consulted on the use of police stop and search through the Children and Young Persons 
Reference Group to inform our future use of the tactic.  

January 2015 
 
 
March 2015 
 

 

Actions 

1) To evaluate and review stop and search levels involving children and young people, take any remedial 
action and report outcomes / progress to interested stakeholders.  

 
2) In consultation with SPA develop a forum and other opportunities for children and young people to be 

involved in contributing to the Implementation Plan outcomes around stop and search impact on young 
people.  

 
3) In consultation with SPA identify and cascade across Scotland any good practice identified in the SIPR 

evaluation affecting Children & Young People. See also theme 1, action 8.  
 
4) Explore wider links through stop and search activity and the GIRFEC well-being agenda to provide 

safeguarding measures for children and young people identified through this tactic.  

August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
December 2015 

6, 18 
 
 
7 
 
 
 
8 
 
 
Police Scotland  
 

Outcomes     
The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions to ensure that all engagement with children and young 
people is delivered in a positive manner, centred on building trust and positive outcomes. We will take any learning and build it into our policies and 
practices.  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

23 

Theme 4 – Organisational Change 
As improvements are designed, we will deliver appropriate communication and effective training, supported by detailed standard 
operating procedures to ensure that every officer is clear on the policy changes, standards and governance. A communications 
plan has been implemented which will inform officers and our partners about our progress and improvements.  The organisational 
changes taking place will be managed and governed by the strategic, tactical and operational meetings now in place.   
 
Action Taken  Target Date  Recommendation 

Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND 
SIPR 

We have put in place a governance structure as detailed in appendix 3 and will maintain this arrangement to 
deliver the plan and to ensure the use of the tactic remains ethical, proportionate, justified and outcome focused. 
 
Following consultation, develop and implement definitions for Statutory and Consensual Stop and Search, 
Recordable Stop and Search, Positive Stop and Search, Refusal and Intervention.  
 
We have put in place single points of contacts in every local policing division to provide a local champion for stop 
and search issues.  

February 2015 
 
 
April 2015 
 
 
April 2015 

13 
 
 
1 

Actions 
1) Develop and deliver training to front line officers around the changes being made and reinforce existing 

good practice around stop and search via briefings, e-learning, standard operating procedure, aide memoir 
and appropriate communications. 

 
2) To clarify the roles and responsibilities of the National Stop and Search Unit. 
 
3) To improve the stop and search aide memoir for officers used during the Fife Pilot and learn from best 

practice elsewhere for roll out across Scotland. 
 
4) To develop and implement processes to allow first line manager supervision of the stop and search using 

the Stop and Search Database and to provide further scrutiny and governance through the ongoing support 
from the National Stop and Search Unit. 

 
June 2015 
 
 
June 2015 
 
 

August 2015 
 
August 2015 
 

 
4, 5, 6,14, 3, 6, 11 
 
 
8 (also see theme 5 / 
action 2) 
 

17 

 
7 (also see theme 6 / 
action 3) 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 24 

 

 
 

 
5) In partnership with the Scottish Government and the SPA publish a public facing statement on the impact of 

changes being made to stop and search to balance the use of the policing tactic and individuals’ rights.  
 
6) To identify all appropriate disposal options for stop and search and ensure appropriate guidance to front line 

officers is communicated. This will include guidance around circumstances where a concern referral or other 
disposal may be appropriate under the wider safeguarding and prevention agenda.  

 
7) In support of action theme 5, action 2 and theme 6, action 2 provide training for relevant staff to understand 

the outputs from the stop and search data analysis products.  
 
8) To review and improve the stop and search information leaflets for individuals being searched used during 

the Fife Pilot and learn from best practice elsewhere prior to consideration of rolling out across Scotland.  
 
9) To review the guidance and content of the parent letters used during the Fife Pilot prior to consideration of 

further roll out across Scotland. 
 
10) In partnership with the SPA provide an updated progress report to the Scottish Government around the 

implementation plan. 
 
11) To support any future HMICS inspection to review the progress of the Implementation Plan.  

 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
December 2015 
 
 
TBC 

 
4 
 
 
Police Scotland  
 
 
 
7, 8 
 
 
16 
 
 
18 
 
 
18 
 
 
14 

Outcomes     

The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions through continued engagement with internal and 
external stakeholders.  This will ensure that Police Scotland makes the appropriate changes around the use of stop and search which address the issues 
identified through SPA, HMICS, SIPR and internal reviews whilst building confidence across the community through improved transparency. 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 25 

Theme 5 – Accountability and Public Information  
We will establish clear internal and external reporting mechanisms on stop and search activity with comprehensive management 
information. We will provide accessible and meaningful information to the public at a local level accountable to the SPA via their 
Audit and Risk Committee.    
 
Action Taken   Target Date  Recommendation 

Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND 
SIPR 

We have removed stop and search volume as a key performance indicator and removed stop and search 
positive rate as a target prior to the 2015/16 performance year. We will now continue to review this data as 
management information.  
 
We produce weekly audit and scrutiny checks of all stop and searches involving children less than 12 years of 
age, the results of which are reported to the Scottish Government and the Scottish Police Authority. 

 
April 2015 
 
 
 
April 2015 

 
2, 22 ,10 

Actions 
1) To submit a report to the SPA to provide rationale for the significant changes in stop and search volumes 

since police reform to present time.  
 
2) To develop a manual of guidance for Police Scotland to provide audit and governance; of all stop and 

search data being entered into the stop and search database, on how the data processes through the 
systems of how the subsequent management and public information will be generated and how that 
information will be presented.  

 
3) To provide local policing divisions with meaningful management information around the local use of the stop 

and search tactic which supports future proactive deployment at the right place, right time and to the right 
people and provides governance and overview of this information through the Force Tasking & Performance 
Board. 

 
4) In partnership with the SPA provide appropriate and regular stop and search public information at a local 

community level including Local Authority Scrutiny Boards.  

May 2015 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
 
 
December 2015 
 
 
 
December 2015 

10 
 
 
1,12,13,23, 2, 15, 14 
 
 
 
 
5  
 
 
 
12, 3, 4, 20, 6, 17 

Outcomes     
The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions to ensure that meaningful management and public 
information is provided around the use of the stop and search tactic at local levels.   



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

26 

Theme 6 ‐ Database and Supporting Technologies 
We will continue to develop solutions to improve the effectiveness of stop and search through intelligence and crime data ensuring 
all activity is directed and justified. We will design and implement a database that will capture the relevant information required to 
meet the policy changes as well as making enhancements on accuracy, scrutiny and governance. The existing Police Scotland 
Database & Supporting Technologies Sub Group will support this work.  
 
Action Taken  Target Date  Recommendation 

Key :  
 

SPA 
HMICS 
POLICE SCOTLAND 
SIPR 

We have already developed Business Intelligence Tools such as Divisional Tracker, Area Command Tracker, 
Ward Tracker, Data Zone Tracker that take account of stop and search data and we have rolled these out 
across the country. 

March 2015 3 

Actions 
1) To design and launch an enhanced stop and search database that captures relevant information including 

grounds for suspicion, refusal, ethnicity, multiple searches of the same person, type of search, records 
product seizures, improve data validation which together informs future analysis and local deployment of the 
tactic.  

 
2) To design and develop an analytical tool that informs local targeted search activity such as the Geographic 

and Temporal Alignment Tool. 
 
3) To explore further developments to the database following initial evaluation of the changes to include further 

improvements for supervisory oversight and to flag individuals being searched disproportionately.  
 

June 2015 
 
 
 
 
August 2015 
 
 
August 2015 

9, 2, 9, 10, 11, 17, 5 
 
 
 
 
3 
 
 
4, 15 

Outcomes     
The National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team and its partners will deliver these actions to deliver an enhanced stop and search database with 
supporting technologies which ensures data quality surrounding the targeted use of the stop and search tactic.  

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

27 

Appendices 
Appendix 1 National Stop and Search Improvement Plan Diagram 

 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

28 

Appendix 2 National Stop and Search Improvement Delivery Team Structure 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

29 

Appendix 3 Implementation Plan – Governance Meeting Structure 

Police Scotland
Stop and Search 
Reference Group

Police Scotland
Stop and Search 
Strategy Group

Police Scotland
Stop and Search 
Tactical Group

Children and Young 
Person Reference 

Group

Youth 
Advisory 

Panel

Data Audit, 
Accountability and 

Governance 
Sub Group

Database and 
Supporting 

Technologies 
Sub Group

Organisational 
Change

Sub Group

Independent Advisory 
Group on Stop and 

Search

Police Scotland
Stop and Search 

Operational Group

Research and 
Evaluation
Sub Group 

Analytical Product 
Development 
Sub Group

SPA Audit and Risk 
Committee

SPA Board

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

30 

Appendix 4 - Improving Stop and Search Practice  
 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

Theme 1  ‐ Research & Evaluation 
8) Police Scotland 
should assess the best 
value implications and 
relative priority of the 
stop and search tactic 
against other policing 
activities. 
 
11) The SPA should 
commission research, in 
conjunction with others, 
to establish the short 
and long term impact of 
stop and search on 
different groups and 
communities. In 
particular, this should 
cover the short and long 
term impact of stop and 
search activity on young 
people. 

19) Police Scotland and Scottish Police 
Authority should consult with the Scottish 
Government on the potential development 
of a statutory Code of Practice for stop 
and search. 
 
21) Police Scotland should consider 
developing a framework for stop and 
search that aligns national and local 
priorities and promotes a values-based 
approach to the treatment of those who 
are subject to a search. Police Scotland 
should consider placing public confidence 
at the centre of this approach to stop and 
search and commit to on-going 
measurement through an independent 
survey commissioned by the Scottish 
Police Authority. 

5) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
Scottish Police Authority (SPA), to examine the 
SIPR evaluation of the Fife Pilot with a view to 
establishing and rolling out identified good 
practice across Police Scotland in relation to 
the theme of Transparency and Fairness. 
 
9) Scottish Government, in consultation with 
Police Scotland and the SPA, to explore further 
opportunities to consult and engage with key 
stakeholders to expand and widen 
understanding of views and perspectives on 
the use of stop and search in Scotland. 
 
10) The SPA, in consultation with Police 
Scotland, to commission academic research to 
improve the understanding of the use of stop 
and search, the scope of its impact, both 
positive and negative, with a view to 
incorporating the learning to inform future 
policy and practice. 
 
11) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to explore methods to identify and assess 
links between the use of stop and search and 
positive outcomes. 

1) The pilot is based on the premise 
that effective use of stop and search 
depends on targeting the ‘right people, 
at the right time and in the right place.’ 
However, it should be acknowledged 
that this creates a problem in that if the 
police continue to have a presence in 
the high-crime areas to which the 
analytical products used in the pilot 
direct them for the purpose of stop and 
search, then these areas are likely to 
remain as ‘hot spots’ for crime or anti-
social behaviour. More stop and search, 
even with the good practice identified in 
the pilot, is not going to change this 
situation on its own. Other methods, 
based on problem-solving and 
partnership approaches, would be more 
effective in these areas and would 
better help the police to achieve the 
pilot’s aims of public confidence and 
accountability. The focus of this 
research was on the stop and search 
pilot, however, it should be 
acknowledged that the police do not 
use it in isolation, but in conjunction 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 31 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

 
12) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to examine the SIPR evaluation of the 
Fife Pilot with a view to establishing and rolling 
out identified good practice across Police 
Scotland in relation to the theme of Improved 
Evidence Base. 
 
16) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to report at an appropriate time during 
2015, on work undertaken in respect of 
violence prevention and the related reporting of 
police use of stop and search to the SPA and 
Scottish Government.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

with other, often multi-agency 
interventions.  
 
2) The effectiveness of stop and search 
overall was not within our remit and 
requires further and more detailed 
research. When implementing the pilot 
on a national scale, we would 
encourage Police Scotland to reflect on 
the intended objectives of stop and 
search and consult evidence regarding 
its effectiveness and any unintended 
outcomes, such as those we have 
identified in the pilot. Stop and search is 
an invasive power (members of the 
public stopped during the pilot 
mentioned being embarrassed when 
searched) which the police can use to 
recover illegal items and the current 
academic evidence base does not 
support the idea that it is suited to crime 
prevention in general (one of the 
perceived benefits of stop and search 
which our police respondents identified 
in the evaluation). We would 
recommend that stop and search, 
including the pilot approach, should be 
used as a last resort in any encounter 
with a member of the public, but 
especially with young people. Young 
people need to be engaged in non-



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 32 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

coercive ways whenever possible, as 
do other vulnerable groups, even 
considering the good practice identified 
in the pilot.  
 
12) While the Fife Division was involved 
in a great deal of consultation with 
external groups and organisations 
(which is to be commended) we have 
concerns that these meetings or 
communications were not always 
consultative, and could instead be used 
more for promotional or instrumental 
purposes for the police. There were 
also concerns that the messages given 
to external stakeholders about the 
progress of the pilot were 
inappropriately positive. This was not 
necessarily deliberate – as we reveal 
about the dip sampling, the ‘complaints’ 
feature and the meetings with schools, 
these did not illicit reliable feedback to 
the police about views of the public 
which they could then pass on to 
stakeholders and officers. We would 
urge Police Scotland to reduce the level 
of self-promotion in these meetings 
whenever possible.  
 
13) Police Scotland should consider 
employing an external agency to 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 33 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

assess the level of public satisfaction 
and confidence in the police in relation 
to stop and search (such as through the 
dip sampling phone calls). The fact that 
there were no complaints towards the 
police during the pilot does not mean 
that everyone is satisfied with stop and 
search. It is difficult for some people to 
tell the police directly what they think of 
them, even anonymously, especially if 
the police hold their personal details 
(name, address and phone number) or 
are standing in front of them in uniform. 
External assessors would remove the 
level of threat that can come with 
communicating with the police directly. 
 

14) Should Police Scotland decide to 
continue with its own dip sampling 
method, there are numerous issues 
with this which need to be addressed. 
These include the accuracy of the 
database, obtaining a representative 
sample of respondents, time of day in 
which to ring, the ability of any police 
officer to get a reasonable assessment 
of someone’s views of their experiences 
with the police, the closed nature of 
many of the questions, the use of the 
comment box and to what use the 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 34 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

findings are put (how widely to 
disseminate them and how often). 

Theme 2 - Consensual Searching  
7) Police Scotland 
should ensure that those 
to be searched on a non- 
statutory basis are 
aware of their right to 
decline. 

15) Police Scotland should consider a 
policy which raises a general presumption 
amongst officers that stop and search 
encounters should be legislative. This 
should encourage a position where 
officers only revert to consensual 
searches, supported by informed consent, 
where no legislative power exists. 
 
16) Police Scotland should seek legal 
opinion on whether Section 61 of the 
Crime and Punishment (Scotland) Act 
1997 can be interpreted to show an 
implied power of search for alcohol from 
young people under the age of 18 and 
adults in specific circumstances. This 
opinion should inform whether there is a 
requirement to seek further legislation in 
the absence of consensual stop and 
search. 
 

1) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to produce guidance for members of the 
public as to the police use of stop and search, 
their rights, including specifically the right to 
refuse a consensual search, and the 
consequences or, more importantly, the 
absence of consequences should they refuse. 
Police Scotland to work with the SPA, national 
and local partners to publicise that public 
guidance. 
 
3) Police Scotland to monitor the ongoing use 
of stop and search to assess any impact 
caused by the move to a presumption of the 
use of statutory searches in preference to 
consensual stop and search. This may involve 
engagement with police services in England 
and Wales to secure the benefits of their 
experience and learning from an environment 
which only uses statutory stop and search. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9)  Some members of the public who 
had been stopped and searched during 
the live phase of the pilot complained 
about ‘random’ searches, in that there 
was no stated reason for the search. 
This suggests that even with the pilot’s 
methods of making the option to refuse 
a consensual search explicit and the 
advice slips, a misunderstanding 
remains about the purpose of 
consensual searches. In light of this, we 
would suggest Police Scotland move to 
a position of using legislative searches 
only. Only these can truly be ‘targeted’ 
at ‘the right people, right place and right 
time’ thereby enhancing accountability 
and public confidence, two key aims of 
the pilot.  
 
19) Once a final format for a revised 
approach to stop and search is 
developed in Scotland, this should be 
communicated effectively with the 
public to help improve confidence in the 
new method, along with the regular 
production of publicly accessible reports 
on progress in changing stop and 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 35 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

search and data analysis of the rates of 
stop and search for local areas.  

 

 
Theme 3 - Engagement with Young People 
6) Police Scotland 
should ensure that the 
rationale for the search 
rate on young people is 
intelligence led and that 
particular groups, such 
as young people, are not 
being subjected to 
excessive levels of 
searching. 

18) Police Scotland should engage with 
the Stop and Search Short Life Working 
Group and members of the Children and 
Young Peoples Reference Group to 
consider the implications that stop and 
search recording may have on young 
people. 

7) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to explore ways in which Scotland’s 
children and young people may be better 
engaged and consulted to ensure their views 
are captured in the ongoing development of 
stop and search policy and practice (and wider 
policing methods), ensuring that they continue 
to be treated with respect and that they are 
aware of their rights. 
 
8) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to examine the SIPR evaluation of the 
Fife Pilot with a view to establishing and rolling 
out identified good practice across Police 
Scotland in relation to the theme of Children 
and Young People. 

 

 

Theme 4 – Organisational Change   
1) Police Scotland 
should define the 
contexts within which 
stop and search is used 
as a preventative tactic; 
and as a means of 

5) Police Scotland should develop 
definitive guidance for officers about what 
information should be recorded from a 
stop and search encounter into their 
notebook or personal data assistant (PDA) 
to ensure consistency of practice. 

4) Scottish Government, Police Scotland and 
the SPA to work together to develop an 
appropriate, public facing statement, by the end 
of August 2015, to cover all stop and search 
practice in Scotland, which takes into account 
the implications it may have for the manner in 

3) As is already documented elsewhere 
(see HMICS 2015), the stop and search 
database is problematic. While 
systematic and detailed recording of all 
stop searches as was done in the pilot 
is welcomed, officers need a much 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 36 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

detection. It should also 
define appropriate 
outcome measures as 
well as the rationale for 
any target/s set. 
 
4) Police Scotland 
should ensure the 
consistent application of 
stop and search by 
reinforcing training for 
officers, ensuring that 
officer understanding is 
tested and that officer 
training is regularly 
assessed. Training 
should include dealing 
appropriately with 
children and young 
people and giving clarity 
about what constitutes 
consent with respect to 
non-statutory searches. 
 
 

 
6) Police Scotland should emphasise the 
rationale for recording the self-defined 
ethnicity of those who are stopped and 
searched and provide guidance. 
 
7) Police Scotland should introduce 
processes for the proportionate 
supervision of stop and search activity.  
This should allow opportunities for 
individual feedback and learning to 
officers, which increases their confidence 
in the effective use of legislative stop and 
search and considers the quality of the 
encounter. 
  
8) Police Scotland should define the roles 
and responsibilities of the National Stop 
and Search Unit and all internal business 
areas that impact on the end to end 
process of stop and search, including the 
quality of published data. 
 
14) Police Scotland should assess the 
training needs of officers in relation to stop 
and search and consider techniques that 
will improve officer confidence in the 
application of their legislative stop and 
search powers. This assessment should 
be informed by proposed changes to stop 
and search policy and practice across 

which police officers in Scotland interact with 
the public. Particular consideration to be given 
to the complex legal and policy issues 
associated with the development of any code of 
practice with or without statutory force. 
 
13) The Police Scotland Stop and Search 
Tactical Delivery Group to ensure continuing 
organisational governance in relation to the 
ongoing improvement activity.  
 
14) The SPA considers inviting HMICS to 
conduct a scrutiny exercise at an appropriate 
time in the future to assess progress against 
the range of work and recommendations 
contained within this report. 
 
18) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to provide Scottish Government with an 
update report as to the improvements secured 
and an up to date assessment of the police use 
of stop and search, realised as a result of the 
developments and recommendations outlined 
in this report, by 31st December 2015. 
 
 
 
 

better understanding of how to input the 
data correctly to reduce errors and 
improve its use.  
6) Related to number 2 above is the 
need for officers to be much clearer on 
what constitutes a stop and search. We 
found confusion on this point more than 
once, for example, if a search after an 
arrest is a ‘stop and search’ and the 
difference between a search and an 
intervention. Confusion remains about 
police powers in relation to alcohol.  
 
7) We would suggest producing one 
monthly data report which embeds the 
stop and search analysis within the 
other relevant contextual data (such as 
seasonal trends, major events, how 
‘proportionality’ is determined, etc.) 
including the current six-week and one-
year historical views of crime trends. 
This report would be even more robust 
if it also included a five-year historical 
view to mitigate against year-on-year 
fluctuations. This would improve the 
strength of the report as a standalone 
product as it would make the necessary 
context in which to understand the data 
fully apparent and would position stop 
and search within the broader range of 
police activity (as it is one option among 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 37 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

Scotland. 
 
 
 

many). This could help reduce the 
unintended emphasis that our 
interviewees perceived among their 
managers to highlight stop and search 
as a priority method and thus drive up 
its volume.  
 
8) Related to Recommendation 7 is the 
work needed at a local level by the staff 
analysts to prepare the stop and search 
data for processing with the various 
analytical products available. There can  
be local circumstances or stand-alone 
events which may render the raw data 
inaccurate. Police Scotland should keep 
in mind the local work needed to 
produce the stop and search reports 
when rolling the pilot method out 
nationally, to ensure that there is 
sufficient staffing to do this.  
 
11) Training for officers on stop and 
search should initially be delivered in a 
face-to-face way, in sessions that are 
interactive (not online and not in the 
context of a briefing) and that illicit their 
feedback on the procedures. This 
training should take into account current 
research on the effects of stop and 
search in various populations. 
Anonymous systems of feedback 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 38 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

should be considered if officers feel 
hesitant to provide feedback face-to-
face. It may be helpful to use an 
external organisation to provide this 
training if officers would be more willing 
to speak openly in that context.  
 
16) The advice slips given to members 
of the public when they are stopped and 
searched are good practice. However, 
these need to be given out as a matter 
of course in every stop and search, and 
a system should be devised to check 
that this is happening. These 
documents also need to be amended 
(or an alternative version produced) to 
use language more suited to young 
people, to provide more information on 
consensual searches and officers 
should routinely ask if the person might 
have any difficulty in reading the advice 
slip (for example, because of vision 
problems or dyslexia). The Police 
Scotland Children and Young Persons 
Reference Group also suggested 
pictures and font that is easier to read 
for people with dyslexia. Officers should 
always carry copies of the advice slips 
with them, as well as copies of those in 
alternative formats (such as the Polish 
language version).  



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 39 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

17) The aide memoirs are also good 
practice, especially the mandatory 
statement on the card explaining the 
right to refuse a consensual search 
which officers are to read aloud. 
However, they also need more 
information on consensual searches 
such as when it would be inappropriate 
to do them, for example, on people who 
are intoxicated or vulnerable in some 
way and thus unable to give informed 
consent (in addition to not conducting 
consensual searches of children under 
the age of 12).  
 
18) The letter to parents is a difficult 
area. There are good suggestions 
which would make them more useful for 
parents. These include more detail on 
the circumstances of the stop and 
search, details of what brought the 
police officer to conduct a search, what 
possible outcomes or repercussions 
there might be for the child from the 
search and the use of less formal 
language. However, there is also a 
concern that the letters could have 
negative consequences for children in 
some households where contact with 
the police is seen as problematic. 
Careful consideration should be given 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 40 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

to this and whether the letters in some 
cases might do more harm than good.  

 

Theme 5 -  Management & Public Information  
2) Police Scotland 
should review 
operational practice in 
relation to any perceived 
pressure on individual 
officers to reach a 
certain volume of 
searches. 
 
5) Police Scotland 
should ensure that its 
use of stop and search is 
proportionate across 
Scotland, focussed on 
successful outcomes, 
targeted at the right 
people, right place and 
right time. Care should 
be taken to ensure that: 

 
• Particular 

communities and 
groups are not 
being 

1)  Police Scotland should develop 
definitive guidance and counting rules for 
officers to provide clarity on what 
constitutes a stop and search and how 
these should be recorded and counted.  
This should include what a search can 
involve, particularly in relation to turning 
out pockets or bags, to ensure there is a 
common understanding among officers. 
 
 
3) Police Scotland should accurately 
record and publicly report on items 
recovered as a result of a positive stop 
and search encounter. This should provide 
greater transparency and better inform 
local communities about local crime and 
disorder trends. 
 
4) Police Scotland should develop, record 
and publicly report on disposal categories 
which effectively capture the outcomes of 
stop and search activity. This should 
include a range of measures which 

2) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to develop processes for monitoring and 
review of the Police Scotland National Stop and 
Search Database to ensure compliance with 
equality and human rights considerations and 
effective accountability. 
 
6) Police Scotland, in consultation with the SPA 
to proactively publish stop and search data on 
a quarterly basis.  
 
15) The Police Scotland National Stop and 
Search Unit to develop improved audit 
processes with regular reporting to the SPA 
and Scottish Government to continue. 
 
17) Police Scotland, in consultation with the 
SPA, to develop mechanisms for reporting of 
the police use of stop and search to the 32 
local authority scrutiny boards.  
 

10) Police officers in our study 
expressed a clear impression that there 
are targets for stop and search, 
especially once the pilot launched, and 
as such they should do as many as 
possible. Therefore, we welcome the 
recent announcement from Police 
Scotland that they will be ending the 
target of 20% positive stop searches 
and the stop and search Key 
Performance Indicator (Police Scotland 
2015). This unintended outcome of the 
pilot (raising the rate of stop and 
search) should be kept under 
consideration when rolling out the pilot 
nationally.  
 
14) Should Police Scotland decide to 
continue with its own dip sampling 
method, there are issues with this which 
need to be addressed. These include 
the accuracy of the database, obtaining 
a representative sample of 
respondents, time of day in which to 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 41 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

disproportionatel
y impacted by 
stop and search 
activity; 

• Use of stop and 
search is 
proportionate to 
the risk of 
offending, crime 
rate and threat; 

Use of the tactic is 
regularly reviewed to 
ensure its application is 
still appropriate. 
 
10) Police Scotland 
should provide the SPA 
with their rationale for 
the significant changes 
in the volume of stop 
and search activity 
across local authority 
areas in Scotland since 
police reform and their 
assessment of the 
impact this has had on 
outcomes. 
 
12) The SPA should 
publish comprehensive 
stop and search data on 

support the statutory purpose of policing to 
improve the safety and well-being of 
persons, localities and communities in 
Scotland. 
 
12) Police Scotland should develop 
proportionate quality control procedures 
for stop and search data, detailing how the 
process will be administered, what regular 
checks will be implemented and how data 
errors will be rectified and reported. 
 
13) Police Scotland should review the 
principles and protocols contained within 
the Code of Practice for Official Statistics 
to develop proportionate internal guidance 
for publicly reported stop and search data. 
 
20) Police Scotland should publish 
information on stop and search for local 
scrutiny and engagement committees and 
local communities. This should include 
detail on how this activity is aligned to 
local priorities and delivering positive 
outcomes. 
 
22) Police Scotland should remove the 
target for positive searches and the key 
performance indicator on the number of 
searches from its performance framework. 
In the interests of transparency and 

ring, the ability of any police officer to 
get a reasonable assessment of 
someone’s views of their experiences 
with the police, the closed nature of 
many of the questions, the use of the 
comment box and to what use the 
findings are put (how widely to 
disseminate them and how often). 
Social science researchers with 
expertise in questionnaire methods 
would be best placed to advise on 
these and provide the necessary 
training to officers conducting the calls.  

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 42 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

a regular basis. 
 

effective scrutiny, it should continue to 
collect and publish this data. 
 
23) Police Scotland should put in place a 
proportionate audit regime for stop and 
search including positive and negative 
searches. There should be clear 
guidelines for officers completing the audit 
and those analysing the results. The 
findings of all audits should be scrutinised 
by the Scottish Police Authority Audit and 
Risk Committee. 
 

Theme 6 - Database & Supporting Technologies  
3) Police Scotland 
should roll out analysis 
tools, such as the 
Geographic and 
Temporal Alignment 
Tool (GTAT),  across 
Scotland to target search 
activity on “the right 
people, in the right place 
at the right time” 
 
9) Police Scotland 
should ensure the 
recorded details of 
individuals searched and 
information about those 
who do not consent to 

2) Police Scotland should require officers 
to record their grounds for suspicion for 
legislative searches and make this a 
mandatory recording requirement on the 
national stop and search database. This 
information should be used as a qualitative 
measure to support effective supervision 
and audit and to drive improvement in the 
use of legislative stop and search. 
 
9) Police Scotland should remove the 
default selection of consensual search 
from the national stop and search 
database and require officers to 
specifically select the legislative power 
exercised in their stop and search 
encounter from a pre-defined list. An 

 4) A further enhancement to the stop 
and search database would be to track 
whether the same individuals are being 
stopped and searched on multiple 
occasions. If this were to happen, these 
individuals should be flagged by the 
system in some way for alternative 
interventions.  
 
5) Police Scotland should consider 
recording refusals of consensual stop 
and search in the main database to give 
a more complete and transparent 
picture of the practice.  
 
15) In relation to obtaining phone 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 43 

SPA SCRUTINY 
REVIEW 
RECOMMENDATION 
(June 2014) 

RELATED HMICS   
RECOMMENDATION FROM AUDIT 
AND ASSURANCE REVIEW (March 
2015) 

RELATED POLICE SCOTLAND  
RECOMMENDATION / COMMENTS 
FROM REPORT TO SCOTTISH 
GOVERNMENT (March 2015) 

Scottish Institute for Policing 
Research (SIPR) 

non –statutory search, 
are also captured in the 
stop and search 
database. 
 

option to select consensual search should 
still be maintained until such time as a 
decision is taken over its continued use in 
Scotland. 
 
10) Police Scotland should review its 
business processes and governance 
arrangements for the development, testing 
and acceptance of its ICT systems. This 
should include the testing and acceptance 
of ICT changes and updates to existing 
force systems. 
 
11) Police Scotland should identify all 
opportunities to improve data validation on 
both the national stop and search 
database and personal data assistants 
(PDA) databases to maximise data 
integrity. 
 
17) Police Scotland should record seizures 
of alcohol and other age restricted 
products separately on the national stop 
and search database where there is no 
search of the individual. This should allow 
them to be counted and reported 
independently from stop and search 
activity. Police Scotland should also 
ensure that offences under alcohol by laws 
are not recorded as stop and search 
encounters. 

numbers from members of the public, 
there are some concerns here in terms 
of data protection and privacy. When 
members of the public are asked for 
their phone numbers for the dip 
sampling process, this needs to be 
stated by the police officer in question 
as the sole purpose for having that 
number. Police Scotland should also 
make a commitment to destroy these 
numbers once the dip sampling is 
completed for that month.  

 

 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

     NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 44 

 
 
 
 
 



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

    NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
 

45

 





ANNUAL REVIEW OF 
POLICING 2014/15
Improving policing for Scotland’s communities.



Laid before the Scottish Parliament by the Scottish Police Authority in
pursuance of Section 39 of the Police and Fire Reform  
(Scotland) Act 2012 (26 June 2015)

(SPA/2015/01)



 

1 
 

Contents 

 

1. Chair’s Foreword 

 

2 

2. Chief Constable’s Comments 

 

5 

3. Context and Framework  

 

7 

4. Assessment Summaries  

 

10 

 Strategic Priority 1 

 

10 

 Strategic Priority 2 

 

25 

 Strategic Priority 3 

 

32 

 Strategic Priority 4 

 

40 

5. Equality and Diversity 

 

50 

6. Looking Ahead 

 

53 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

2 
 

1. Chair’s Foreword 

This Annual Review captures the second year of the new policing arrangements in 

Scotland.  Over the past year issues which had their genesis in the early days of the 

new service have been the focus of much public attention, our assessment is that 

important and meaningful progress has been made on the road to long-lasting and 

far-reaching reform in 2014/15.  

 

This document demonstrates how the organisational drive and focus of Police 

Scotland and the SPA has maintained the high levels of service delivered to, and 

expected by, citizens and communities. The engine that has fuelled that drive and 

focus has been a very human one, and it is to the thousands of officers and staff that 

the credit for that performance should be primarily attributed. The people of Scotland 

have been kept safe. 

 

The year has not been without unique challenges. Major ‘once in a generation’ events 

such as the Commonwealth Games and the Ryder Cup, attracting worldwide 

attention, have factored heavily. International events and major incidents place 

considerable operational and logistical demands on the service.  These enormous 

events were delivered safely and securely and in a style that was appreciated by 

visitors and locals alike – the delivery of which was made much more straightforward 

with the advent of the single police service. 

 

That unquestionable success for Police Scotland was delivered alongside communities 

– and not at the expense of day to day services. Service delivery throughout our 

second year remained high, with crime rates remaining consistently low and the 

public continuing to respond positively to the service when they encountered it.  

 

Prevention, early intervention and partnership working has underpinned and 

progressed the reform journey. Much of the progress in this regard can be attributed 

to improvements in partnership working at all levels within policing. The opening of 

the flagship Scottish Crime Campus during 2014 showcases innovative new ways of 

working. One central location, housing specialist resources within multiple agencies 

and working together to tackle crime.   

 

We have seen partnership progress between the SPA and Police Scotland with the 

development of a Joint Agreement on Police Policy Engagement, and a tripartite 

collaboration between SPA Forensic Services, Police Scotland and the Crown Office 



 

3 
 

and Procurator Fiscal Service (COPFS) – improving outcomes for criminal justice 

throughout Scotland.  

 

Progress in Police Scotland’s engagement activity also continued to develop 

throughout 2014/15. Local policing plans have been informed by more 

representatives of local community views and Police Scotland has acknowledged and 

responded positively to the need for a renewed focus on ‘how’ Police Scotland carries 

out its work. This has had a positive impact on the way policing informs, 

communicates and engages with its partners and communities. 

 

Both the SPA and Police Scotland can and will do more to involve and reassure 

communities in the continuing pursuit of those benefits, and in their perceptions of 

those benefits. We have established some important principles in the last year to 

underpin that approach, and together we now need to engage more directly with the 

public more often. 

 

We have asked a lot of our people in the last year. Through our first comprehensive 

officer and staff survey, we have also now asked them how they feel about being 

part of this service. Those views will inform and shape the year ahead, will be taken 

seriously, and are vital to the continuous improvement of the service. 

 

Financially the challenges for policing continue.  Initial opportunities to rationalise 

and reduce duplication have been exploited and have contributed to Police Scotland 

and the SPA balancing a reducing budget for the second successive year, and making 

significant recurring savings towards the long-term savings target of £1.1 billion by 

2026. Reducing the running costs of policing has been matched by strategic 

investments for the future – in contact, command and control, in the i6 programme 

to integrate police information, and in modern, environmentally-friendly buildings like 

Dalmarnock. An approach only capable of being sustained through the advent of the 

single police service.  

 

The evidence to date shows that reform is protecting and improving local services in 

a time of financial challenge. It is creating more equal access to specialist support 

and national capacity, and strengthening connections between the police service and 

communities. Overall, the SPA assessment concludes that reform of policing is 

delivering the benefits intended across Scotland. This year we go further than that by 

concluding that there have been improvements to the effectiveness of policing and 



 

4 
 

benefits to communities that have only been possible as a result of being organised 

as a single service. 

 

Vic Emery OBE 

Chair, Scottish Police Authority 

  



 

5 
 

2.  Chief Constable’s Comments 

Looking back on our second year of operation, it has been a challenging year with much 

achieved. Our focus as a service is on keeping people safe. We have ensured the safety 

and security of world stage planned events such as the Commonwealth Games, Ryder 

Cup and the Referendum on Independence and responded to tragedies such as the loss 

of lives in Glasgow’s George Square just before Christmas.    

 

Officers and staff have stepped up to these challenges and have continued to provide a 

professional, effective service. Our service is underpinned by our Code of Ethics and the 

values that are embedded throughout our organisation, ensuring that all Police Scotland 

activities are governed by our values of integrity, fairness and respect. 

 

Not only have we dealt with major events and incidents, this year has also seen broader 

issues of concern emerge such as the raised threat from terrorism and the growth in 

cybercrime. By investing in our policing skills, such as the introduction of our National 

Child Abuse Investigation Unit and a new cybercrime hub in the East, we will continue to 

support local policing teams by providing a level of consistency and expertise nationally 

in our efforts to keep people safe. 

 

In addition to prevention and enforcement methods to tackle sexual crimes, we have 

also established a nationally coordinated strategy to tackle violence, deploying smarter 

techniques that focus on crime trends as well as deploying extra officers into 

communities at times and locations where we experience peak demand.  We continue to 

target crime gangs and individuals to disrupt the supply of drugs and new psychoactive 

substances with multiple national and local operations and initiatives taking place 

throughout the year. 

 

Through these pioneering approaches to prevention, our work with partners and our 

focus on effective enforcement we consistently see reductions in recorded crime in 

Scotland, now at a 40 year low. However, we cannot be complacent and there is still 

more to be done.  

 

Road safety remains a priority for us. Over the past year substantial work was 

undertaken to develop a road safety strategy and we worked with partners to introduce 

and publicise the new drink drive limit.  Significant progress was also made in our 

unfaltering efforts to disrupt Serious Organised Crime and substantial results were 

achieved, for example the amount of seizures under proceeds of crime powers. 

Alongside our operational policing priorities we have continued to transform our service, 



 

6 
 

delivering the benefits of a single policing service delivered across Scotland’s 

communities through more effective and streamlined approaches. Our financial 

challenges are significant; savings of more than £130 million have been achieved in our 

first two years of operation, with more to come.  The decisions we have to make, along 

with the Scottish Police Authority, on where to spend and where to save are difficult. 

However, through increased accountability and listening to our partners and 

communities, we have been able to protect the local services that are best placed to 

respond to local needs, supported by regional and national resources in line with 

demand. We are committed to building on this engagement to ensure that we meet the 

needs of our communities in the future. 

 

Through all of these changes and challenges we continue to be supported by the public, 

who see first-hand the efforts of officers every day. Satisfaction rates remain high.  

 

Our most recent public consultation survey was carried out in every multi-member ward 

in the country and saw an increase in public participation by more than 39%, with over 

43,000 people consulted.  The feedback on what concerns communities directly 

contributed to determining our priorities for 2015/16, as set out in our Annual Police 

Plan. We have set out our national operational priorities for year three of Police Scotland, 

building on what we have learned over the past two years and continuing to improve the 

safety and wellbeing of people, places and communities in Scotland. 

 

Sir Stephen House QPM 

 

Chief Constable 

 



 

7 
 

3. Context and Framework 

Our Vision 

To provide the people of Scotland with the very best police service possible and to strive 

for excellence in everything that we do. 

Our Mission 

To work with the Police Service of Scotland and with partners and communities to 

continuously improve the safety and well-being of the people of Scotland. 

Our Values 

The way we work with and support the Police Service of Scotland, our partners and 

communities will be guided by a culture that values Accountability, Integrity and 

Respect. 

The Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 states that the Scottish Police Authority 

(SPA) must prepare an annual report as soon as practicable after the end of each 

reporting year. 

This should set out an assessment of the Authority’s performance in carrying out its 

functions, an assessment of Police Scotland’s performance and how both are working 

towards achieving the objectives of the Strategic Police Plan. 

This document fulfils those commitments and has been presented to Scottish Ministers 

and laid in the Scottish Parliament. 

It is available to members of the public from the Scottish Police Authority’s website at: 

www.spa.police.uk 

A Gaelic language version will be made available following this publication.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic 
Police 

Priorities 

Strategic 
Police 
Plan 

Annual 
Police 
Plan 

SPA 
Business 

Plan 

Annual 
Review of 
Policing 

Quarterly 
Performance 

Reporting 

High Level Planning and Reporting Landscape 

http://www.spa.police.uk/


 

8 
 

The SPA Governance Framework  

The SPA Board is set up to maintain, support and promote policing while also keeping 

under review policing in Scotland and holding the Chief Constable to account. The 

committees which support the Board have a clear remit and the terms of reference for 

each can be found on the SPA website. 2014/15 has been a significant year with a 

number of notable achievements. 

Human Resources & Remuneration Committee  

This committee provides oversight and scrutiny of all human resource and remuneration 

matters relating to the SPA including those associated with development and training, 

equality and diversity and health, safety and resilience. 

During 2014/15 the committee has been in a position to approve a significant number of 

policies prioritising those most critical to enabling Police Scotland to progress their 

people & development strategy; initiated, advised and championed the design and 

launch of the employee survey;  reviewed and scrutinised a significant number of 

strategic organisational change proposals which have enabled Police Scotland to reform 

its service following the merger; provided strategic direction and guidance to Police 

Scotland scoping and development of an effective job harmonisation and modernisation 

project for civilian employees;  initiated and championed significant human resource 

reform within the people and development function of Police Scotland and jointly with 

the Finance & Investment Committee advised, scrutinised and progressed the voluntary 

redundancy/early retirement programme. 

Finance & Investment Committee 

This committee provides oversight and scrutiny of all financial matters relating to the 

SPA. 

During 2014/15 the committee agreed a set of financial processes and procedures which 

has enabled Police Scotland to progress business within the finance function; initiated 

and fostered the necessary shift in mind set in the approach to expenditure of capital 

budget which has led to significant improvement in project management of capital 

projects in year 2; maintained a scrutiny role over the i6 project; supported the 

rationalisation of surplus estates such as residential properties being no longer required 

and receipts reinvested into an investment programme and ensured value for money on 

procurement and investment proposals. 

 



 

9 
 

Complaints & Conduct Committee 

This committee has the delegated authority to consider and make decisions about 

complaints relating to allegations of misconduct against senior police officers in line with 

the Police Service of Scotland (Senior Officers) (Conduct) Regulations 2013, and any 

other regulations applicable from time to time. 

During 2014/15 the committee dealt with and closed out a significant amount of legacy 

issues and complaints; oversaw the implementation of a robust and effective complaints 

handling procedure through the independent audit by Police Investigations & Review 

Commissioner (PIRC) and has received positive and public feedback as a result; ensured 

a greater emphasis on local scrutiny of Police Scotland complaints handling and 

improved public access through the introduction of complaint handling procedure and 

guidance. 

Audit & Risk Committee 

This committee provides assurance on all audit and risk matters relating to the SPA.   

During 2014/15 the committee provided oversight on the effectiveness of assurance in 

relation to the strategic process of risk management across Police Scotland and the SPA; 

the audit activity including approval of the internal audit plan and oversight of action to 

address weaknesses identified; the audit of the Annual Report and Accounts and also 

discharged its responsibilities via in depth review of matters such as whistleblowing and 

crime recording. 

The SPA assurance map has facilitated a single view of risk and assurance across 

Scottish policing enabling the committee to assess if the scale of scrutiny and audit is 

targeted appropriately in line with risk. 

Independent scrutiny of both the SPA and policing is provided by organisations such as 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary Scotland (HMICS), Audit Scotland and PIRC.  

They support the SPA and Police Scotland throughout the year by undertaking a number 

of planned reviews, inspections and audits to ensure a continually improving and 

effective delivery of service.   

 

 

 

 

 



 

10 
 

4. Introduction to Assessment Summaries 

The Annual Review is focussed around the four Strategic Police Priorities which are set 

for policing by Scottish Government and these are underpinned by the SPA Strategic 

Objectives and the commitments made within the Police Scotland Annual Plan 2014/15. 

Under each of these priorities you will see: 

 What expectations there were of the SPA as published in the Strategic Police Plan 

in 2013 

 The SPA evidence and activity against those expectations 

 What priorities Police Scotland had identified in their 2014/15 Annual Police Plan 

 Examples of Police Scotland evidence and activity against those priorities and 

some of the specific commitments made under them, as reviewed by the SPA  

 An overall assessment by the SPA of progress against that priority.  

Strategic Priority 1  

Make communities safer and reduce harm by tackling and investigating crime and 

demonstrating pioneering approaches to prevention and collaboration at a national and 

local level. 

 

Approach Expected 

 

Actively support a decisive shift towards prevention by promoting evidence based 

practice and effective partnerships to make the most of collective resource, knowledge 

and expertise, especially around reducing violence and reoffending, substance misuse, 

promoting better outcomes for young people who offend and protecting children, young 

people and vulnerable adults. 

 

Strategic Objective 1.1 - Work in partnership to improve safety for the citizens of 

Scotland and reduce crime (supports national outcomes 4, 5, 6, 8 and 9). 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will provide appropriate support to the Police Service of Scotland in its 

delivery of services and promote innovative, evidence-based, preventative approaches to 

policing tailored to local needs. 

 

Strategic Objective 1.2 - Ensure that all communities, including the most vulnerable, 

have access to the police service and are given the support they need to feel safe 

(supports national outcomes 4, 5, 6, 8 and 9). 



 

11 
 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will hold the Chief Constable to account for the development and 

agreement, based on understanding local needs, of policing plans covering all 32 local 

authorities. It will also hold the Chief Constable to account for the effective 

implementation of these plans through local and national partnerships, and collaboration 

between the Police Service of Scotland and the public, private and third sectors. 

2014/15 SPA Activity 

In preparation for the development of the next Strategic Police Plan, the SPA has held a 

number of seminars, covering topics from Scotland’s changing population and 

demographic profile to effective strategies in preventative policing and youth justice to 

help inform the SPA members’ understanding of the challenges which surround policing 

and equip them with the knowledge to constructively review Police Scotland strategic 

direction. Maximising members’ knowledge and giving them access to innovative 

thinking, through this Development Programme, puts them in the best possible place to 

provide scrutiny of policing in Scotland, ensuring that the strategic direction will focus on 

the safety of citizens in Scotland. 

The SPA has taken the initiative in creating the Reform Collaboration Group with 

membership across the three emergency services in Scotland, meeting at both an 

executive director level and at a non-executive chair level.  Work in 2014/15 identified 

that there are many collaborative initiatives at a local level across the country such as 

the shared Police, Fire and Ambulance Service station at Tomintoul.   The SPA and Police 

Scotland remain committed, with partners, to collaborate at local and national level to 

deliver best value and improve outcomes across communities. 

By further developing formal and informal networks with local authority scrutiny 

committees and conveners and local community planning partners, the SPA has ensured 

that local priorities, views and concerns with regard to policing and partnerships are 

effectively communicated to the authority and inform its consideration of key issues. 

Three national ‘Partners in Scrutiny’ summits, jointly organised by the SPA and COSLA, 

were held through the year. 

The SPA has responsibility for a number of statutory obligations - one of which is the 

national Independent Custody Visiting Scheme (ICVS). The provision of this scheme 

ensures that detainees’ welfare rights are upheld at times when individuals are in a 

particularly vulnerable place.  This directly links to the requirement to ensure that 

Scotland remains OPCAT compliant (United Nations Optional Protocol to the Convention 

against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment). 



 

12 
 

The ICVS volunteers ensure that all appropriate processes and procedures have been 

adhered to, they report on the condition and treatment of detainees as well as the 

condition of the custody suite, medical rooms and cooking facilities. 

Encouragingly, of those detainees who opted to receive a visit1 whilst in custody during 

the past year, there were no significant issues regarding care and welfare raised, either 

by detainees or visitors. 

The full 2014/15 annual report can be accessed via the SPA website at: 

http://www.spa.police.uk/icvs/  

During 2014/15 the SPA Forensic Services successfully migrated a significant proportion 

of its scientific disciplines to the Scottish Crime Campus (SCC). With the investment 

provided by the Scottish Government, the SCC houses state of the art laboratory 

functions which enhance scientific capabilities to enable delivery on Strategic Police 

Priorities and those of our partners. The development of the laboratory functionality also 

provides improved crime scene to court coordination on the investigation of major 

crimes and forensic contribution in the prosecution of cases.   

Investment was also provided to Forensic Services by the Scottish Government to 

develop DNA24 (Globalfilertm) chemistry technology.  The increased sensitivity of DNA 24 

(Globalfilertm) technology enhances the system previously in place and looks at 24 areas 

of a person’s DNA rather than the 17 or 11 that make up a DNA profile. The introduction 

of DNA24 combined with the instrumentation and laboratories available in the Scottish 

Crime Campus has resulted in Scotland having one of the leading DNA facilities in 

Europe. 

Sexual offence cases are one of the best illustrations of how the technology can influence 

the outcome of a case, securing successful conviction of offenders through better quality 

samples or increasing the likelihood of obtaining results. The strength of the forensic 

evidence presented can influence the plea of the accused therefore resulting in victims 

not being required to go through the trauma of providing evidence in court.   

The SPA Forensic Services have contributed to seminars and conferences, bringing 

together the Forensic Science community throughout Europe and internationally, and 

presented on this exciting new technology advance.   

 

 

                                                           
1
 The detainees are randomly selected for a visit. As part of the ICV scheme it is not mandatory for detainees to 

accept a visit from the ICV volunteers. 

http://www.spa.police.uk/icvs/


 

13 
 

2014/15 Police Scotland Priorities and Activity 

Priority - Violence, Disorder and Antisocial Behaviour 

Despite a trend of falling violent crime, communities continue to identify violent crime 

and antisocial behaviour as considerable concerns to them. This is an ongoing priority for 

Police Scotland which supports their overall focus to keep people safe (see Chart 1). 

  

Working in partnership, Police Scotland has contributed to the reduction in violence and 

disorder, including alcohol related violence, through smarter deployment of resources, 

several prevention and enforcement initiatives and robust inspections of licensed 

premises.   

Police Scotland’s ongoing commitment to 

reducing violence, disorder and antisocial 

behaviour has progressed over the reporting 

period, as evidenced below. 

Commitment - Reduce violent crime, 

including alcohol-related violence  

The “Best Bar None” initiative enabled Police 

Scotland to work with partners within the 

licencing industry to address alcohol related 

crime, antisocial behaviour and violent crime in 

order to deliver positive outcomes for a ‘safer 

night time economy’. 

 

Best Bar None Scotland is run nationally by the Scottish Business Resilience Centre 

(SBRC) with a seconded police officer and run locally by a coordinator from either Police 

Scotland or the local authority.   

 

Supported by Police Scotland, the Scottish Fire & Rescue Service and the Scottish 

Government, the scheme focuses on safety and customer care. It gives each licensed 

venue the opportunity to prove it meets a standard of operation set in consultation with 

the Government and alcohol industry at a national level. 

 

It rewards safe and well managed licensed venues with the issue of a display plaque 

which can be used to promote the venue. The overall aim of the initiative is for partner 

agencies to work together with licensed premises to create a safer and more welcoming 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

2013/14 2014/15

CHART 1 - Group 1 Recorded 
Crimes  

Recorded Crimes
Detections



 

14 
 

city and town centre environment and assist in the Police Scotland objective of Keeping 

People Safe. Expected outcomes of this scheme include improved standards based on 

Licensing (Scotland) 2005 objectives, increased engagement from licensed premises in 

local community initiatives and innovative, forward thinking measures developed by 

licensed premises to ensure good practice on their premises over and above the 

standard assessment. 

 
There are currently 425 licensed premises in 27 Council areas across Scotland taking 

part in the scheme. 

Commitment - Reduce incidents of disorder 

A national Stop and Search Unit has been set up to ensure consistency of approach to 

stop and search as one policing tactic to tackle violent crime and antisocial behaviour. 

The specialist unit, part of the Licensing and Violence Reduction Division (LVRD), is 

responsible for promoting new measures put in place to monitor the use of stop and 

search and further improve the guidance for police officers. Setting up a national 

specialist unit will further focus on the provision of robust data and ensure consistency of 

briefings to officers across the country as well as providing a point of contact for many 

partners with whom Police Scotland works closely in order to keep people safe. 

Progress around the stop and search agenda has been significantly influenced by the SPA 

Scrutiny Review undertaken during 2013/14 (outlined in the 2013/14 Annual Review of 

Policing); the recommendations contained within the publication, in March 2015, of the 

Police Scotland update report to the Cabinet Secretary for Justice on Stop and Search; 

and Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary in Scotland’s (HMICS) Audit and 

Assurance Review of Stop and Search. Further improvement recommendations have 

been identified following the conclusion of the Fife Stop and Search Pilot, conducted 

between July 2014 and January 2015, and the subsequent evaluation by the Scottish 

Institute for Policing Research (SIPR). Police Scotland is now implementing a Stop and 

Search Improvement Plan for 2015/16 which incorporates the recommendations made 

by the SPA, HMICS, SIPR and Police Scotland itself.  

Commitment - Increase detection of violent crime offenders, including those 

who commit domestic abuse & hate crime 

A six-month pilot was run in Scotland for the Disclosure Scheme referred to as ‘Clare’s 

Law’ (after Clare Wood was murdered by her ex-boyfriend in Salford, Greater 

Manchester in 2009). The pilot was run in Ayrshire and in Aberdeen City from 25 



 

15 
 

November 2014 to coincide with International Day for the Elimination of Violence Against 

Women.  

 

At mid-way point (25 February 2015) 33 applications had been received, 22 which were 

made through the ‘Right to Ask’ pathway and 11 through the ‘Power to Tell’ pathway. In 

total, 6 disclosures were made. 

 

The decision whether a disclosure should be made or not is agreed by a Local Decision 

Making Forum (DMF). This DMF will comprise at least three members from the following 

groups;  Police, Social Work Services (Criminal Justice), Prison Service, Health, Housing, 

Education, Independent Domestic Abuse Advocate (IDAA), Women’s Support Service,  

Men’s Support Service, Victim’s Support Service, Perpetrator Programme. 

 

The DMF will consider the perpetrators previous convictions, intelligence held and any 

concerns which have been raised by previous partners as well as current behaviour.  If 

the DMF believes that a concern exists and the disclosure of information is necessary to 

protect the public then they can do so with or without consultation with the perpetrator. 

 

In short, the scheme allows people who feel they may be at risk of domestic abuse, to 

formally apply for a police check to be made on their partner to ascertain whether they 

have a history of domestic abuse.  

The disclosure scheme will be subject to evaluation, plans for which are already 

underway.  If the pilot is deemed successful then consideration will be given to its roll-

out nationally. 

 

The main aims of the evaluation are to describe the nature of applications received, the 

process of their response and to determine the perceived effectiveness of the scheme 

from the perspective of police officers and partner agencies. 

The findings from the evaluation will inform the structure and processes for a national 

Disclosure Scheme for Domestic Abuse Scotland (DSDAS) Scheme.   

 

More than 20% of all police operational time is spent dealing with domestic incidents.  

On average, a domestic incident is reported somewhere in Scotland every 9 minutes 

which means that there is an expectation that officers who attend these incidents have a 

clear understanding that domestic abuse is a high priority for them. 

 



 

16 
 

Police Scotland has continued to develop the scope of the Domestic Abuse Task Force 

(DATF) in tackling high risk domestic abuse perpetrators who present the greatest risk of 

harm to victims 

and their families. 

DATF is a proactive 

crime targeting 

team that operates 

nationally. It also 

encompasses 

emerging areas of 

criminality 

including honour-based violence, forced marriage, stalking and harassment. These 

crimes and the people who commit them are difficult to investigate given that in most 

cases there are no independent witnesses. Reliance is therefore placed upon sound 

investigative practices, good crime scene management, forensic awareness and sound 

interview techniques together with a full range of proactive and intelligence gathering 

measures and covert tactics (see Chart 2).  

 

A new process for the submission of information and intelligence by key (Domestic 

Abuse) partner agencies direct to the DATF Intelligence Cells has been developed and 

implemented.  Partner agency staff have received training on this process and 

completion of the necessary forms.  This process will be monitored over the first three 

months of the 2015/16 period. The monitoring period will be used to support and 

encourage engagement from partner agency staff and to monitor the quality of 

submissions. 

 

Priority - Road Safety & Road Crime 

Working in partnership, Police Scotland has conducted several initiatives to improve road 

user behaviour, including local and national prevention and enforcement operations, 

media campaigns, seasonal road safety educational events and also the enforcement of 

the new drink driving limit.  Police Scotland also continued to tackle antisocial use of 

roads through use of legislation and vehicle seizures. 

 

Commitment - Detect and deter road crime 

In 2014/15 Road Policing officers in the Dumfries and Galloway Divisional Road Policing 

Unit (DRPU) and Trunk Road Patrol Group (TRPG) have made a number of significant 

seizures of cash, illegal drugs and other contraband from vehicles which have been 

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

% of Recorded
Crimes Detected

CHART 2 - Group 1 Detection Rates 

2013/14

2014/15



 

17 
 

stopped on the A74/M74 Glasgow – Carlisle Road. A dedicated crime car operation was 

instigated working from Lockerbie crewed by road policing & divisional resources. 

 

This resource and other road policing units operating from Dumfries and Galloway 

Division have enjoyed a great deal of success with numerous vehicle stops resulting in 

seizures of illegal goods. Examples include: 

 £50,000 worth of cash seized from a driver under Proceeds of Crime legislation 

 £43,000 (4kgs) of cannabis seized following a vehicle search under Misuse of 

Drugs legislation 

 £64,000 (1kg) of heroin seized in similar circumstances 

 £10,000 worth of suspected counterfeit mobile phones seized from vehicle 

occupants. 

 

These examples resulting from routine vehicle stops, as opposed to specific intelligence, 

represent only a fraction of the work being undertaken by road policing officers in 

denying criminals the use of the strategic road network and illustrate how national and 

regional resources are supporting local policing. 

 

Commitment - Improve road user behaviour 

In 2014/15 Police Scotland undertook significant work, in conjunction with strategic 

partners, to implement the reduction in the drink drive limit planned by Scottish 

Government. This involved close liaison with the Home Office, Scottish Government, 

Crown Office and Procurator Fiscal Service (COPFS) and Intoximeter (providers of 

evidential breath testing equipment) to coordinate all the policy and practical aspects of 

this legislative change in time for its implementation. This change coincided with the 

Festive Drink/Drug Driving Campaign and the service supported the Scottish 

Government’s publicity & media campaigns both prior to and during the campaign. 

Although there is no specific evaluation planned yet, Transport Scotland will publish the 

collision data later in 20152.  However Police Scotland report that prior to the new drink 

/drive limit (April 2014 – November 2014) there was an average of 465.9 detections per 

month.  Since the new limit (December 2014 – March 2015) there has been an average 

of 361.8 per month.  This indicates a significant decrease in the number of detections 

since the new limit came into force (these figures include drug driving detections). 

 

                                                           
2
 The Reported Road Casualties 2014 publication due for release in Oct 2015 will only contain drink drive 

accident and casualty estimates up to end Dec 2013. Drink/drive information that relates to the new 
drink/drive limit introduced in Dec 2014 will not be published until 2016.  



 

18 
 

Priority - Protecting Vulnerable People  

Police Scotland’s focus is to keep people safe and this responsibility is even more 

pertinent when considering members of the public that are vulnerable and at risk of 

harm. 

 

Commitment - Establish a National Child Abuse Investigation Unit 

 

The National Child Abuse Investigation Unit (NCAIU) was established nationally on 30 

March 2015. Phase 1 of its implementation was completed in January 2015 with a ‘hub’ 

being established at Livingston and ‘spokes’ at Aberdeen and Inverness. Phase II, the 

Dalmarnock ‘spoke’ was completed at the end of March.  

 

As child abuse investigations become increasingly more complex, requiring highly trained 

investigators with a range of specialist skills, the NCAIU is delivering an enhanced 

response that supports local policing Public Protection Units by providing dedicated 

specialist investigative resources, including Senior Investigating Officers who will lead 

and/or provide assistance locally. 

 

It provides support to local divisions when undertaking complex child abuse 

investigations and investigating child death.  While, at an operational setting, the NCAIU 

has received very positive feedback from local divisions when it has either led or 

supported complex child abuse or neglect investigations, a formal evaluation of the 

NCAIU is being progressed in discussion with the Scottish Institute of Policing Research 

(SIPR) the terms of reference and timescale for this have yet to be agreed. 

 

Commitment - Develop a national strategy to tackle child sexual exploitation 

A Police Scotland national strategy to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) has been 

developed. All areas within Police Scotland’s Specialist Crime Division (SCD) Public 

Protection Units (PPU) have established multi-agency strategic working groups and/or 

external reference groups.   One of the key priorities of the Police Scotland Child 

Protection Strategic Group is CSE.  Representation on this group includes Crown Office 

and Procurator Fiscal Service (COPFS); Health; Social Work; the chair of the Child 

Protection Committee forum; Forensic Physician etc. In addition, Police Scotland is 

represented on the Ministerial Task Force and multi-agency National CSE Sub Group. 

Improved awareness-raising of Child Sexual Exploitation within Police Scotland has been 

a key priority for Specialist Crime Division (SCD) Public Protection with the objective of 



 

19 
 

improving primary prevention; early intervention and intelligence provision.   As a result 

of the under-reporting of this type of child abuse and due to it being in the early stages 

post implementation of the national strategy, it is too early to measure the resulting 

impact. 

 

To improve the response to CSE within Police Scotland, work has been carried out to 

develop and maintain effective collaborative partnerships.  There is now a NHS 

Healthcare and Forensic training sub-group that will consider Forensic Physicians (FP) 

training.  Police Scotland has representation on the group and the Forensic Steering 

Group can make recommendations regarding training requirements. 

   

By working alongside other business areas within Police Scotland, notably National 

Missing Persons Unit (NMPU) and Safer Communities, a clear CSE prevention strategy is 

being developed to encompass partnership working in the approach to children who are 

reported missing, online internet safety and reaching across all communities in terms of 

under reporting.  Although there are no specific measures in place to track the results, 

there is an HMICS review due to be published in June 2015 on the impact of the NMPU in 

Aberdeen City, A Division. 

 

Commitment - Conduct robust rape investigations while maintaining victim 

focus 

The increased scrutiny of rape investigations and the focus of both Specialist Crime 

Division (SCD) Public Protection Unit (PPU) and the Risk and Concern project have 

improved the response and outcomes for rape victims and improved the response and 

outcomes for children or adults at risk. It has also improved Police Scotland’s ability to 

respond to internal, 

multi-agency or external 

scrutiny when children 

or adults have been 

identified as being at 

significant risk of harm.  

During the reporting 

period, the total number 

of rapes recorded was up 5.3%.  The detection rate for rape was 73.7%, up 3.1% from 

2013/14. Police Scotland achieved 99.9% of Sexual Offence Liaison Officers (SOLO) 

deployment and first contact within 24 hours of reporting. 100% of undetected rapes 

were subject to a review (see Chart 3). 

0 500 1000 1500 2000

2014/15

2013/14

CHART 3 - Recorded Crimes and Detections of 
Rape in Scotland 

Recorded Crimes

Detections



 

20 
 

Work is also ongoing to develop a procedure to capture victim experience feedback at 

various points of the criminal justice process rather than just at the beginning as at 

present.  This should further inform and shape future service delivery in respect of 

various phases of the criminal justice process.  

 

Basic feedback in terms of the victim’s experience in respect of any forensic medical 

examination is now also captured, the findings of which are returned to the National 

Coordinating Network for Healthcare (National Network Board) and Forensic Medical 

Services via the Adult Sexual Assault Forensic Services Group. 

 
The introduction of reviews and audits in various areas of public protection have 

improved effectiveness, improved investigative qualities and improved outcomes. 

 

Priority - Serious Organised Crime 

Serious Organised Crime (SOC) has a significant cost both socially and financially to 

Scotland’s communities; therefore tackling it remains a priority within Scottish policing. 

All of the commitments set in the Police Scotland 2014/15 Annual Police Plan are 

ongoing activities that are having a significant impact in the effort against SOC. 

 

Police Scotland has disrupted SOC activities and reduced their capability to cause harm 

through significant use of Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) legislation, greater use of 

financial intelligence and by depriving groups of the illegal use of legitimate enterprises. 

 

To build a true picture of organised crime Police Scotland has worked with partners, 

including through the Scottish Multi-agency Strategic Assessment, and developed 

innovative methods of gathering intelligence from the public.  It has continued to tackle 

the supply of drugs, in particular the emergence of new psychoactive substances through 

several initiatives and enforcement operations at a local and national level. 

 

Commitment - Enhance, with our partners, our tactics to disrupt organised 

crime groups through proceeds of crime legislation and to deprive them of 

access to legitimate enterprises 

Police Scotland identified a total of £119,027,236 for seizure under POCA in the 2014/15 

reporting period, which exceeded the target of £108 million (10.2% above target).  

 



 

21 
 

In terms of Legitimate Enterprise, through the application of intervention tactics, Serious 

Organised Crime Groups (SOCG’s) were 

deprived of access to legitimate enterprise 

totalling £93,981,514 – this exceeded the 

target of £71 million (32.4% above target) 

(see Chart 4). 

 

Work relating to POCA and Legitimate 

Enterprise is now mainstream activity across 

all local policing areas and is regularly 

reported through national and regional SOC 

boards. 

 

Over the last year the Scottish Multi-agency 

Response Team (SMART) has been meeting 

on a quarterly basis to discuss all aspects of best practice in financial investigation which 

relates to POCA. This includes operational strategies and legislative change via the 

Scottish Government who are also a partner agency on the SMART group.  At a local 

level, the SMART ethos is used in the operational environment to exploit all avenues of 

investigation. 

  

Partnership working is a key feature of the Scottish Crime Campus with a number of 

organisations now having staff embedded at the facility, for example: Scottish 

Ambulance Service; Ministry of Defence; Security Industry Authority; Scottish Fire and 

Rescue Service; Scottish Environment Protection Agency; Home Office Immigration and 

Enforcement. 

  

Commitment - Continue to build a true picture of organised crime groups, 

members and activities and to use operational activity to reduce their capability 

to cause harm 

 

From December 2014 a three month pilot scheme was launched to tackle Serious 

Organised Crime in Lanarkshire.  A Trading Standards Officer was attached to the 

Lanarkshire Division. A wide range of activities were carried out including: joint planning 

of exercises; sharing of intelligence; and educational inputs delivered to police officers.  

 

Almost £70,000 of counterfeit goods was seized during the course of the attachment as 

well as approximately £100,000 of illicitly obtained music. The pilot resulted in several 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

POCA Seizures Legitimate
Enterprise

£
  m

ill
io

n
s 

CHART 4 - Organised Crime  - 
Financial Deprivation 

Target Value Value Achieved



 

22 
 

recommendations being made for the consideration of senior management within both 

organisations in order to benefit future joint activity against SOC. 

 

Specific highlights of the attachment include: 

 A £17,798 recovery of counterfeit goods from a local SOCG connected business 

searched utilising Trading Standard’s own powers of entry 

 Involvement in a nationally run Police Scotland operation resulting in the recovery 

of counterfeit football tops to the value of £29,000 

 Joint visits to licensed metal dealers (along with other partner agencies) and 

carrying out weights and measures checks on their equipment. This combined 

partnership action resulted in a drop in metal theft related crimes of 72% when 

compared with the month preceding the operation 

 A counterfeit operation within a residential premise with the British Phonographic 

Industry (BPI) resulting in a significant recovery of controlled substances and 

hard drives containing counterfeit music tracks. Work is still ongoing to analyse 

the items seized however at present the recovery has been valued as being in the 

region of £100,000 in terms of loss to industry 

 A recovery of 118 grams of heroin, 57 grams of cocaine, 3.7 grams of ketamine 

and 37 ecstasy tablets following a counterfeit warrant search of a residential 

property. A further 1.9kilos of brown powder, believed to be a mixing agent, was 

also recovered. 

 

As a multi-agency initiative there will be partner consultation across the other local 

authority areas before a decision will be made on implementing this nationally. 

 

Priority – Serving all our Communities 

 

Engaging with and serving communities is a vital component in delivering Police 

Scotland’s overall purpose to improve safety and wellbeing for all. 

 

Over the last year, Police Scotland has run a substantial number of prevention and 

partnership working initiatives to deliver on this purpose and prevent a range of crime 

types, described below, with particular focus on intervention and diversion tactics to 

steer young people away from destructive paths.  

 

Police Scotland has also continued to tackle a range of hate crimes through awareness-

raising, educational and community engagement projects. 

  



 

23 
 

Police Scotland has worked with partners, including a key Scottish Government 

campaign, to tackle doorstep crime. Further, Police Scotland has developed the guidance 

and support to officers dealing with the challenge of mental health incidents within 

communities. 

 

In June 2014 Police Scotland brought forward an update report to the SPA Board on the 

range of, and approaches to, partnership working.  It was noted that partnership with a 

variety of groups and organisations is acknowledged as the primary means by which 

Police Scotland will develop and deliver effective community engagement. 

 

Commitment - Prevention & partnership working 

 

Safer Virtual Communities Delivery Group (SVCDG) was established to work in 

partnership to improve the safety and wellbeing of people, places and communities in 

Scotland within the online environment. 

 

Safer Communities are working with Get Safe Online with a view to delivering ‘off the 

shelf’ products that campus / community officers can deliver providing a consistent 

corporate message. 

 

An information day was held at the Scottish Police College on the 2 February 2015 where 

45 officers from local Safer Community / Community Police Teams across Scotland met 

to discuss current community engagement and the vision of the SVCDG. The meeting 

was also aimed at creating a network of ‘web constables’ who could deliver a consistent 

corporate prevention message nationally. 

A Cyber Keep Safe Event took place on 20 & 21 February at Braehead Shopping Centre, 

Glasgow. This provided the public with access to cyber ‘experts’ from Kaspersky, Royal 

Bank of Scotland (RBS), Respect Me, Experian and Crimestoppers to discuss a range of 

topics including parental controls on devices and general prevention advice. Over the 

two day period 50,000 shoppers had access to the event, with 5,000 visiting the stands. 

In addition, over 80 school children attended presentations on how to keep safe online 

and well over 200,000 people viewed the social media messages that were being sent 

before, during and after the event. 

 

Including home security, party safe, online safe, property safe, identity safety and 

substance abuse, a student safety campaign was launched on 25 September 2014 by the 

then Cabinet Secretary for Justice, Kenny MacAskill and an Inspector from Police 

Scotland’s Safer Communities Department. It was run alongside various policing 



 

24 
 

operations and initiatives throughout the country to help keep both new and returning 

students safe.  The marketing campaign ran for four weeks and highlighted the key 

messages in a booklet which is available in paper form and also downloadable online. 

The campaign messages were delivered on numerous forums including, several videos 

posted on YouTube,  140 A4 campaign promotional vinyl’s displayed in student bars 

across Scotland and 1,280,973 people were reached through social media. Partners 

involved in the campaign included Young Scot, Glasgow Taxis, G1 Group, Stagecoach, 

Scottish Universities, National Union of Students and Choices for Life.  

 

The Young Offenders Institute (YOI) at Polmont is running an initiative to break the cycle 

of reoffending.  Police located within the institution have established a Community Safety 

Unit comprising three staff, headed by a first line manager.  A police officer has been the 

‘campus cop’ for Polmont, working with key public and third sector partnerships 

established in Polmont including Scottish Prison Service (SPS), Education, Health, 

Housing, Scottish Fire & Rescue Service and Social Work. 

 

The officer participates and influences interventions and case management outcomes for 

inmates and provides a link back into 14 local policing divisions. A critical element of this 

approach is the engagement with offenders within the prison estate to change offending 

behaviour and, through support and education, promote positive reintegration into the 

community, thereby reducing demand on police and partner services. The success of the 

project has led to plans to appoint a second officer seeking to bring a unique policing 

perspective and contribution to the further development of an ongoing programme to 

challenge offending behaviour and influence attitudinal change. HMYOI Polmont provides 

the greatest opportunity to work with the country’s most prolific young offenders in a 

single establishment.  

 

The national Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) works with key partners to develop and 

implement effective ways of tackling and preventing violence. The VRU continues to 

pioneer in its working with various communities across the country, for example the 

Communities in Motion (ACIM) project has brought together five primary schools from 

the east end of Glasgow to engage with the young people, the parents, the teachers and 

the wider community, working with the Police, Health, Education Local and National 

Government to help improve the life chances of the children moving forward. 

In partnership with Education Scotland and the Scottish Government the VRU has 

provided their Bystander initiative to over 50 high schools reaching approximately 

50,000 pupils addressing areas such as bullying, cyber bulling, domestic violence and 

masculinity. 



 

25 
 

Overall SPA Assessment 

 

Police Scotland has successfully continued to develop its relationships with local 

authorities, partners and local communities in general.  This has led to a number of 

initiatives only a few of which have been included as examples.  These initiatives, such 

as Clare’s Law where police checks can be made on potentially abusive partners or the 

national strategy to tackle child sexual exploitation through awareness-raising with a 

particular focus on prevention and early intervention, are having a positive impact on 

making communities safer and reducing harm. 

 

The SPA and Police Scotland will continue the commitment to build on these initiatives 

and alliances into the next financial year and the SPA will provide the necessary 

oversight to ensure current partnerships are positively impacting on outcomes and that 

new partnerships are being developed. 

New approaches to prevention and collaboration are continuing to develop and producing 

positives results all of which underpin the delivery against this strategic priority. 

 

Strategic Priority 2  
 
Strengthen Scotland’s reputation as a successful and safe country by demonstrating 

excellence in effectively planning for and responding to major events and threats. 

 

Approach Expected 

Work across national, international and organisational boundaries to ensure the 

Commonwealth Games and other important events are safe and secure; contribute 

effectively to multi agency arrangements to deal with emergencies; and minimise threats 

to our communities arising from extremism and serious organised crime. 

Strategic Objective 2.1 - Enhance Scotland’s global reputation as a safe place 

(supports national outcomes 1, 9 and 11). 

Expectations of SPA  

The Authority will support the Police Service of Scotland in its work to prevent the most 

serious types of crimes from happening in Scotland and ensure that the Police Service of 

Scotland is adequately equipped to deal with major events, emergencies and threats 

effectively. Where appropriate, this experience and best practice will be shared with 

others. 



 

26 
 

Strategic Objective 2.2 - Ensure that there is equitable access to services across all of 

Scotland’s communities where and when needed (supports national outcomes 1, 9 and 

11). 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will scrutinise the implementation of local police plans and the use of 

specialist support services. 

 

2014/15 SPA Activity 

 

2014/15 was a test of the new service’s capacity and capability to deliver safe, secure 

and peaceful major events like the Commonwealth Games, while also securing a wider 

legacy for both communities and public services. 

While the SPA had no formal oversight role on the CG security budget, the SPA closely 

monitored the wider financial and operational impact of major events to ensure that 

service to the communities of Scotland was not disrupted and that the policing of the 

events was delivered within budget (see more on the Commonwealth Games within 

Police Scotland activity below). 

During 2014/15 the Forensic Services Scene Examination West launched an ICT solution 

for the requesting of scene examinations. The solution is based upon new functionality. 

The benefits of this will improve the effectiveness and national visibility of the scene 

requests and improve the accuracy of the recorded response times for scene attendance. 

Furthermore the Scene Request Management Module provides the ability to align 

requests with national and local policing priorities resulting in more effective scene 

attendance process. 

This ICT solution is designed for national use and is expected to be adopted in all areas. 

The National Forensic Science Gateway (NFSG) is a tri-partnership agreement between 

Forensic Services, Police Scotland and Crown Office and Procurator Fiscals Service 

(COPFS).  In April 2014 the partner agencies co-located to the Scottish Crime Campus 

(SCC).  The work of the NFSG provides a collaborative platform to commission forensic 

examinations that are salient, relevant and which will add value to a case. The requests 

are underpinned by a Memorandum of Understanding between the three partners that 

outlines the requirements of each partner to ensure the appropriate provision of Forensic 

Services and to outline the responsibilities of each partner in the effective utilisation of 

these services within the criminal justice process in Scotland.  The principles of the NFSG 



 

27 
 

is to ensure effective utilisation / demand of Forensic Services whilst meeting priorities of 

partners, this will continue to develop as gateway processes are embedded. 

The following chart (chart 5) outlines Forensic Services demand for 2014/15 compared 

to the previous year.  During this financial year there was significant focus on Drugs, 

Sexual Offences and DNA.   

2014/15 Police Scotland Priorities and Activity 

Priority – Major Events and Resilience 

The 2014/15 Annual Police Plan set three commitments relating to Police Scotland’s 

preparedness for major events, particularly the Commonwealth Games and Ryder Cup. 

This unprecedented year also included the Independence Referendum and several annual 

events such as T in the Park, the Wickerman Festival and the Edinburgh Hogmanay 

celebrations. The safe and enjoyable experience of thousands of attendees is testament 

to the successful contribution of Police Scotland and other key partners.  

 

As it takes forward the learning from the major events, Police Scotland can reflect upon 

a very successful year, as is evidenced below. 

 

Commitment - Delivering a safe and secure Commonwealth Games 

 

The Commonwealth Games 2014 (G2014) was an extremely challenging event for Police 

Scotland, but one that was successfully and professionally delivered by police officers 

and staff. G2014 was always going to be a significant test for the new service, with 

transitional ICT systems, policies and procedures, all played out under intense scrutiny. 

 

The safety & security operation included a workforce of around 15,000 people, with 

approximately 100,000 police deployments during the Games.  Working with colleagues 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

CHART 5 - Total Case Demand  
2013-14 v 2014-15 

2014-15

2013-14



 

28 
 

from British Transport Police, other UK police services, the military, the Scottish Prison 

Service and the private sector, Police Scotland ensured the “best games ever” took place 

in a safe and secure environment. There were no operational policing incidents or issues 

that affected the running of the Games and the public response to the operation and the 

attitude of Police Scotland officers has been extremely positive.  

 

It is important to recognise that the success of the Games relied on the contributions of 

a range of partners, and the depth and quality of that partnership work was one of the 

defining features of the operation.  

 

The focus of Police Scotland following the Games was to realise the legacy benefits. This 

includes the roll out of Police Scotland Young Volunteers who provided over 3,000 hours 

to the Games operation and to ensure that the debriefing process used during the 

Games contributed to future operational practice. To that end, the Chief Constable has 

appointed Deputy Chief Constable Livingstone as the strategic lead for this legacy 

learning.  Recommendations have been identified to ensure progress is made so that 

Police Scotland develops not only as a service but with key partner agencies. The Legacy 

Learning Group will consider learning from other relevant events and incidents to ensure 

all appropriate learning is considered to benefit Police Scotland. 

 

This will enhance the training, planning and delivery of future major events or critical 

incidents whether pre planned or spontaneous. Police Scotland will also benefit from the 

legacy of its experience during G2014 to ensure continued improvement and a high level 

of service provided to the people of Scotland. 

 

Commitment - Ensuring a high state of preparedness for unforeseen and 

planned major events 

The Football Coordination Unit for Scotland (FoCUS) has been introduced as a national 

intelligence coordination function to tackle football related disorder and crime. FoCUS 

has deployed officers to matches across all divisions of Police Scotland providing equity 

of access to specialist support for event commanders and operational officers. The 

evidence gathering team provides tactical commanders with an alternative to immediate 

action whilst securing high quality evidence to support prosecutions. FoCUS staff provide 

support and coordinate criminal enquiries relating to football, including both match-

related and online enquiries. This relieves territorial divisions of the burden of 

retrospective enquiries which often require further enquiry in other parts of the country.  

 



 

29 
 

The FoCUS Intelligence Cell is now a regular feature on match days allowing for live time 

intelligence relating to matches across the country to be coordinated and disseminated 

by FoCUS Intelligence. Direct contacts have been established within the east, west and 

north policing areas3. This flexibility has been carried forward in FoCUS intelligence daily 

business, where all football intelligence submitted via the Scottish intelligence Database 

(SID) is evaluated and progressed with results of any actionable intelligence updated 

within the database. 

 

Priority - Counter Terrorism 

The latter part of 2014 and the early months of 2015 have borne witness to a number of 

terrorist related incidents in Australia, New York, France and Belgium which has resulted 

in an increased threat towards certain communities as well as police officers and staff. In 

light of this increased threat, a series of officer and staff safety briefings were 

undertaken in order to ensure that all officers and members of police staff remain aware 

of the heightened threat profile and that all proportionate measures are undertaken to 

keep them safe. Information and guidance on the use of social media, hostile 

reconnaissance and stop and search powers have been included within the awareness / 

information briefings. 

 

The increased and sustained threat has also resulted in a review of force deployment 

profiles and methodology in order to ensure that the policing response is effective, 

efficient and above all proportionate.  To that end, assessments of command and control 

structures, communication strategies – both internal & external, partnership 

engagement, impact upon business as usual response capability and staff welfare have 

been undertaken. 

 

While this work remains ongoing, it should be noted that a number of significant 

enhancements have already been made and documented including development of an 

enhanced CT Command & Control Protocol, development of Post Incident Procedures for 

military engagement in a CT incident, enhanced operational debriefing capability and an 

initial assessment of specialist resource capability and capacity in the event of an 

increase in overall threat to ‘Critical’.  

 

                                                           
3 North - Aberdeen City, Aberdeenshire and Moray, Perth and Kinross Angus and Dundee, Highlands and 
Islands 
East - Forth Valley, Edinburgh, The Lothians and Scottish Borders, Fife 
West - Greater Glasgow, Ayrshire, Lanarkshire, Argyll and West Dunbartonshire, Renfrewshire and 
Inverclyde, Dumfries and Galloway 



 

30 
 

The workstreams borne out of these initial reports are significant and a number remain 

ongoing. As such it is anticipated that a more informed assessment of outcomes and 

impact will not be available until the middle of the second quarter of 2015/16. 

Commitment - Reduce and mitigate the risk of terrorism to Scotland 

On Thursday 12 February 2015 the CT and Security Bill received Royal Ascent and 

enacted into Parliament becoming the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015. The Act 

makes provisions in relation to: 

 Terrorism 

 Retention of communications data 

 Information 

 Authority to carry4 and security in relation to air, sea and rail transport, and 

 Reviews by the Special Immigration Appeals Commission against refusals to issue 

certificates of naturalisation. 

 
During the course of its transition through both the House of Commons and the House of 

Lords, Police Scotland provided feedback on a number of key sections contained within 

the legislation including Temporary Seizure of Travel Documents, Temporary Exclusion 

orders and Terrorism Prevention and Investigation Measures (TPIM). 

 

The threat to the UK emanating from the ongoing conflict in Syria remains the highest 

priority for security services and law enforcement agencies.  The recent incidents have 

highlighted the risk not just from persons travelling to Syria, but from those radicalised 

within their country of residence.  In support of the Syria related actions contained 

within the national and local Prevent Implementation Plans and the Scottish Syria 

Strategy, the Prevent Delivery Unit (PDU) has continued to deliver positive safeguarding 

messages to a wide variety of key organisations and communities in order to reduce the 

risk of people either travelling to conflict zones, or engaging in extremist activity in 

Scotland.  Key pieces of work in relation to Syria during the reporting period include: 

 

 Engagement with individuals/families connected to ongoing CT Investigations.  

The PDU continues to deploy Contact Officers where appropriate and focus on 

engagement with family members/associates in order to recognise vulnerability at 

an early stage. 

                                                           
4 The Secretary of State may make one or more schemes requiring a person (a “carrier”) to seek authority 

from the Secretary of State to carry persons on aircraft, ships or trains which are arriving or leaving the United 

Kingdom. A scheme made under this section is called an “authority-to-carry scheme”.  
 



 

31 
 

 Engagement with Syria returnees.  All persons travelling to/from Syria are 

assessed and where appropriate, referred to the PDU for engagement.  The focus 

is on safeguarding vulnerability to avoid any further travel to the conflict zone for 

any purpose, capture any practical experiences of those who have travelled to 

Syria to better inform Prevent safeguarding messages and signpost individuals to 

relevant partner agencies where appropriate. 

 

All policing divisions have a local Prevent implementation plan in place, which contains 

details of Prevent activity being undertaken by Police Scotland and other key partners at 

a local level.  The Prevent Delivery Unit (PDU) has engaged with all divisional Counter 

Terrorism (CT) leads to provide guidance on the type of local activity which feeds into 

strategic Prevent delivery across Scotland, advice on the type of partners that can 

support Prevent delivery at a local Counter Terrorism Strategy (CONTEST) Group level, 

and on the availability of Prevent funding for local activity. 

Engagement will continue between the PDU and divisions in order to ensure the impact 

of the CT Act is properly recorded within the local Prevent plan as activity being 

undertaken during the year ahead. 

Overall SPA Assessment 

 
There is little doubt that the 2014/15 year was very significant for Scottish policing with 

the nations of the commonwealth watching and taking part in the high profile games and 

international participation and attendance at the Ryder Cup.  Police Scotland 

demonstrated both the capacity and capability to deliver these and other events safely 

and securely while maintaining day to day services nationally and locally. 

 

It was a considerable amount of planning and preparation that allowed these events to 

be staged with no detrimental impact on operational policing and Police Scotland should 

be commended for this achievement so early in the formation of the single service. 

 

This was played out in a year that saw the threat level heightened activating a 

proportionate Police Scotland response which included reviews and impacts on 

deployment methods and staff and officer awareness briefings. 

   

 

 

 

 

 



 

32 
 

Strategic Priority 3  

 

Provide an efficient, effective service focused on protecting frontline services, delivering 

the benefits of police reform and promoting continuous improvement. 

 

Approach Expected 

Deliver the three benefits of reform and work with others to ensure that the criminal 

justice system is fair and accessible, using science, technology and innovation to support 

the delivery of an effective and efficient police service. 

Strategic Objective 3.1 - Deliver the benefits of reform effectively and efficiently 

(supports national outcomes 14 and 16). 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will develop and implement a performance framework to enable the 

monitoring and delivery of the Strategic and Annual Police Plans and Authority Business 

Plan with the Chief Constable. This will include the adoption of evidence-based 

standardised approaches to service delivery and the sharing of best practice. 

 

2014/15 SPA Activity 

During the year the SPA continued to review its existing performance management 

framework, used to assess and review delivery of service against the policing priorities 

laid out in the 2014/15 Annual Police Plan. A new framework was agreed for 2015/16 

that includes the SPA and Police Scotland performance reporting in a single agreed 

format, aligned to the strategic and annual police plans. It will ensure provision of good 

quality, stakeholder focused information from both organisations for effective public 

accountability. 

The SPA Members and officers worked closely with Public Sector Improvement 

Framework (PSIF) colleagues to deliver the first self-assessment of the SPA.  This 

delivered clear areas for improvement that were drawn up into an action plan that will 

build the SPA and enable it to deliver its statutory obligations and actively promote 

policing.  The process that was undertaken will be part of the strategic framework of the 

SPA and will be refreshed every two years to ensure a rolling programme of continuous 

improvement is implemented. 

The themes of the SPA self-evaluation framework included:  

 Leadership and Governance 



 

33 
 

 Strategic Direction and Planning 

 People, Resources and Assets 

 Partnerships and Stakeholders 

 Key Processes 

 Performance Results 

 Key Outcomes 

 Continuous Improvement. 

These themes also reflect the best value guidance themes for public bodies. 

The SPA also approved and published its first Business Plan in October 2014.  This has 

established a clear focus for the executive and officers to build the capacity and 

capability to support, advise, inform and enable the SPA Members in carrying out their 

role as individuals, as committee Members and as a Board.   

The Business Plan covers the period up to the end of financial year 2015/16 bringing the 

SPA business planning cycle in line with the next three year planning and budgeting 

cycle, which includes the review of the Strategic Police Plan, Police Scotland Corporate 

Strategy and next Scottish Government spending review.  

Through the Memorandum of Understanding mentioned under Strategic priority 2, 

Forensic Services have started work to create a scoring mechanism to evaluate the 

effectiveness of Forensic Science. As this mechanism evolves it will be shared with 

Criminal Justice Partners and adjusted accordingly after evaluation and discussion. 

As well as the enhanced Forensic Services DNA24 (Globalfilertm) chemistry technology 

mentioned under Strategic Priority 3, additional investment that enhances forensic 

capabilities has included Multi Media Technology which supports investigation of crimes 

as well as evidence for presentation in court.  Investment has also provided a state of 

the art Firearms Range housed within the Scottish Crime Campus and a Scanning 

Electron Microscope (SEM) which examines small particles of firearms residue.  These 

additional technologies / equipment add value to investigations as well as providing 

intelligence to our partners.  

2014/15 Police Scotland Priorities and Activity 

Priority – The Benefits of Reform 

During the second year of the new service, Police Scotland continued to demonstrate the 

benefits of reform, with a more effective and streamlined service that has the ability to 

better meet the needs of local communities. This was developed through increased 



 

34 
 

opportunities for engagement with, and a greater level of scrutiny by, communities who 

can monitor the delivery of policing in their local area.   

Police Scotland also continues to deliver more targeted local policing with greater access 

to nationally shared resources. 

Commitment - More sustainable service providing value for money 

Police Scotland has significantly rationalised its Contact, Command & Control (C3) 

structure and improved responses to 999 and 101 calls; including introducing a system 

to better assess vulnerability of members of the public at first contact. Police Scotland 

integrated the command and control of officers nationally. Following the national rollout 

of the command and control IT system Storm Unity (due to be completed within 

2015/16), Police Scotland will be able to record response times in all local policing 

divisions. 

 

In order to improve efficiency and effectiveness, Police Scotland has developed a plan to 

operate fewer, larger, C3 sites and for retained sites to be fully integrated so as to 

perform as a single operational model and ICT platform.  

 

The remodelling of the C3 Division progressed in stages, allowing consultation to take 

place regarding the detail of the people aspects of each proposed stage and ensuring 

the practical realisation of the key phases of the strategic direction. 

 

This year saw significant progress with key milestones achieved.  This included local 

policing in the Dumfries and Galloway, Fife, and Forth Valley areas being provided with 

the support of larger and more resilient Area Control Rooms (ACRs) and Service Centres 

(SCs), thereby allowing the closure of the Dumfries, Stirling, and Glenrothes ACRs and 

SCs, and a similar facility located at Pitt Street, Glasgow.  The project will continue to 

provide evidence of the medium and long term benefits of reform as it progresses. 

 

Supporting this organisational change was the creation of a telephony platform covering 

the east and west of the country with an associated Customer Relationship Management 

tool (CRM) and also the implementation of STORM, a single command and control suite 

of applications. 

 

Detailed planning has now started on the remodelling of the north area of the C3 

Division and the project remains on track to achieve the design objectives and 

improvement opportunities detailed within the C3 Strategic Direction document. 

 



 

35 
 

Cashable efficiencies from these restructures are contained within the 2014/15 year end 

financial report.  

Police Scotland has also successfully shared resources and locations of services with key 

partners, including facilities in Gartcosh, Fort William and Tomintoul during the reporting 

period. A further example of co-location is provided by the relocation of Girvan Police 

Office to Girvan Hospital. This provides a more flexible facility in a public building 

alongside NHS and Scottish Ambulance Service colleagues. Through the shared use of 

interview facilities, waiting areas etc, this allows opportunities for more effective 

collaborative local public service to be provided by the three organisations. 

  

Commitment - Improved access to and quality of services across Scotland 

Police Scotland is in the process of delivering the i6 Programme which will provide 

common, national policing processes; supported by a single, modern, national, 

integrated ICT solution.  i6 is a strategic business change and ICT priority for Police 

Scotland, and is an enabler for other major elements of continuously improving Police 

Scotland; including delivery of wider criminal justice reform and sustainable operational 

benefits and efficiency savings. 

 

Significant progress was made in the delivery of the i6 Programme during the 2014/15 

period. Following lengthy negotiations with the supplier Accenture, the SPA approved 

and signed off a Contract Variation Agreement (CVA), which protected the delivery of the 

business requirements across the technology solution. 

 

A series of milestones have since been reached, including completion of the detailed 

design of the solution in September. This brought to an end one of the most complex 

and significant periods of the programme, which will act as a baseline and blueprint for 

all remaining phases. During that time the programme was subject to another planned 

independent Scottish Government Gateway Review, which provided a very favourable 

delivery confidence assessment of the programme, praising the robustness of Police 

Scotland's programme and supplier management. 

  

Following this design stage, Police Scotland created an implementation plan setting out 

the full range of activities through to national delivery and lifetime management. 

This plan sustains the initial target date of full national roll-out by September 2016 as 

set out in the CVA. 

 



 

36 
 

The core application has been built by Accenture and the software witnessed by Police 

Scotland. This provided authority to the supplier to commence a six month detailed 

product test phase, which began in January 2015 and will be followed by a rigorous user 

acceptance testing prior to the first go-live, which is planned in the Renfrewshire and 

Inverclyde Division for September 2015. 

 

Continuous improvement and opportunities to improve service delivery and partnership 

working are key programme objectives. Recent examples of that are the inclusion within 

i6 of a national road traffic collision management solution and ‘e-warrants’ functionality 

(designed in partnership with the Scottish Courts Services), both will be delivered as 

part of a future release of the solution; and the consolidation and decommissioning of 

legacy systems to release their annual revenue costs. 

 

Commitment - Better targeted local policing 

The tasking and coordinating function manages Operational Support Division (OSD) 

resources across all three police command areas, through a transparent request process. 

The default tasking deployments of specialist officers is determined based on threat, risk 

and harm as well as local issues, events and performance analysis. This ensures 

consistency across Police Scotland and that all requests are subject to a fair and 

equitable assessment process. 

 

Where an incident is ongoing and OSD resources are required, the Area Control Room 

(ACR) overseeing the incident is contacted in the first instance. ACR’s have the contact 

details of the on-call specialist resource and deploy the most appropriate resource, 

therefore providing support to the local divisions at times when specialist resources may 

not be available. 

  

Specialist Crime and Operational Support Divisions (OSD) are now well established 

affording a national overview of significant assets such as Major Investigation Teams 

(MIT), to smaller, more functional areas such as the Fugitive Unit.  These specialist 

divisions ease the burden on Local Policing resources.  Some examples of where 

specialist units provide support to local policing and divisional commanders include:  

 

 The Specialist Crime Division (SCD) - Major Crime has primacy for all homicide 

investigation and major crime enquiries providing Police Scotland with dedicated 

resources, including Home Office Large Major Enquiry System (HOLMES) and 

intelligence support providing an equitable, robust and resilient service delivery 

model, which recognises the diverse communities, geography and unpredictable 



 

37 
 

demand profile.  The aim being to provide access to specialist services nationwide 

as required, to prevent any detriment to the provision of local policing. 

 The MIT service delivery model has been designed to provide support to local 

policing commanders in the discharge of their statutory responsibilities and 

represent a compelling business model designed to deliver sustainable local 

policing, including performance management, mitigating the impact of major 

crime or other critical incidents by reducing abstraction, providing improved 

business continuity and service delivery to local communities. 

 

While the above gives some examples of the work being undertaken to deliver the 

benefits of reform, further and more detailed information will continue to be published on 

the SPA website at: http://www.spa.police.uk/ 

 

Priority – The Police Scotland Corporate Strategy 

As noted in the 2013/14 Annual Review of Policing the SPA and Police Scotland met their 

joint commitment to produce both a Corporate Strategy and underpinning financial plan 

at the end of the last financial year.   

Police Scotland has completed the first year of the delivery phase of the Corporate 

Strategy, with further activity continuing towards full completion in April 2016. The 

Corporate Strategy is built with a focus on people, technology, organisational support 

and finance and provides a strong base to support operational policing and delivery on 

Police Scotland’s focus to keep people safe. Delivery against these key documents has 

progressed throughout 2014/15 and some examples of the outcomes delivered are set 

out below. 

 

People - A review of the health & wellbeing service has been carried out in order to 

understand and improve the ways in which Police Scotland fulfils the needs of staff and 

officers. For example, Police Scotland records the number of available working days lost 

per year. Police officers lost 4.4% (4.3% in 13/14) and police staff lost 4.8% in 14/15 

(4.6% in 13/14).  

 

This period has also seen a move to a new occupational health provider and employee 

assistance programme. Responsibility for occupational health has transferred to Optima 

Health who is the largest independent provider of occupational health & wellbeing 

solutions in the UK.  A single provider with increased use of remote case management 

(telephone based) will help reduce abstractions, increase turnaround times and provide a 

more flexible approach over a wider area. 

http://www.spa.police.uk/


 

38 
 

 

A Police Scotland Leadership Strategy has been developed, the aim of which was to 

design and implement a strategy to develop leadership capacity and culture for all levels 

of staff and officers to deliver Police Scotland’s organisational goals. This strategy will 

form the basis for related objectives such as succession planning and talent 

management which will look at the ways in which Police Scotland can engage and 

nurture talent across the organisation. 

 

Technology – Police Scotland ICT completed a number of network improvements across 

all areas of the country through replacement and upgrade of existing infrastructure, 

resulting in a more resilient and fit for purpose solution. With this, an upgrade of the 

national network backbone has provided an increase in speed of connection and capacity 

between legacy force systems. 

 

In addition the migration of services from the SPA head office in Elphinstone House, 

Glasgow has resulted in a reduction in infrastructure costs and network complexity.  The 

network infrastructure to the new Police Scotland office in Dalmarnock, Glasgow, was 

installed on schedule to allow staff to be migrated from a number of locations including 

Pitt Street in Glasgow. This, accompanied with Contact, Command and Control (C3) work 

and the migration of national services and legacy network connections will allow Pitt 

Street to be decommissioned, resulting in financial savings and reduction of data 

centres. 

ICT also continued to identify opportunities where legacy applications can be 

decommissioned. A recent example of this was the launch of the National Firearms 

Application in October 2014 which replaced local legacy firearms systems. In addition to 

this, a National Citations Legal Documents system was successfully launched mid 

December 2014. The final division rollout will take place following completion of business 

user training. Significant efficiency savings were realised in line with this 

implementation.  Further decommissioning of applications will be seen upon the launch 

of i6 and the supporting i6 Data Access Project (iDAP) project.  iDAP will allow for the 

migration of data from the current (i6) systems to be searchable and interrogated.  

The anticipated indicative revenue Return on Investment (ROI) begins in 2015/16, with 

capital ROI in 2019/20. 

 

Organisational support - A new Risk Management Framework to ensure that the 

approach to risk management is proportionate, streamlined and accessible has been 

implemented. 



 

39 
 

 

A Procurement Strategy along with a supporting Procurement Manual which provides 

clear guidance for officers and staff on procurement requirements and routes has been 

published. As a result of the implementation of this strategy, savings are already being 

realised such as the provision and management of a scheme for the recovery, storage 

and disposal of vehicles and other items at a cost for three years of £570,411 delivering 

a total procurement saving of £94,692 over the life of the contract and a further contract 

to deliver dark fibre circuits for a period of three years at a cost of £296,184 delivering a 

procurement saving of £161,532 over the life of the contract. Savings continue to be 

reported to the SPA through the Finance & Investment Committee and the Business 

Change Working Group. 

A three year Police Scotland Communications and Engagement Strategy, to inform the 

SPA of Police Scotland’s intentions and allow internal and external evaluation of progress 

has been approved and an action plan is being developed. 

In line with Police Scotland's Corporate Strategy, the Communications and Engagement 

Strategy sets out a new model of external engagement and internal communications to 

support the development of effective internal engagement across Police Scotland. It 

reflects the principles established in the Police and Fire Reform (Scotland) Act 2012 

regarding the key role of communities and establishes guidance regarding future 

external engagement. The purpose of the strategy is to outline Police Scotland's 

approach to communications and engagement that will support the organisation’s focus 

on keeping people safe and its operational and policy objectives. The strategy seeks 

to further establish and grow public confidence in Police Scotland as a trusted public 

service organisation that works closely with communities and partners to keep people 

safe. 

 

Police Scotland is committed to providing a ‘citizen–focussed’ approach to policing in 

order to effectively reflect the needs and expectations of individuals and local 

communities in decision making and service delivery through local policing plans. The 

development of a Community Engagement Framework will complement the strategy 

and provide direction and guidance to officers and staff to allow them to deliver effective 

community engagement. 

 

Finance – a number of underpinning milestones have been achieved: 

 The planning for the implementation of a single payroll system for the organisation   



 

40 
 

 A contribution to the Leadership and Development course run to prepare budget 

holders with relevant skills 

 The Reform Budget Plan for 2015/16 prepared and submitted to Scottish 

Government 

 Becoming a key stakeholder in the Scottish Government pension project, this is now 

complete 

 The consolidation of sub-ledgers to streamline processing and enable the full 

development of associated policies and procedures. 

 

Overall SPA Assessment 

 
Year two of the new service has seen the completion or continuation of a number of 

underpinning activities which will take the service forward from the merger of eight 

police forces through transition and will result in a steady state operation for Scottish 

policing.  This is a journey which will continue into the third year of operation and in 

some cases beyond.  The aim is to achieve true reform and this will take time.  It is clear 

that significant steps have been taken on that journey and with the publication of the 

third Annual Police Plan in March this year Police Scotland continues to demonstrate their 

ambition for delivering against the strategic priorities which have been set. 

 

The benefits of reform will continue to be reported and published through the SPA 

performance framework and the SPA will continue to ensure that this is an evidence-

based approach to the delivery of these benefits. 

 

Strategic Priority 4 

Make communities stronger and improve wellbeing by increasing public confidence and 

reducing fear of crime, making the new Police Service of Scotland an exemplar of visible, 

ethical and responsive policing. 

 

Approach Expected 

 

Ensure that victims, witnesses and communities experience positive engagement with 

the police by providing inspirational leadership and embedding a culture, identity and 

values which provide a highly skilled and motivated workforce to deliver improved local 

services with the consent and involvement of communities. 

Strategic Objective 4.1 - Increase public confidence in the police service by 

understanding and responding to the particular needs of Scotland’s diverse communities 

(supports national outcomes 6, 7, 9, 11, 13 and 16). 



 

41 
 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will have clear understanding of policing issues and challenges from talking 

to communities, including communities of interest, listening to what they say about how 

their local policing plans are being implemented, how the Police Service of Scotland is 

performing, and by championing a culture where local police are open, visible and 

accessible. 

Strategic Objective 4.2 - Promote a culture of excellence (supports national outcomes 

6, 7, 9, 11, 13, 16). 

Expectations of SPA 

The Authority will promote this through the development of a culture of continuous 

improvement and by demonstrating and supporting development of leadership 

behaviours that reflect this aspiration. 

2014/15 SPA Activity 

In the autumn of 2014, the Chair of the SPA initiated work to develop a public statement 

of expectations on how engagement between Police Scotland and the SPA takes place on 

police policy issues. This accelerated discussion which had been initiated by the Chair 

and Chief Constable earlier in 2014 on maturing understanding of the SPA and Police 

Scotland engagement. 

 

The subsequent Joint Agreement on Police Policy Engagement captures a number of key 

commitments that both Police Scotland and the SPA are working to, including: 

 

 The commitment from Police Scotland to engage in advance with the SPA on any 

policy or approach that is likely to raise significant public interest 

 The commitment from Police Scotland to ensure that appropriate and proactive 

engagement with communities is mainstreamed within its approach to such 

policies 

 The commitment from the SPA to ensure that advance engagement does not 

fetter the ability of the Chief Constable to anticipate and meet operational threats 

and risks, and 

 The commitment from the SPA to champion local and national democratic 

accountability for policing activities. 

 

The Joint Agreement is coherent and consistent with findings from the lessons learned 

strand of the SPA scrutiny inquiry on the public impact of Police Scotland’s Firearms 



 

42 
 

Standing Authority, and also positively addresses feedback from local authority scrutiny 

bodies from the SPA’s ‘Partners in Scrutiny’ forums that a clearer set of public statement 

expectations around engagement would assist in clarifying roles, relationships and 

expectations between local and national police scrutiny bodies. 

 

Engagement is ongoing with Scottish Institute for Policing Research (SIPR) and other 

academics / PhD groups / sociologists / criminologists to develop further materials and 

research to inform the SPA strategy development going forward. In 2014/15 the SPA 

became a formal SIPR partner and the SPA are now represented on the SIPR Executive 

Committee, further strengthening our commitment to informed governance and driving 

continuous improvement in policing with evidence of ‘what works’. 

The SPA established the joint Partners in Scrutiny Forum in 2013, for board members, 

local scrutiny conveners and colleagues from COSLA, Scottish Government and Scottish 

Fire and Rescue Services.  

It has met three times to date and offers support for a range of functions, including 

offering:   

 A vehicle for early engagement with local scrutiny conveners on key topics of 

shared local and national interest, including the development of our respective 

roles as partners in strategy as well as scrutiny 

 An opportunity for sharing good and best practice in scrutiny and engagement, 

and identifying improvement actions  

 A focal point for networking and building joined up approaches, for board 

members, conveners and committee members, and lead officers across local 

authority areas.  

The following have also been achieved: 

  Planned programme of board member liaison with local elected members and 

scrutiny conveners delivered. This included a series of presentations on the work 

of the SPA to scrutiny committees, member contribution to local scrutiny 

meetings and Q&A sessions, local meetings and one to ones with conveners and 

key representatives to build relationships or respond to/discuss key service issues 

and developments, and a range of member contributions to local community 

planning partnerships.  

 Ongoing relationship building at officer level, with scrutiny conveners and officers 

supporting local partnerships with policing, community safety services, and local 

governance and scrutiny.   



 

43 
 

As part of its commitment to continuous improvement the SPA delivered its Scrutiny 

Review of Police Scotland’s stop and search policy and practice. This report made a 

series of observations and recommendations on Police Scotland’s approach to the use of 

this tactic and these have underpinned subsequent developments in early 2015 with the 

publication of the HMICS Stop and Search Audit and Assurance Review and Police’s 

Scotland’s own report to the Cabinet Secretary on the tactic. The SPA has subsequently 

played a central role in the continuing improvement and development of policy and 

practice around stop and search, work whose foundations were laid in the original SPA 

Scrutiny Review. 

During 2014/15, the SPA also undertook an Inquiry into the “public impact of Police 

Scotland’s Firearms Standing Authority”.  The inquiry was established to define:  

 What the level and nature of public concerns are over the current Police Scotland 

policy in relation to the deployment of a limited number of firearms officers on 

routine patrol   

 How effectively Police Scotland are engaging with the public and considering the 

impact on communities in implementing their approach   

 How Police Scotland can best address any public concerns and provide necessary 

reassurance to communities   

 What, if any, lessons might be learned around how operational decisions with 

wider strategic or community impact are communicated to national and local 

oversight bodies and other key interests.  

This inquiry resulted in eight recommendations for Police Scotland to take 

forward around prior engagement on changes in the deployment model or policy in 

respect of the Firearms Standing Authority and also over policies or proposals which are 

likely to have a significant public impact.  The full report can be accessed via the 

following link: 

http://www.spa.police.uk/assets/128635/spaarmedpolicingscrutinyinquiryreport 

While there is a role for the SPA to keep under review the policing of Scotland there is 

also a role for HMICS to carry out inspections and continuous improvement reviews to 

assess the state, efficiency and effectiveness across both the SPA and Police Scotland.  

During 2014/15 a number of reviews were undertaken and include the inspection of road 

policing, police custody arrangements in Scotland and the annual crime audit. HMICS 

publish annually their plan of inspections and reviews, and follow up reports with 

resulting recommendations can be found at their website at: http://www.hmics.org/ 

http://www.spa.police.uk/assets/128635/spaarmedpolicingscrutinyinquiryreport
http://www.hmics.org/


 

44 
 

The recommendations from these and other external reviews are taken on board by the 

SPA and Police Scotland and built into improvement actions which are managed 

internally and reported to the Audit & Risk Committee.    

As one of its statutory requirements, the SPA investigates complaints against senior 

police officers, as well as handling complaints against the SPA Board Members, staff and 

policy decisions.   This ensures that the policing values are upheld and demonstrated by 

those who lead the delivery of Scottish policing.  Further information on the values and 

ethics of Scottish policing can be found in the section below under Police Scotland 

activity. 

Forensic Services continues to promote a culture of Continuing Professional Development 

(CPD). This encompasses different approaches to learning, such as training workshops, 

conferences and events, e-learning programs, open distance learning opportunities, best 

practice techniques and ideas sharing. 

Forensic Services were also involved in almost 89 cumulative days of UKAS5 (United 

Kingdom Accreditation Service) assessment site visits.  

This work led to the full accreditation of Forensic Services at the Scottish Crime Campus, 

including the implementation of DNA24 (Globalfilertm) chemistry technology. 

Forensic Services successfully maintained its accreditation at all four laboratory sites 

through submission of evidence and satisfactory close out of UKAS findings. 

Extension to Scope activity included accreditation to ISO 170256 of Fingerprint 

Comparison across Forensic Services and resulted in the recommendation for 

accreditation. Similarly, the new legal alcohol limit was accredited on schedule following 

a thorough validation process of the new method.   

2014/15 Police Scotland Priorities and Activity 

Priority – Violence, Disorder and Antisocial Behaviour 

Commitment - Work with partner agencies to support victims of domestic abuse 

The first Prosecution of Coercive Control workshop, led by Crown Office and Procurator 

Fiscal Service (COPFS), took place on 10 September 2014. The purpose of the group is 

to assess the feasibility of a unique piece of Domestic Abuse legislation for coercive 

control taking into account the longevity of abuse. A second Coercive Control workshop 

                                                           
5
 The United Kingdom Accreditation Service is the sole national accreditation body recognised by government 

to assess, against internationally agreed standards, organisations that provide certification, testing, inspection 
and calibration services. 
6
 ISO – International Organisation for Standardisation.  17025 – Testing and calibration laboratories 



 

45 
 

took place on 11 March 2015, with a third planned for May 2015. On 26 March 2015 the 

Scottish Government published ‘Equally Safe – Reforming the criminal law to address 

domestic abuse and sexual offences’, for public consultation. The document seeks 

comment on a number of proposed pieces of legislation and includes Domestic 

Abuse/Coercive Control legislation. The closing date for the consultation phase is 19 June 

2015. The Domestic Abuse Coordination Unit (DACU), along with a number of other 

Police Scotland business areas will contribute to the response. 

 

In partnership with Medics Against Violence, the VRU has delivered the AVDR (Ask, 

Validate, Document and Refer) domestic violence programme to an every growing list of 

professionals including doctors, dentists, vets and even hairdressers. All of which are 

trained to support and help the victims of domestic violence make informed choices 

about seeking professional help and support.  

Priority – Road Safety and Road Crime 

Police Scotland has effectively patrolled the road network and continued to detect and 

deter road crime through robust enforcement of legislation and targeting of repeat 

offenders. Use of intelligence and analytical products has enabled smart evidence-based 

deployment of resources to deliver on these commitments. 

 

Commitment - Effectively patrol the roads 

 

Road policing inspectors continue to attend the A9 Safety Group and A7 Action Group in 

order to develop engineering, education and enforcement strategies to tackle accident 

black-spots. 

Road policing officers now record the number of informal warnings issued for road traffic 

offences over the year. In the year 2014/15 road policing officers have issued 35,609 

warnings in respect of speeding offences. This sets the baseline for this activity for 

review following the 2015/16 year end. 

 

In addition, work has been undertaken in partnership with Crown Office Procurator Fiscal 

(COPFS) to develop direct measures for road traffic offences in order to enhance the 

disposal options available. Proposals to allow a formal warning process to be 

implemented in 2015/16 are well under way. 

 

 



 

46 
 

Priority – Serving all our Communities 

Commitment - Ensuring people better recognise hate crimes and incidents - and 

feel confident reporting them 

The ‘I Am Me’ project is an excellent example of strong and successful partnership 

working. It has raised awareness of disability hate crime with young people, people with 

a disability, staff, carers and police officers. The development of a DVD and training pack 

has enabled even more people to be made aware who can help to prevent disability 

related abuse and encourage those who are affected to report it. Disability hate crime is 

recognised as one of the most underreported crimes in the UK and is an abhorrent abuse 

of some of the most vulnerable members of society. Police Scotland officers are 

committed to investigating every report of disability hate crime and through education 

and awareness initiatives like the I Am Me project, Police Scotland can help change 

behaviours and attitudes towards this form of abuse. 

 

Commitment - Ensuring victims of gender-based violence are confident that 

police are responsive to their needs  

Police Scotland ran a festive domestic abuse campaign focused on prevention, 

specifically targeting those suspected of domestic abuse. The campaign, which 

commenced prior to Christmas 2014, saw extra police officers deployed across Scotland.  

This initiative had a direct focus on preventing abuse and sending a clear message that 

there is no hiding place for abusers. This campaign, which ran from 24 December 2014 

to 5 January 2015, delivered an 11% reduction in recorded domestic incidents. 

 

Commitment - People from protected groups being meaningfully engaged with 

us – and their views contributing to service improvements 

Police Scotland and Young Scot have established the Police Scotland Youth Volunteers 

(PSYV) programme which is open to young people aged between 13-18 years.  The 

programme is designed to develop young people’s confidence and leadership skills and 

provides a unique opportunity for young people across Scotland to become involved in 

positive volunteering opportunities nationwide.  PSYV is currently expanding across 

Scotland. An additional nine groups will be delivered by the end of April 2015. This takes 

the total number of groups to 14 nationally, one in each division of Police Scotland.  A 

PSYV training officer is now in post and based at Tulliallan, funded by the VPC (English 

equivalent of PSYV) and has the role of developing the current youth and adult training 

programme and to gain accreditation/award status for the PSYV training programme. 

 



 

47 
 

Commitment - Prevention & partnership working 

 

The Violent Offender Watch (VOW) team in Edinburgh work with persistent violent 

offenders in partnership with Lifeline and other local organisations.  The VOW currently 

work with 17 clients and the work of the team has resulted in a 90% reduction rate in 

offending of these individuals - resulting in savings to the public purse of nearly £1m 

over the last year.  This saving is calculated on cost benefit analysis as per the Scottish 

Community Safety Network database. 

 

Employment is one of the most successful ways of deterring and preventing crime, over 

the last year the VRU has worked with the Commonwealth Games, Glasgow Life, the 

Scottish Government and the Royal Edinburgh Military Tattoo to work with young men 

and women who found it difficult to either find or maintain employment due to their 

offending backgrounds and other challenges. From this group over two thirds have now 

found full time employment. The VRU have also launched a charity partner called 

Braveheart Industries which will open a series of social enterprises employing those from 

similar backgrounds, helping to reduce offending and breaking the cycle of both violence 

and dependency. 

 

Safezone is a support bus operated by a team of volunteers from varied backgrounds, 

including those with medical experience, which provides a place of safety within the city 

centre of Edinburgh during the night at weekends.  This is a coordinated initiative, which 

is operated in collaboration between Police Scotland, Scottish Ambulance Service (SAS), 

NHS, City of Edinburgh Council and the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service.  Those working 

on the Safezone bus are able to treat minor injuries and the effects of over-consumption 

of alcohol.  The implementation of the project has seen a reduction in the demand on the 

resources of Police, SAS and A&E, and the results have been collated into a social return 

on investment, which sees approximately £10 saved for every £1 spent. 

 

Priority – Values 

Commitment - Police Scotland code of ethics 

A project has been established to ensure Police Scotland’s core values and Code of Ethics 

is firmly embedded into service delivery and practice. To ensure impartiality, the work 

will be led externally however will be supported by a team of officers and staff from 

various roles from across the service. Over the coming weeks, the team will visit 

divisions and departments across the country, engaging with officers and staff to get 

their views on different aspects of organisational practice and service delivery.  As an 



 

48 
 

organisation, Police Scotland is committed to continuously improve its service in order to 

deliver the best possible policing service for communities.  

 

Over the past year, Police Scotland has introduced a number of changes and it is 

important that further regular health checks are conducted to measure performance. 

Police Scotland’s core values and Code of Ethics are essential to day-to-day business and 

are directly linked to delivering an effective and credible policing service in which the 

public can place their trust. The project underpins Police Scotland’s commitment to being 

a learning led organisation and the outcome will help improve how it does business. 

 

 “Integrity Matters” is a new confidential reporting mechanism for all Police Scotland/SPA 

employees, providing police officers and members of police staff the opportunity to 

report, anonymously and confidentially, any criminal or conduct or integrity concern they 

may have. This simple and user friendly mechanism can be accessed via the Police 

Scotland/SPA intranets.  

 

Police Scotland is fully committed to its Code of Ethics and the public expects and 

deserves the highest standards of integrity when officers and staff carry out their duties 

and roles. However, where these standards fall short, the ability of staff to report 

concerns (ie whistle-blowing), free from any potential retribution or recrimination, is 

critical to ensuring both organisational health and behavioural standards are maintained.  

This mechanism does not replace existing grievance procedures or the opportunity for 

staff to raise issues with their line management. Integrity Matters is intended to cover 

concerns that fall outside the scope of other procedures. 

 

Crime registrars support divisions in ensuring that crime is recorded consistently, 

accurately and in accordance with the Scottish Crime Recording Standards. Crime 

registrars are a point of specialist reference for divisions and are the final decision 

makers in determining whether or not a crime is recorded and what is the appropriate 

classification and count. Crime registrars also oversee the programme of cross-divisional 

crime audits, which is undertaken by divisional crime management staff and also conduct 

a number of structured audits relative to crime and incident recording. 

 
Prior to the formation of Police Scotland, each legacy force had arrangements in place, 

through individual force crime registrars, to ensure that the ethical and standardised 

approach was taken to crime and incident recording. Following the introduction of Police 

Scotland, a revised structure of crime registrars was implemented with one crime 

registrar for each command area. 



 

49 
 

 

Overall SPA Assessment 

 
Engagement has been a strong focus for Scottish policing over the last year.  Through a 

number of forums and partnerships, the SPA and Police Scotland have sought the views 

and experience of those who can bring an independent but informed perspective to the 

direction of travel for policing. 

 

There have been challenges and lessons learned through this process but the emphasis 

has always been and will continue to be increasing public confidence and reducing the 

fear of crime. 

  



 

50 
 

5. Equality and Diversity 

SPA - The SPA workforce profile, which includes Forensic Services staff, was baselined in 

the 2013/14 Annual Review of Policing based on 530 staff.  The management 

information for this year is based on 546 SPA staff. 

 

The key equality headlines indicate: Gender - 64% women; 36% men; Black Minority 

Ethnic (BME) - 2%; Disabled staff - 3% and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 

(LGBT) staff - 4%. 

 

It is important that the diverse communities across Scotland continue to feel safe and 

remain confident that the police service can provide the responsive and equitable service 

that is expected.  Some examples of this service in action can be seen by the following 

initiatives. 

 

Police Scotland - Stonewall Scotland presented Police Scotland with a special 

recognition award at their 'Top 100 Employers' award ceremony in February 2015 in 

acknowledgement of the support, commitment and active promotion of Stonewall 

Scotland’s No Bystanders campaign. The result of the Police Scotland application to 

Stonewall was described as “brilliant" by Stonewall considering this was the first year 

that they have entered. Stonewall is an effective way to measure an organisation’s effort 

to tackle discrimination and create an inclusive workplace for lesbian, gay, bisexual and 

transgender employees (LGBT). This has highlighted a series of good practices, policies 

and procedures that support LGBT staff as well as examples of community engagement. 

 

Throughout 2014 events entitled “Supporting Equality for All” have taken place at the 

Police Scotland College, Tulliallan.  These events were primarily designed to give 

probationary constables an introduction to the work of the diversity staff associations but 

has become an opportunity for senior students, staff and visitors to personally access a 

variety of organisations who can provide advice, support and, if appropriate, 

membership.   

 

Around 25 organisations are invited to attend and these include all of Police Scotland’s 

formally recognised diversity staff associations, the Scottish Police Federation, Care of 

Police Survivors and some of the current diversity partners including ‘See Me’, Dyslexia 

Scotland, Young Scot and LGBT Youth (representative of all the protected characteristics 

defined in the Equality Act).   

This event has been very well received and has had positive feedback from attendees 

and service providers. It is intended that further events will be run to coincide with 



 

51 
 

future cohorts of probationers attending the Police Scotland College for their initial 

training. 

 

The majority of legacy forces in Scotland developed successful community lay advisor 

schemes to deal with a variety of diversity issues, ranging from critical incidents to 

planning for events and demonstrations. Their counsel has proved invaluable in assisting 

the police service to deal with such issues sensitively and effectively. To support this 

process and allow for scrutiny and counsel to be provided at a strategic level, a National 

Independent Strategic Advisory Group (NISAG) has been developed. The 16 group 

members are formed from a range of different protected characteristics (as defined by 

the Equality Act 2010) and offers both Police Scotland and the SPA with a forum in which 

to engage, providing a wide range of perceptions which will help to guard against 

disadvantaging any section of the community, and indeed any section of the workforce, 

through lack of understanding, ignorance or mistaken belief.  The group meets on a bi-

monthly basis and the terms of reference for NISAG include:  

 

 Offer strategic advice and scrutiny to Police Scotland and the SPA 

 Supporting operational matters from a strategic perspective, including input to 

planning and development processes 

 Supporting critical incidents from identification through to recovery stage  

 Supporting key portfolios of work assigned to members of the Police Scotland 

Executive or the SPA Board Members  

 Support the SPA in scrutiny, governance and performance of Police Scotland  

 Provide input to key policies, strategies and procedures as and when required  

 Management and deployment of current community advisors  

 Reporting on key policing, community and advisors’ issues  

 Have a strategic overview of hate crime in Police Scotland. 

 

Following the formation of Police Scotland, DCC Neil Richardson commissioned a review 

of diversity staff associations namely:  

 

 Christian Police Association (CPA) 

 Disability and Carers Association (DACA) 

 Gay Police Association (GPA) Scotland 

 National Trans Police Association (NTPA) (Scottish Rep) 

 Scottish Police Muslim Association (SPMA) 

 Supporting Ethnic Minority Police Staff for Equality in Race (SEMPER Scotland) 

 Scottish Women’s Development Forum (SWDF). 



 

52 
 

 

The review is now complete and a Memorandum of Understanding is shortly to be 

ratified and signed by all associations. Bi-monthly secretariat meetings have commenced 

and plans are underway to hold a joint conference in 2015 to mark the start of a 

programme of collaborative work. 



 

53 
 

6. Looking Ahead 

The third Annual Police Plan has now been published which builds on these first two 

years of operation and will consolidate the delivery against the strategic priorities set for 

policing. The priorities for the year ahead include: 

 Violence, Disorder and Anti-social Behaviour 

 Road Safety and Road Crime 

 Protecting People at Risk of Harm 

 Serious Organised Crime 

 Counter Terrorism 

An assessment of these priorities will form the basis 2015/16 Annual Review of Policing. 

The SPA’s new strategic performance framework will be evidence-based, drawing on 

existing best policing practice at local, national and international level. It will be enabled 

by the SPA’s developing environmental scanning and information management business 

process as well as working in partnership with Police Scotland to identify key evidence 

and share information. A research framework will inform regular and targeted reporting 

on policing as well as complementary criminal justice, inspection and local authority 

partnership activity. As part of continuous improvement of the framework, and in order 

to address identified issues around format and content, a new public performance 

reporting model that includes both the SPA and Police Scotland will be implemented from 

August 2015, reporting on quarter one 2015/16.  

The delivery of the actions within the SPA continuous improvement plan will assist the 

Authority in building the capability and capacity that will strengthen our governance and 

planning arrangements, ensuring the authority is focussed on  key strategic issues and 

priorities. We will continue to engage positively with stakeholders and the wider public 

ensuring the alignment of strategic planning processes with partners to deliver a better 

police service for the short, medium and long term across Scottish communities.    

Policing will continue to develop approaches to deliver the service within a reducing 

budget and to look for opportunities for collaboration across the blue light services and 

beyond. At the same time targeted investment in areas such as the Contact, Command 

and Control (C3) and i6 programmes will ensure the service is building a solid base for a 

sustainable service. 

The creation of the SPA and Police Scotland in April 2013 brought about a complex 

landscape in terms of staff employment.  To address this, the Staff Pay and Reward 

Modernisation project will bring equity and fairness for staff through the introduction of a 



 

54 
 

national approach to pay and grading; a national set of terms and conditions of 

employment; a national set of policies in relation to staff employment and a common set 

of employee benefits. Work is now underway on this complex project and it is anticipated 

that staff will move onto a national set of terms and conditions in late 2016. 

As mentioned in the Chair’s foreword the first staff survey has now also been launched.  

This survey is one of a series of measures to support continuous improvement and will 

help shape the future development of the SPA and Police Scotland. 







Page Template

Ward Count

South Kintyre Ward 1 South Kintyre1 ## ## 3965

Kintyre and the Islands Ward 1 Kintyre and the Islands2 ## ## 3588

Mid Argyll Ward 1 Mid Argyll3 ## ## 4087

Oban South and the Isles Ward1 Oban South and the Isles4 ## ## 5564

Oban North and Lorn Ward 1 Oban North and Lorn5 ## ## 4977

Cowal Ward 1 Cowal 6 ## ## 4855

Dunoon Ward 1 Dunoon7 ## ## 3767

Isle of Bute Ward 1 Isle of Bute8 ## ## 4301

Lomond North Ward 1 Lomond North9 ## ## 3713

Helensburgh Central Ward 1 Helensburgh Central10 590 ## 4888

Helensburgh and Lomond South Ward1 Helensburgh and Lomond South11 ## ## 3277

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

11

Population 86900

Dwellings 47105

Land mass 716378.164

Local Authority Argyll & Bute 3

LA(1) in LSO 2

LA(2) in LSO East Dunbartonshire 3 East Dunbartonshire

LA(3) in LSO West Dunbartonshire 3 West Dunbartonshire

LSO W1 - Argyll & Bute / East / & West Dunbartonshire W1 ##

LSO(1) in SDA W1 - Argyll & Bute / East / & West Dunbartonshire 1

LSO(2) in SDA W2 - Glasgow City 1

LSO(3) in SDA W3 - South Lanarkshire 1

LSO(4) in SDA W4 - North Lanarkshire 1

LSO(5) in SDA W5 - Ayrshire East / North / South 1

LSO(6) in SDA W6 - Renfrewshire / & East / Inverclyde 1

LSO(7) in SDA W7 - Dumfries & Galloway 1

SDA West ##

 Scotland ##

 West ##

 

 

0

2
0
1
1
/1

2

2
0
1
2
/1

3

2
0
1
3
/1

4

2
0
1
4
/1

5

2
0
1
5
/1

6

H
is

to
ry

                                             West Service Delivery Area                                                                                                 

Argyll & Bute 
                                                                            2015 Q1 

Scrutiny Report 

DISCLAIMER 
The figures included in this report are provisional and subject to change as a result of quality assurance and review.  The statistics 

quoted are internal management information published in the interests of transparency and openness.  
The Scottish government publishes Official Statistics each year which allow for comparisons to be made over longer periods of  

time. 
 

Please ensure any external partners in receipt of these reports are aware of this.  

1



CONTENTS PAGE

Local Risk Management and Preparedness

All accidental dwelling fires

All deliberate dwelling fires

All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

All deliberate fires

15

17

9

11

13

5

7

1

2

3

4

5

Special Service Casualties - All

False Alarms - All

Appendices

Glossary

Introduction

Performance Summary

Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities

3

4

2



Introduction Argyll & Bute - Introduction - 

This report provides detail on the performance of the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service (SFRS) in the Argyll & Bute area. In doing so it 

outlines our progress in the delivery of local priorities as set out within the Local Fire and Rescue Plan and the SFRS framework document. 

The Scottish Government provides an overarching vision for public services. This vision is supported by 16 national outcomes, which 

demonstrate commitment to creating a more successful country, with opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, through increasing 

sustainable growth. The SFRS can make a significant contribution to improving these outcomes for Argyll & Bute by contributing to the 

Community Planning arrangements across the area.

The national priorities for the SFRS are set out in the Fire and Rescue Framework for Scotland. The SFRS Strategic Plan 2013-2016 outlines 

how the SFRS will deliver against these priorities and the outcomes against which this delivery can be measured. 

The SFRS Local Fire and Rescue Plan for the Local Authority Area of Argyll & Bute is the mechanism through which the aims of the SFRS 

Strategic Plan 2013-2017 are delivered to meet the agreed needs of Argyll & Bute’s communities.

The Plan sets out the priorities and objectives for the SFRS within Argyll & Bute for 2014 - 2017 and allows our Local Authority partners to 

scrutinise the performance outcomes of those priorities. The SFRS will continue to work closely with our partners in Argyll & Bute to 

ensure we are all ‘’Working Together for a Safer Scotland’’ through targeting risks to our communities at a local level.   

The SFRS aspires to deliver very high standards to our communities and our current performance is testament to the commitment, 

professionalism and dedication of our staff and the positive local partnerships embedded within Argyll & Bute Community Safety working 

groups.

3



Performance Summary Scorecard

We measure how well we are meeting our priorities using 6 key indicators, depicted below

Key performance indicator 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

23 19 16 16 14 3

0 3 4 4 2 3

4 4 1 2 0 3

45 55 35 23 23 3

22 23 20 29 12 3

288 281 245 250 248 3

All other incidents #REF! #REF! #REF! #REF! #REF!

1 RED DIAMOND 10% higher than the previous YTD period, or local target not achieved.

2 YELLOW TRIANGLE Up to 9% higher than the previous YTD period, or local target not achieved.

3 GREEN CIRCLE Equal to or improved upon the previous equivalent quarter (or YTD period), or local target achieved.

Note Argyll & Bute - Scorecard - Note   

Incident Overview Argyll & Bute - Scorecard - Incident Overview   

The chart below illustrates incidents YTD attended within Argyll & Bute council over the last 6 fiscal years

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

During the Year to Date period 2015-16 (April to June) SFRS have responded to a total of 677 incidents. Although this shows a 

marginal increase on the 668 incidents the previous year, the same Year to Date (YTD) period average over the last six years confirms 

a downward trend.  

Quarterly Performance RAG rating = the reporting period compared to the average over the previous quarterly reporting periods

Year to Date RAG rating = the cumulative total of all quarterly performance in the current year compared to cumulative total of all 

quarterly performance in the previous year  

RAG rating - KEY

RAG rating

All accidental dwelling fires

All deliberate dwelling fires

All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

All deliberate fires

Special Service Casualties - All

False Alarms - All

Apr to (& incl.) Jun

YTD

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

All Incidents

False Alarms

Fires

Special Service

4



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - RiskMngmnt - RiskPreparedness

Local Risk Management and Preparedness

Train our staff to deal with our local risks Argyll & Bute - RiskMngmnt - TrainStaff

Gather and analyse risk information Argyll & Bute - RiskMngmnt - GatherAnalyse

Work with partners to mitigate risks Argyll & Bute - RiskMngmnt - Partners

Deal with major events Argyll & Bute - RiskMngmnt - MajorEvents

Our operational personnel continue to gather and analyse local risk information and operational intelligence which is used in our preparations 

to resolve incidents.

Our community engagement teams scrutinise operational statistics to identify trends which will allow SFRS to identify risk and ensure 

resources are allocated to the point of need in our communities.

Following operational incidents SFRS conduct ‘Post Incident Debriefs’ using a structured debrief process to identify any lessons that can be 

learned from our preparedness and response to emergency events. 

SFRS will continue to work with a range of partners in order that, together we can all make a difference to the overall safety within our 

communities. Our partners include:

Police Scotland, NHS, Social Work, Scottish Ambulance Service, Mountain Rescue, Forestry Commission, RNLI, Local Authority Community 

Planning Groups, Local Resilience, Partnership Groups, Highlands and Islands Argyll Airports Contingency Planning Liaison Group, Clyde Local 

Liaison Group, Wildfire Group, Voluntary Sector

During this reporting period SFRS in Argyll & Bute did not deal with an incident that would be regarded as ‘Major’.

The SFRS has a statutory duty under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to reduce the risks to our communities and to make certain that they 

receive the best possible service. The management of risk within our community means:

• Identifying the risks to the community which fall within the scope of responsibility of the SFRS

• Undertaking a process to prioritise these risks locally and map resources to them.

• Ensuring that appropriate Local and National resources capability and trained Fire Service personnel are in place to address them.

Operational personnel shall possess the ability to make professional judgements about the appropriate use of available resources, in order to 

control the risks inherent in the unique circumstances of any emergency situation. In particular, all Operational Personnel shall be: 

• Competent to perform tasks assigned

• An effective member of a team

• Possess self-discipline to work within accepted systems of work

• Adaptable to changing circumstances

• Vigilant for his or her own safety and that of colleagues and others

• Able to recognise their abilities and limitations

5



*

6



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - All accidental dwelling fires

Reduction of 'All accidental dwelling fires'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - All accidental dwelling fires

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - All accidental dwelling fires

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - All accidental dwelling fires

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 1 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 23 19 16 16 14

South Kintyre 0 0 1 1 0

Kintyre and the Islands 1 1 1 0 1

Mid Argyll 0 0 0 2 0

Oban South and the Isles 5 6 4 2 1

Oban North and Lorn 5 0 2 1 2

Cowal 2 0 0 2 0

Dunoon 4 1 2 4 1

Isle of Bute 2 2 2 2 2

Lomond North 2 1 1 0 1

Helensburgh Central 2 6 3 2 2

Helensburgh and Lomond South 0 2 0 0 4

Dwelling fires can have a significant negative impact upon both individuals and the community and are financially costly to house 

holders and housing providers in terms of repair and the reinstatement of homes. By giving safety advice and fitting smoke detectors, 

the SFRS can reduce the risk of fire and its associated human and financial costs as well as enhancing community safety.

We will deliver Home Fire Safety Visits targeted at individuals most at risk.  We will work alongside partners to identify vulnerable 

individuals and convene case conferences to identify appropriate strategies for their protection. The area is currently drawing up a Risk 

Analysis Casualty Reduction Plan that will identify the root causes of these incidents and assist us in devising an action plan to deal with 

identified issues.

The same Year to Date period average over the last four years confirms a downward trend in relation to accidental dwelling house 

fires.

The average over the last four years for Q1 was 18 with this reporting year showing 14 incidents.

We are taking a proactive approach to reducing the fire risk by targeting higher risk areas and identifying, with support from our 

partners, high risk individuals. Operational crews and our Community Action Team are increasing the number of home fire safety visits 

in our relatively higher risk neighbourhoods with a view to reducing the risk of fire within the home. 

Operational crews and partner agencies continue to refer higher risk vulnerable persons and are subject to a multi-agency case 

conference, to ensure individuals and the community remain safe from fire.

0

10

20

30

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

16 14 

16 16 

0

10

20

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

2.0

4.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'All accidental dwelling fires' per10000 head of population 

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

7



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

Conditional format rule 2 2 1 1 1

8



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - All deliberate dwelling fires

Reduction of 'All deliberate dwelling fires'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - All deliberate dwelling fires

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - All deliberate dwelling fires

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - All deliberate dwelling fires

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 0 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 0 3 4 4 2

South Kintyre 0 0 0 0 0

Kintyre and the Islands 0 0 0 0 0

Mid Argyll 0 0 0 0 0

Oban South and the Isles 0 0 0 1 1

Oban North and Lorn 0 0 0 0 0

Cowal 0 0 0 0 0

Dunoon 0 1 1 1 0

Isle of Bute 0 1 1 0 0

Lomond North 0 0 0 1 0

Helensburgh Central 0 1 1 1 0

Helensburgh and Lomond South 0 0 1 0 1

In the Argyll & Bute Area, deliberate fire setting has historically been a significant problem that can be closely linked to antisocial 

behaviour and secondary fires (refuse and grass). 

Deliberate fires are defined as fires which were ignited deliberately or the Fire and Rescue Service suspect they were started 

deliberately. 

The reduction of deliberate dwelling fires continues to be a priority for the SFRS in Argyll & Bute. The SFRS have a partnership 

arrangement with ‘Crimestoppers Scotland’ which encourages the public to report fire crime and vandalism. 

We will work with our partners in Police Scotland to ensure that it remains low by ensuring all incidents are investigated. To support 

individuals and communities affected by fire vandalism ‘Crimestoppers Scotland’ cards can be issued within communities (as part of 

Post Incident Response Procedures) where fire setters are known to be active. Working with partners we will identify areas of high 

operational demand and put in place measures to reduce demand and hold those responsible to account.

To reduce the risk of deliberate building fires we are utilising the support of our partners working within the Argyll & Bute area to 

identify and target resources in the environment of greatest demand. 

Operational crews and our Community Action Team are engaging in a variety of multi-agency youth diversionary projects e.g. Young 

Firefighters Schemes and Fire reach programmes, to engage and educate at the point of contact. 

Two incidents have been reported for the period covering Quarter 1, which is down from four incidents for the same period in 2014-

15. 

This number is relatively low compared to other local authority areas but SFRS will continue to work with our partners in Police 

Scotland to ensure that it remains low by ensuring all incidents are fully investigated as to the cause and origin.  

0

1

2

3

4

5

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

4 2 

4 4 

0

2

4

6

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

0.5

1.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'All deliberate dwelling fires' per10000 head of population 

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

9



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

0 0 0 0 0

10



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

Reduction of 'All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 0 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 4 4 1 2 0

South Kintyre 0 0 0 0 0

Kintyre and the Islands 0 0 0 0 0

Mid Argyll 0 0 0 0 0

Oban South and the Isles 2 3 0 0 0

Oban North and Lorn 0 0 0 1 0

Cowal 0 0 0 0 0

Dunoon 1 0 0 1 0

Isle of Bute 0 0 0 0 0

Lomond North 0 0 0 0 0

Helensburgh Central 1 1 1 0 0

Helensburgh and Lomond South 0 0 0 0 0

Vulnerable people within our communities continue to be those most at risk from fire. Older people, those with disabilities, those who 

live alone and those with alcohol and drugs dependencies provide the SFRS with serious challenges in relation to engagement and 

reduction strategies. Closer working with partner organisations with regards to single shared assessments and signposting of vulnerable 

persons proves an effective method of identification and engagement. Fire casualties are more likely to occur in the areas with highest 

operational demand.

Although the zero fire fatalities and fire casualties is pleasing to note, the Service is not being complacent. We are increasing our 

community safety activities within areas where there is the highest risk of a dwelling house fire occurring.

It is pleasing to report that there have been no fatal fire casualties or fire casualties in accidental dwelling fires in this reporting period.

This highlights the effective use of smoke detectors in alerting occupants to the situation and also to the speed and weight of attack of 

fire and rescue resources available.

0

2

4

6

8

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

2 0 

1 

2 

0

1

2

3

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

100.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'All accidental dwelling fire casualties (fatal & non-fatal (incl. p/c's))' per1000000 head of 

population 

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

11



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

0 0 0 0 0

12



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - All deliberate fires

Reduction of 'All deliberate fires'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - All deliberate fires

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - All deliberate fires

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - All deliberate fires

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 2 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 45 55 35 23 23

South Kintyre 2 3 1 1 0

Kintyre and the Islands 1 3 0 0 0

Mid Argyll 2 4 0 0 0

Oban South and the Isles 5 3 3 2 2

Oban North and Lorn 3 1 9 2 2

Cowal 2 3 0 1 2

Dunoon 2 21 7 5 3

Isle of Bute 3 3 1 1 1

Lomond North 6 0 2 8 4

Helensburgh Central 11 5 6 3 4

Helensburgh and Lomond South 8 9 6 0 5

This LPI includes deliberate primary and secondary fires. A primary fire is designated as a fire that involves a building or property and a 

secondary fire is defined as a fire in refuse or on grass or heathland. These are an indication of Anti-Social Behaviour and/or criminal 

acts. 

The Fire and Rescue Local Plan for Argyll & Bute 2014 – 17 aims to continually ‘deliver a reduction’ against the three year average. The 

23 incidents recorded are identical for the same reporting period last year, but further analysis shows a downward trend for the same 

Year to Date Period over a 5 year period.

To reduce the risk of deliberate other building fires we are utilising the support of our partners working within the CPP to identify 

derelict or vacated properties and make them secure. Operational crews and our Community Action Team are engaging in a variety of 

multi-agency youth diversionary projects e.g. Young Firefighters Schemes and Fire reach programmes. A wetter spring time saw a 

reduction in the number of grass and heath fires experienced in recent years and this is presumed to be a contributing factor for this 

reporting period. 

In the Argyll & Bute Area, deliberate fire setting has historically been a significant problem that can be closely linked to antisocial 

behaviour. Secondary fires (refuse and grass) are a major priority, and account for a high percentage of our operational activity in the 

dry seasons placing a huge strain on the SFRS ability to effectively provide its operational response to real emergencies.

Working with partners we will identify areas of high operational demand and put in place measures to reduce demand, and where 

possible, hold those responsible to account.

We will continue to work alongside partners within the CPP to identify derelict or vacated properties with the aim of securing these 

properties or ensuring their demolition.  Operational crews and Community Advocate Teams will continue with their youth 

engagement activities and will deliver a series of school programs, Fire Reach courses and Young Firefighter schemes.

0

20

40

60

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

23 23 

35 

23 

0

20

40

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

10.0

20.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'All deliberate fires' per10000 head of population  

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

13



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

4 5 3 2 2

14



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - Special Service Casualties - All

Reduction of 'Special Service Casualties - All'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - Special Service Casualties - All

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - Special Service Casualties - All

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - Special Service Casualties - All

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 1 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 22 23 20 29 12

South Kintyre 0 3 2 0 0

Kintyre and the Islands 4 4 0 2 2

Mid Argyll 1 4 0 10 5

Oban South and the Isles 1 4 1 1 2

Oban North and Lorn 6 3 2 4 1

Cowal 2 0 2 4 1

Dunoon 0 2 0 0 0

Isle of Bute 0 1 1 2 0

Lomond North 5 0 2 5 0

Helensburgh Central 2 1 4 1 0

Helensburgh and Lomond South 1 1 6 0 1

We have carried out a program of engagement with young drivers in conjunction with the Argyll & Bute Road Safety Team to local 

secondary schools, the aim of which has been to reduce the number and severity of this type of incident.  

There are a number of factors that present a challenge when trying to affect the number of RTC's within a local authority area, these 

include, the fact that drivers involved in collisions may not be resident within that local authority and thus an opportunity to engage 

with them prior to the event may not be possible.

This statistic includes casualties from emergencies that do not include fire i.e. RTC, flooding and other forms of entrapment. These 

forms of emergencies are known as Special Services.

Our statistics for this reporting period has seen a decrease in all Special Service Casualties to 12 for 76 incidents attended. This is in 

stark contrast to the same reporting period in 2014-15 of 29 Special Service Casualties for 61 incidents attended.

SFRS respond to non-fire emergencies such as Road Traffic Collisions (RTCs), building collapse, water rescue incidents and flooding. 

Operational Firefighters are trained to a high standard and have at their disposal the most modern equipment for extricating people in 

rescue situations and administering first aid to casualties. RTCs ARE a core role for the SFRS but primary responsibility for road safety 

lies with Transport Scotland, Police Scotland and Local Authorities. The SFRS has a crucial role in supporting those organisations 

activities at a local level and can provide access to hard hitting education programmes aimed at the most at risk groups to highlight the 

consequences of RTCs and dangerous driving. 

Road Traffic Collisions remain a major part of our attendance at ‘Special Service’ incidents and the major contributor to Special Service 

Casualties. Analysis shows that Mid Argyll remains the hotspot for activity and the A82 and A83 remain the most affected roads for 

RTCs. National statistics identify that the most at risk group are young male drivers who we include in our “Cut it out” programme 

which is aimed at 5th and 6th year school pupils.

0

10

20

30

40

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

29 12 

20 

29 

0

20

40

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

5.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'Special Service Casualties - All' per10000 head of population 

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

15



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

2 2 2 3 1

16



Progress on local fire & rescue plan priorities Argyll & Bute - Priority - False Alarms - All

Reduction of 'False Alarms - All'

Results Argyll & Bute - Results - False Alarms - All

Reasons Argyll & Bute - Reasons - False Alarms - All

Actions Argyll & Bute - Actions - False Alarms - All

162 163 164 165 166

 YTD ward ave. for Argyll & Bute - 23 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Sparklines

Argyll & Bute 288 281 245 250 248

South Kintyre 16 21 23 8 25

Kintyre and the Islands 14 21 27 38 29

Mid Argyll 31 39 25 24 16

Oban South and the Isles 50 56 42 54 49

Oban North and Lorn 46 33 32 29 36

Cowal 19 16 16 16 12

Dunoon 21 19 22 19 15

Isle of Bute 25 36 19 20 19

Lomond North 24 6 12 11 12

Helensburgh Central 33 31 22 27 32

Helensburgh and Lomond South 9 3 5 4 3

Unwanted Fire Alarm Signals (UFAS) are those occasions when an automated fire alarm activates and results in a mobilisation of SFRS 

resources, when the reason for that alarm turns out to be something other than a fire emergency. These can be categorised as either 

UFAS incidents from relevant premises under the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005 or from dwellings.

Other types of false alarm include malicious 999 calls, and ‘good intent’ emergency calls made when a person genuinely believes that an 

emergency has occurred which requires the attendance of the SFRS, and that belief subsequently turns out to be unfounded.

SFRS has developed a bespoke electronic system for recording UFAS activity within the service and providing an audit trail for all 

engagement undertaken.  Specific officers have been nominated to manage this system and provide periodic reports on progress 

achieved.  Training packages have also been developed to assist operational crews in the implementation of this procedure.

The SFRS aims to focus on reducing the number of AFA’s during 2015-16 supported by applying national policy and process to ensure 

a consistent approach.

The figure (248) for 2015/16 shows a small reduction on the figure for the same period in the previous year (250).  The same Year to 

Date average over the past five years shows a downward trend.

The average over the previous three years for the same reporting period is 266, and these figures show a downward trend over five 

years.

The increased prevalence of automatic fire detection systems throughout all classes of building has inevitably contributed to difficulties 

in terms of system faults and failures.  The SFRS has long been aware of the importance of developing a robust process for managing 

UFAS activity and released a policy and procedure detailing the processes to be used to engage with persons responsible for managing 

automated alarm systems and the mechanisms available to support them in dealing with identified issues.

0

100

200

300

400

Q1

11/12

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

12/13

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

13/14

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

14/15

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

15/16

Five year data for Argyll & Bute 

250 248 

245 250 

0

100

200

300

2014/15 2015/16

YTD Incidents 

Incs

Target

0.0

50.0

Q1 11/12 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 12/13 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 13/14 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 14/15 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 15/16

Reduction of 'False Alarms - All' per10000 head of population 

Argyll & Bute West Scotland

17



0 0 0 0 0 0 Sparklines

0 0 0 0 0 0

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A

26 26 22 23 23

18



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL 
PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

STRATEGIC FINANCE 27 AUGUST 2015 

  
TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT 30 JUNE 2015 
 

 
1. 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report is for noting its sets out the Council’s treasury management position 
for the period 1 April 2015 to 30 June 2015 and includes information on: 

 Overall Borrowing Position 

 Borrowing Activity 

 Investment Activity 

 Economic Background 

 Interest Rate Forecast 

 Prudential Indicators. 
 

1.2 The Council has made three repayments of long term debt of totalling £2.3m to 
PWLB during the period. In terms of short term borrowing one of the two cash 
flow loans taken out in March 2015 of £10m has been repaid. 
 

1.3 In respect of investment activity the level of investments have increased slightly 
to £56.7m at 30 June 2015. The rate of return achieved was 0.656% which 
compares favourably with the target of 7 day LIBID which was 0.363%. 
 

1.4 There was no breaching of limits during the period 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
27 AUGUST 2015 

STRATEGIC FINANCE 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT 30 JUNE 2015 
 

  
 
2. 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 

2.1 
 
 

  This report summarises the monitoring as at 30 June 2015 of the Council’s: 

 Overall Borrowing Position 

 Borrowing Activity 

 Investment Activity 

 Economic Background 

 Interest Rate Forecast 

 Prudential Indicators. 
 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 The treasury management monitoring report is noted. 
 

4. DETAIL 
 

 Overall Borrowing Position 
 

4.1 The table below details the estimated capital financing requirement (CFR) and 
compares this with the estimated level of external debt at the 31 March 2016. 
The CFR represents the underlying need for the Council to borrow to fund its 
fixed assets and accumulated capital expenditure. 
 

 
 

4.2 Borrowing is currently estimated to be below the CFR for the period to 31 March 
2016.  This reflects the approach taken to minimise surplus cash on deposit in 
order to avoid overdue exposure to investment / credit worthiness risks by using 
internal balances to finance capital expenditure.  However if it becomes clear 
that longer term interest rates are likely to increase significantly the position will 

Forecast Budget Forecast Forecast

2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

£000's £000's £000's £000's

CFR at 1 April 256,079 257,823 271,002 262,658

Net Capital Expenditure 26,707 26,707 2,440 0

Less Loans Fund Principal Repayments (11,784) (11,784) (10,784) (9,784)

Estimated CFR 31 March 271,002 272,746 262,658 252,874

Less Funded by NPDO (78,055) (78,055) (76,507) (74,961)

Estimated Net CFR 31 March 192,947 194,691 186,151 177,913

Estimated External Borrowing at 31 March 169,315 172,655 177,655 177,655

Gap 23,632 22,036 8,496 258



be reviewed to ensure the Council locks in funding at the current historically low 
interest rates.   
 

4.3 The Council’s estimated net capital financing requirement at the 30 June 2015 is 
£190.034m. The table below shows how this has been financed.  Whilst 
borrowing is less than the CFR there are substantial internal balances (mainly 
the General Fund) of which £56.7m is currently invested.  
 

 
 

 Borrowing Activity 
 

4.4 The table below summarises the borrowing and repayment transactions in the 
period 1 April 2015 to 30 June 2015. 
 

 
 
 

4.5 No Local Bonds were repaid in the period 1 April 2015 to 30 June 2015. 
 

4.6 No new Local Bonds were taken out in the period 1 April 2015 to 30 June 2015. 
 

4.7 The table below summarises the movement in level and rate of temporary 
borrowing at the start and end of the period.  
 

 
 

 Investment Activity 
 

4.8 The average rate of return achieved on the Council’s investments to 30th June 
2015 was 0.656% compared to the average LIBID rate for the same period of 
0.363% which demonstrates that the Council is achieving a reasonable rate of 
return on its cash investments. At the 30 June 2015 the Council had £56.7m of 
short term investment at an average rate of 0.656%. The table below details the 
counterparties that the investments were placed with, the maturity date, the 
interest rate and the credit rating applicable for each of the counterparties. 
 

Position 

at 

31/03/2015

Position 

at 

30/06/2015

£000's £000's

Loans 173,379 160,918

Internal Balances 61,237 85,835

Less Investments & Deposits (56,408) (56,719)

Total 178,208 190,034

Actual

£000's

12,896

435

Net Movement in External Borrowing (12,461)

External Loans Repaid 1st April 2015 to 30th June 

2015

Borrowing undertaken 1st April 2015 to 30th June 2015

£000s % Rate

Temp borrowing at 31st March 2015 22,368 0.41%

Temp borrowing at 30th June 2015 11,305 0.34%



 
 

4.9 All investments and deposits are in accordance with the Council’s approved list 
of counterparties and within the limits and parameters defined in the Treasury 
Management Practices. The counterparty list is constructed based on 

Counterparty Maturity Amount 

£000s

Interest 

Rate

Rating

Bank of Scotland Instant 

Access

50 0.40%

Bank of Scotland

31/10/2015

5,000 0.95%

Royal Bank of Scotland Instant 

Access

50 0.25% Short Term 

A-2, Long 

Term BBB+

Clydesdale Bank Instant 

Access

619 0.50% Short Term 

A-2, Long 

Term BBB+

Goldman Sachs 05/02/2015 5,000 0.745% Short Term 

A-1, Long 

Term A

Handelsbanken 35 Day

Notice

0 0.65% Short Term 

A-1+, Long 

Term AA-

DZ Bank 14/09/2015 5,000 0.92% Short Term 

A-1+, Long 

Term AA-

Deutsche Bank 65 Day

Notice

5,000 0.633% Short Term 

A-2, Long 

Term BBB+

Santander 95 Day

Notice

2,500 0.600% Short Term 

A-1, Long 

Term A

Santander 96 Day

Notice

2,500 0.600% Short Term 

A-1, Long 

Term A

Nationwide Building Society 07/07/2015 5,000 0.660% Short Term 

A, Long 

Term A-1

Barclays Bank 35 Day

Notice

0 0.504% Short Term 

A-2, Long 

Term A

CD - RBS 06/01/2016 5,000 0.880% Short Term 

A-2, Long 

Term BBB+

MMF - BNP Paribas Instant 

Access

5,000 0.476% AAA

MMF - Federated Instant 

Access

5,000 0.458% AAA

MMF - Insight Instant 

Access

5,000 0.433% AAA

MMF - Legal & General Instant 

Access

0 AAA

MMF - Blackrock Instant 

Access

1,000 0.438% AAA

MMF - Standard Life ( Formerly IGNIS) Instant 

Access

5,000 0.477% AAA

Total 56,719

Short Term 

A-1, Long 

Term A



assessments by leading credit reference agencies adjusted for additional market 
information available in respect of counterparties. 

  
4.10 The current market conditions have made investment decisions more difficult as 

the number of counterparties which meet the Council’s parameters has reduced 
making it harder to achieve reasonable returns while limiting the exposure to any 
one institution. 
 

4.11 No limits were breached during the period. 
 

 Economic and Interest Rate Forecasts 
 

4.12 The economic background at 30 June 2015 is shown in appendix 1 with the 
interest rate forecast in appendix 2. 

  
 Prudential Indicators 

 
4.13 The prudential indicators for 2015-16 are attached in appendix 3. 

 
5. CONCLUSION 

 
5.1 The Council has taken new short term borrowing of £435k and made 

repayments of £12.9m during the three months to 30 June 2015. The investment 
returns were 0.656% which is above the target of 0.363%.  
 

6. IMPLICATIONS 
6.1 Policy – None. 
6.2 Financial -  None 
6.3 Legal -  None. 
6.4 HR -  None. 
6.5 Equalities -  None. 
6.6 Risk -  None. 
6.7 Customer Service -  None.  

 
 
Steve Barrett, Interim Head of Strategic Finance 
Dick Walsh Council Leader and Policy Lead for Strategic Finance 
 
 
For further information please contact Peter Cupples, Finance Manager – 
Corporate Support 01546-604183. 
 
Appendix 1 – Economic Background  
Appendix 2 – Interest Rate Forecast 
Appendix 3 – Prudential Indicators 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Appendix 1 
 

Economic background: 
 

 

 During the quarter ended 30th June 2015: 

o The economic recovery slowed in the first quarter; 

o Survey measures pointed to renewed vigour in Q2; 

o Wage growth picked up as the labour market tightens; 

o Deflation lasted only one month, but the outlook remain 

subdued; 

o Another split vote on the MPC drew nearer, but a rate hike this 

year remained unlikely; 

o The general election confirmed that the fiscal squeeze will re-

intensify next year; 

o The possibility of a “Grexit” became greater. 

 The latest economic data showed that the recovery slowed in the first 

quarter. However, the latest National Accounts painted the recovery in 

a better light than previously thought. Indeed, Q1’s quarterly GDP 

growth estimate was nudged up from 0.3% to 0.4% on the back of 

some stronger construction data. What’s more, given the strength of 

the business surveys, we wouldn’t be surprised if Q1’s growth figure 

was revised even higher in time.  

 In any case, the surveys suggest that the recovery got swiftly back on 

track in Q2. On the basis of past form, the average level of the 

Markit/CIPS composite PMI is consistent with quarterly GDP growth of 

around 0.8%. And the Bank of England’s Agents’ scores point to a 

similarly-strong pick-up. Granted, only limited official data has been 

published so far for Q2, but April’s industrial production and trade 

figures paint an encouraging picture for the economic recovery at the 

start of the quarter.  

 Early indicators suggest that the recovery in household spending has 

maintained plenty of momentum in Q2. Although retail sales volumes 

rose by just 0.2% on the previous month in May, this followed a 0.9% 

rise in April. Accordingly, even if sales volumes were unchanged in 

June, they would still have risen by 0.9% over Q2 as a whole, matching 

Q1’s rise. What’s more, spending off the high street looks to have 

remained robust as well. The Bank of England’s Agents’ Score of 

turnover in the services sector points to a further acceleration in 

nominal spending on services in the near term. In addition, the latest 



consumer confidence figures suggest that households still think now is 

a good time to undertake major purchases.  

 Household spending should continue to be supported by developments 

in the labour market. The ILO unemployment rate has now fallen to 

5.5%, not far above pre-crisis levels. And the employment rate is the 

highest since records began. The significant tightening in the labour 

market over the past eighteen months or so has begun to feed through 

into pay, with annual growth in headline average weekly earnings 

(excluding bonuses) picking up to 2.7% in April, its strongest since 

February 2009. We expect nominal wage growth to strengthen a bit 

further over the coming months as the unemployment rate continues to 

nudge down. The subdued outlook for inflation should underpin real 

wage growth. 

 The latest consumer prices figures showed that deflation lasted just 

one month. CPI inflation rose from -0.1% in April to +0.1% in May, 

reflecting the slower pace of falls in food prices and a rebound in petrol 

prices. We had stressed for a long while that deflation was likely to be 

fleeting, as it primarily reflected temporary external factors such as the 

fall in energy prices and food prices, as well as an appreciation in 

sterling, rather than weakness in domestic demand. Meanwhile, there 

have not been any signs that very low inflation has had any adverse 

second round effects on inflation expectations or spending decisions. 

Nonetheless, inflation looks set to hover just above zero for the next six 

months, and it wouldn’t take much during that period, perhaps a 

renewed 10% fall in the oil price, for the UK to be tipped back into 

deflation.  

 Unsurprisingly, then, the Monetary Policy Committee do not appear to 

be in any rush to raise interest rates.  Granted, the minutes of June’s 

MPC meeting showed that for two members, the decision to leave rates 

on hold was “finely balanced”. And a recent interview with the Financial 

Times, resident MPC hawk Martin Weale suggested that he is not too 

far off restoring his vote to raise rates again. But with inflation close to 

zero, the first budget of the next parliament due to be published in July, 

and the situation in Greece becoming increasingly troubling, it looks 

that they will wait at least another few months before turning against 

the grain again. And with the rest of the committee likely to stand pat 

for even longer, it looks unlikely that there will be an increase in interest 

rates this year. Indeed, we still think that the first hike in Bank Rate will 

occur in Q2 next year, broadly in line with market expectations.  

 Meanwhile, with the Conservatives winning an outright majority in 

May’s general election, the fiscal squeeze is set to re-intensify next 

year. We will know more detail about the Chancellor’s plans at the 



Budget on the 8th July, but we already know that in order to meet their 

manifesto pledge, the Conservatives will have to implement a fiscal 

consolidation worth around 5% of GDP over the next four years. And 

given that they have pledged to not increase VAT, income tax or 

national insurance in the next parliament, more of the planned squeeze 

will have to come through cuts to spending than in the last parliament. 

Admittedly, these plans may be watered down, but it is clear that fiscal 

policy will be a hindrance, not a help, to the economic recovery over 

the next few years, and underlines that monetary policy will have to 

remain extremely accommodative. Meanwhile, the general election 

brought with it another cloud to the economic recovery – namely a 

referendum on the UK’s membership of the European Union which 

could happen during 2016, though a May date now appears unlikely.  

 Internationally, the major development over the past quarter has been 

the deterioration of the situation in Greece. At the time of writing, the 

country is still a member of the euro-zone, but its future as part of the 

single currency has become increasingly uncertain. Greece urgently 

needs financial assistance in order to meet its debt repayments, but is 

unwilling to accept the reforms which creditors demand in exchange for 

funds. The situation is so severe that emergency capital controls have 

been imposed in order to stop the Greek banking system from 

collapsing. It is still possible that Greece and its creditors are able to 

strike a last-minute deal, but it is clear that this is likely to only offer a 

short-term solution, and Greece will need to undertake substantial debt 

restructuring or outright default if it is to return its public finances to a 

sustainable position in the long run. Whilst the UK’s direct economic 

and financial exposures to Greece are small, there could be an adverse 

impact on the UK’s economy from a wider fallout and period of general 

financial market instability that would be likely to prevail if a “Grexit” 

were to occur.  

 Finally, UK equity prices have significantly underperformed their US 

counterparts since the beginning of Q2, with the FTSE 100 falling by 

2.3%, whilst the S&P 500 has fallen by only 0.5%. That said, UK equity 

prices have performed better than those in Europe, which have been 

hit by renewed fears of a Grexit. Meanwhile, sterling has remained 

strong against the euro, due to these fears as well as the ECB’s 

ongoing programme of Quantitative Easing. UK 10-year government 

bond yields have also increased by about 50 basis points since the 

beginning of Q2. This probably reflects a confluence of factors, such as 

easing fears of a prolonged bout of deflation, and growing concerns 

about the impact of a deterioration in the situation in the euro-zone. In 

any case, gilt yields had looked too low early this year given the 

fundamental strength of the economic recovery.  



Appendix 2 
 

Interest Rate Forecast: 
 

Our treasury management advisers, Capita Asset Services have provided us 

with the following update to their interest rate forecasts. 

Change in market sentiment and outlook 

 There has been very little change in our forecasts since our previous 

forecast in February.  We have moved back the start of the increases in 

Bank Rate by one quarter, to quarter 2 of 2016, to reflect a lowering of 

forecasts for growth, and in line with comments from the Bank of England. 

 In its May Inflation Report, the Bank of England reduced its forecasts for 

annual growth from 2.9% to 2.5% in 2015 and 2.7% in 2016.  2017 growth 

was forecast at 2.4% from 2.7%. There were a number of contributing 

factors to these downward revisions. 

 UK quarterly growth in quarter 1 2015 was disappointing and slowed to 

0.4% (2.9% y/y), from 0.8% (3.4% y/y), in the previous quarter.  

 The Bank also took a more pessimistic view on the rate of, and timing of, 

the keenly hoped for recovery of growth in labour productivity and of 

increases in wages; it cut its forecast for wages growth in 2015 from 3.5% 

to 2.5%. This is despite strong growth in employment and continuing 

reductions in the rate of unemployment; employment increased by 202,000 

in the three months January to March and by 1.25m over the last two 

years. Unemployment has dropped by 386,000 over the last year and the 

unemployment rate has fallen to 5.5%.  On the other hand, job vacancies 

stood at 736,000 in the last quarter, close to their highest level since 

records began in 2001.  Despite all this positive news, annual wage 

increases (excluding bonuses) in the last three months were only 1.9%. 

For this recovery to become sustainable over the longer term, there must 

be a recovery in the growth of productivity and real wages in excess of the 

rate of inflation. 

 The election of a majority Conservative Government which is going to 

implement significant cuts in government expenditure, in order to reduce 

the size of the annual budget deficit, will slow GDP growth marginally. 

 CPI inflation dipped into deflation territory, falling to -0.1%. This dip into 

deflation will only last for a short period until the fall in the prices of oil and 

food drop out of the twelve month calculation of CPI, especially during Q4 

2015, when inflation is expected to tick up markedly.  The latest Inflation 

Report clearly shows an anticipated rise in inflation to being slightly above 

the 2% target in the two to three year time horizon. 



 Greece: the Greek government led by the anti EU and anti-austerity party 

Syriza, is making a strong push to renegotiate the austerity programme 

and debt repayments.  This has been met with a robust rejection by the 

ECB, EU and IMF.  There is, therefore, a risk that this could end with 

Greece leaving the Euro.  However, the Eurozone has put in place 

sufficient firewalls that a Greek exit would have little direct impact on the 

rest of the EZ and the Euro. The Spanish local elections this quarter 

surprised analysts due to a strong showing by the anti-austerity party.  

However, there is considerable debate as to whether this level of support 

will transfer from a protest vote at local level into the general election at a 

national level which is coming up soon.  

 We remain concerned at the level of potential risk surrounding the 

government and corporate debt of several of the major emerging 

economies, from the perspective of both the potential for default in some 

countries and also a sharp swing in investor sentiment: investors have 

previously sought out higher yields in these economies during an extended 

period when yields in western countries have been heavily suppressed.  

 Clients should expect a high level of volatility in PWLB rates over 2015, 

depending on how long it takes to decide what will happen in Greece and 

as other factors impinge on market and investor sentiment.  We would not 

be surprised to see PWLB rates swinging by 50 bps in a quarter, which 

makes any forecasts in the shorter term subject to a much higher level of 

volatility than has been usual. 

The American economy experienced disappointing growth in quarter 1 2015, 

contracting by 0.2% on an annualised basis, due to bad weather hitting 

construction and consumer spending, a ports strike and the near 20% 

appreciation in the value of the dollar.  However, it is expected to recover 

strongly in quarter 2 and resume its trend of making a full recovery from the 

financial crash.  GDP growth for 2014 as a whole of 2.4% holds great promise 

for strong growth going forward and for further falls in unemployment.  It is 

therefore expected that the Fed will start on the first increase in the Fed rate 

during 2015 and is likely to be ahead of the UK in being the first major western 

country to raise rates.    

 
As for the Eurozone, the ECB fired its big bazooka in announcing a massive 

€1.1 trillion programme of Quantitative Easing in January 2015 to buy up high 

credit quality government debt of selected EZ countries. This programme 

started in March and will run to September 2016. This seems to have already 

had a beneficial impact in improving confidence and sentiment.  There has 

also been a continuing trend of marginal increases in the GDP growth rate 

which hit 0.4% in quarter 1 2015 (1.0% y/y). Deflation has also ended with a 

return into positive territory with an increase from 0.0% in April to +0.3% in 

May.  In May, ten year bond yields shot up by around 50 bps after having 

dipped to near zero for a brief period. 



CAPITA ASSET SERVICES FORWARD VIEW  

Economic forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 

weighing on the UK. Our Bank Rate forecasts, (and also MPC decisions), will 

be liable to further amendment depending on how economic data transpires 

over 2015. Forecasts for average earnings beyond the three year time horizon 

will be heavily dependent on economic and political developments. Major 

volatility in bond yields is likely to endure as investor fears and confidence ebb 

and flow between favouring more risky assets i.e. equities, or the safe haven 

of bonds.  

The overall longer run trend is for gilt yields and PWLB rates to rise, due to 

the high volume of gilt issuance in the UK, and of bond issuance in other 

major western countries.  Increasing investor confidence in eventual world 

economic recovery is also likely to compound this effect as recovery will 

encourage investors to switch from bonds to equities.   

The overall balance of risks to economic recovery in the UK is currently evenly 

balanced. Only time will tell just how long this current period of strong 

economic growth will last; it also remains exposed to vulnerabilities in a 

number of key areas. 

We would, however, remind clients of the view that we have expressed in our 

previous interest rate revision newsflashes of just how unpredictable PWLB 

rates and bond yields are at present.  We are experiencing exceptional levels 

of volatility which are highly correlated to geo-political and sovereign debt 

crisis developments.  Our revised forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate 

(minus 20 bps) which has been accessible to most authorities since 1st 

November 2012.   

 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include:  

 Geopolitical risks in Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Asia, 

increasing safe haven flows;  

 UK strong economic growth being weaker than we currently anticipate;  

 Weak growth or recession in the UK’s main trading partners - the EU, 

US and China;  

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis; 

 Recapitalisation of European banks requiring more government 

financial support; 

 Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and to 

combat the threat of deflation in western economies, especially the 

Eurozone and Japan 

 



The potential for upside risks to UK gilt yields and PWLB rates, especially for 
longer term PWLB rates include: - 

 Uncertainty around the risk of a UK exit from the EU; 

 The ECB severely disappointing financial markets with a programme of 

asset purchases which proves insufficient to significantly stimulate 

growth in the EZ;   

 The commencement by the US Federal Reserve of increases in the 

Fed. funds rate in 2015, causing a fundamental reassessment by 

investors of the relative risks of holding bonds as opposed to equities 

and leading to a major flight from bonds to equities; 

 UK inflation returning to significantly higher levels than in the wider EU 

and US, causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt 

yields. 

 
 



 

APPENDIX 3 : PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS

PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2015/16 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

(1).  EXTRACT FROM BUDGET

Original 

Estimate

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Outturn

Forecast 

Outturn

Capital Expenditure £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

    Non - HRA 45,505 45,505 20,273 10,140

    TOTAL 45,505 45,505 20,273 10,140

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream

    Non - HRA 8.24% 8.24% 7.96% 7.55%

Net borrowing requirment

    brought forward 1 April * 257,823 256,079 271,002 262,658

    carried forward 31 March * 272,746 271,002 262,658 252,874

    in year borrowing requirement 14,923 14,923 (8,344) (9,784)

In year Capital Financing Requirement

    Non - HRA 14,923 14,923 (8,344) (9,784)

    TOTAL 14,923 14,923 (8,344) (9,784)

Capital Financing Requirement as at 31 March 

    Non - HRA 272,746 271,002 262,658 252,874

    TOTAL 272,746 271,002 262,658 252,874

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions £   p £   p £   p £   p

   Increase in Council Tax (band D) per annum 35.36 35.36 5.23 0.00

PRUDENTIAL INDICATOR 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

(2).  TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS £'M £'M £'M

Authorised limit for external debt - 

    borrowing 203 220 215

    other long term liabilities 83 83 83

     TOTAL 286 303 298

Operational boundary for external debt - 

     borrowing 198 215 210

     other long term liabilities 80 80 80

     TOTAL 278 295 290

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure

    Principal re fixed rate borrowing 195% 190% 190%

Upper limit for variable rate exposure

    Principal re variable rate borrowing 60% 60% 60%

Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days £20m £20m £20m

     (per maturity date)

Maturity structure of new fixed rate borrowing during 2014/15

        under 12 months 

       12 months and within 24 months

        24 months and within 5 years

        5 years and within 10 years

        10 years and above

upper limit lower limit

30% 0%

30% 0%

30% 0%

40% 0%

80% 0%





1

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND 
SCRUNITY COMMITTEE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 27 AUGUST 2015

PERFORMANCE REPORT – FQ1 2015-16

1. SUMMARY

1.1 The Planning and Performance Management Framework sets out the process 
for presentation of the council’s quarterly performance reports. This paper 
presents the Council and Departmental performance reports with associated 
scorecards for performance in FQ1 2015-16 (April - June 2015).

1.2 It is recommended that the PRS Committee reviews the reports and 
scorecards as presented.

Sally Loudon
Chief Executive



2

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND 
SCRUNITY COMMITTEE

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 27 AUGUST 2015

PERFORMANCE REPORT – FQ1 2015-16

2. SUMMARY

2.1 The Planning and Performance Management Framework sets out the process 
for presentation of the council’s quarterly performance reports. This paper 
presents the Council and Departmental performance reports with associated 
scorecards for performance in FQ1 2015-16 (April - June 2015).

2.2 Performance is reviewed by the Strategic Committees on the following dates, 
and is presented to the PRS Committee for high level review and scrutiny.

Community Services September 10th 
Environment, Development & Infrastructure August 13th 
Policy & Resources August 20th 
Planning, Protective Services & Licensing August 19th 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 It is recommended that the PRS Committee reviews the reports and scorecards 
as presented.

Sally Loudon
Chief Executive

 



3

Departmental performance report for:   Development and Infrastructure Services        Period:  April to June 2015
Key successes

1. Following an efficient roll out of increased recycling services to the Cowal area, an increase of 43% in recycling tonnages was 
recorded in the first quarter of the new recycling service being provided to 8500 households.  Across the areas, the 
combined comingled monthly average of 253 tonnes has risen from an average of 187 tonnes collected per month before the new 
service was introduced. This equates to an increase of 35% and provides a significant contribution to reducing waste sent to landfill.

2. Campbeltown CHORD berthing facility was completed with the formal launch taking place in late June.  Complimenting other key 
regeneration works already delivered, the new marina includes shore side facilities and provides huge potential to improve tourism in 
Campbeltown and the Kintyre area valued at around £300k per annum following an economic impact assessment.  The marina is 
already reporting advance bookings are strong and customer feedback from visiting yachtsmen has been very positive.   

3. The formal opening of the CHORD £7M newly transformed Helensburgh town centre investment also took place in late June.  This 
public realm project was delivered within budget and has seen Colquhoun Square, adjacent streets and the esplanade transformed 
to improve access to local shops and already businesses are seeing the benefits of the scheme.  The high quality finish and access 
improvements have been well regarded with the council receiving lots of positive feedback.

4. The £600k public realm improvement project in Oban’s Stafford Street is now complete marking the start of the delivery of major 
regeneration improvements for the town with a further phase of public realm planned to George Street, Queen’s Park Place and 
Station Square with completion due by summer 2016.  The improvements to Stafford Street include 90 metres of terraced seating 
overlooking Oban bay and an open area for small scale events which includes Wi-Fi infrastructure.

5. Planning approval was granted for the new Maritime Visitor facility in Oban.
6. The Masterplan for Machrihanish Airbase was agreed setting out the strategic development framework which will create the right 

conditions for economic growth.  The masterplan describes and maps an overall development concept and is the key document for 
developers to refer to, providing a clear and consistent framework for development, giving investors real certainty.

7. Argyll and Bute Economic Forum held their second meeting in June progressing priority actions identified in tourism, food production, 
youth and education that are being developed through the economic sub-groups. The Forum meets again in August.

8. Roads reconstruction projects are progressing particularly well with appropriately 72% of this year’s capital programme worth £4.3M 
delivered during this quarter.  The surfacing programme which accounts for £2.3M of this programme has already been delivered.  

9. 97% of emergency road repairs were dealt with within the required timescale, against a target of 90%; this performance was 
achieved against an increase in the number of potholes resulting from the poor weather experienced during spring and early 
summer.  Potholing is being addressed through increased use of the jetpatcher machines. This is possible due to a bulk bitumen 
tanker having been added to the fleet. This significantly reduces the cost of bitumen (previously purchased in barrels) allowing more 
repairs to be carried out for the same budget.

10. £265k for grant funded projects has come from Sustrans.  £100k was secured for Fionnphort Village to Community Hall Link; £25k 
was secured for the Helensburgh / Lomond Cycleway; and a provisional £140k has been awarded subject to the fulfilment of the 



4

project objectives for A815 Sandhaven to Invereck footway.  
11. ‘Streetfeet’ pedestrian training took place in Castehill, Park, Dunbeg, Lochgilphead and Rhu Primary Schools delivering invaluable 

life skills to 123 primary 3 age school children during this quarter.  Feedback from parents has been very positive.
12. The new Oban and the Isles Airports website went live; the contract for the PSO Argyll and the Isles air services was successfully 

negotiated for the next 3 years; and 924 Argyll Air Service passengers were carried during the first quarter of 2015/16 representing 
an increase of 4% on the same quarter in the previous year.

13. Strong performance is reported in street cleansing, demonstrating that the new work programmes relating to the Local 
Environmental Teams (LETS) and street sweeping operation are effective. 

14. Argyll and Bute continues to provide popular film set locations.  During this quarter 41 new filming enquiries were responded to and 
20 productions were filmed.  This included 2 productions by the BBC both involving a cast and crew of approximately 60 people 
providing short and long term economic benefits to the area.  The music video filmed on Easdale Island and Ellenabeich in the 
spring, which involved a cast and crew of approximately 65 people (including 6 locals) received positive feedback and good media 
coverage through the Scotsman Newspaper.  

15. Business Gateway supported 28 new business start-ups during this period, compared to 17 during quarter 4, 2014/15.  Business 
advice and workshop support was provided to 34 businesses and is anticipated to rise once the new European funding programmes 
come on stream in the autumn.  

16. One year survival rate for new businesses supported by Business Gateway in Argyll and Bute stands at 85%, above the target of 
77% and above the national benchmark of 77%.  The latest three year survival rate reported was 70%, above target and above 
national benchmark performance of 60%.  

17. Food exports including shellfish are important economically for Argyll.  During the last quarter Environmental Health successfully 
supported food safety audits undertaken by government representatives from China and Namibia on specific premises in Argyll 
ensuring continued trading.  

18. Working with the police to target scams, two tactical tasking reports were submitted to Trading Standards Scotland supporting a 
coordinated approach to intelligence lead local and internet consumer protection.

19. The Core Path Plan was formally adopted by the council.  The Core Path team have formalised a closer working relationship with 
Argyll Coast and Country Trust resulting in establishment of a Long Distance Routes Forum which will seek source funding, co-
ordinate maintenance and promote access for leisure, tourism and economic objectives.  The Access team also secured £8.5k 
funding for active travel signage in place around Lochgilphead with 8 miles of routes promoted through quality street signage.  
Similar work has now begun for Dunoon and will be implemented later in 2015.

20. Planning application approval attained 97% and exceeded the target of 90% for the 10th consecutive quarter. The average number of 
weeks to determine planning applications fell to 9.9 against a target of 12 weeks and a national average of 11 weeks.  Pre-
application enquiries rose by 2% points to 86% on the previous quarter and registration and validation of applications within the 5 
day target was 91% against a target of 90%.  This level of performance ensures Argyll and Bute Planning service continues to be 
amongst the top performing planning authorities in Scotland.     



5

21. Housing completions exceeded the target with 80 delivered during the first quarter of 2015/16.  The annual target is 300 units.  
22. Building Standards exceeded all performance targets and issued a further edition of their well-received service newsletter.  

Key challenges

1. Delivery of the key outcomes of the Single Outcome Agreement to achieve long term strategic development of the local 
economy; continued pursuit of job creation; raising awareness of and influencing issues affecting the local economy; informing 
multi-agency business planning to support the local economy; enabling better communication between sectors to improve the 
local economy; and promoting inward investment to Argyll and Bute.

2. As part of the Scottish Ferry Services Plan (2013-2022) progress the transfer of responsibilities to Transport Scotland for ferry 
services on the routes Port Askaig to Feolin, Port Appin to Lismore Point, Cuan to Luing and Ellenabeich to Easdale.   

3. As part of the SFSP managing the combined impact of the Road Equivalent Tariff (RET) pricing and Transport Scotland’s Vessel 
Replacement Strategy with respect to the Oban to Craignure ferry route.   

4. Supporting the Dairy farming sector which faces significant global market challenges over the price of milk with the future viability 
of the dairy sector.

5. Continue to recycle and treat waste in the medium to longer term environmentally, efficiently and effectively.
6. Improve energy efficiency performance and reducing the running costs of street lighting through the introduction of a programme 

of energy efficient lighting. The proposal for the energy efficiency scheme is to replace lanterns with low energy units utilising the 
energy revenue savings to fund the capital investment required.

7. The current financial model associated with contractual delivery of the UK Government’s Welfare to Work contracts is becoming 
increasingly untenable for the Employability Team and there is continuing need to consider opportunities for greater income 
generation and cost savings.

8. Attracting and retaining suitably skilled staff, particularly in certain professions such as environmental health.  
9. Reducing the number of work days lost through sickness absence.

Actions to address the challenges

1. Maintain the focus on the Single Outcome Agreement aligning resources to deliver all of the ambitions associated with population 
and economic growth to the area.  Supporting the work of the Economic Forum and sub-groups through the new generation 
EDAPs that will deliver positive economic outcomes.

2. Detailed operating costs compiled and passed to Transport Scotland to facilitate a decision over the future of ferry services on 
the routes Port Askaig to Feolin, Port Appin to Lismore Point, Cuan to Luing and Ellenabeich to Easdale. 

3. A Project Board has been formed with Transport Scotland, CALMAC, CMAL and the council to investigate the feasibility of the 
RET and the requirements necessary to accommodate a larger passenger and vehicle ferry. 

4. Working with the NFUS and key partners through the Agricultural Forum to provide what support we can to the dairy sector.



6

5. Negotiations ongoing between the council, Shanks and community groups over landfill bans in 2020, whilst continuing to work 
with the community to improve and increase recycling performance. 

6. Progress the full business case for energy efficient lighting which is due in November 2015.
7. The financial performance of the Employability Team will continue to be closely monitored so that corrective action can be taken 

if it is anticipated that a break even position is not realised.
8. To counter recruitment and retention difficulties in certain sectors, managers are progressing targeted recruitment, including 

redeployment opportunities and staff development programmes.  
9. Effective application of the council’s Maximising Attendance Policy, ensuring that return to work interviews are completed, 

addressing any managerial performance concerns in that respect and ensuring timely referral to occupational health to support 
employees back to work.  



7



8



9

Performance Report for  Customer Services Period  April – June 2015
Key Successes
1. Boundary Commission review Council response agreed and submitted
2. UK Parliamentary Election completed successfully
3. Judicial review for Loch Etive dismissed, Council decision notice upheld as valid, expenses to be recovered from Pursuer
4. The external surveillance audit of the catering quality management system identified no non-conformances together with several 

areas of good practice.
5. DWP wish to extend the Local Support Services Trial by further 3 months to end of November 2015.
6. Bid for Fraud and Error Maintenance Fund was successful and now starting to hit target thresholds for benefit savings.

Key Challenges
1. Work progressing on submission of Customer Excellence Award evidence for Governance and Law
2. Triennial Review of Civic Government licences taking place this summer
3. Delay to completion of Helensburgh Office Rationalisation Project
4. Managers continue to address both short term and long term absence in the Catering and Cleaning service 
5. Work underway on Service Choices submissions 
6. To finalise order for Scottish Wide Area Network in July, and achieve anticipated savings for Service Choices and the move into 

detailed implementation planning phase

Action Points to address the Challenges
1 Experienced  team in place to prepare evidence for submission 
2 Team have prepared a plan to deal with the volume of applications and maintain close liaison with key consultees
3 Practical completion has been granted by the consultant project manager, however there are still substantial matters requiring 

resolution before a certificate of occupation can be granted.  Day to day scrutiny of on-site progress is being maintained by full-time 
clerk of works and the Projects Architectural Team are visiting the site twice weekly to agree any outstanding details/finishes and 
offer observations to be attended to by the contractor

4 Absence management is prioritised, and attendance review meetings are scheduled to tie in with other work in the localities to 
maximise efficiency

5 Key staff working on the necessary elements to make timeous submission of reports 
6 Continue engagement with PathfinderNorth and Capita and service departments to determine best technology based on 

bandwidths being used and proposed prices, and finalise order by end of July. Commence implementation planning.



10



11



12

Departmental performance report for Community Services        period  April to June 2015
Key Successes

 Sickness absence is below target for education (including teachers), community and culture and children and families.  The 
performance of Adult Care has improved this quarter and the average days lost are 3.74 against a target of 3.73.

 91% of our customer queries were resolved at first contact.  This is an increase form 65% in FQ4 2014/15
 There have been 20 affordable social sector new builds completed (12 completed at Duchess Ct, Helensburgh and 8 completed 

at Connel)
 The new HOMEArgyll website is up and running, this has been developed in partnership with all of our Registered Social 

Landlords.
 There has been an increase in the number of adults achieving accredited learning outcomes through Community Based Adult 

Learning 188 compared to 122 for the same period last year.
 There has been a marked increase in the number of participants of activities that improve literacy and numeracy, 664 participants 

against a target of 280.  The figure for FQ1 shows the highest number of participants recorded.
 There has been increased uptake in the “IT for Employability”, which has increased to 110 from 77 in FQ4.
 There have been 440 capacity building support sessions have been given to community groups this quarter, compared to 198 for 

the same period last year.
 90% of children on the child protection register have had no change of social worker from date of registration; this shows an 

increase from the previous quarter.
 Shellach View Childrens Unit was inspected in May 2015 and received grade 5s (very good) across all indicators by the Care 

Inspectorate.
 Argyll and Bute Council and NHS Highland successfully applied for grant funding of £400,000 from the Scottish Government’s 

Technology Enabled Care Development Programme. Our TEC project was launched in April and the aim of transforming the  
provision of home care by removing the barrier of distance in providing person centred care, giving people a greater choice and 
control in health, care and wellbeing services.

 The number of enhanced telecare packages has risen to 487 from the previous quarter.
 96% of Argyll and Bute Addictions Team clients entered treatment for drug and alcohol addictions within 21 days from referral,   

the Scottish Government HEAT 11 standard is 90%. 
 We have increased the number of extracurricular sports opportunities for schools from 242 in Term 2 2014/15 to 283 in Term 3 

2014/15
 A very successful technology showcase event was held in Dunoon, encouraging young people to think about future career 

opportunities in the technology sector in addition to showcasing their talents.  
 Dunoon Primary School’s Pro-Gamers team of three eleven and twelve-year-olds fought off challenges from schools across 

Scotland to win the Scottish Microsoft ‘Kodu Kup’ at West College Scotland on 17 June.  4 primary schools from Argyll and Bute 



13

were finalists.
 Ardrishaig, Strone and Ulva Primary schools successfully applied for Food for Thought Grants.
 In April Oban High School pipe band travelled to New York to take place in the Tartan Day Parade and in June the pipe band 

came 4th in the European championships.
 Park Primary are the Scottish Shinty Champions they won shinty’s most prestigious competition the MacKay Cup beating 

Newtonmore convincingly 7 – 1 in the final.    
 Roots of Empathy, a programme to develop empathy and emotional literacy and delivered in partnership by trainers from  the 

Early Years Service and Health, held a very successful event for trainers and class teachers in June to celebrate success and 
share best practice.

 Over the past year the Early Years Service has been working closely with practitioners to evaluate the ‘Developmental Milestone 
Tool’. The Early Years Team delivered training on the tool to 98% of settings by the end of June 2015.  

Key Challenges
1. Progressing the integration of Health and Social Care Services. 
2. Development and consultation on the three year strategic plan for health and social care integration.
3. Reducing the number of days lost through sickness absence across Community Services.  
4. Maintaining the Community Payback Order service given the broad dispersal of offenders which impacts on the ability to construct 

supervised work squads. 
5. Recruitment and training of foster carers given the highly successful move towards permanence which reduces available foster 

placements.   
6. Increasing the percentage of children on the Child Protection Register (CPR) with a completed Child Protection (CP) plan.  This  has 

remained under target for the last 3 quarters, reflecting the increasing levels of quality assurance activity prior to signing off 
completed plans.  

7. Increasing participation in sport and athlete development within restricted budgets and the delivery of Commonwealth Games 
Legacy Plan within existing resources. 

8. Monitoring the allocation of Registered Social Landlord (RSL) lets to homeless households. However it is worth noting that this is 
partly attributable to the increase in the number of new housing completions in the quarter. 

9. Reviewing the implementation of the new National Qualifications. 
10.Meeting the requirements of new legislation e.g. Self Directed Support Act, Children and Young People’s Act 2014 and Community 

Empowerment Act, etc. and emerging legislative changes such as the Education Bill and Carers Bill. 
11.Recruitment issues for both in house and commissioned care at home services impacting on range of care options available in 

certain areas.
12.Demographic changes giving rise to growth in service demand across a range of client groups, in particular older persons, which 

present both financial and service delivery pressures. 



14

13.Achieving target for the completion of PDRs during the quarter. Please note that all teaching staff are now subject to The 
Professional Update process as part of their professional registration. This process replicates the PRD process for teaching staff and 
therefore the PRD figures for both Education and the wider Community Services reflects this.

14.Overall numbers of delayed discharge clients have increased from 14 in FQ1.  Of the 20, 6 were adults without capacity (therefore 
subject to legal proceedings, 6 are under the national target of 2 weeks and the remainder were waiting on specialist housing and 
family agreement on support packages.

15.The % of child protection investigations with an inter-agency planning meeting taking place within 24 hours continues to be 
challenging.  This measure is affected by issues around out of hours access to health advice within the IRTD process which is 
currently being addressed by the Chief Officer Integration.

16. Increasing positive destinations for young people in the current economic climate
17.Ongoing challenges associated with teacher recruitment in certain locations and for certain subjects to assist the authority to meeting 

its commitment in relation to teacher numbers.

Action points to address the challenges

1. The timescale for integration has been established as April 2016. The scheme of integration has been agreed, the integration joint 
board is formally established in August 2015 and the project team are developing a consulting on the three year strategic plan.  The 
project team are also progressing 7 workstreams that will deliver on the project plan to prepare for an integrated service.

2. A first draft of the three year strategic plan is currently out to consultation with a more detailed second draft scheduled for 
consultation prior to the end of the calendar year.

3. Continue to work to ensure that return to work interviews are completed for all periods of sickness absence by targeting individual 
Managers and Team Leaders in the context of performance. Staff to be offered appropriate support in the management of this issue. 

4. Working with partners to identify suitable community projects and supervision arrangements to facilitate the discharge of community 
payback orders. 

5. The Fostering and Adoption service is currently undertaking a recruitment campaign. Preparation for foster carers is being run 
throughout Argyll and Bute however it takes 6 months before new carers are approved by the Fostering and Adoption Panel. There 
are currently 21 families going through the assessment process which will enhance the capacity for foster placements and 
permanency for looked after children.

6. Improvement of quality assurance procedures prior to final sign off for Child Protection Plans. Practice Leads will review the quality 
of plans with frontline staff and leading to improvements in the practice standards. 

7. Work in partnership with schools, clubs and communities to maximise use of volunteers and resources. 
8. Ongoing discussions taking place with RSL partners to ensure homeless households maintain priority in relation to future allocations. 
9. Continue to support work on curriculum design to reflect the new Curriculum for Excellence framework and training on the new 

secondary benchmarking toolkit. The examination results for session 2014/15 will be analysed in detail and used to review the 



15

curricula available within secondary schools.
10.Working with IRISS along with commissioned care at home providers to better coordinate resources and to improve recruitment into 

care at home posts. Additional work is ongoing to review the model of care for care at home services and the contractual 
arrangements for staff.

11.Ongoing service redesign (all care groups) to try to mitigate growth in service demand. 
12.Agreement of a new process for the recording of PRDs which will include a review of the quality of completed reviews.  
13.Additional focus on preventing admission to hospital and accelerating discharge being undertaken in conjunction with NHS Highland 

and supported by delayed discharge funding
14.Recruiting and retaining staff who focus on developing consistency and quality. 
15.Continue to work with the Council’s HR service to advertise and recruit into vacant posts within the Oban and Mid Argyll areas. 
16. Interim arrangements being put in place by NHS Highland to ensure that there is access to health advice for out of hours and 

weekend IRTDs
17.Detailed and individualised information and advice for school leavers being provided in conjunction with Skills Development 

Scotland.  Multi agency plan to meet the recommendations of Scotland’s Young Workforce currently being implemented.
18.Development of a postgraduate diploma in Education in conjunction with Argyll College UHI as part of our “Growing Our Own” 

teacher programme – first intake in September 2015; provision made for accommodating probationer teachers; assistance with 
accommodation for newly recruited teachers; detailed teacher and newly appointed head teacher induction and development 
programmes.



16



17



18

Performance Report for  Council Scorecard Period April – June 2015
Key Successes
1. The Health and Social Care Integration Scheme has been approved by the Scottish Government, this allows the Integrated 

Joint Board to become legally constituted.
2. The Outline Strategic Plan for the Health and Social Integration Scheme has gone out for public consultation with feedback 

welcomed until the end of July 2015
3. Members’ Seminar was held to present all of the Service Choices options 
4. LEON – our new on-line elearning tool was launched. LEON takes the number of elearning courses available up to 400
5. Corporate Plan 2015-17 approved

Key Challenges
1. Progressing the integration of Health and Social Care Services. 
2. Reducing the number of days lost through sickness absence.
3. Service Choices.

Action Points to address the Challenges
1. Timescale for integration has been established as April 2016. All board members have now been appointed to the Integrated 

Joint Board. Three Heads of Service are now appointed with transitional staffing arrangements in place.
2. Continue to work to ensure that return to work interviews are completed for all periods of sickness absence by targeting 

individual Managers in the context of performance. Employees continue to be offered appropriate support. 
3. Process in place to assess and review impact of any proposed service reductions. Members’ Seminar planned for 3 August 

2015 to enable scrutiny of Service Choices options to take place.



19



20



1

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL Performance Review and Scrutiny 
Committee

Customer Services 27/08/2015

Benchmarking Update

Executive Summary

The purpose of this report is to update the Performance Review and Scrutiny 
Committee on the benchmarking activity that is taking place within the Council. Argyll 
and Bute Council have been working with the Improvement Service, using the Local 
Government Benchmarking framework data to identify areas where the Council could 
share best practice or learning with other Councils. An initial report has been 
produced by the Improvement Service and consultation around this has taken place 
with Executive Directors. It is proposed that the next stage of benchmarking activity 
uses the key themes identified through stage one for further more detailed analysis. In 
addition it is proposed that the format provided by the Improvement Service forms the 
basis of the next stage of benchmarking activity which will provide context to the data.



2

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL Performance Review and Scrutiny 
Committee

Customer Services 27/08/2015

Benchmarking Update

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Performance Review and Scrutiny 
Committee (PRSC) on the ongoing work with the Improvement Service 
around benchmarking and to outline proposals for the next stage of 
benchmarking activity.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that PRSC note the contents of this report including the 
proposed template and approach for stage two of the Council’s 
benchmarking activity.

3.0 DETAIL

3.1 The Council’s  Improvement manager has been working with the 
Improvement Service to explore how the Local Government 
Benchmarking framework information can be used to support the Council 
in identifying and exploring areas where our performance differs to other 
authorities and where possible to share learning and good practice.

3.2 To date the Improvement Service has provided an initial benchmarking 
report and consultation around this has taken place with Executive 
Directors. This work has identified areas where variances can be 
quite easily explained and therefore may not warrant further analysis and 
area which may be valuable for further exploration and more detailed 
analysis. A follow up meeting with the Improvement Service took place on 
15th May to discuss the outcome of this consultation. This meeting 
presented an opportunity for the Improvement Manager to feedback some 
key points from the consultation work that was undertaken with 
departments. 

3.3 The representative from the Improvement Service acknowledged there 
are difficulties with some indicators which results in them being less 
valuable in terms of comparison and confirmed that refinement for most 
of these is already being picked up through family groups. Argyll and 
Bute’s enthusiasm to engage with the framework was noted. It was 
proposed given some of the unique challenges we are presented with, 
that the Council’s Improvement Manager is invited to attend the LGBF 
Steering Group to provide input from a rural perspective. The steering 
group meets four times per year in advance of board meetings to ensure 
discussions by the board are influenced by priorities identified by the 
steering group.



3

3.4 The framework is made up of a number of indicators, many of which 
focus on cost and satisfaction. In general consultation has shown that the 
reliability of satisfaction measures in the LGBF could be improved and 
work is ongoing around proposals for improved measures in this 
regard. Similarly for cost measures Argyll and Bute’s challenging 
geography often affects the cost of delivering services.

3.5 The engagement from departments in the consultation around the 
discussion of the data in the outline report was extremely beneficial. 
These discussions were positive and allowed officers to engage with the 
data and provide a detailed context around the indicators that provided a 
far richer context than the indicators alone. This allowed explanation of 
some obvious differences e.g. geography, issues with data collection and 
reporting that would not warrant further exploration.

3.6 The Improvement Service have developed a crib sheet (Appendix One) 
for  councils to use which provides a template that would allow for the 
rich contextual information from the consultation to be included when 
reporting performance on the framework indicators.  Appendix Two is 
an example of how West Dunbartonshire Council used the crib 
sheet as part of their public performance reporting. 

3.7 It is proposed that the themes within the crib sheet form the basis of the 
next stage of the Council’s benchmarking report and that links to this 
would then be included in the Council’s performance reporting pages on 
the website. During the consultation with departments references were 
made to internal indicators and other benchmarking activity that could be 
relevant to some of the areas within the benchmarking framework. It is 
proposed that the production of the second stage of the benchmarking 
report would present an opportunity for departments to agree which 
additional benchmarking information would be included for more detailed 
analysis.

3.8 The consultation around some indicators, for example sickness absence 
and collection of council tax resulted in a desire to learn more about the 
approach of other authorities and what is included in their figures.  In 
addition some areas of further analysis were identified that may prove 
helpful in terms of enhancing the understanding of the indicators, for 
example further analysis on whether age profile may impact on 
sickness absence statistics. The Improvement Service are happy to 
support any additional analysis and this can be included within the scope 
of the proposed template.

4.0 CONCLUSION

In conclusion this report provides an update on the benchmarking work to 
date and outlines a proposed approach for the next stage of the analysis 
and presentation of information.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Policy: Benchmarking can be used to inform areas of further scrutiny in 
terms of the outcomes achieved



4

5.2 Financial: Benchmarking allows cost comparison in a number of areas 
and shared learning where appropriate 

5.3 Legal: Benchmarking supports the Council is its delivery best value

5.4 HR: None

5.5 Equalities: None

5.6 Risk: 

5.7 Customer Service: Shared learning through benchmarking can lead to  
improved customer service

Jane Fowler, Head of Improvement and HR
                                                

For further information contact: Carolyn McAlpine, Improvement Manager 01546 
604 021
APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Improvement Service Crib Sheet
Appendix 2: West Dunbartonshire Example



What is Local Government Benchmarking Framework

Local councils provide a wide range of services for their communities. The 
information shown here is provided to help you understand how well your 
council is performing across this range of services.

Further details about [insert Council name] performance available below:

Children’s Services

Corporate Services

Adult Social Care Services

Economic Development

Environmental Services

Culture & Leisure Services

Housing Services

LGBF logo (file provided) 
To be placed at top of page 
under Council branding, if 
present.

Page header
Suggested text 
to introduce the 
Framework page.

iFrame importing 
the framework 
tool. Details on 
how to create an 
iFrame are below.

Links to further 
detail

Suggested text to 
introduce further 
information for 
each category.

Inserting an iFrame: the HTML code to pull an iFrame into a web page is <iframe src=”http://scotland.
mylocalcouncil.info/test/Default.aspx?lang=en-GB”><iframe>. This code should be positioned on the 
page where you want the iFrame to appear.  If it is not possible for you to embed an iFrame on your web-
site, we can provide alternative text to open the tool in a new page.

Building LGBF pages -
main page 

Did you find this information useful?

Link to feedback

Suggested text 
offering radio 
button yes/no or 
link to existing 
feedback eform.

mcglynns
Typewritten Text

mcglynns_1
Typewritten Text

mcglynns_2
Typewritten Text

mcglynns_3
Typewritten Text

mcglynns_4
Typewritten Text

mcglynns_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1

mcglynns_6
Typewritten Text



Building LGBF pages -
indicator category

We suggest that the LGBF logo is introduced on each category page along with the heading of the 
indicator category.  There should also be four sub headings on each page where you can publish your 
own Council’s information resources relating to that category. An example is provided below:

Children’s Services Category heading

Service Overview

E.g. a brief overview of the service area and local contextual information, including
• What is this service/what is included
• National Policy Context
• Brief local profile and contextual information to help public interpret the information
• Overview of council performance in across this whole area
• Factors which affect performance
• Links to corporate community plan/priorities/national priorities

Council Performance

E.g.
• Highlights - Description and reasons
• Areas for improvement - Description & reasons

What the Council is doing to improve services

E.g.
• Improvements already made, underway or planned
• Activity to understand performance better/learn from others e.g. family groups

How the public can get involved

E.g.
• Citizens panels; suggestion box; how do you rate our performance

Each of the four 
sub headings 
with example 
spacers below 
each heading.

Did you find this information useful?

Link to feedback

Suggested text 
offering radio 
button yes/no or 
link to existing 
feedback eform.



1

Appendix Two: West Dunbartonshire Example (Children Indicators)

Overview
Introduction
There are 12 performance indicators (PIs) in the Children's Services category. They cover a wide 
range of areas including:

 pre-school, primary and secondary school costs;
 performance of pupils in SQA exam results;
 the percentage of adults satisfied with local schools;
 the proportion of pupils entering a positive destination;
 the proportion of children being looked after in the community; and
 the costs of children being looked after in residential  based services and in community 

settings.

Seven PIs, covering school costs, exam results, satisfaction with schools and positive 
destinations, are managed by the Council's Educational Services Department. It provides a range of 
services including children's services, continuous professional development and workforce 
planning, educational development, libraries and museums, performance and improvement, and 
psychological services. You can find out more about Educational Services from their Service Plan.

Three indicators relating to looked after children are managed by the Community Health & Care 
Partnership (CHCP). It provides a range of services covering: children's health, care and criminal 
justice; strategy, planning and health improvement; mental health, learning disability and 
addictions; and community health and care services. You can find out more about the CHCP from 
their Strategic Plan.

Two indicators relating to exam results at level 5 are no longer relevant following the introduction 
of the Curriculum for Excellence in Scottish schools.  There is no data available for 2013/14 with the 
most current data relating to 2012/13. Work is ongoing at a national level to develop replacement 
indicators for these.

Our work in the areas covered by the Children's Services category is set in the wider context of 
the key national policies of Curriculum for Excellence and GIRFEC, ensuring we 'get it right for 
every child', as they grow to be responsible citizens, effective contributors, confident individuals 
and successful learners. Developing the workforce of the future is a key aim for us, in line with the 
recommendations made in Education Working For All.

Understanding variations in performance
Before looking at our performance in this category, it is important to consider the many differences 
between local authorities that contribute to variations in performance, including population, 
geography, social and economic factors, and the needs and priorities of local communities. All of 
these should be taken into account when comparing performance.

Local context
Our population stands at 89,810 (based on the current mid-year estimate), making West 
Dunbartonshire one of Scotland's smaller local authorities, accounting for 1.7% of the total 
population of Scotland.

West Dunbartonshire's population is ageing.  This ageing population profile is projected to 
continue and in West Dunbartonshire increase, with the potential to impact on all sectors of the 
economy and economic activity, while at the same time placing a greater demand on care and 
health care services.

West Dunbartonshire is an area of multiple deprivation, with higher than average levels of 
unemployment and poverty.   As a local authority, we are working hard to tackle inequality and 

http://wdccmis.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=3NC8dGZq6LwgziPUAbi1FTWAsbyDEUArj9IvGmkU%2fA9yazaPbYAVAw%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://wdccmis.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=3NC8dGZq6LwgziPUAbi1FTWAsbyDEUArj9IvGmkU%2fA9yazaPbYAVAw%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://wdccmis.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=Oqjy2jb%2b3jXEazFmGNpVtF77hL6Ir%2feO5wQl3vmJ8Tefw%2fhvOim0JQ%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://wdccmis.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=Oqjy2jb%2b3jXEazFmGNpVtF77hL6Ir%2feO5wQl3vmJ8Tefw%2fhvOim0JQ%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://wdccmis.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/CMIS5/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=Oqjy2jb%2b3jXEazFmGNpVtF77hL6Ir%2feO5wQl3vmJ8Tefw%2fhvOim0JQ%3d%3d&rUzwRPf%2bZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3d%3d=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2fLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3d%3d&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&kCx1AnS9%2fpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3d%3d=hFflUdN3100%3d&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2bAJvYtyA%3d%3d=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&FgPlIEJYlotS%2bYGoBi5olA%3d%3d=NHdURQburHA%3d&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3d&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3d
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/thecurriculum/whatiscurriculumforexcellence
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/People/Young-People/gettingitright/background
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0045/00451746.pdf


2

poverty.  We have developed strategic approaches to improving employment and economic 
growth, improving the lives of children and young people, improving the care of older people, 
improving housing and infrastructure, and improving wellbeing and protecting vulnerable groups.

You can read more about West Dunbartonshire in our Social & Economic Profile for 2014, which 
looks in detail at key areas including our population, education, regeneration, housing, economic 
activity, welfare and benefits, child poverty, crime, and the environment.

Family groups
Grouping together councils that share similar characteristics to those set out in the local context 
above (called family groups) make comparisons more meaningful and our learning more useful.

In autumn 2014, some of our key services began a process to benchmark their service against 
other councils in their family group. They will meet over several months and report the outcome of 
their benchmarking activity on our website. The outcomes from all 32 benchmarking local 
authorities will be published on the Local Government Benchmarking Framework website 
www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking

Overview of performance across the Children's Services 
category
 

The two indicators relating to exam results at level 5 have been excluded from the performance 
summary below.  They are no longer relevant following the introduction of the Curriculum for 
Excellence in Scottish schools and there is no data for 2013/14.

In the paragraphs that follow, we have highlighted how we have performed in relation to all 
Scottish councils. Please bear in mind the many differences that contribute to variations in 
performance, including social and economic factors and local priorities, as described in more 
detail in the section above.

In 2013/14:

 we performed better in 5 of the 10 indicators compared to the previous year;
 our ranking improved for 6 PIs and fell for 4 PIs compared to the previous year;
 we performed better than the Scotland figure in 4 PIs and worse in 6 PIs;
 with 32 Scottish local authorities, we were ranked in the top quartile (1st to 8th) for 2 PIs, the 

second quartile (9th to 16th) for 3 PIs, the third quartile (17th to 24th) for 1 PI and the bottom 
quartile (25th to 32nd) for 4 PIs.

Council performance
Performance highlights
 Cost per secondary pupil: With only Kilpatrick and Our Lady and St. Patrick's (OLSP) High 

School being in older premises, we have significantly improved our performance over time, 
moving from 27th to 18th. With the commitment to replace both Kilpatrick and OLSP, our 
position will improve again over time, providing learning and teaching environments required 
for the curriculum of today and tomorrow

 % of pupils gaining 5+ awards at level 6: We continue to improve the performance of our 
pupils in the senior phase of our schools year on year, up from 20.5% in 2012/13 to 24.5% in 
2013/14, resulting in a rise in ranking from 31st to 26th. We have provided support at the point 
of need, by investing in raising attainment initiatives such as supported study and master 
classes

 % of pupils from deprived areas gaining 5+ awards at level 6: We have made our biggest 
improvement in this area, with performance increasing from 9.6% to 17.8% between 2012/13 

http://www.west-dunbarton.gov.uk/media/4092086/social__economic_profile_20143.pdf
http://www.improvementservice.org.uk/benchmarking
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/thecurriculum/whatiscurriculumforexcellence
http://www.educationscotland.gov.uk/thecurriculum/whatiscurriculumforexcellence


3

and 2013/14. This has resulted in a significant rise in ranking from 13th to amongst the top 
performing local authorities in Scotland with a ranking of 3rd

 The weekly cost of £176.21 for children looked after in a community setting continues to be 
significantly lower than the Scottish figure of £264.83 and we are again among the top 
performers with a ranking of 5th.

Areas for development
 % of adults satisfied with local schools: Although the percentage of adults satisfied with local 

schools has decreased slightly from 88% to 86%, we remain above the Scotland figure of 
81% and ranked 10th in Scotland. There is significant work in the schools estates programme 
affecting a number of areas to improve the quality of educational provision over the next two 
years.

 Proportion of pupils entering positive destinations: Presently we can account for all of our 
young people, with no one unknown to us in the system. With a success rate of just over 
90% of pupils entering positive destinations, we continue to do well for the vast majority of 
our young people. However, other local authorities have made bigger improvements in the 
last year which has affected how we compare with them.

What we are doing to improve services
Schools Estate
Following a consultation process, a report by the Executive Director of Education on the building 
of a new Our Lady and St Patrick's High School was agreed by the Educational Services 
Committee on 26 June 2014. A new schools and early education and childcare centre (EECC) 
campus is planned to replace Aitkenbar Primary, St Peter's Primary and St Peter's EE&CC in 
Bellsmyre. A new Kilpatrick School Secondary building will be constructed. The proposed opening 
date of the new buildings is August 2016.

At the end of June 2014, Scottish Government offered to fund 100% of the Our Lady and St 
Patrick's High School project on condition that the Council would use the released funding in order 
to maximise the number of pupils who could benefit from establishments being raised from grade 
C to grade B or A in terms of their condition.

These developments will improve our performance in relation to schools estate and satisfaction 
rates.

Positive Destinations
With the publication of the report from the Commission for Developing Scotland's Young 
Workforce, we are working hard to improve what is on offer to all of our young people in the senior 
phase of our secondary schools. With the help of a wide number of partners, we will offer courses 
that meet the needs of our young people, and develop their skills, capabilities and attributes. This 
will help them make the transition from school into the wider world of work or further study.

The CHCP’s Youth Mentoring Initiative provides additional support to our vulnerable young people 
to achieve and make better decisions about their life. With over 90% of these young people 
achieving their set goals, in 2014 the initiative received Scottish Social Services Council Care 
Accolades and Scottish Mentoring Network awards, recognising the positive impact they have on 
young people’s lives.

How the public can get involved
Your feedback is important to us. Please take a few minutes to tell us what you think about our 
performance information by completing this short questionnaire.

https://www.surveymonkey.com/s/LGBF2013-14


4

We will use your feedback to help us improve how we report our performance to you in future.

For more information about our performance, please contact: 
corporateandcommunityplanning@west-dunbarton.gov.uk

mailto:corporateandcommunityplanning@west-dunbarton.gov.uk


ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

CUSTOMER SERVICES 27 AUGUST 2015

CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROGRESS

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1  The purpose of this report is to advise the Performance Review and 
Scrutiny Committee of the progress made on the Corporate Improvement 
Programme.

1.2 It is recommended that the PRS note that the Corporate Improvement 
Programme is now complete and that the Council’s Policy and Resources 
Committee will be considering a new Improvement Strategy at its 
meeting on 20 August 2015.



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

CUSTOMER SERVICES 27 August 2015

CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROGRESS

2.0 SUMMARY 

2.1 At its last meeting, the PRS Committee noted a report that provided an 
update on the progress of the Corporate Improvement Programme and 
noted that it was progressing towards completion. This report provides 
the PRS Committee with a further update on the progress of the 
Corporate Improvement Programme, advising that the actions are 
complete and that a new Improvement Strategy will be considered by the 
Council’s Policy and Resources Committee on 20 August 2015.

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 It is recommended that the PRS note that the Corporate 
Improvement Programme is now complete and that the Council’s 
Policy and Resources Committee will be considering a new 
Improvement Strategy at its meeting on 20 August 2015.

4.0 DETAIL

4.1 As previously reported, the Council has had a Corporate Improvement 
Programme in place which has been progressing to the conclusion of its 
agreed actions.  Progress on the projects that make up the actions to 
deliver the programme have been reported on a regular basis to the  
PRS Committee.

4.2 The Corporate Improvement Programme was developed to take 
account of:

 The challenging outlook for public sector finances which suggests 
ongoing medium to longer term reduction in funding.

 Our commitment on working together to improve the potential of our 
organisation including the following:

o We engage with our partners, our communities and our customers 
to deliver high quality, continually improving, efficient and 
responsive services. 

o Our employees have the skills and attitudes to deliver efficient and 
effective services. 



o Our customers have accurate, accessible and up-to-date 
information about our organisation and the services that we 
provide.

 Improvement opportunities identified through corporate performance 
reviews undertaken by Internal Audit.

 Other areas for improvement opportunities identified by SMT. 

4.3Corporate Improvement Programme Objectives 

Taking into account these issues, the Corporate Improvement Programme 
was designed to be a change programme to co-ordinate and challenge 
activity in the Council to ensure:

 We are well positioned to meet future financial challenges
 We secure improvements in the management and use of corporate 

resources
 We secure improvements in service efficiency and effectiveness
 We place customer requirements at the centre of business 

transformation
 We build on the good work from the transformation programme.

4.4 The Corporate Programme initially consisted of 12 improvement 
projects, which are listed in Table 1.

4.5 As the projects have progressed and been completed, the ongoing 
governance for the activities and improvements arising from the projects 
has been agreed in order to mainstream these as ‘business as usual’ for 
the organisation. We have now reached the stage where all of these 
projects are complete or have been mainstreamed and the ongoing 
improvement approach is governed through identified boards or projects.

4.6 Corporate Improvement Programme – Next Steps

4.7 The SMT have agreed a new Improvement Strategy for the Council. This 
will be considered by the Council’s Policy and Resources Committee on 
20 August 2015.



Table 1 - CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROJECTS UPDATE

Project Main Objectives Progress to Date
1a 
Productivity and 
Service Improvement - 
Service Prioritisation

Formerly part of the wider Productivity and Service 
Improvement Project, Service Prioritisation, now called 
Service Choices, is separate project to develop a 
framework/process to prioritise services over the next 3-
5 years within the budget constraints faced by the 
council.

The budget strategy 'Planning for our Future' was 
approved by Policy and resources Committee on 18 
December 2014. This included a paper setting out the 
approach and timetable for Service Choices. This involves 
a 3 stage process which will conclude in time for budget 
reductions to be implemented from April 2016.

This is now being progressed through the Project Board 
for Service Choices and the Policy and Resources 
Committee.

This is now business as usual for the Council in terms 
of the revenue budget process and has clear 
governance in place. 

1b Productivity and 
Service Improvement - 
BPR

Business Process Re-engineering (BPR) was formerly 
part of the wider Productivity and Service Improvement 
Project. It is now being implemented as a standalone 
project.  A preferred methodology using lean 
management techniques was selected by SMT to 
improve efficiencies in services.

BPR has been rolled out across a number of services and 
has brought efficiencies to processes, saving time and 
other resources.

BPR is included as part of the improvement portfolio of 
improvement tools in the draft Improvement Strategy.

This is now business as usual.
2 Workforce Planning Workforce Planning was established as a standalone 

project to ensure clear planning for the councils future 
The approach to workforce planning, including the overall 
mechanism and toolkit, was agreed by the council in 2012. 



Table 1 - CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROJECTS UPDATE

Project Main Objectives Progress to Date
workforce and deliver an overall approach, develop 
guidance, provide training and establish a toolkit for 
services. 

Data for all services has been uploaded into the workforce 
planning tool and this will be used as the Service Choices 
process is rolled out as well as supporting ongoing people 
management of the organisation. This will ensure that the 
workforce of the future meets the needs of the council's 
priority services. 

This is now business as usual
 

3 Asset Management This project was designed to carry out an assessment of 
the council’s current Service Asset Management Plans 
and ascertain whether identify a way of delivering asset 
management that better coordinates the requirements of 
the council as a whole.

The process of asset management has been significantly 
improved as a result of the focus on it from the Corporate 
Improvement Plan. The Asset Management Board 
oversees corporate decision making and each service and 
department now has a corporate asset management 
which is updated and presented to the Policy and 
Resources Committee.

The project has moved to business as usual. 

4 Customer 
Management

Council wide development of customer service was 
identified in the original shared services diagnostic. It 
was then incorporated into Process for Change and 
fundamental improvements to the way the council does 
its business and engages with customers were made. 

All except two deliverables from the original project 
scope have been delivered and the project was formally 
closed.  The continual development of Customer Service 
is now managed by the Customer Service Board (CSB) 



Table 1 - CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROJECTS UPDATE

Project Main Objectives Progress to Date

The project has established continuous improvement 
arrangements for the council wide development of 
customer service.

This is now business as usual.

5 ICT Development 
and Information 
Management

Proactively looking at ICT innovations and assess 
potential value of these.  Work with services to develop 
and deliver projects for how ICT could bring efficiencies 
to services.  Improving information management.

Highlight reports are submitted to the Information 
Management Project Board on a monthly basis.

This is now business as usual.  
6 Procurement and 
Sourcing Strategies

Ongoing improvement of Procurement Capability 
Assessment score.  Controlling procurement costs 
through retendering, looking at demand/need for 
quality/volume of goods and services and specification.   
Develop service sourcing strategies (over a three year 
period)

A complete review of the procurement and commissioning 
service was undertaken as part of the Corporate 
Improvement Programme. Sourcing templates were 
developed, Procurement Capability Assessments have 
exceeded targets and Scotland Excel have recognised the 
significant improvements to procurement by the Council. 

This is now Business as usual.
7 Employee and 
Elected Member 
Development   

This project had a 2 part element. The Employee 
development element implemented Argyll and Bute 
Manager and Leadership Programmes

The Elected member element of this project included the 
agreement by council of a development programme for 
elected members including PDPs and programmes of 

Programme agreed by council and now being 
implemented 

This is now business as usual



Table 1 - CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROJECTS UPDATE

Project Main Objectives Progress to Date
seminars

8 Health and Social 
Care Integration   

To oversee the integration of health and social care Transferred to Health and Social Care Integration 
Programme Board

9 Support Service 
Review Phase 2   

To review Support Services Complete

10 Equalities  To improve and mainstream equalities across the 
council

Complete

11 Outcome Planning 
for CPP  

To deliver an outcomes focussed community plan and 
Single outcome Agreement

Complete

12 Environmental 
Sustainability  

To ensure that sustainable development is 
mainstreamed across council services.

Complete – work carried out with Argyll and Bute Social 
Enterprise Forum and Toolkit developed.



5.       CONCLUSION 

5.1 This paper provides an update on the conclusion of the actions in the 
Corporate Improvement Programme and informs the PRS Committee 
that a new Improvement Strategy will be considered by the Policy and 
Resources Committee on 20 August 2015.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy None directly from this report

6.2 Financial None directly from this report, but securing 
financial savings is a key aspect of the Corporate 
Improvement Programme.

6.3 Legal None directly from this report

6.4 HR None directly from this report, but there will be HR 
implications from some of the project activities in 
the programme.

6.5 Equalities Compliance with equalities policy is implemented 
through EQIAs in all Corporate Improvement 
Programme projects.

6.6 Risk None directly from this report but risk is 
considered as an integral part of the project 
management approach used in delivery of the 
Corporate Improvement Programme.

6.7 Customer Service None directly from this report, but Customer 
Management is one of the projects in the 
Corporate Improvement Programme.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director, Customer Services

Jane Fowler, Head of Improvement and HR, 01546 604323



1

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL    Performance and Scrutiny Committee

CUSTOMER SERVICES      27 August 2015

MAXIMISING ATTENDANCE:  COUNCIL PERFORMANCE April – June 2015

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1.1 This report shows performance during the period April-17 June 2015. It does not include data 
for the full quarter due to improvements in the HR and Payroll database Resourcelink, which 
were implemented on 18 June 2015. The full quarter’s performance will be updated in the FQ2 
report, once the changes to the attendance information reports have been fully implemented 
and have been tested for accuracy. Further information on this change is outlined in para 4.7 
of the report.

1.1.2 For the period April-June 2015 there has been a slight improvement in attendance figures.  
Overall, there has been a slight decrease in the actual average days lost per FTE employee 
from 2.46 in quarter one of last year to 2.28 in quarter one of this year.  The performance in 
quarter one is below the overall target of 2.45 and, as outlined above, better than the position 
for the same quarter in 2014/15, but it should be noted that this may be affected by the 
absence of some data. 

1.2 Targets for maximising attendance during 2014/15 were discussed and agreed by the 
Council’s Strategic Management Team at their meeting on 27 July 2015. These targets 
represent the Council’s goal to see 10.53% reduction in the total work days lost during the 
period 2015/16 demonstrating a real push to improve attendance.  

1.3 The cost of sick pay in the period April – June 2015 was £791,154.

1.3.1 The top three reasons for absence in the period April – June 2015 are Stress, Depression, 
Mental Health, Fatigue 27%, Medical Treatment 20% and Stomach, Liver and Kidneys 9%.

1.4 The percentage of return to work interviews completed in each month in the reporting period 
was 87% in April, 84% in May and 86% in June.  The council target of 100% completion of 
return to work interviews is not being met and nor is the 3 working day target for average 
number of days taken with the number of average calendar days currently showing as 6.80 in 
April, 4.80 in May and 5.60 in June.

1.5 The report also details the continued support offered to management to support them to 
achieve their attendance targets and progress made with the corporate actions to maximise 
attendance.

1.6 It is recommended that the PRS Committee note the content of this report.



2

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee

CUSTOMER SERVICES 27 August 2015

MAXIMISING ATTENDANCE: COUNCIL PERFORMANCE April – June 2015

2 INTRODUCTION
2.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Performance Review and Scrutiny (PRS) 

Committee on the Council’s performance against targets and performance indicators for 
Maximising Attendance during the period April – June 2015. 

3 RECOMMENDATION
3.1 It is recommended that the PRS Committee note the content of this report.

4 DETAIL
4.1

4.2

4.3

Table One below shows the Council’s Performance indicator figures over the last three years.

Table One: Trends in SPI figures (Average Work days lost per FTE employee)
Staff Group 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15
Teachers 8.2 6.7 8.2
LGE 10.9 11.6 11.2

Targets for maximising attendance during 2014/15 were discussed and agreed by the 
Council’s Strategic Management Team at their meeting on 27 July 2015.  The Strategic 
Management Team have agreed the targets below for the year ahead.  These targets 
represent the Council’s goal to see a 10.53% reduction in the total work days lost during the 
period 2015/16.  SMT also agreed that within Development & Infrastructure Roads and 
Amenities performance would be shown separate to Performance, Business and 
Improvement and that the Directorate sections would be shown together under Chief 
Executive’s Unit rather than combined with Improvement & HR.    

Table Two:  Departmental Targets 2015/16

The Quarterly targets in table three below have been calculated by dividing the annual 
service specific target by 4.  However, it should be noted that absence trends show 
fluctuations across the quarters. Historically, council wide absence figures have dipped in 
Quarter two and peaked in Quarter four with the exception of services dominated by term-
time staff.  

Table three compares the performance of each service against the targets set during the first 
quarter of the year and last year’s performance in the same quarter.  Overall, it outlines a 
better quarterly performance than the same quarter last year and against the target set.  

Department Actual 2014/15 Target 2015/16

Community Services(non-teaching) 12.50  12.49
Community Services (Teaching) 8.17 7.00
Customer Services 8.90 7.53
Chief Exec’s Unit 6.20 6.20
Development and Infrastructure 11.70 10.17



3

However, it should be noted that quarter one this year does not contain the full quarter of 
data as the introduction of Leave Management meant data was unavailable beyond 18 June 
2015.  Please see section 4.7 of this report for further information on the introduction of 
Leave Management and the RL4 Upgrade. 

Table Three:  Performance April – June 2015

Service

WDL per FTE 
Employee in 

Q1 15/16

Target Days 
lost per FTE 
Employee 

per Quarter 
15/16

WDL per 
FTE 

Employee 
Q1 14/15

Adult Care 3.74 ↑ 3.73 4.24
Children & Families 3.04 ↓ 3.48 4.04
Community & Culture 1.37 ↓ 2.08 2.43
Education - Non Teaching 2.14 ↓ 2.85 2.16
TOTAL COM SERV (NO TEACHING) 2.68 ↓ 3.12 3.18
Teachers 1.74 ↓ 1.75 1.83
TOTAL COM SERV (INCLUDING TEACHING) 2.32 ↓ 2.58 2.63
Customer and Support 1.47 ↓ 1.60 1.29
Governance and Law 1.74 ↑ 1.53 0.32
Facility Services 2.70 ↑ 2.30 2.79
Improvement and HR 2.05 ↑ 1.50 0.41
TOTAL CUSTOMER SERVICES 2.11 ↑ 1.88 1.71
Economic Development 1.24 ↓ 1.88 3.19
Planning and Regulatory Services 1.00 ↓ 1.50 1.60
Performance & Business Improvement 3.29 ↑ 2.25
Roads and Amenity Services 3.03 ↑ 3.00

2.80

TOTAL DEV & INFRASTRUCTURE 2.47 ↓ 2.54 2.66
Strategic Finance 0.74 ↓ 1.55 1.66
Directorates 0.29 ↓ 1.55  
TOTAL CHIEF EXEC UNIT 0.60 ↓ 1.55  
COUNCIL TOTAL 2.28 ↓ 2.45 2.46



4

4.4 The table below outlines the actual cost of sick pay paid by each service of the Council during 
April-June 2015.  It highlighted ones at highest cost and cost per FTE indicates comparative 
cost between services.

Table Four: Sick pay by Service April – June 2015

Service Q1 Cost £ Q1 Cost per FTE £
Adult Care 176,637 453
Children & Families 56,798 271
Community & Culture 20,091 109
Education - Non Teaching 96,026 205
TOTAL COM SERV (NO TEACHING) 349,553 279
Teachers 201,641 262
TOTAL COM SERV (INCLUDING TEACHING) 551,193 273
Customer and Support 18,555 99
Governance and Law 8,832 166
Facility Services 49,157 198
Improvement and HR 17,065 207
TOTAL CUSTOMER SERVICES 93,608 164
Economic Development 16,741 167
Planning and Regulatory Services 16,116 151
Performance & Business Improvement 9,216 210
Roads and Amenity Services 99,952 233
TOTAL DEV & INFRASTRUCTURE 142,025 209
Strategic Finance 4,177 93
Directorates 151 7
CHIEF EXEC UNIT 4,327 66
COUNCIL TOTAL 791,154 237

4.5 The table below outlines the % reason for absence for Q1 of 2015/16.  The top three reasons 
for absence are highlighted in red.  These are Stress, Depression, Mental Health, Fatigue 
27%, Medical Treatment 20% and Stomach, Liver and Kidneys 9%.

Table Five:  % Reason for Absence April – June 2015

Reason for Absence Council Total %
BACK & NECK PROBLEMS 6
CHEST & RESPIRATORY 4
EYE, EAR, NOSE & MOUTH/DENTAL 2
FURTHER INFORMATION REQUIRED 0

GENITO-URINARY/GYNAECOLOGICAL 1

HEART, BLOOD PRESSURE & CIRCULATION 7
INFECTIONS 7
INJURY/ACCIDENT 4



5

4.6

MEDICAL TREATMENT 20
METABOLIC 0
NEUROLOGICAL 4

OTHER MUSCULO-SKELETAL PROBLEMS 7
PREGNANCY RELATED 0
SKIN 1

STOMACH, LIVER, KIDNEY & DIGESTION 9

STRESS/DEPRESSION/MENTALHEALTH/FATIGUE 27

Return to work interviews completed by Service April - June 2015

A return to work interview is an informal meeting held between an employee and line 
manager following a period of sickness absence which allows the manager to welcome the 
employee back to work in a private setting, discuss the reason for their period of absence, 
acknowledge any issues in relation to the employee’s attendance record over the past 12 
months and let the employee catch up with any changes or updates that have taken place at 
work during their period of absence.

In accordance with the Council’s Maximising Attendance procedures a return to work 
interview must be carried out by the line manager after every instance of sickness absence. 
Services therefore have a 100 % target when it comes to completion of return to work 
interviews. In order that a return to work interview is meaningful it should ideally be carried 
out on the day the employee returns to work or as soon as possible thereafter and certainly 
within three days of the employees return to work.

Table five below outlines each service’s monthly performance with respect to percentage of 
return to work interviews carried out, in the first quarter of the year, and the average length of 
time for them to be completed in days (including non-work days) following the employees 
return to work (as reported to SMT in the middle of each month).  The % complete is now in 
the mid to high 80s each month.  This is an improvement on last year where in quarter 1 it 
reached the low to mid 70s only.

Table Six: % return to work interviews completed by Service April - June 2015 (as 
reported each month)

  Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15

Department Service
%RTWI 
complet

e

Average 
Time 
Taken 

to 
complet
e (Days)

%RTWI 
complet

e

Average 
Time 
Taken 

to 
complet
e (Days)

%RTWI 
complet

e

Average 
Time 
Taken 

to 
complet
e (Days)

Adult Care 76.00 6.50 74.00 5.40 83.00 9.80
Children and Families 88.00 5.00 95.00 3.90 88.00 8.40
Community and 
Culture 91.00 7.70 94.00 4.10 86.00 9.30

Community 
Services

Education 89.00 10.70 88.00 5.50 84.00 5.00



6

Total 85.00 8.60 86.00 5.30 84.00 6.30
Customer and Support 100.00 4.10 92.00 3.50 100.00 5.80
Facility Services 100.00 3.20 98.00 3.20 83.00 1.90
Governance and Law 83.00 5.00 0.00  100.00 1.00

Directorate/Special 
Projects 100.00 1.00   na na
Improvement and HR 100.00 1.60 88.00 3.30 100.00 2.00

Customer 
Services

Total 98.00 3.30 92.00 3.30 91.00 2.60

Economic 
Development 67.00 3.00 71.00 7.20 100.00 1.00

Planning and 
Regulatory Services 63.00 10.20 50.00 8.30 100.00 10.40

Roads and Amenity 
Services 81.00 2.80 65.00 3.80 86.00 2.50

Directorate/ 
Performance and 
Business 
Improvement 100.00 3.70 91.00 5.80 na na

Developmen
t and 

Infrastructur
e

Total 80.00 3.90 69.00 5.10 90.00 4.80
Directorate     na na
Strategic Finance 100.00 5.50 100.00 8.30 100.00 3.00

Chief 
Executives 

Unit Total 100.00 5.50 100.00 8.30 100.00 3.00
Council Total 87.00 6.80 84.00 4.80 86.00 5.60

Table seven below outlines total percentage of return to work interview paperwork received 
by HR for previous months as at 18 July 2015.  The percentage of return to work interviews 
completed has increased in most services, as Departments have submitted the outstanding 
return to work interviews after the publication of the monthly SMT report.  Where a return to 
work interview is carried out a considerable time after the employee has returned to work it is 
likely that it is less effective.  

Table Seven: Year to Date % return to work interviews completed by Service as at July 
2015

  April May

Department Service
%RTWI 

complete
%RTWI 

complete

Adult Care 82.00 75.00
Children and Families 76.00 96.00
Community and Culture 100.00 100.00
Education 88.00 89.00

Community Services

Total 86.00 87.00
Customer and Support 100.00 100.00
Facility Services 100.00 100.00
Governance and Law 100.00 100.00

Directorate/Special Projects 100.00 100.00
Improvement and HR 100.00 88.00

Customer Services

Total 100.00 98.00



7

4.7

5

Economic Development 100.00 86.00

Planning and Regulatory Services
71.00 100.00

Roads and Amenity Services 94.00 74.00

Direcorate/ Performance and Business 
Improvement 100.00 91.00

Development and 
Infrastructure

Total 92.00 84.00
Directorate na na
Strategic Finance 100.00 100.00Chief Executives Unit

Total 100.00 100.00
Council Total 90.00 88.00

Resourcelink 4 Upgrade

Resourcelink is the Council’s integrated HR and Payroll System and is an essential tool in 
managing the Council’s workforce.  Resourcelink 4 is an upgrade to improve Resourcelink 
and increase HR and management of employee data.  The project is being delivered through 
a programme of works and will include new modules including Leave Management.  The 
introduction of this module will significantly reduce the amount of back office administration 
and manual interventions.  Efficiency will be improved and processes streamlined as Leave 
Management is part of core Resourcelink.  

Leave Management features the following:  Absence can be entered for an employee with a 
single post or multiple posts or a combination of posts rather than previously where it was 
only recorded against their main post.  This will allow for more accurate recording of absence 
where an employee may be absent in one post but working in another and allow for allocation 
of sickness absence costs to each post.  It will also allow for better reporting functions where 
the manager of each post will be notified of the absence at the same time and of any further 
action required in respect of the attendance procedures.  Improved absence reporting will 
also be available as a manager will be able to use the self-service facility to run their own 
absence reports allowing them to be more proactive.  In addition, absence entitlement is 
automatically added when an absence is entered for an employee and a user defined screen 
can be assigned to an absence type which enables user specific data to be recorded when 
entering an absence.  The Leave Management module was implemented on 18 June 2015 
and as a result of this data is only available for this quarter up to 17 June 2015.  

Specific Corporate Actions to Maximise Attendance
The following measures continue to support services in achieving their maximising 
attendance targets:

 Online guidance, e-learning and resources on the Hub including guidance on how to 
conduct attendance review meetings and how to implement reasonable adjustments 
and phased returns to work. 

 Issue of monthly management information reports to Heads of Service and Directors 
outlining performance on return to work interviews and employees who have met 
attendance triggers.

 Occupational Health support including provision for periodic local clinics.
 Support and guidance from the HR advice line and HR Officers where appropriate. 

This includes the opportunity to talk through what managers might want to cover 



8

before holding any meetings with employees or what they might want to put in an OHP 
referral as well as attendance at meetings in a coaching role where appropriate.

 Emails to notify managers when an employee has met a trigger and what action is 
required.

 Emails to notify managers when an employee begins/ ends sick leave.
 An additional HR Assistant was appointed to support Community Services with their 

absence. This post commenced during November 2013 and provides case 
management advice and training to managers in Community Services.

 The Council’s healthy working lives group continues to be responsible for driving 
forward the Council’s wellbeing agenda which will include preventative initiatives for 
improving overall wellbeing and reducing sickness absence. The council has achieved 
a HWL Bronze Award as a result of this group’s activities.

 Stress Audit Action plans continue to be rolled out following the Stress Audit in 2014.
 Stress Training continues to be rolled out to all remaining managers and staff.
 Clear communications regards the Service Choices revenue budget reduction 

process, which will impact on employees continue. This will not prevent stress related 
absence, but will contribute to mitigating it.  

Progress is being made on the following actions to maximise attendance:

 A group has been set up with representatives from each department and the Trade 
Unions to review the Maximising Attendance procedures with a view to clarifying areas 
of ambiguity and further improving guidance and tools for managers and staff and this 
will be available shortly on the Hub. 

 A new Stress at Work Policy has been completed.  The Equality Impact Assessment is 
currently in progress and then it will progress through the Committee approval 
process.

 New reports had been developed and hoped to be implemented during the course of 
2014/15. Similar to the reports currently produced on return to work interviews 
completed these new reports will highlight where attendance review meetings have 
taken place following an employee meeting a trigger within the policy. Support can 
then be targeted to managers who do not appear to be conducting these meetings.  
However, due to the high levels of complexity dealing with the data and given that we 
are still having to work with hard copy information, which can be incomplete when 
received, and is time consuming to process this has not been possible.  As the 
Resource Link 4 project develops and further improvements are scoped for online 
process we will look to include this in the scope of the Resource Link 5 project. 

 On 15 June 2015 a presentation was given by Seona Laird, HR Officer and Michael 
Sharp, Occupational Health providing the Strategic Management Team with a focused 
and dedicated session on Maximising Attendance following the absence figures 
reporting the Performance, Review and Scrutiny Committee at the end of 2014/15 
performance year.  The SMT considered the content of the presentation and agreed:   

o To simplify the Maximising Attendance Procedures
o Earlier referrals to Occupational Health
o Additional training to frontline staff on difficult conversations
o Consideration of Spend to Save options to replicate some of the services that 

the NHS offer to their staff
o Look at Healthy Working Lives groups at area level for Council
o More work to be done around workplace assessments to enable staff to return 

to enable staff to return to the workplace sooner.

6 CONCLUSION



9

6.1 In conclusion this report has outlined the Councils performance against targets and 
performance indicators for the period April - June 2015. 

7 IMPLICATIONS

Policy      This complies with the Council’s Maximising Attendance 
Policy

Financial           Failure to achieve targets in relation to maximising   
attendance is likely to have financial implications with 
respect to the cost of sick pay

HR   Failure to maximise attendance is likely to have an  
impact on workforce productivity

Legal None

Equal Opportunities This complies with the Council’s Equalities policy

Risk High levels of absence present risk to organisational
efficiencies

Customer Service High levels of absence will impact on customer service

Jane Fowler, Head of Improvement and HR
Tel 01546 604466





ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                   PERFORMANCE REVIEW              
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES                                        27 AUGUST 2015

Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership Progress Report

1.0 Executive Summary

Argyll and Bute Council undertook a commissioning process for community 
based addiction recovery services in 2014 on behalf of the Argyll and Bute 
Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP).  In November 2014 the contract was 
awarded to Addaction Scotland with a start date of 1 January 2015.  Awarding 
this contract has secured a contract, with a service provider recognised for 
success, that is delivering a consistent level of support across Argyll and Bute 
and which, as demonstrated by feedback from service users, is working 
effectively for people who need assistance.

The change to a new national third sector provider inspired views for and 
against, and created some significant political and media interest.  This 
resulted in the procurement process being subject to an internal review by 
Argyll and Bute Council and an investigation by Audit Scotland which found 
that the contract is valid and appropriate.

There were a number of findings and recommendations arising from the 
Council’s internal review and Audit Scotland’s review.  These findings have 
been accepted by the ADP Executive and were presented and accepted by 
the Community Planning Partnership Management Committee on 17 June 
2015.  The CPP Management Committee is the committee to which the ADP 
reports.  On 19 June 2015, the Council’s Audit Committee reviewed the report 
and noted the findings, recommendations and actions within.

The Council will review the lead in time for contracts to ensure that there is 
sufficient time for handovers to be completed and contract requirements to be 
fulfilled prior to commencement.  The Council’s procurement manual and 
evaluation of tender documents will be updated to include a clause which 
states that, where tender bids are close after being evaluated by the tender 
panel, further discussions will take place to differentiate the bids.   



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL                   PERFORMANCE REVIEW              
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY SERVICES                                        27 AUGUST 2015

Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership Progress Report

2.0 Introduction 

2.1 This report is intended to inform the members of the Performance, Review 
and Scrutiny Committee of the current and future developments within the 
Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drugs Partnership (ADP) following the publication 
of the review of the commissioning process for community based adult 
addiction services by Audit Scotland.

2.2 The Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership (ADP) is a partnership of 
statutory and voluntary organisations working together to achieve a reduction 
in the harmful effects of alcohol and drugs on both individuals and the wider 
community.  The governance of the ADP sits within the Community Planning 
Partnership reporting to the CPP Management Committee.

3.0 Recommendations

It is recommended that the Performance, Review and Scrutiny Committee 
note the contents of this report and its findings, recommendations and actions 
within.

4.0 Detail 

4.1 On 4 November 2014 the ADP concluded a lengthy procurement process 
undertaken by Argyll and Bute Council on behalf of the ADP and awarded four 
geographically based contracts for community based adult addiction services 
to Addaction Scotland.  Addaction Scotland were awarded a three year 
contract from 1 January 2015.  

4.2 The change to a new national third sector provider from the previous 5 local 
third sector providers inspired views for and against, and created some 
significant political and media interest.  This resulted in the procurement 
process being subject to an internal review by Argyll and Bute Council and 
subsequently a further review by Audit Scotland. 



4.3 Audit Scotland scrutinised minutes, emails and other correspondence from 
both the ADP and Argyll and Bute Council.  Other individuals also submitted 
information directly to Audit Scotland.  

4.4 The Audit Scotland investigation findings were issued on 11 May 2015 and is 
appended to this report for information.  The findings within the report have 
been accepted by the ADP Executive Group, the Community Planning 
Partnership Management Committee and the Audit Committee and activity is 
underway to address the recommendations within.

4.5 The report lists 3 actions which were taken in response to audit findings, 
these are: 
1. To demonstrate accountability on this contract by reporting to the CPP 

MC and the council’s Audit Committee.
2. To consider external legal advice on the contract variation regarding 

compliance with public procurement legislation – that external legal advice 
subsequently concluded that both the contract and variation are legally 
binding.

3. To undertake quarterly performance reporting as per the contractual 
requirements.

And 4 other recommendations will also be progressed, these are:
1. The lead time for contracts should be assessed to ensure that there is 

sufficient time for handovers to be completed and contract requirements 
to be fulfilled.

2. The procurement manual and evaluation of tender documents should be 
updated to include a clause which states that where tender bids are close 
after being evaluated by the tender panel, further discussions will take 
place to differentiate the bids.   This should be included for clarifying the 
position for all involved in the tender process.

3. To demonstrate sound governance, minutes should be taken at all 
important meetings of the ADP and then agreed at the following meeting.

4. Governance arrangements in the ADP should be improved to enhance 
openness and transparency.  Allowing open discussion and debate on 
strategy, budgetary information etc will help members to contribute 
effectively to the work of the ADP.  Delivering a robust improvement plan 
should help with communication difficulties.

Appendix 2 details the actions taken in respect of the audit findings.

4.6 The Council, as suggested, has taken external legal advice and the Council’s 
view is that the contract remains valid and appropriate.  Audit Scotland also 
found the allegations made by some regarding conflict of interest within the 
procurement process to be without foundation.



4.7 Feedback received through regular meetings with Addaction has assured the 
ADP that service users are receiving professional targeted services 
specifically to address their issues and to assist them on their recovery 
journey.  Addaction have engaged with 123 individuals from January to 
May 2015 who required support to either stop or reduce their drug or alcohol 
use and are delivering services in various locations in Argyll and Bute.  The 
second contract monitoring meeting has been scheduled for July and the 
contract monitoring report will be scrutinised by the ADP Executive Committee 
on the 24 August 2015.

4.8 Other recent developments within the ADP have included the agreement of a 
3 year service level agreement with the Argyll and Bute Addictions Team 
(ABAT) from 1 April 2015.  The ABAT delivers clinical, nursing and social 
work services to service users with complex addiction issues in Argyll and 
Bute working in partnership with Health, Social Work and Addaction.  The 
service level agreement ensures that Addaction and ABAT have the same 
performance management framework in place to monitor and measure their 
performance against an agreed set of outcomes.  Arrangements are in place 
to monitor both these contracts and report on the performance to the ADP 
Executive Group.

4.9 ADP Governance issues highlighted by Audit Scotland were also reported in 
an investigation by Bill Brackenridge into complaints regarding the allocation 
of funding to support children and young people with addiction problems.  The 
complaints however were not upheld and the ADP is now, with support from 
the local Argyll and Bute’s Children’s Executive Groups, allocating funding to 
support children and young people who experience addiction problems across 
Argyll and Bute.   

4.10 The ADP has also held two development days in January and March 2015 to 
consider the ADP strategic direction, governance and to strengthen 
relationships within the ADP.  These events were supported by the Scottish 
Government national support team, other leading organisations in the 
addictions field and an external mediator.  Attendance at both events was 
good.

4.11 The main themes emerging from these two days are being developed further 
by the ADP, these are:

Partnership Administration and Governance
Whole population approach
Recovery Orientated Systems of Care
The Delivery Environment
Service User Involvement 



Communications
Data and performance Reporting

An improvement plan is being prepared with support from across the ADP 
being sought to deliver on the actions identified to support the ADP moving 
forward.

4.12 The ADP has also agreed that there is a requirement to provide independent 
leadership and strategic vision across the partnership through the 
appointment of an independent chair who will take the lead role in ensuring 
the ADP’s core outcomes are effectively discharged. The role will be to 
ensure the ADP is integrated and has close links with relevant strategic and 
operational structures at both local and national level, to provide the CPP MC 
with regular reports on the performance of the ADP strategy and services and 
to ensure the ADP is represented within the CPP and Health & Social Care 
partnership structure.  The role and remit for this post are currently being 
prepared and it is hoped that an appointment will be made by this autumn.

5.0 Conclusions

5.1 The ADP has secured a contract, with a service provider recognised for 
success, that is delivering a consistent level of support across Argyll and Bute 
and which, as demonstrated by feedback from service users, is working 
effectively for people who need assistance. 

5.2 The focus for the ADP is now on improvements to the ADP governance, 
structure and building on commitment to partnership working by all members, 
for the benefit of the people who need our support.

6.0 Implications

6.1 Policy N/A

6.2 Financial N/A

6.3 Legal N/A

6.4 HR N/A

6.5 Equalities The ADP is committed to working in partnership across Argyll 
and Bute.

6.6 Risk Risks with service delivery will be managed through contract 
monitoring arrangements.  

6.7 Customer Service



Christina West
Chief Officer 
Argyll & Bute Health and Social Care Partnership and
Argyll and Bute ADP Chair
 
and Cleland Sneddon 
Executive Director Community Services

For further information contact 
Morag Brown
Business Improvement Manager, Community Services
Argyll and Bute Council
morag.brown@argyll-bute.gov.uk

Carol Muir
ADP Coordinator
carol.muir@nhs.net

 
Appendices

Appendix 1 Audit Scotland review of the commissioning process undertaken on 
behalf of the Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership

Appendix 2 Audit Action Plan



 

 

 

Argyll and Bute 
Council  

Review of the 
commissioning process 
undertaken on behalf of the 
Argyll and Bute Alcohol and 
Drug Partnership  

 

Prepared for Argyll and Bute Council 

May 2015 

  



 

 

 

 

 
Audit Scotland is a statutory body set up in April 2000 under the Public Finance and Accountability 

(Scotland) Act 2000. We help the Auditor General for Scotland and the Accounts Commission 

check that organisations spending public money use it properly, efficiently and effectively. 



  

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 3 

 

Contents 

Summary findings ......................................................................................................................... 4 

Scope of the audit ......................................................................................................................... 6 

Background ................................................................................................................................... 8 

Audit findings ................................................................................................................................ 9 

Compliance with legislation ............................................................................................... 9 

Conflicts of interest .......................................................................................................... 13 

Service Impact ................................................................................................................ 14 

Governance issues.......................................................................................................... 16 

Findings of the internal review .................................................................................................. 18 

Actions taken in response to audit findings ............................................................................. 20 

Other recommendations ............................................................................................................. 20 

 



Summary findings 

 

 

Page 4 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Summary findings 
 Argyll and Bute Council undertook a commissioning process for community based 

addiction recovery services in 2014 on behalf of the Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug 

Partnership (ADP).  In November 2014 the contract was awarded to Addaction Scotland 

with a start date of 1 January 2015.  It is acknowledged that this lead time was too short.     

 The invitation to tender (ITT) for the contract required provision of a range of services.  

Two potential bidders have told us that they did not submit bids for the contract because 

of the onerous nature of the housing support services that they believed were required 

within the fixed price for the contract.   

 The invitation to tender required that a full review of services was to take place and that a 

more equitable service was required across all areas of the council by year 3.  The 

council state that the review of services was to take place immediately after the contract 

commencement; however correspondents believed that this was to take place later, by 

year 3 of the contract.  Immediately following commencement of the contract, Addaction 

Scotland carried out an assessment of the needs of all known service users and 

concluded that no service users required housing support services at this time.  The 

ADP/council agreed that Addaction Scotland could move towards its model of more 

equitable services in year 1. 

 In our opinion, there was a degree of ambiguity in the ITT regarding the timescale of the 

service review. The immediate review of services and the non-supply of housing services 

at this time could be considered material to the contract.  We therefore recommended 

that the council take external legal advice to satisfy itself that the contract is compliant 

with public procurement legislation. 

 The council obtained external legal advice which includes the conclusion, "In our view it 

was not unreasonable for the Council to assess the potential benefits of that acceleration 

in terms of best value and the needs of the service users, as against the potential risk of 

a procurement law breach, which seems to us to be a risk within reasonable parameters". 

We note the conclusions of the legal adviser and in these circumstances feel it is 

reasonable for the council to conclude that the contract with Addaction Scotland remains 

valid.  

 The council also highlighted that potential bidders who required clarification on the ITT 

could have submitted questions through the Public Contracts Scotland portal or contacted 

Business Gateway for support.  

 Addaction Scotland was not registered with the Care Inspectorate to provide regulated 

services in Argyll and Bute until 25 February 2015.  It was, therefore, in breach of the 

contract requirements from 1 January to 25 February 2015.  The ADP/council was aware 

of this, considered it to be a technical breach and had arrangements in place to cover 

regulated services during this period.   



 Summary findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 5 

 

 Minutes of the Executive Group report that 56 service users transferred to Addaction 

Scotland and that there have been 34 new referrals since Addaction Scotland have taken 

on the service, which indicates that service users are accessing services.  Addaction 

Scotland's services provided in other areas of Scotland are rated as very good by the 

Care Inspectorate.  Arrangements for reporting on the quality of the services provided by 

Addaction Scotland, to the ADP and council, was formalised at the ADP Executive Group 

in April 2015.  

 No conflicts of interest have been identified in the commissioning process.  Interested 

parties made appropriate declarations timeously and there is no evidence that they had 

access to commercially sensitive information in advance of the tender.  

 Governance arrangements for the ADP need to be improved including procedures for 

preparation, approval and custody of ADP minutes. 

 In response to our findings as part of this review the council has taken some actions 

which are recorded on page 20.  We have also made some other recommendations 

which are relevant for this contract and more widely for council procurement exercises.  It 

has been agreed that this report will be considered by the ADP Executive Group, the 

CPP (Community Planning Partnership) Management Committee and the council's Audit 

Committee.  A formal response to this report should be recorded.    
 



Scope of the audit 

 

 

Page 6 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Scope of the audit 
1. Argyll and Bute Council undertook a commissioning process for community based addiction 

recovery services in 2014 on behalf of the Argyll and Bute Alcohol and Drug Partnership 

(ADP).  Four organisations submitted bids for the services.  On 4 November 2014 the contract 

was awarded to Addaction Scotland with a start date of 1 January 2015.  Prior to this, a range 

of services had been provided by five smaller local third sector service providers.  Due to the 

profile of this commissioning process in the local community and receipt of correspondence 

from members of the public and local MSPs, the Controller of Audit determined in January 

2015 that the local Argyll and Bute Council audit team should carry out a specific piece of 

work relating to this process. 

2. Following concerns expressed in relation to the procurement of the contract, Argyll and Bute 

Council's Chief Executive commissioned an internal review of the commissioning process. 

After considering the results of the investigation, the council's view is that the contract remains 

valid and appropriate.   

3. The report on the internal review (paras 61-63) and a timeline of the commissioning process 

was provided to our review team. This information was reviewed prior to conducting meetings 

with senior council staff including those involved in the procurement process, the former and 

current Chairs of the ADP and the council's Legal Manager.  Discussions/correspondence was 

entered into with the Care Inspectorate and third sector organisations.  Correspondence and 

reports relating to the ADP, including a complaints investigation by the Chair of the Scottish 

Legal Complaints Commission (SLCC), Bill Brackenridge, (para 57) were also reviewed.   

4. No correspondence has been received by Audit Scotland from ADP service users or the 

organisations who submitted unsuccessful bids for the contract.   

5. This was a targeted piece of audit work.  We considered the evidence we received from all 

parties.  Audit Scotland cannot overturn any decisions already made by the ADP/council.  We 

make recommendations for improvement and then monitor progress in implementing these. 

We have prepared this report for the council who commissioned the contract but we 

recommend that the ADP Executive Committee also consider its findings.   

Action 1 

6. We have also considered a range of other issues which have been raised by correspondents 

including staff funding for ABAT (Argyll and Bute Addictions team) and budget monitoring 

processes.  Evidence was reviewed regarding these issues and we have nothing to report in 

relation to these matters in the detail of this report.   

7. The Care Inspectorate is the statutory regulator of care services in Scotland.  The scope of 

this work does not include an assessment of the quality of services being provided on behalf 

of the ADP.   



 Scope of the audit 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 7 

 

8. This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed and for no other purpose.  In 

accordance with paragraph 125 of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts 

Commission for Scotland, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, 

in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

9. This report will be shared with the correspondents who contacted Audit Scotland about the 

commissioning process for this contract.  
 



Background 

 

 

Page 8 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Background  
10. Alcohol and Drug Partnerships were introduced by the Scottish Government in April 2009.  

Argyll and Bute ADP brings together Argyll and Bute Council, Highland Health Board, Police 

Scotland, Scottish Fire and Rescue Service, the Community Justice Authority (CJA) and 

various third sector organisations to improve outcomes for its service users.  The lead agency 

is Highland Health Board which is responsible for managing ADP finances.  The ADP reports 

to the Argyll and Bute CPP (Community Planning Partnership) Management Committee.   

11. Argyll and Bute ADP has a total budget of £1.25 million.  The community based recovery 

services, the subject of the commissioning process, aim to provide support, promote recovery 

and increase health and wellbeing by helping service users reduce problematic alcohol/drug 

use and maintain tenancies.  Statutory services are provided by the Argyll and Bute Addiction 

Team (ABAT) which includes assessment, recovery planning and detoxification.   

12. In March 2013 the ADP Executive Group (previously Lead Officers Group) determined that a 

commissioning process would begin in 2014.  In July 2013, an ADP commissioning group was 

set up to consider the service specification and procurement process necessary for tendering 

for community based recovery services. The commissioning group formed two sub-groups to 

separately consider service specification and the procurement process.   

13. ADP has no separate legal personality and cannot enter into contracts. Consequently, Argyll 

and Bute Council undertook the commissioning process on behalf of the ADP.  The contract 

for these services is between the council and Addaction Scotland.  The contract is for a fixed 

price of £475,139 per annum, for three years, with the ADP contributing £88,200 of the 

contract value per year and the council and Highland Health Board contributing the balance.  

Tenders were evaluated on the quality of services proposed to be delivered within the 

specified price. 
 



 Audit findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 9 

 

Audit findings  
Compliance with legislation 

14. Concerns have been expressed in relation to Addaction Scotland's compliance with legislation 

in respect of registration with the Care Inspectorate and the commissioning process.  Each of 

these areas was covered by the council's internal review.  Concerns have also been 

expressed in relation to post-contractual negotiations and the TUPE (Transfer of Undertakings 

(Protection of Employment) Regulations) implications for the predecessor third sector 

organisations and their staff.  We consider these issues below.  

Care Inspectorate registration 

15. The invitation to tender states at part 2, section 57.1 that; "It is a condition of this contract that 

the Contractor must be registered with the Care Inspectorate to provide the appropriate care 

services within the Argyll and Bute locality.  The Contractor must continue to be registered 

with the Care Inspectorate throughout the duration of the contract."  The council's internal 

review recorded that Addaction Scotland was not providing housing support services in the 

area without Care Inspectorate approval; however we did not believe that the overall position 

with the registration was clear in the internal report.  We requested further information from the 

council to clarify the position.   

16. Addaction Scotland, although registered with the Care Inspectorate in other areas of Scotland, 

was not registered to provide housing support services in Argyll and Bute before 25 February 

2015.  Addaction Scotland has assured the council that during this period it did not engage in 

providing housing support services and that all services provided to service users were 

unregulated services and therefore did not require Care Inspectorate registration.   

17. Addaction Scotland applied for a variation of its Dumfries and Galloway registration with the 

Care Inspectorate in early January 2015 and this was approved on 25 February 2015 and 

recorded on the Care Inspectorate website.  Addaction Scotland now plans to apply for a full 

Argyll and Bute registration.  Addaction Scotland was in breach of the contract for almost two 

months as the contract states that the registration with the Care Inspectorate should be in 

place for the duration of the contract.  

18. The ADP/council considered this to be a technical breach and explained that it was aware of 

this position regarding the registration and that alternative arrangements were in place to 

provide registered services during this period.  The ADP and council were prepared to accept 

and work round this position.  

Recommendation 1 

Scope of Contract / Housing Support Services 

19. The invitation to tender document (ITT) part 3, section 8.5 states "current level of housing 

support services will remain consistent immediately following the award of the contract to 



Audit findings 

 

 

Page 10 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

provide continuity of service.  Thereafter, providers will be required to carry out a full review of 

services".    

20. Shortly after commencement of the contract, Addaction Scotland used a programme of 

assessment to determine the appropriate services required for all known service users.  

Addaction Scotland did not identify any individuals who needed housing support services at 

this time.  Addaction Scotland's review is aimed at ensuring that ADP funds are appropriated 

to the correct services to help with service user recovery.  We have been advised that care 

plans for service users continue to be monitored by Addaction Scotland to ensure they remain 

relevant.   

21. Part 3, section 8.6 of the ITT also required that by year three of the contract, changes would 

be made to service provision to improve outcomes and equality of service across the council.  

Addaction Scotland stated in its tender submission that it wanted to work with the 

commissioner at an early stage to make changes to address inequalities.     

22. Minutes of post contractual negotiations record that it was agreed between Addaction 

Scotland and the ADP that rather than by year 3, this could be carried out immediately.  Our 

review has established that other bidders in their tender documentation also considered that 

the review of service provision immediately after award of the contract would be beneficial.   

23. On 18 February 2015, the Procurement and Commissioning Manager at Argyll and Bute 

Council confirmed to us that, in the council's opinion, Addaction Scotland's plans to review 

services straight away rather than by year 3 did not constitute a formal variation to the 

contract.  Subsequently in the minutes of the ADP Executive Group meeting of 19 February 

2015 it was stated that "A variation will be prepared to make explicit that the review of the 

model of care required to be completed by year 3 will be undertaken from the outset by 

Addaction."  The ADP/council reconsidered this issue and is formalising a contract variation 

with Addaction Scotland.    

24. Correspondents raised an issue with regard to part 3, section 8.9 of the ITT which states that 

"The projected minimum service levels for each of the lots are outlined in the table…In Years 

1 and 2 services will continue on a like for like basis".  The ITT table at section 8.12 detailed a 

minimum 805 hours of housing support per month for Year 1 and 2 and a minimum of 350 

new referrals per annum. The correspondents believed that as ‘"years 1 and 2 services 

continue on a like for like basis…" that the review of all services (para 19) could not take place 

until year 3.    

25. Two third sector organisations have confirmed to us that they believed that the projected 

minimum levels of housing support detailed in the ITT would have to be in place for the first 2 

years of the contract and that this would be too difficult to deliver within the price of the 

contract.  They did not therefore submit tender applications. 

26. The ADP/council state that the ITT section 8.5 (para 19) is clear that the review of all services 

would begin immediately after the contract was awarded and was a contractual requirement.  

They added that this is a separate review from that detailed in section 8.6 (para 21) which was 



 Audit findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 11 

 

to provide more equitable services across the council area by year 3 and that the contract 

variation agreed with Addaction Scotland relates only to accelerating the provision of equitable 

services from year 3 to year 1.  The council also highlighted that potential bidders could have 

sought guidance about any issues relating to the ITT by submitting questions through the 

Public Contracts Scotland portal or contacted Business Gateway for support.  

27. In our opinion the timescales with regard to the review of services in the ITT could reasonably 

be interpreted in either way which means that there is a degree of ambiguity over the wording 

in the ITT.  The ITT detailed projected minimum levels of housing services going forward and 

we believe that the inclusion of this may have stopped some organisations from bidding for 

the contract.   

28. We considered that that this immediate review of services and the non-supply of housing 

services could be material to this contract and may breach public procurement legislation. 

Ultimately this would be for the courts to decide. In these circumstances, we recommended 

that the council should take external legal advice, in addition to that already obtained 

internally, to satisfy itself that the contract is compliant with public procurement legislation.   

Action 2 

29. The council has now obtained external legal advice which supports the council's view that the 

contract agreed with Addaction Scotland is valid.  The advice stated that "it was the 

implementation of the review, and not the agreement of the variation, which has brought about 

the reduction in the Housing Support requirements" and that "the outcome of the review 

(whenever it took place) could not have been predicted… the status quo could have 

continued".  The advisers agree that it is ultimately for the courts to determine whether a 

change to a contract is a material one for the purposes of public procurement legislation.  

They also note that there is no current legal challenge to the decision to amend the contract 

and that if there were, any breach of procurement law gives remedies to aggrieved bidders but 

does not affect the validity of the contract or the amendment.   

30. The conclusion of the advisers is that; "With the outcome of the procurement being a single 

supplier winning all lots the Council had an opportunity which would have not been open to it 

had different suppliers been appointed to different lots. That opportunity was to accelerate the 

review.  In our view it was not unreasonable for the Council to assess the potential benefits of 

that acceleration in terms of best value and the needs of the service users, as against the 

potential risk of a procurement law breach, which seems to us to be a risk within reasonable 

parameters.  To put this another way, had the Council not accelerated the review on the basis 

of procurement law, it could have been criticised for having adopted too cautious a position on 

procurement law risk to the detriment of best value and the needs of the service users." 

31. We note the conclusions of the legal adviser and in these circumstances feel it is reasonable 

for the council to conclude that the contract with Addaction Scotland remains valid.  



Audit findings 

 

 

Page 12 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Tender Evaluation 

32. The council has experienced procurement officers and a detailed procurement policy.  We 

were provided with evidence that, council officers provided the commissioning group 

(procurement sub-group) with examples of good practice, council guides for procurement / 

evaluating tenders to help ensure that the invitation to tender was clearly written and 

compliant with legislation.  The tender evaluation process was discharged in accordance with 

the council's 'evaluating tenders' document.  

33. A panel representing the ADP was formed to review tenders.  In accordance with guidelines 

the panel was provided with instructions including the guide to evaluating tenders.  The eight 

panel members scored the bids individually before convening to discuss an overall panel 

score.  We note that: 

 one scoring panel member assumed that there was going to be an interview phase with 

the two highest bidders  

 one scoring panel member submitted a copy of their individual scorecard over four 

months after the evaluation process was completed. 

34. We are advised that the purchasing officer supporting the panel and commissioning process 

informed all panel members that following the computation of the final scores the two top 

tenderers were close.  The purchasing officer also advised the evaluation panel that they 

should meet again to discuss these two tenders with a focus on reviewing the highest scoring 

questions to differentiate between the bidders. We raised this matter with the council's 

Procurement and Commissioning Manager who advised that this can be a common 

occurrence.  Whilst it is our view that this practice of further discussion is appropriate, no 

explicit reference is made to this process in either the procurement manual or evaluation of 

tender documents.  We have therefore recommended that the documents should be updated 

to include this process. 

Recommendation 2 

Handover of service user information 

35. The previous third sector providers were asked to pass over service user information to be 

used by Addaction Scotland.  They planned to explain to the users about the changes to the 

service provider. Some of the previous providers raised concerns that providing this type of 

personal information may contravene the Data Protection Act, 1998. 

36. The Chair of the ADP obtained legal advice that concluded that sharing basic information 

(service user details) would not contravene the Act.  The council also confirmed that it sought 

guidance regarding this from the Information Commissioner's Office.  Furthermore, it was a 

contractual obligation of previous service provides to provide this information to the council.  

By 31 January 2015, the previous third sector providers had either passed on details to 

Addaction Scotland or notified their service users about the change of community based 

service provider. 



 Audit findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 13 

 

37. No complaints have been made to the Information Commissioner's Office regarding these 

requests therefore no formal determination has been made as to whether there was a breach 

of the Act.  However the council acknowledges in its review that a longer lead time for the 

contract would have provided a greater opportunity to resolve service users' issues related to 

data protection.  

Recommendation 1 

The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (TUPE)  

38. TUPE Regulations have been referred to in correspondence received by us. The TUPE 

requirements are a matter for Addaction Scotland and the predecessor service providers 

rather than the ADP/council. This matter is outwith the scope of Audit Scotland's remit and 

consequently the scope of this review.   

Conflicts of interest 

39. Concerns have been raised with regard to conflicts of interest in the commissioning process 

where it was reported that a named member of the ADP Delivery Group, whose organisation 

was interested in the tender, prepared the service specification for the commissioning process 

(pages 39-56 of the invitation to tender).  

40. Concerns have also been raised regarding a predecessor third sector provider managed by 

the named member above merging with Addaction Scotland later in 2015.  We consider these 

issues further below. 

Preparation of Service Specification 

41. From an examination of documentation, we established that a draft service specification 

reported to be 'completed by' the ADP Delivery Group officer referred to above was presented 

to the Implementation (now Delivery) group on 27 November 2013.  A different member of the 

service specification group has confirmed that the work as at 27 November was draft version 

six and a collaboration of all of those in the service specification group.  Evidence was 

provided which shows that this version was then discussed in emails by service specification 

group members, which also included other third sector service providers.  The draft had 

progressed to version eight by 21 February 2014, the date when the prior information notice 

relating to the tender was published on Public Contracts Scotland website.  We have 

concluded that the specification work to this date was not solely prepared by any individual 

officer.  

42. On 21 February 2014, following the issue of the notice to tender, the named individual emailed 

all members of the commissioning group stating that their organisation was expressing an 

interest in the tender and therefore could not be exposed to any sensitive or confidential 

information and going forward did not attend meeting items where this information was being 

discussed.  There is no evidence of this individual being involved in the process after this 

date. It should be noted that other members of the service specification group also expressed 

an interest in the tender.  



Audit findings 

 

 

Page 14 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

43. The procurement sub-group, which contained no parties interested in the tender, then 

reviewed the service specification on at least six additional occasions after 21 February 2014.  

In March 2014, the procurement group compiled all the commercially sensitive sections in the 

tender related to 'specific services required' including all budgetary information, the fixed price 

for the contract and the minimum service requirements.  We have found no evidence that any 

interested party had commercially sensitive information in advance of the ITT publication.  

44. The invitation to tender was then reviewed and updated following feedback from the Scottish 

Government ADP National Support team before finally being approved by the ADP Executive 

Group in June 2014 in a confidential session.  The minutes confirm that none of the interested 

parties attended this session.  However, this confidential session of the ADP Executive Group, 

where commercially sensitive discussions took place, was not acknowledged in the published 

minutes for June 2014.  

Recommendation 3 

Merger of service providers 

45. From our review of the tenders submitted by Addaction Scotland and other bidders for the 

contract, it was evident that collectively, the bidding organisations were in communication with 

all the then incumbent third sector organisations to share ideas and/or consider mergers or 

partnership working in the area.  It was also evident from the tenders that in early 2014 at 

least two incumbent third sector organisations approached larger national organisations to 

discuss potential joint working.  Opportunities for these types of discussions were available to 

all incumbent organisations.  On the basis that none of the incumbent providers were involved 

with commercially sensitive areas of the invitation to tender we have concluded that no bidder 

would have had early access to sensitive tender information.   

46. The manager of the organisation which is merging with Addaction Scotland declared an 

interest in the tender process on 21 February 2014 and was no longer involved in the tender 

process.  We therefore consider it acceptable for them to have worked with a bidder following 

this date. No conflicts of interest have been identified in the commissioning process.   

Service Impact  

47. In addition to the issues raised regarding housing support service provision, concerns have 

been raised that there was an insufficient lead period for the contract for effective handover of 

the services.  The internal review has acknowledged that this was the case.  Other areas of 

concern raised with us but not covered by the council's review relate to capacity to deliver the 

service within the fixed price and whether the invitation to tender may have favoured larger 

organisations.  These issues are considered further below.  

Contract Lead Time 

48. The internal review of the commissioning process recorded that the lead time between the 

contract award and start of the contract was unnecessarily short and a longer lead time would 

have permitted better communication with service users.  A longer period would also have 



 Audit findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 15 

 

allowed any data transfer queries to have been resolved and allowed the Care Inspectorate 

registration to have been resolved prior to the start of the contract.    

49. We have confirmed that the ADP had a communication plan in place to communicate with 

service users.  Letters were sent to service users via third sector organisations in November 

and December 2014 notifying them of the change of service provider.  However, the notice of 

Addaction Scotland winning the contract was only posted on the ADP website on 17 

December 2014 and flyers/posters for service points detailing Addaction Scotland as the 

service provider were emailed out on 18 December 2014.   

50. The short lead time was detailed in the tender documentation agreed by the ADP Executive 

Group in June 2014.  In mid December 2014, the ADP Executive Group recognised that there 

may have been risks to service users in the transition period and requested that existing 

service providers extended service provision by one month to 31 January 2015 at a cost of 

£28,000 to smooth the handover period.  There appears to be no particular reason as to why 

this time period was so short, given that service users would need assurances over the new 

service provider and style of delivery.  The ADP should consider lengthening transition periods 

for future contracts.  

Recommendation 1 

Capacity to deliver 

51. Addaction Scotland currently has two bases in Argyll and Bute: Dunoon and Bowmore, Islay.   

Its tender submission records that it plans to have two more static locations in Argyll and Bute 

and are seeking premises.  ADP Executive Group minutes from February 2015 state that in 

addition to the 56 service users which transferred to Addaction Scotland, 34 new referrals 

have started using Addaction Scotland's services in the first two months of 2015.  This 

indicates users are accessing services.   

52. The contract award was on the basis of a fixed price for each of the three years of the contract 

and is outcome based.  Senior officers have confirmed that they are confident that Addaction 

Scotland can provide the redesigned service within the revised budget and have taken 

assurance that the level of funding is sufficient from the fact that four organisations tendered 

for the fixed price contracts.   

53. Addaction Scotland's work has been reviewed by the Care Inspectorate in other areas across 

Scotland.  In Dumfries and Galloway (where the same manager will oversee work in Argyll 

and Bute), which has similarities with Argyll and Bute in terms of dispersed communities,  

Addaction Scotland's service in 2014 was rated as very good '5' in all four reporting areas (6 

being highest ranking) by the Care Inspectorate.   

54. The Chair of the ADP has confirmed that a local balanced scorecard will be used for ADP 

reporting/monitoring going forward using national and locally developed targets.  There will be 

a minimum of four review meetings each year and performance will be reported to both the 

ADP and council on a quarterly basis.  The Chair considers that adequate measures are in 

place to monitor the performance of Addaction Scotland in meeting the aims of the ADP.   We 



Audit findings 

 

 

Page 16 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

have recently been advised that a report detailing monitoring arrangements has been taken to 

the ADP Executive Group in April 2015.  The council has informed us that the ADP is happy 

with progress to this date.   

Action 3 

Length of tender 

55. In July 2014, the Scottish Government ADP National Support Team suggested that the length 

of the tender documentation and level of work required to submit an application could be 

deemed to favour applications from larger organisations over smaller bodies.  The council's 

Procurement and Commissioning Manager has confirmed that the procurement team 

considered these issues in designing the ITT process and believed that all smaller incumbent 

providers would meet any pre-qualifying questionnaires and therefore a one stage tender was 

appropriate.  In addition, there were four separate lots representing distinct geographical 

areas: bids could be submitted for one or more areas.   

56. To assist smaller organisations some free sessions in preparing tenders were provided, which 

some existing service providers attended.  These sessions were run in 2013 and 2014 

through the Supplier Development Programme (SDP) and advertised on the council and SDP 

websites. In addition the ITT notice on Public Contracts Scotland website clearly stated that if 

suppliers required assistance with completing tender documentation that they could contact 

Business Gateway for support.  Although the help detailed above was available and some 

predecessor third sector service providers were involved in work relating to the tender (para 

41), correspondence from two previous third sector service providers stated that they did not 

believe that they were given support by the ADP in relation to the tender process.  The council 

noted that no parties had contacted the ADP or Business Gateway for support regarding 

tenders.  Evidence provided also shows that all questions in relation to the ITT were answered 

promptly through the Public Contracts Scotland portal.  On the basis of the above, we have 

concluded that the process did not discriminate in favour of either smaller or larger 

organisations.  

Governance issues 

57. Governance issues were reported in the work carried out by Bill Brackenridge, the Chair of the 

SLCC.  In October 2014, he was asked by the Chair of the ADP to investigate complaints 

regarding the allocation of money to support children and young adults with addiction 

problems by the Argyll and Bute ADP.  He concluded that; "The corporate governance of this 

whole issue, in my opinion, falls far short of best practice."   

58. The Chair of the ADP has confirmed that there are numerous forums in the ADP and that the 

structure is cumbersome.  This makes it more difficult to determine reporting lines and the 

appropriate forum/group for raising issues.  Some members of the ADP have also voiced 

concerns that having raised issues, they are not being discussed or answered timeously.  In 

addition the council has noted that the constitutional basis for some groups and sub groups 

formed during the commissioning process was unclear.   



 Audit findings 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 17 

 

59. The Chair of the ADP is aware of communication difficulties between various representatives 

across the partnership and is working towards improving them.  The Chair has also expressed 

the opinion that the reasons for these difficulties cannot be attributed to any single cause, but 

has suggested that focussing on outcomes and working together in decision making and in 

meetings may help address these issues. We have been advised that the ADP has held two 

strategy development days and an improvement plan is currently being developed. 

Recommendation 4 

60. A number of weaknesses relating to the preparation, approval and custody of minutes were 

identified from our review, including;   

 Meetings for which no minutes are available.  Although some reports were taken to the 

Implementation (now Delivery) Group, minutes should have been recorded each time the 

Commissioning Group met i.e. the Minutes of 27 November 2013 of the Implementation 

group made reference to a commissioning meeting on 11 November 2013 for which there 

appears to be no minutes. 

 No formal evidence of the previous minutes being agreed at the next meeting of the ADP 

Commissioning Group.   

 No formal evidence of some post-contractual meetings with Addaction Scotland being 

agreed at the next meeting.   

 After 21 February 2014, the procurement group (Commissioning Group) did not prepare 

any minutes and evidence has had to be collated from emails, calendar appointments 

and meeting notes. 

 Some minutes remain in draft form on the ADP website significantly after meeting dates.    

Recommendation 3 

 



Findings of the internal review 

 

 

Page 18 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Findings of the internal 
review  
61. In February 2015 a report covering the results of the council's internal review was discussed 

with senior officers of the council and the ADP.  The internal review concluded that;   

 "The contract was awarded in compliance with all relevant legislative requirements and 

the contract award has not been the subject of any formal legal challenge. 

 The service specification and other contractual provisions are in line with relevant advice 

and guidance and meet the requirements of the ADP.  

 The service specification and other contractual provisions did not and do not favour one 

particular supplier over another. 

 The decision to tender the contract in lots corresponding to the administrative areas of 

the Council afforded an opportunity to tender to existing locally based service providers. 

Most chose not to take this opportunity. 

 The supplier to whom the contract has been awarded is a highly regarded and 

experienced provider of the relevant services and appears to be more than capable of 

complying with its contractual obligations and providing service users with an excellent 

and effective service. 

 The one concern about the contractual process is that the period between the contract 

award and commencement of the contract to have been too short. This caused problems 

for the incoming service provider as described above and for the resolution of service 

user communication/ referral arrangements. I have however noted that that in recognition 

of the potential impact on service continuity, the Executive Group members asked the 

commissioning team to offer a one month extension to existing service providers to 

mitigate any potential risk during the transitional period and in particular over the festive 

holiday period. In effect this resulted in Addaction Scotland and existing service providers 

providing a parallel service for the month of January 2015 to support a smoother 

transition, except in Kintyre, Mid Argyll, Islay and Bute, and in part in Oban where the 

existing providers chose not to agree to the contract extension." 

62. The council's view is that in these circumstances the contract remains valid and appropriate.  

Whilst some of these findings are consistent with our own, we believe that there is a risk that 

the contract variation may be a material change to the contract and may not be compliant with 

public procurement legislation. Based on our comments, the council has taken external legal 

advice regarding the contract variation (paras 29-30).  We have also reported on the issue of 

Addaction Scotland's failure to be registered with the Care Inspectorate in time for the start of 

the contract (paras 15-18).        

63. The internal report made recommendations for improvements relating to the lead time for 

moving to new suppliers, the governance structures of the ADP and the process for approval 



 Findings of the internal review 

 

 

Argyll and Bute Council Page 19 

 

and storage of minutes.  These relate to recommendation 1, 3 and 4 of the recommendations 

reported below.  The Chair of the ADP has been tasked with addressing the recommendations 

from the internal review.  At its meeting of 11 March 2015 the ADP Executive Group, 

considered the internal review and accepted all the recommendations made by the council.  

64. Despite the public interest in this issue, the council's report was not discussed with elected 

members or by any committee of the council.  The council advised us that this was not done to 

avoid duplication and operate within the agreed governance structure of the ADP where 

matters relating directly to it should be reported to the ADP.  In our Annual Report on the 

2013/14 Audit we reported that members of the public have told us that they would like to see 

more information available on key issues.  We recommended that the council should review 

the range of reports that it discusses in private and consider whether it is getting the balance 

right between open and closed consideration of items.  The council has committed that this 

report will be taken to the ADP Executive Group and will be taken to public sessions of the 

Audit Committee and CPP Management Team.  
 



Actions taken in response to audit findings 

 

 

Page 20 Argyll and Bute Council 

 

Actions taken in response 
to audit findings  
1 To demonstrate accountability on this contract, the ADP/council have agreed that this report 

should be considered by the ADP Executive Group, the CPP Management team and the 

council's Audit Committee with a formal response minuted and monitored.  The 

recommendations are not only relevant to ADP contracts.  They should be considered for all 

council contract procurement exercises. 

2 As the contract variation could be considered a material variation to the contract, the council 

has taken external legal advice on its compliance with public procurement legislation. 

3 A timetable for quarterly reporting of Addaction Scotland's services to the ADP and council 

was presented and approved at the ADP Executive Group on 21 April 2015.   

 

Other recommendations  
1 Lead times of contracts should be assessed to ensure that there is sufficient time for 

handovers to be completed and contract requirements to be fulfilled.   

2 The procurement manual and evaluation of tender documents should be updated to include 

a clause which states that where tender bids are close after being evaluated by the tender 

panel, further discussions will take place to differentiate the bids.  This should be included for 

clarifying the position for all involved in the tender process.     

3 To demonstrate sound governance, minutes should be taken at all important meetings of the 

ADP and then agreed at the following meeting. 

4 Governance arrangements in the ADP should be improved to enhance openness and 

transparency.  Allowing open discussion and debate on strategy, budgetary information, etc. 

will help members to contribute effectively to the work of the ADP.  Delivering a robust 

improvement plan should help with communication difficulties.   

 

 



APPENDIX 2 ACTION PLAN

Findings Agreed Action Responsible person 
agreed 
implementation date

ACTIONS TAKEN IN RESPONSE TO AUDIT FINDINGS

1. To demonstrate accountability on this contract, the 
ADP/council have agreed that this report should be 
considered by the ADP Executive Group, the CPP 
Management Committee and the council’s Audit 
committee with a formal response minuted a monitored.  
The recommendations are not only relevant to ADP 
contracts.  They should be considered for all council 
contract procurement exercises

The report has been presented to:
 The ADP Executive Group on 19 May 2015
 The ADP Delivery Group on 8 June 2015

And will be presented to:
 The CPP Management Committee on 17 

June 2015
 The Audit Committee on 19 June 2015

Morag Brown

Business Improvement 
Manager

Community Services 

19 June 2015

2. As the contract variation could be considered a material 
variation to the contract, the council has taken external 
legal advice on its compliance with public procurement 
legislation. 

External legal advice was provided by Roger 
Cotton of Brodies LLP on 21 April 2015.  

Anne MacColl Smith 

Procurement and 
Commissioning 
Manager

3. A timetable for quarterly reporting of Addaction 
Scotland’s services to the ADP and council was 
presented and approved at the ADP Executive Group on 
21 April 2015.

The report was presented to the ADP Executive 
Group on 21 April 2015 and approved.

The first contract monitoring meeting with 
Addaction took 16 April 2015 and will be held 
quarterly thereafter for the duration of the contract, 
reporting performance to the ADP Executive Group 

Jackie Connelly

Performance 
Improvement Officer



OTHER RECOMMENDATIONS

1. The lead time for contracts should be assessed to ensure 
that there is sufficient time for handovers to be completed 
and contract requirements to be fulfilled.

Lead in time for contracts will be specified in the 
Council’s procurement manual and will vary from 
contract to contract and a review of the risks 
associated 

Anne MacColl Smith 

Procurement and 
Commissioning 
Manager

ongoing

2. The procurement manual and evaluation of tender 
documents should be updated to include a clause which 
states that where tender bids are close after being 
evaluated by the tender panel, further discussions will take 
place to differentiate the bids.   This should be included for 
clarifying the position for all involved in the tender process.

The Procurement Manual will be updated and 
approved by Council on 15 September 2015

Anne MacColl Smith 

Procurement and 
Commissioning 
Manager

15 September 2015

3. To demonstrate sound governance, minutes should be 
taken at all important meetings of the ADP and then 
agreed at the following meeting.

The process for the approval and publication of 
ADP minutes was agreed at the ADP Executive 
Meeting on 11 March 2015.

Extract from minute:
Draft minutes (watermarked) will be saved as draft and 
once reviewed for approval at the next meeting any 
changes made, watermark removed and an approved 
minute saved. The minutes will be available on the 
website in PDF format.

Carol Muir 

ADP Co-ordinator

11 March 2015

4. Governance arrangements in the ADP should be 
improved to enhance openness and transparency.  

An improvement plan is currently being prepared 
which will address strategic developments 

Carol Muir 



Allowing open discussion and debate on strategy, 
budgetary information etc will help members to contribute 
effectively to the work of the ADP.  Delivering a robust 
improvement plan should help with communication 
difficulties.

including governance and communication 
improvements.  The improvement plan will be 
submitted to the ADP Executive Group on 2 July 
2015 and thereafter updates on the implementation 
will be provided to the ADP Executive and Delivery 
Groups and CPP Management Committee as 
appropriate.

ADP Co-ordinator

2 July 2015





1

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
PARTNERSHIP

27th August 2015

Integration of Health and Social Care

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 The purpose of this report is to respond to a request from the PRS 
committee for an update on the progress towards integration as well as 
setting out the programme for achieving integration by 1 April 2016. In 
addition information was requested on the future performance review and 
scrutiny of the Integrated Joint Board (IJB).

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

The Public Bodies (Joint Working)(Scotland) Act 2014 (the Act) requires 
Health Boards and Local Authorities to integrate planning for, and delivery 
of, certain adult health and social care services.  They can also choose to 
integrate planning and delivery of other services – additional adult health 
and social care services beyond the minimum prescribed by Ministers, 
children’s health and social care services and other services by local 
agreement. 

The Act requires them to prepare jointly an integration scheme setting out 
how this joint working is to be achieved.  There is a choice of ways in 
which they may do this: the Health Board and Local Authority can either 
delegate between each other (under s1(4(b), (c) and (d) of the Act), or 
can both delegate to a third body called the Integration Joint Board (under 
s1(4)(a) of the Act).  Delegation between the Health Board and Local 
Authority is commonly referred to as a “lead agency” arrangement. 
Delegation to an Integration Joint Board is commonly referred to as a 
“body corporate” arrangement.

In April 2014 both Argyll and Bute Council and the NHS Highland Board 
building on the well-developed approach to partnership working, the 
agreed the establishment of a Body Corporate vehicle as the preferred 
integration model. This takes cognisance of the strong partnership 
performance in areas of health and social care with particular emphasis 
on the progressive work in relation to older person and children’s services 
and shifting the balance of care in compliance with national policy.

For members reference 30 out of the 31 HSCPs in Scotland are being 
established as a Body Corporate model.



2

1.6

1.7

1.8

The Integration Joint Board (IJB) is the accountable and responsible body 
of the Health and Social care partnership and, following the approval of 
the Integration Scheme, comes into legal effect on the 18 August 2015. It 
will become operationally responsible for all services defined within its 
integration scheme from the 1 April 2016 when all the appropriate 
resources have been delegated to it from NHS Highland and Argyll and 
Bute Council.

As specified in the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. 
Section 42, the IJB must prepare an annual performance report for the 
reporting year which it relates to in planning and carrying out the 
integration functions for the area of the local authority.

The annual report will be made available to its parent bodies (NHS 
Highland and Argyll & Bute Council) within 4 months of the reporting year.

1.9 It is recommended that the PRS Committee :

a. Notes the legislative requirement for the integration of health and
            social care and scope of services.

b. Notes the Integration Joint Board membership and  that it is the  
accountable and responsible body in respect of all delegated 
functions.

c. Notes the Integration Joint Board has responsibility and 
accountability for the planning, delivery, performance management 
and governance of delegated services.  This will be achieved 
through the Strategic Plan.

d. Notes that an annual performance report from the Integration Joint 
Board will be made available to the Council, NHS Highland and 
other stakeholders, as outlined in the Integration Scheme.

e. Notes the Programme Board provides governance and direction 
regarding the integration project and transition process through to 
the go live date.



3

ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP 27th August 2015

Integration of Health and Social Care

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1  All Local Authorities were required by the Public Bodies (Joint Working) 
(Scotland) Act 2014 to integrate health and social care services with their 
local health board. Argyll & Bute Council is required to integrate Social 
Care Services with NHS Highland Health Board. The Council and NHS 
Highland agreed the “Body Corporate”  approach as the preferred model 
for integration.

1.2 The scope of delegated functions was a local decision.
The Council and NHS Highland in April 2014 agreed to delegate the 
following function beyond the minimum legally allowed by the Act, i.e.

 All health services allowed within the legislation (this excludes 
specific functions such as professional registration)

 All children and families social work
 All adult care social work
 All criminal justice social work

1.3 Argyll & Bute Integration Joint Board (the IJB), once legally constituted is 
the accountable body, which acts on behalf of the Council and NHS 
Highland to deliver all services within the delegated functions, in 
accordance with its Integration Scheme which is enacted through its 3 
year Strategic Plan.

1.4 The Scottish Government has provided guidance in respect of the 
development of the Integration Scheme; the formation of the IJB and the 
production of the Strategic Plan to deliver the 9 national Health and 
wellbeing Outcomes (see appendix 3). All work has taken place within the 
recommendations and guidelines provided.



4

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the  Performance Review & Scrutiny Committee 
a Notes the legislative requirement for the integration of health and social 

care and scope of service.

b Notes the Integration Joint Board membership and that it is the 
accountable and responsible body in respect of all delegated functions.
.

c Notes the Integration Joint Board has responsibility and accountability for 
the planning, delivery, performance management and governance of 
delegated services.  This will be achieved through the Strategic Plan.

d Note that an annual performance report from the Integration Joint Board 
will be made available to the Council, NHS Highland and other 
stakeholders, as outlined in the Integration Scheme.

e Notes the Programme Board provides governance and direction regarding 
the integration project and transition process through to the go live date.

3. DETAIL

3.1 A Joint Programme Board and Joint Project Team were established in 
April 2014 to take forward the preparatory and project work for the 
integration of health and social care. See Project Execution Plan, 
Appendix 1.

3.2 The Joint Project Team (Council and NHS Highland) established 11 work 
streams, now streamlined to 7, to represent the parent bodies in the key 
areas of development, in readiness for integration.
The Joint Programme Board directs and approves  the overall integration 
work and receives regular reports on the following:
- Project progress for each work stream against key milestones
- Developing integration transition arrangements leading to April 2016
- Ensures governance and accountability for the integration programme.

3.3

3.4

3.5

The Joint Project Team, directed by the Programme Board and assisted 
by others developed the Integration Scheme, which was submitted to the 
Scottish Government on 31 March 2015. The Integration Scheme was 
subsequently approved by the Cabinet Secretary and laid before 
Parliament for a statutory period of 28 days, which concluded on 27th June 
2015. 

The Integration Joint Board (IJB) is the accountable and responsible body 
of the Health and Social care partnership and, following the approval of 
the Integration Scheme, it can now be legally constituted and this will 
occur at its first meeting on the 18th August 2015.

From the 1 April 2016 when all the appropriate resources have been 
delegated to it from NHS Highland and Argyll and Bute Council, the 
Integration Joint Board will become operationally responsible for all 



5

3.6

3.7 

services defined within the Integration Scheme.

As specified in the Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014. 
Section 42, the IJB must prepare an annual performance report for the 
reporting year which it relates to in planning and carrying out the 
integration functions for the area of the local authority.

The annual report will be made available to its parent bodies (NHS 
Highland and Argyll & Bute Council) within 4 months of the reporting year.

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board is required under section 29 of 
the Act to prepare a three year strategic plan. All Health and Social 
Care Partnerships’ primary responsibility is the achievement of the 
national health and wellbeing outcomes (see Appendix 3) through the 
delivery of the principles of integration. A critical element in discharging 
this responsibility is the production and delivery of a 3 year Strategic 
Plan as specified in Scottish Government guidance.

The Strategic Plan will describe how Argyll and Bute Health and Social 
Care Partnership will make changes and improvements in the way it 
delivers health and social care over the next three years. It explains what 
services it is responsible for, what the priorities are, why and how we 
decided them. It will show how we intend to make a difference by working 
closely with partners in and beyond Argyll and Bute.

The Strategic Plan will provide a “road map" for how health and social 
care services will be organised and provided in this area to meet our 
vision – “Helping the people in Argyll and Bute live longer, healthier,
Independent lives”. A key element in achieving this is the development of 
locality planning and the Scottish Government Health Department has 
issued Localities Guidance in June 2015 on the arrangements and 
processes that should be followed and put in place. This will be captured 
and enacted through the strategic plan. 

A Strategic Planning Group, comprising 39 members, representing all 
sectors, is in place to oversee the process. The Strategic Planning Group 
(SPG) decided that the full Strategic Plan should be preceded by an 
information signposting leaflet (included in local papers, alongside virtual 
copies) and an Outline Strategic Plan – “A conversation with you”, 
detailing the major themes in our strategic plan from the 2nd July 2015. 
Copies of the Outline Strategic Plan will be available in local surgeries, 
pharmacies, post offices and libraries and local third sector interface.  
Electronic copies will be available on the NHS Highland and Argyll & Bute 
Council websites and at www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk.

In preparing the outline Strategic Plan the SPG took account of all the 
existing services, plans, information and data, as well as the current 
budget and what are the likely future funding levels for health and social 
care in Argyll and Bute.

http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/


6

3.13 

- The Outline Strategic plan poses a number of questions to help inform 
the feedback and these questions are found in the plan or via an 
online survey at 
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN

-   The SPG is now developing the full Strategic Plan which will be
     informed from feedback and will go out to formal public consultation
     from September to November 2015 inclusive.

The full time table for production of the Strategic Plan is shown at 
Appendix 4.

3.15 Performance reporting requirements for the Integration Joint Board are 
outlined in the Integration Scheme which can be found at this link:
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php

4.0 CONCLUSION

4.1 The Argyll & Bute Integration Scheme has been approved by the Scottish 
Government and can now only be varied by application to them. This now 
allows the Integration Joint Board to be legally constituted from the 18th 
August 2015.

4.2 A 3 Year Strategic Plan 2015/16 to 2019/20 is being developed and will be 
subject to formal public consultation. The timescale for finalisation and 
adoption of the Strategic Plan is 31 March 2016. It does not require formal 
Scottish Government approval.

4.3 The Integration Joint Board will have delegated resources and 
responsibility for health and social care from the 1 April 2016.

4.4 The Integration Joint Board will produce an annual report on its planning 
and performance for its parent bodies and other stakeholders, in 
accordance with the Integration Scheme.

4.5 The Integration Programme Board will continue to direct and govern the 
overall integration project through to the go live date of the1st April 2016

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Policy Policy changes are required to be enacted to 
support the transition of responsibility to the 
Argyll and Bute Integration Joint Board

5.2 Financial Budgets for health and social care will be fully 
integrated from April 1st 2016. Finalisation of 
the delegated budget is yet to be confirmed by 
both Council and NHS Highland.

5.3 Legal Legal implications for the council and health 
have been assessed and included in the 

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/OUTLINESTRATEGICPLAN
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php


7

Integration Scheme
5.4 HR Staff will remain with their original employer, 

including their respective terms and conditions, 
policies and procedures.
HR and Trade Unions are agreeing 
appointment and recruitment processes.

5.5 Equalities The integration of Health and Social care is 
part of policy to address inequalities and 
services and arrangements will be impact 
assessed as this goes forward.

5.6 Risk Formal risk assessment and mitigation process 
is in operation and further development of risk 
assessment and measures will proceed as 
through the transition project process.

5.7 Customer Service Support of Social work and corporate services 
teams will remain in place from 1 April 2016.

Christina West
Chief Officer, Health and Social Care

Policy Lead, Councillor Mary-Jean Devon
[20th July 2015]

                                                
For further information contact:
Stephen Whiston
Head of Strategic Planning and Performance
AROS
Lochgilphead
Tel: 01546-606424
Email: stephen.whiston@nhs.net

APPENDICES
Appendix 1: Project Execution Plan
Appendix 2: Membership of Integration Joint Board
Appendix 3: National Health and Wellbeing Outcomes
Appendix 4: Timetable for production of the Strategic Plan

Argyll and Bute HSCP Integration Scheme can be found here:
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php

mailto:stephen.whiston@nhs.net
http://www.healthytogetherargyllandbute.org.uk/what-is-integration.php




ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL
CUSTOMER SERVICES
STRATEGIC FINANCE

PERFORMANCE, REVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

 27 AUGUST 2015

STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1.This report advises that the Council’ Governance Group has reviewed the 
content of the local code of corporate governance to reflect the governance 
position within the Council for 2014/15.

1.2.The review allows the Council to include a statement of governance and 
internal control in the Annual Accounts for 2104/15.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
  
  2.1 The Performance, Review and Scrutiny Committee approve the statement 

of governance and internal control for inclusion in the Annual Accounts for 
2014/15;

 



ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL
CUSTOMER SERVICES
STRATEGIC FINANCE

PERFORMANCE, REVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

 20 AUGUST 2015
  
 
STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION
  
 This report advises that the Council’ Governance Group has reviewed the 

content of the local code of corporate governance to reflect the governance 
position within the Council for 2014/15.

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
  
  2.1 The Performance, Review and Scrutiny Committee approve the statement 

of governance and internal control for inclusion in the Annual Accounts for 
2014/15;

3. DETAIL
 

3.1 CIPFA and SOLACE published a revised Framework for ‘Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government’ in 2007. The Framework defines the 
principles that underpins the governance of local authorities and provides a 
structure to assist authorities with their own approach to governance. The 
Framework took the six core principles, from the ‘Good Governance 
Standard for Public Services’ (2004), and adapted these principles for local 
government, identifying eighteen supporting principles.

3.2 The Council’s Governance Group, chaired by the Executive Director of 
Customer Services as Monitoring Officer, has responsibility for the 
preparation of the Code of Corporate Governance along with an Action 
Plan which identifies areas within the Council where work to improve the 
governance arrangements within the Council is being undertaken or is 
necessary. 

The Governance Group includes:

• Head of Strategic Finance (s95 Officer);
• Head of Improvement & HR;
• Head of Governance and Law:
• Governance and Risk Manager;
• Chief Internal Auditor.



3.3 The six core principles contained in the local code are;

Focussing on the purpose of the authority and on outcomes for the 
community and creating and implementing a vision for the local area.

Members & Officers working together to achieve a common purpose with 
clearly defined functions and roles

Promoting values for the authority and demonstrating the value of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour.

Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective 
scrutiny and managing risk

Developing the capacity and capabilities of members and officers to be 
effective

Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability

3.4 The review of the effectiveness of the system of governance and internal 
control is informed by the:

 Work of Officers within the Council;
 Work of External and Internal Audit;
 External review and inspection reports; 
 Recommendations from the Audit Committee and
 Recommendations from the Performance, Review and Scrutiny 

Committee.

3.5

3.6

3.7

Following the review of the Council’s code and the action plan for 14/15, 
the Governance Group updated the Council’s code and prepared an action 
plan for 15/16 along with a draft statement of governance and internal 
control for 14/15 that were considered by the Strategic Management Team 
(SMT) on 8 June and the Audit Committee on 19 June. 

All comments from the SMT and the Audit Committee have been 
considered and appropriate amendments have been made to Council’s 
code and the action plan. 

Following this discussion has taken place with Audit Scotland regarding the 
final content of the statement of governance and internal control. The 
attached statement has been updated accordingly and can be included in 
the Annual Accounts for 2014/15. 



4. CONCLUSION
  

   This review of the content of the local code of corporate governance gives 
assurance about the robustness of the Council’s governance 
arrangements.

 5. IMPLICATIONS

POLICY    In line with recommended practice

FINANCIAL    None

HR    None 

LEGAL    Monitoring Officer statutory role, remit includes governance
.

EQUALITIES   None

RISKS             None

CUSTOMER    None
SERVICE           

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director – Customer Services

For further information please contact:
Iain Jackson, Governance and Risk Manager 
01546 604188

Appendices

Appendix 1 - statement of governance and internal control 14/15



Appendix 1

BACKGROUND
Argyll and Bute Council conducts its business in accordance with the law and proper 
standards. The Council has a duty to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to the economic, 
efficient and effective use of public money.

In discharging these responsibilities, the Council has put in place proper arrangements for 
the governance of its affairs and the stewardship of the resources at its disposal. The 
Council has approved and adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance, which is 
consistent with the principles and reflects the requirements of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework Note for Scottish Authorities – Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government (2007).

A copy of the Code may be obtained from the Head of Governance and Law, Kilmory, 
Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT.

THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The Code of Corporate Governance details how the Council will demonstrate compliance 
with the fundamental principles of Corporate Governance for public sector bodies to the 
following six headings:

 Focusing on the purpose of the Council and on outcomes for the community, and 
creating and implementing a vision for the local area;

 Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with 
clearly defined functions and roles;

 Promoting values for the Council and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour;

 Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective 
scrutiny, and managing risk; ensuring effective counter fraud and anti-corruption 
arrangements are developed and maintained;

 Developing the capacity and capability of members and officers to be effective; 
and

 Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability and incorporating good governance arrangements in respect of 
partnerships and other joint working.

GOVERNANCE ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Argyll and Bute Council has put in place appropriate management and reporting 
arrangements to enable it to satisfy itself that its approach to corporate governance is 
adequate and effective in practice. The Executive Director of Customer Services as 
Monitoring Officer has responsibility for:

 Overseeing the implementation of the Code of Corporate Governance and 
monitoring its operation; and

 Reporting annually to the Council on compliance with the Code and any changes 
required to maintain it and ensure its effectiveness.

Account has been taken of the results of reviews of internal control that have been carried 
out within each Council Service. Specific responsibilities are assigned to the Head of 
Strategic Finance to ensure that public funds are properly accounted for.



Appendix 1

AUDIT SCOTLAND FOLLOW-UP AUDIT 
The Council was the subject of follow-up audit by the Controller of Audit during 2014-15. 

The follow-up audit considered the actions taken by the Council in response to the issues 
highlighted in the statutory report in 2013-14 and concluded that the Council had responded 
constructively to the Accounts Commission findings on the 2013-14 statutory report and was 
making progress with improvement work. It was, however, too early to assess the 
effectiveness of the actions and plans being implemented.

The original action plan developed in response to the statutory report in 2013-14 consisted 
of 33 actions, 30 of which have been completed and 3 are on track for completion in line 
with the timescales set.  

In response to the follow up audit in April 2014, and an internal review of the action plan, a 
further 10 actions were developed and agreed at Council in September 2014.  3 these 
additional actions have been completed, in line with the designated timescales, with all 
others on track. 

In particular, the follow-up audit found that the leadership and political dynamics of the 
council were more stable but the situation remained fragile. The risk to the council had been 
reduced but there were difficult circumstances ahead and tough decisions to be made that 
will prove challenging to political management and ongoing stability.

The new political management arrangements provide a foundation for improved 
governance. The council needed to ensure councillors and officers have a shared 
understanding in practice about the roles and responsibilities as well as effective links within 
and across the new arrangements to ensure they meet their potential.

Scrutiny still needed to improve and the Council needed the continued commitment and 
engagement of councillors in the work of the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee 
and the Audit Committee, in order to ensure that these Committees continue to make a 
more effective contribution to governance and accountability. The role of senior 
management was also crucial.

There has been good attendance and participation of members of the Audit Committee 
during 2014/15 and considerable progress made in developing effectiveness and 
participation at the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee, over the same, period 
through training/development sessions having taken place, in particular, a joint training 
session with the Audit Committee. The Chair of the Performance Review and Scrutiny 
Committee is an independent lay person.

A best value follow up audit is being carried out in 2015 which will assess the extent to 
which political management arrangements support effective decision making, the 
effectiveness of the council’s scrutiny arrangements and whether roles and relationships, 
including those between members and officers, facilitate the effective delivery of council 
business.

Following on from an Internal Audit report on Land and Asset disposal arrangements which 
offered a limited level of assurance, Audit Scotland have undertaken some targeted work 
and have invited the Council to complete a Best Value 2 template to demonstrate how Asset 
Management is discharged within the Council. The template and supporting evidence has 
been returned and feedback is awaited from Audit Scotland. They have indicated that this 
exercise is not linked to any other audit work that is currently being conducted within the 
Council but that the findings may be taken into account when reaching a conclusion on the 
Best Value 2 Report.



Appendix 1

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROL

The system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular management 
information, financial regulations, administrative procedures (including segregation of 
duties), management supervision, and a system of delegation and accountability. 
Development and maintenance of the system is undertaken by officers within the Council. 

In particular the system includes:

 Comprehensive budgeting systems

 Regular reviews by the Council and the above named bodies of periodic and annual 
financial reports which indicate financial   performance against forecast;

 Setting targets to measure financial and other performance;

 The preparation of regular financial reports which indicate actual expenditure against 
forecast;

 Clearly defined capital expenditure guidelines;

 Project management disciplines;

 Guidance relating to financial processes, procedures and regulations; and

 An effective Internal Audit Section

The system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable and not absolute 
assurance that assets are safeguarded, that transactions are authorised and properly 
recorded, and that material errors or irregularities are either prevented or would be detected 
within a timely period.

This review also covers the other bodies whose activities are incorporated into our Group 
Accounts and reliance is placed on the formal audit opinion contained in the financial 
statements of each individual body.             

 Dunbartonshire and Argyll and Bute Valuation Board

 Strathclyde Partnership for Transport

 Strathclyde Concessionary Travel Scheme Joint Committee

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Council’s Risk Management and Business Continuity Strategies continued to be 
developed in 2014-15. The Chief Executive presented an annual report on Audit and Risk 
Management to the Audit Committee. The Strategic Risk Register was also reviewed and 
agreed by the Policy and Resources committee.  Operational Risk Registers are reviewed 
and updated on a regular basis. Results from the annual CIPFA benchmarking exercise 
highlighted continued improvement with an overall Embedded and Integrated rating.

INTERNAL AUDIT

Argyll and Bute Council and the above named bodies have internal audit functions, which 
operate to Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). The work of internal audit is 
informed by an analysis of the risk to which the Council and the above named bodies are 



Appendix 1

exposed, with annual internal audit plans prepared based on that analysis. The Council's 
and the named bodies’ Audit Committees endorse the analysis of risk and internal audit 
plans. 

The Chief Internal Auditor provides the Audit Committee with an annual report on internal 
audit activity in the Council. The annual report includes an independent opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s systems of governance and internal control 
and concludes that although a number of the areas reviewed provided a limited level of 
assurance, overall, systems for internal control were satisfactory during 2014-15.

The Chairman and Vice Chairman are independent lay members of the Audit Committee.

During 2014-15 the Council successfully recruited a permanent Chief Internal Auditor and 
the service was fully resourced throughout the year. The Internal Audit service also 
addressed all outstanding Public Sector Internal Audit Standard compliance action points 
within its development plan during 14/15. 

ISSUES FOR FURTHER DEVELOPMENT

The annual review of governance and internal control for 14/15 has identified the undernoted 
areas for noting and other areas for further consideration during 2015-16, particularly in the 
context of continuous improvement within the Council

- During 2014-15 the Council received 1276 FOI requests of which 1189 (93.2%) 
were responded to within the required timescale. The Council received 26 requests 
for review (2%).

- Internal Audit presented a number of reports with a limited level of assurance during 
the year. Management have accepted 100% of recommendations and have a robust 
follow-up system to track actions arising ensuring timely implementation.

- An action plan is in place to address Audit Scotland’s report in relation to the Alcohol 
and Drugs Partnership and continues to be implemented.

During 2014/15  to create a new Counter Fraud Investigation Team (CFIT) in order 
to prevent and detect fraud in relation to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) 
and to fulfil the residual responsibilities in relation to Single Fraud Investigation 
Service (SFIS). The proposed CFIT  is located within Revenues and Benefits in 
Customer Services but will work closely with Internal Audit and provide investigative 
resource for any corporate fraud issues.

 Development of delivery plans for the single outcome agreement (SOA) and 
ensuring this is reflected in council priorities.

 Local Scrutiny Plan 15/16 take cognisance of issues identified within the 2013/16 
Assurance and Improvement Plan (AIP). The plan is based on a shared risk 
assessment undertaken by the local area network (LAN) and draws on a range of 
evidence with the aim of determining any scrutiny activity required and focusing this 
in the most proportionate way. The Council will be subject to a range of risk based 
and nationally driven scrutiny activity, the risk based scrutiny specifically relates to 
Audit Scotland Best Value follow up work. All other scrutiny arises from national 
scrutiny programmes.



Appendix 1

 Ensuring resources and budget are aligned to support council priorities and SOA 
delivery plans, the service choices programme has been set up to address these 
issues and identify options and proposals going forward in a period of significantly 
reduced resources.

 Ongoing development of performance management and improving performance 
scrutiny.

 Further development of risk management to ensure risk management and business 
continuity are embedded within the council.

 Ensuring the internal audit function is fully resourced and work is planned to ensure 
the 2015-16 audit plan is delivered and that further improvements in the 
development of internal audit are achieved.

 Ensuring we are well placed to address any requirements arising from the 
implementation of the Community Empowerment Bill. 

 Ensuring good governance and scrutiny arrangements are in place in respect our 
Health and Social Care Partnership.

 The actions being taken by the Council in response to the Audit Scotland Statutory 
report and follow-up audit continues to improve governance arrangements within the 
Council.

 Any actions brought out by the Audit Scotland assessment of how Asset 
Management is discharged within the Council will be addressed during 15/16.

ASSURANCE
The annual review of the effectiveness of the system of governance and internal financial 
control is informed by:

 The work of officers within the Council;

 The work of Internal Audit as described above;

 The work of External Audit;

 The Statements of Governance and/or Internal Control provided by the bodies 
incorporated into our Group Accounts;

 External review and inspection reports; and

 Recommendations from the Audit Committee.

It is the Council’s view that the systems for governance and internal control are operating 
effectively within Argyll and Bute Council and the aforementioned bodies during 2014-15 
and that there are no significant weaknesses. This assurance is limited, however, to the 
work undertaken during the year and the evidence available at the time of preparing this 
statement.

Cllr Dick Walsh Sally Loudon Steve Barrett
Leader Chief Executive Interim Head of Strategic Finance





Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee Workplan 2015-16

27 August 2015: This is an outline plan to facilitate forward planning of reports to the Performance Review and Scrutiny Committee 

Committee Date Report Description Lead Service
 

Regularity of 
occurrence/
consideration 

Date for Reports to 
Committee Services 

Additional Comment

27 August 2015
Scrutiny of Police Scotland Improvement & 

HR/ Police
Annual 
Report

18 August 2015 Local Policing Plan 
performance 2015/16

Scrutiny of Police Scotland Improvement & 
HR/Police

Quarterly 
Report

18 August 2015 Local Policing Plan 
performance

Police Scotland Stop and 
Search Improvement Delivery 
Plan 2015 - 16

Police 18 August 2015

SPA Annual Review of Policing 
2014/15

Scottish 
Police 
Authority

18 August 2015

Scrutiny of Scottish Fire and 
Rescue Service

Improvement & 
HR/Fire

Quarterly 
Report

18 August 2015 Local Fire Plan 
performance

Treasury Management
monitoring report

Strategic Finance Quarterly 
Report

18 August 2015

Quarterly performance reports 
and scorecard

Chief Executive/
Improvement & HR

Annual 
Reporting

18 August 2015

Benchmarking Update Improvement & 
HR/ Community 
Services

18 August 2015 Children’s Services; 
Social Work; Family 
Groups

Corporate Improvement 
Programme

Customer Services Quarterly 
Report

18 August 2015

Maximising Attendance: 
Council Performance April – 
June 2015

Improvement & HR Quarterly 
Report

18 August 2015

Argyll and Bute Alcohol and 
Drugs Partnership Progress 
Report

Chief Officer Argyll 
& Bute Health and 
Social Care 
Partnership and 
Argyll and Bute 
ADP Chair/ 

18 August 2015



Executive Director 
– Community 
Services

Integration of Health and Social 
Care

Community 
Services

18 August 2015

Statement of Governance and 
Internal Control

Customer Services 18 August 2015

Castle Toward Customer Services 18 August 2015 Agreed at PRS 
Committee held on 28 
May 2015

19 November 2015
Attendance Management Improvement & HR Quarterly 

Report
10 November 2015

Scrutiny of Police Scotland Improvement & 
HR/Police

Quarterly 
Report

10 November 2015 Local Policing Plan 
performance

Scrutiny of Scottish Fire and 
Rescue 

Improvement & 
HR/Fire

Quarterly 
Report

10 November 2015 Local Fire Plan 
performance

Quarterly performance reports 
and scorecards

Chief Executive/ 
Improvement & HR

Quarterly 
Report

10 November 2015

Corporate Improvement 
Programme

Improvement & HR Quarterly 
Report

10 November 2015

Treasury Management
monitoring report

Strategic Finance Quarterly 
Report

10 November 2015

Strategic Risk Register Strategic Finance 6 monthly 
Report

10 November  2015

SOA Annual Report Annual 10 November 2015
Council Annual Report Annual 10 November 2015
Service Annual Performance 
Reviews

Annual 10 November 2015 

Future Items
Single Outcome Agreement
(SOA)
National Audit Report areas
for scrutiny
Workshop/Seminar on the 
Strategic Risk Register to 
which Members of the PRS 

Strategic Finance Agreed at PRS 
Committee held on 26 
February 2015



Committee would be invited.




	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4 POLICE SCOTLAND ANNUAL POLICING PLAN 2015/16
	5 SCRUTINY OF POLICE SCOTLAND - QUARTERLY REPORT
	6 POLICE SCOTLAND STOP AND SEARCH IMPROVEMENT DELIVERY PLAN 2015 - 16
	7 SCOTTISH POLICE AUTHORITY  - ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICING 2014 - 15
	8 SCRUTINY OF SCOTTISH FIRE AND RESCUE
	9 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MONITORING REPORT 30 JUNE 2015
	10 PERFORMANCE REPORT FQ1 2015 - 16
	11 BENCHMARKING UPDATE
	Appendix One - Crib Sheet Benchmarking
	Appendix Two West Dunbartonshire Example (Children Indicators)

	12 CORPORATE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME PROGRESS
	13 MAXIMISING ATTENDANCE: COUNCIL PERFORMANCE APRIL - JUNE 2015
	14 ARGYLL AND BUTE ALCOHOL AND DRUG PARTNERSHIP PROGRESS REPORT
	ADP APPENDIX 1 - AUDIT SCOTLAND REPORT
	APPENDIX 2 - ADP Audit Action Plan

	15 INTEGRATION OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE
	16 STATEMENT OF GOVERNANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
	Appendix 1 - Final draft Governance Statement 2014-15 (2)

	18 PERFORMANCE REVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORKPLAN



